World Water Day importance of WASH, equal access opportunities, and WASH resilience - A social-inclusion perspective 2022

Edited by Sue Cavill, Jane Wilbur and Juliet Willetts

Published in Frontiers in Water





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-3415-1 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-3415-1

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

World Water Day 2022: importance of WASH, equal access opportunities, and WASH resilience - A social-inclusion perspective

Topic editors

Sue Cavill — Berkshire, United Kingdom Jane Wilbur — University of London, United Kingdom Juliet Willetts — University of Technology Sydney, Australia

Citation

Cavill, S., Wilbur, J., Willetts, J., eds. (2023). *World Water Day 2022: Importance of WASH, equal access opportunities, and WASH resilience - A social-inclusion perspective*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-3415-1

Table of contents

- 05 Editorial: World Water Day 2022: importance of WASH, equal access opportunities, and WASH resilience - A social-inclusion perspective Jane Wilbur, Sue Cavill and Juliet Willetts
- 08 A qualitative cross-sectional study exploring the implementation of disability-inclusive WASH policy commitments in Svay Reing and Kampong Chhnang Provinces, Cambodia

Jane Wilbur, Pharozin Pheng, Rithysangharith Has, Sophak Kanika Nguon, Lena Morgon Banks, Chelsea Huggett, Nathaniel Scherer and Adam Biran

23 Erratum: A qualitative cross-sectional study exploring the implementation of disability-inclusive WASH policy commitments in Svay Reing and Kampong Chhnang Provinces, Cambodia

Frontiers Production Office

24 The inclusion of disability within efforts to address menstrual health during humanitarian emergencies: A systematized review

Jane Wilbur, Felicity Clemens, Elisabeth Sweet, Lena Morgon Banks and Chloe Morrison

- 41 Sanitation work: Realizing equity and inclusion in WASH Amita Bhakta, Sally Cawood, Mariam Zaqout and Barbara Evans
- 50 Qualities of transformative leaders in WASH: A study of gender-transformative leadership during the COVID-19 pandemic

Diana Gonzalez, Naomi Carrard, Aastha Chhetri, Phetsakhone Somphongbouthakanh, Tshering Choden, Gabrielle Halcrow, Ratan Budhathoki, Ugyen Wangchuk and Juliet Willetts

67 Human rights, COVID-19, and barriers to safe water and sanitation among people experiencing homelessness in Mexico City

> Carla Liera, Sarah Dickin, Andrea Rishworth, Elijah Bisung, Alexia Moreno and Susan J. Elliott

78 Influences on water source selection and use among women in rural Odisha, India

Madeleine Patrick, Monique Hennink, Munmun Dasmohapatra, Manaswini Rout, Thomas Clasen and Bethany A. Caruso

88 Working together: A study of civil society partnerships between WASH (water, sanitation, and hygiene) and GESI (gender equality and social inclusion) organisations in Timor-Leste

> Melita Louise Grant, Therese Tam Nguyen, Ajerino Vieira, Sara Louise Niner and Chris Roche

- 103 An exploration of sanitation-related decision-making, leadership, collective action, and freedom of movement among women in urban Tiruchirappalli, India Rinchen Doma, Madeleine Patrick, Amelia Conrad, Vinod Ramanarayanan, Srishty Arun, Sheela S. Sinharoy and Bethany A. Caruso
- 115 Gender equality approaches in water, sanitation, and hygiene programs: Towards gender-transformative practice Jess MacArthur, Naomi Carrard, Jose Mott, Stuart Raetz, Mia Siscawati and Juliet Willetts
- 130 When vulnerabilities are exploited—The role of sextortion in the WASH sector in Bangladesh Ortrun Merkle, Umrbek Allakulov, Debora Gonzalez, Alfredo Hernández Sánchez, Sifat E. Rabbi and Zobair Hasan

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yizi Shang, China Institute of Water Resources and Hydropower Research, China

REVIEWED BY Mahdi Asgari, University of California, Riverside, United States Chaoqun Li, Yellow River Engineering Consulting Co., Ltd., China

*CORRESPONDENCE Jane Wilbur ⊠ Jane.wilbur@lshtm.ac.uk

RECEIVED 13 July 2023 ACCEPTED 08 August 2023 PUBLISHED 22 August 2023

CITATION

Wilbur J, Cavill S and Willetts J (2023) Editorial: World Water Day 2022: importance of WASH, equal access opportunities, and WASH resilience - A social-inclusion perspective. *Front. Water* 5:1258088. doi: 10.3389/frwa.2023.1258088

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Wilbur, Cavill and Willetts. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: World Water Day 2022: importance of WASH, equal access opportunities, and WASH resilience - A social-inclusion perspective

Jane Wilbur^{1,2*}, Sue Cavill³ and Juliet Willetts⁴

¹London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, University of London, London, United Kingdom, ²International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, University of London, London, United Kingdom, ³Freelance, London, United Kingdom, ⁴Institute for Sustainable Futures, University of Technology Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

KEYWORDS

disability, gender, equality, inclusion, water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH), human rights

Editorial on the Research Topic

World Water Day 2022: importance of WASH, equal access opportunities, and WASH resilience - A social-inclusion perspective

Introduction

This Research Topic brings together research on inclusion in water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) services. The Research Topic includes 10 papers: six primarily focus on gender, two on disability, and encouragingly two on other groups (people experiencing homelessness, sanitation workers) and emerging issues (sextortion) that have been relatively absent from the current discourse.

The papers highlight the disconnect between those who design and deliver services and disadvantaged citizens who are too frequently excluded from provision. Five papers primarily focused on the need for WASH services to respond to the complexity and diversity of different needs, while another five papers viewed WASH as a potential entry point for broader changes in inequalities. The papers primarily employ qualitative methods with only one paper based on quantitative methods. In this editorial, we reflect on five cross-cutting themes arising from the papers, which also serve as areas for further work to reduce WASH and broader inequalities.

Tailoring WASH infrastructure and information to meet people's requirements

The primary emphasis in many of the papers is on how to improve access to WASH services for groups that may be vulnerable, whether through design, planning, management, implementation, financing, or monitoring and evaluation. Nine papers focus on improving access to WASH services for these various groups, including the need for accessible infrastructure for people with physical disabilities. As an example, Patrick et al. explore the importance of multiple (networked and non-networked) water sources when designing and monitoring water access as seasonality and climate change impact these, with implications for women's unpaid work collecting water for the household. In addition, two papers examine WASH services at home and in public settings during the COVID-19 pandemic, with Gonzalez et al. focusing on access to WASH for groups that may be marginalized and Liera et al. on the gaps in provision for people experiencing homelessness.

The affordability of WASH services is vital and is noted across multiple papers. Liera et al. note payment to use public toilets as a barrier for people experiencing homelessness. Wilbur, Pheng et al. also highlight the affordability of accessible WASH services as a barrier for people with disabilities and their carers. Several papers recommend that innovation in humanitarian programming (subsidies, cash transfers) must ensure they target the poorest and be accessible to people with disabilities.

The articles generally focus less on meeting hygiene requirements than on improving access to water and sanitation infrastructure for all groups. However, Wilbur, Clemens et al. focus exclusively on menstrual health in humanitarian settings and considers the disposal mechanisms for menstrual materials for women with and without disabilities.

Regarding gaps, Wilbur, Pheng et al. and Wilbur, Clemens et al. considered the accessibility of WASH information for people with different impairments. These authors highlighted that accessible information would benefit people with disabilities, people of lower literacy, including older women and other groups that may be. Bhakta et al.'s paper, raises another emerging issue relevant to tailored service provision: sanitation workers' rights and occupational safety to realize rights to decent work, including inclusive WASH infrastructure.

Participation and partnerships

Most authors in this Research Topic begin from the perspective that inclusive services require participation and partnerships to improve services and alter essential relationships and ongoing practices. Almost all papers mention the participation of groups that may be vulnerable and recognize the capabilities of these groups in furthering WASH by developing partnerships with organizations representing these populations (e.g., Organizations).

At the individual level, people with disabilities, women, and people experiencing homelessness face inequitable participation. MacArthur et al. point out how barriers are both informal and formal, with Wilbur, Pheng et al. noting this includes the ability of people with disabilities to attend meetings and Doma et al. highlighting barriers such as lack of women's confidence and women's voices not being respected at the community level. Mechanisms to improve people's participation included male support for women, as noted by Doma et al., transformative leaders who support diverse views and equitable participation in communities and workplaces, as described by Gonzalez et al., and collaboration amongst sanitation workers, human rights activists and allies in the WASH sector as put forward by Bhakta et al..

Six of the ten papers focused on the importance of partnering with rights-based organizations to improve the participation of groups that may be vulnerable. For instance, Grant et al. concentrate on women's rights groups, Wilbur, Pheng et al. on partnering with Organizations of Persons with Disabilities, Bhakta et al. details sanitation workers' unions and Liera et al. concentrates on a civil society organization that promotes the inclusion of people experiencing homelessness. Merkle et al., MacArthur et al., and Doma et al. highlight that gender transformative leadership can enable growth, inspire action, strengthen WASH services, and increase visibility and social inclusion. Grant et al. argue for a more collaborative stance and note the significance of finding synergies between women's rights groups and WASH-related organizations.

Do no harm

The significance of 'do no harm' and how people were or could be harmed when using WASH services emerges clearly from seven of the 10 papers. Some highlight instances where challenges related to WASH services can be disempowering, with Patrick et al., Merkle et al., and MacArthur et al. focusing on women Liera et al. on people experiencing homelessness and Bhakta et al. on sanitation workers. Other authors note situations where additional responsibilities are passed to already vulnerable groups. Merkle et al. highlight potential harm at the intersection of corruption and violence that makes women vulnerable to sextortion in Bangladesh. This constitutes an emerging area of WASH-related harm and requires further research in other country contexts. MacArthur et al. discuss gender-insensitive approaches, which may be harmful, as well as potential backlash and resistance to more gender transformative approaches, recommending do no harm strategies in all efforts in gender integration. However, on a positive note, Gonzalez et al. highlight how women who experienced harm have been supported as leaders to mitigate that same experience for others.

Looking beyond WASH to transformative change

The potential for WASH interventions to also secure the radical changes needed for broader societal transformation remains a point of difference between these contributions. Is WASH an end in itself whereby people improve their access or can WASH catalyze equitable, inclusive development and dismantle inequalities? Seven papers considered WASH within the multidimensional nature of inequalities to suggest that transformative progress is possible but not guaranteed. Improved WASH services are essential to social transformation, a necessary even if not a sufficient condition. WASH actors can go only so far; coordination and deep engagement with others across different services, sectors and service providers are needed to achieve more far-reaching change, but such change is possible. For instance, Wilbur, Pheng et al. describe how assistive devices might be a pre-condition for people to leave home and access public WASH services. Similarly, Bhakta et al. highlight the importance of cross-sectoral action to ensure decent work in the WASH sector. Grant et al. describe the role of transformative leaders in enhancing those synergies in the context of Timor-Leste, addressing power differentials and creating the space for marginalized and excluded people to take their seats at the table, and Gonzalez et al. echoes these points based on transformative leaders across other parts of Asia. Together these papers point to an encouraging emerging trend and focus on transformative change, noting that addressing the much needed changes within WASH services should not be either forgotten or deprioritized and is required in tandem with broader transformation.

Conclusion

In summary, the papers represent diverse interventions emphasizing attention to gender equality, disability and social inclusion. While some initiatives aim to provide WASH services more efficiently and equitably, drawing on the capabilities of people who may be vulnerable together with their families and caregivers, others have emerged from rights-holder groups determined to advance their broader needs and interests. Whilst efforts increasingly aim for WASH services that include more population groups, the research covered in this Research Topic demonstrates that WASH services are rarely still accessible for all. Discrimination and exclusions remain, with limited research about WASH for population groups that may be vulnerable such as people with invisible disabilities, people of different gender identities, those in ethnic minorities, older adults and children and people experiencing homelessness. Although the evidence base is slowly growing, greater diversity in research methodology is needed (alongside greater diversity in population group), including mixed methods and quantitative research that can capture the scale and extent of issues to complement the welcome depth of qualitative research in this field. Such a strengthened evidence base can inform policy and practice toward greater inclusion within and beyond WASH services.

Author contributions

JWilb: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Writing—original draft, Writing—review and editing. SC: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing original draft, Writing—review and editing, Methodology. JWill: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing—original draft, Writing—review and editing, Methodology.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all the authors who published papers in this Research Topic.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yizi Shang, China Institute of Water Resources and Hydropower Research, China

REVIEWED BY

Ojima Wada, Hamad bin Khalifa University, Qatar Surapaneni Krishna Mohan, Panimalar Medical College Hospital and Research Institute, India Puthearath Chan, Zaman University, Cambodia Subodh Sharma, Kathmandu University, Nepal Jennifer R. McConville, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden

*CORRESPONDENCE Jane Wilbur Jane.wilbur@lshtm.ac.uk

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Water and Human Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Water

RECEIVED 07 June 2022 ACCEPTED 23 August 2022 PUBLISHED 15 September 2022

CITATION

Wilbur J, Pheng P, Has R, Nguon SK, Banks LM, Huggett C, Scherer N and Biran A (2022) A qualitative cross-sectional study exploring the implementation of disability-inclusive WASH policy commitments in Svay Reing and Kampong Chhnang Provinces, Cambodia. *Front. Water* 4:963405. doi: 10.3389/frwa.2022.963405

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Wilbur, Pheng, Has, Nguon, Banks, Huggett, Scherer and Biran. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY).

The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A qualitative cross-sectional study exploring the implementation of disability-inclusive WASH policy commitments in Svay Reing and Kampong Chhnang Provinces, Cambodia

Jane Wilbur^{1,2*}, Pharozin Pheng³, Rithysangharith Has³, Sophak Kanika Nguon⁴, Lena Morgon Banks^{1,2}, Chelsea Huggett⁵, Nathaniel Scherer^{1,2} and Adam Biran¹

¹London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, University of London, London, United Kingdom, ²International Centre for Evidence in Disability (ICED), London, United Kingdom, ³WaterAid, Phnom Penh, Cambodia, ⁴Royal University of Phnom Penh, Phnom Penh, Cambodia, ⁵WaterAid Australia, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

Background: The Government of Cambodia references core concepts of human rights of people with disabilities in their water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) policies and guidance. However, few references clearly articulate activities to achieve these.

Methods: This cross-sectional study in Cambodia explores the implementation of core concepts of human rights referenced in Cambodia's WASH policies in Kampong Chhnang and Svay Reing Provinces: Individualized services, Entitlement/affordability, Participation, Family resource, Access. Seven government officials and 10 service providers working in Phnom Penh and the two provinces, 16 women and men with disabilities (aged 18–65+), and four caregivers living in the study sites were included. Purposive sampling was applied to select participants. In-depth interviews were conducted *via* Zoom and over the telephone and analyzed data thematically using Nvivo 12.

Results: The Three Star Approach for WASH in Schools was noted as a promising approach for implementing policy commitments to make school WASH services accessible. However, policy commitments to disabilityinclusive WASH were not always enacted systematically at all levels. Organizations of Persons with Disabilities faced challenges when advocating for disability rights at WASH sector meetings and people with disabilities were inconsistently supported to participate in commune WASH meetings. Poor access to assistive devices (e.g., wheelchair) and inaccessible terrain meant few people with disabilities could leave home and many had inadequate WASH services at home. Few could afford accessible WASH services and most lacked information and knowledge about how to improve WASH access for people with disabilities. Caregivers had no guidance about how to carry out the role and few had assistive devices (e.g., commodes, bedpans) or products (i.e., lifting devices), so supporting WASH for people with disabilities was physically demanding and time-consuming.

Conclusion: This study has noted several areas where Cambodia's WASH systems are focusing efforts to ensure people with disabilities gain access to WASH, but it has also highlighted aspects where implementation of policy commitments could be strengthened. A more comprehensive and cross-sectoral approach to progressively realizing the rights to water and sanitation for people with disabilities and challenging disability discrimination more broadly could significantly disrupt the vicious cycle of poverty and disability.

KEYWORDS

disability, water, sanitation and hygiene, policy, service delivery, Cambodia

Introduction

The global context

Access to safely managed water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) services are essential for poverty reduction, health, and wellbeing. Yet worldwide, one in 10 people do not have basic drinking water, one in five people do not have basic sanitation, and almost one in three people are unable to wash their hands with soap and water at home (World Health Organization (WHO) United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), 2021).

An estimated 15% of the global population has a disability (World Health Organization, 2011). People with disabilities are less likely than people without disabilities to live in households that have access to basic water and sanitation services (United Nations Department of Economic Social Affairs, 2018). Analyses of intra-household access to these facilities across six countries show that people with disabilities are less able to collect water and use the household toilet independently and are more likely to contact urine and feces when using the toilet than family members without disabilities (Mactaggart et al., 2018, 2021; Banks et al., 2019). Despite limited access, people with disabilities often have additional requirements for WASH. For instance, in Vanuatu, people with disabilities are three times more likely than people without disabilities to experience urinary incontinence but less able to use the toilet or bathe as often as required (Mactaggart et al., 2021; Wilbur et al., 2021a).

Improving physical access to WASH services for people with disabilities is important, but it is only part of the solution. Ensuring the meaningful participation of people with disabilities, providing accessible information, engaging and supporting caregivers, integrating disability-related activities and indicators in WASH policies and guidance documents, and supporting professionals to implement and monitor these are equally important (Wilbur et al., 2021a). "Meaningful participation" means expressing one's views, which influence the process of decision-making and the outcome (De Albuquerque, 2014).

These principles correspond to the "core concepts" of human rights, which are considered essential for universal, equitable, and accessible services within the EquiFrame policy analysis framework (Amin et al., 2011; Mannan et al., 2011). The EquiFrame is an analytical framework for assessing the commitment given to "vulnerable" groups and 21 core concepts of human rights in health policies (Mannan et al., 2011). The EquiFrame has also been adapted to focus on WASH, menstrual health, disability, and gender (Wilbur et al., 2019; Scherer et al., 2021). Core concepts of human rights, such as *Participation, Affordability, Access, Protection against harm,* and *Integration,* are included in or correlate to human rights principles in the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (UNCPRD), and the criterion used to specify the rights to water and sanitation (Rapporteur, 2008).

Disability and WASH in Cambodia

Cambodia's nationally-representative 2019 Demographic Health Survey (DHS), which incorporated the Washington Group Short Set questions, reported that 2.1% of the population age 5+ had a disability. The 2019 General Population Census reports a slightly lower prevalence of 1.2%, using the Washington Group Short Set. The census and the DHS found that the prevalence of disability increased with age and that people with disabilities face high levels of poverty and exclusion in several areas, including education and access to health services (United Nations Department of Economic Social Affairs, 2018; Palmer et al., 2019; National Institute of Statistics, Ministry of Planning, 2020).

The Joint Monitoring Programme (JMP) of the World Health Organization (WHO) and United Nations Children's

Emergency Fund (UNICEF) (2017) reports that 29% of Cambodia's population do not have access to basic water supply, 31% do not have basic sanitation, and 26% do not have basic hygiene (WHO, UNICEF, 2017). Evidence about access to WASH for people with disabilities in Cambodia is limited but suggests that this population faces barriers including affordability, distance to the water source and latrine, and inaccessible infrastructure (MacLeod et al., 2014; Dumpert et al., 2018).

Commitments to progressively realizing the rights of persons with disabilities in Cambodia, including the rights to water and sanitation

The Royal Government of Cambodia has made significant efforts to progressively realize the rights of people with disabilities, including signing the UNCRPD in 2012 after ratifying it in 2017. The Government of Cambodia released the Cambodian Sustainable Development Goals (CSDGs) Framework in 2018, which explicitly includes people with disabilities in five targets and two indicators (Part 2: Target & Indicator Data Schedules) (Royal Government of Cambodia, 2018). In 2019, the Government launched its voluntary national review on the implementation of the CSDGs and marked that they were ahead of progress against two targets that referenced people with disabilities (Table 1 progress on CSDG) (Kingdom of Cambodia, 2019).

In 2009, the government adopted the 'Law on the Protection and Promotion of the Rights of Persons with Disabilities' (Kingdom of Cambodia, 2009) and introduced a monthly disability pension of 20,000 Riel (circa 5 USD), called Identification Card for Poor People ("IDPoor"), including people with severe disabilities living in poverty (Kingdom of Cambodia, 2011). The government also launched its National Disability Strategic Plan 2014-2018 and 2019-2023 (Royal Government of Cambodia, Disability Action Council, 2014, 2019) to improve the implementation of the National Disability Law and the CSDGs (Royal Government of Cambodia, 2014). This law included strategic objectives for equal access to clean water (1.4) and public toilets (8.1) (Royal Government of Cambodia, 2014); the National Disability Strategic Plan, 2019-2023 includes strategic objective 1.3.4 that ensures people with disabilities have access to affordable clean water services (Royal Government of Cambodia, Disability Action Council, 2019).

The Royal Government of Cambodia has made efforts to integrate disability within its WASH policies and guidance. For example, the National Strategy for Rural Water Supply, Sanitation and Hygiene (2011–2025) states that 'The needs of people with disabilities should be considered at all stages of the development process, including legislation, policies and programs, in any area, at all levels' [page 9 (Royal Government of Cambodia, 2011)]. The government has adopted UNICEF's Three Star Approach for WASH in Schools (UNICEF, GIZ, 2013), whereby schools are awarded one to three stars if they progressively meet key minimum standards for "a healthy, hygiene-promoting school." Three stars are awarded to schools where WASH facilities meet national standards, including ensuring they are accessible for children with disabilities. The National Guidelines on WASH for Persons with Disabilities and Older People (Royal Government of Cambodia, 2017) supports the implementation of commitments made in the National Strategy, the Law on the Protection and Promotion of the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, and the CRPD.

Mechanisms to implement national WASH policy commitments

The Government of Cambodia is implementing a decentralization strategy, which focuses on developing the operational capacity of districts, municipalities (urban) and provinces (rural) under the supervision of national authorities (Royal Government of Cambodia, 2010). Commune councils (the lowest administrative level) are responsible for improving access to public services (including WASH, health services, and education), promoting social and economic development, and seeking funds for development projects (Ninh and Henke, 2005). Development priorities are set out in 5-year Commune Development Plans and annual Commune Investment Plans. Government officials, representatives of citizens, and civil society organizations, including Organizations of Persons with Disabilities, collaboratively develop these. Therefore, the commune plans are the vehicle to implement national-level commitments to disability-inclusive WASH.

Purpose of the study

The country site was identified from a list of countries of interest to the funder, that WaterAid works in and has good connections with government ministries, departments, and officials, as well as a strong network of WASH and disability service providers. We also wanted to select a country where some progress had been made in progressively realizing the right to water and sanitation for people with disabilities, where stakeholders would be willing to apply the learning generated through this study into practice, and where similarities could be observed with other LMICs.

Through discussions with specialists at WaterAid and the LSHTM, we identified Cambodia because the government has shown commitment to progressively realizing the right to water and sanitation for people with disabilities, demonstrated by laws, strategies, and guidelines referenced above. However, some gaps remain, including inadequate attention to hygiene behavior change, limited collaboration across WASH and disability sectors, and the perception that accessible WASH services are a "niche market" that diverts resources from largescale sanitation efforts (Chenda Keo, 2014; MacLeod et al., 2014). Though limited evidence from other LMICs exists, an unpublished report of Malawi's WASH policies and practices to understand the inclusion of people with disabilities shows that many included policies reflected the rights-based approach to disability, but this was not borne out in practice (Biran and White, 2022). An accompanying qualitative study that explored the barriers faced by people with disabilities in accessing WASH services in Malawi found that accessible WASH services at the household level were limited (White et al., 2016).

Malawi and Cambodia operate a decentralized policy implementation system, as do many other LMICs, including Bangladesh, Tanzania, Vanuatu, and Nepal.

In 2021, we completed an analysis of Cambodia's WASH policies and guidance documents to assess the inclusion of disability rights using the EquiFrame policy analysis tool (Scherer et al., 2021). Findings show attention was given to 15 core concepts of human rights, including *Individualized Services, Participation, Family Resource,* and *Access* core concepts of human rights (Scherer et al., 2021). However, many included policies lacked clearly articulated actions to achieve these, leading the authors to conclude that policy implementation may fail to match stated aims.

The purpose of this study was to (1) explore the implementation of core concepts of human rights referenced in national WASH policies and guidance from the perspectives of national policymakers, local level implementers, service users with disabilities, and caregivers; (2) describe how these core concepts were implemented, highlighting any enablers and blockages, and (3) investigate how these efforts impact the WASH-related experiences of people with disabilities and their caregivers.

Materials and methods

Study design and research questions

This is a qualitative cross-sectional study in two provinces in Cambodia that aims to explore the implementation of core concepts of human rights through WASH service delivery efforts from the perspectives of policymakers, service providers, and intended service users. It uses respondents' descriptions to assess this and the impact efforts have on the WASH-related experiences of people with disabilities and their caregivers.

This study has two interrelated research questions:

- To what extent are the commitments to core concepts of human rights referenced in the Government's nationallevel WASH policies and guidance implemented in the selected provinces by the sub-national government officials and service providers?
- 2) How does this implementation impact the experiences of people with disabilities and their caregivers?

The following five core concepts of human rights selected were either referenced highly in included policies or are integral to the WASH-related experiences of people with disabilities: *Individualized services*, *Entitlement and affordability*, *Participation*, *Family resource*, and *Access*. Table 1 presents these core concepts of human rights, indicators we used to explore if these core concepts referenced in WASH policies were implemented in the two provinces, and the source of evidence.

Study site

The study was conducted in selected urban and rural communities in the Svay Reing, and Kampong Chhnang Provinces. The 2014 Cambodia Demographic and Health Survey reported that 1.5% and 1.6% (respectively) of the population in these provinces have a disability (National Institute of Statistics, Directorate General for Health, ICF International, 2015). In the Svay Reing Province, 98% of the population has access to basic water and 92% has access to basic sanitation. This corresponds to 77% and 68% respectively in Kampong Chhnang (National Institute of Statistics, Ministry of Planning, 2020). No data on handwashing facilities at homes exist in either province. These provinces were selected because WaterAid is currently implementing the National Guidelines on Wash for Persons with Disabilities and Older People (Royal Government of Cambodia, 2017) in partnership with the national and sub-national governments and Organizations of Persons with Disabilities (OPDs) in Kampong Chhnang and Svay Reing. WaterAid also has a wide network of organizations in these provinces as it has worked with over 24 partners, including the Provincial government, civil society organizations (CSOs), OPDs, and private sector organizations over the past 5 years. Furthermore, WaterAid is committed to working in these provinces for the next 5 years, so will be able to integrate learnig from this study in their ongoing work.

Study population and sampling

We selected seven national and sub-national government officials and 10 service providers working in Phnom Penh, Svay Reing and Kampong Chhnang, 16 women and men with disabilities, and four female caregivers living in

Core concept of human right	Indicators that policy commitments to core concepts are being implemented	Source of evidence	
Individualized	People with disabilities, regardless of impairment experienced, can collect	Interviews with people with disabilities	
services	water, use toilet, bathing shelter independently or with support of caregivers in public and private settings	and caregivers	
Entitlement and	• People with disabilities or caregivers receive subsides constructing accessible	Interviews with people with disabilities	
affordability	water points, toilets, bathing, and/or handwashing facilities	and caregivers	
	• People with disabilities or caregivers can afford to make WASH services		
	accessible at home, or have received support to do so		
	• People with disabilities receives a subsidy for WASH services, or are able to		
	use public WASH services at a reduced rate		
	• Service providers understand the cost of accessible WASH services	Interviews with service providers (disability and WASH)	
	• Sub-national government staff understand the cost of accessible WASH	Interviews with sub-national	
	services, can budget for these, and have received funds for implementation	government officials	
	National and sub-national WASH budgets include resources for accessible	Interviews with national and	
	public WASH services	sub-national government officials	
Participation	• People with disabilities have been invited to and have attended community	Interviews with people with disabilities	
	meetings about WASH; they have spoken, been listened to, and their opinions	and caregivers	
	have influenced decision-making		
	• OPDs are invited to and have attended WASH meetings at the national and	Interviews with service providers	
	sub-national levels; they have spoken, been listened to, and their opinions have		
	influenced decision-making		
	• WASH and disability service delivery organizations have collaborated to	Interviews with service providers	
	improve WASH access for people with disabilities		
	OPDs or disability service providers are invited to and have attended WASH	Interviews with sub-national	
	meetings at the sub-national levels and their opinions have influenced decision-making	government officials	
	Disability organizations and interest groups are involved in the development	Interviews with national government	
	of WASH related policies	officials	
	• Disability organizations and interest groups are invited to and have attended		
	WASH meetings (e.g., national WASH working group meetings) at the		
	national levels and their opinions have influenced decision-making		
Family resource	• Caregiver uses assistive devices (e.g., commodes, bedpans, lifting devices) to	Interviews with caregivers	
	support WASH caregiving tasks		
	Caregivers have received support from organizations to understand how to		
	provide WASH support to people with disabilities		
	• Caregivers are included as target groups in WASH or disability programmes	Interviews with service providers	
	 The import role of caregivers in supporting WASH for people with disabilities 	Interviews with national and	
	is recognized	sub-national government officials	
Access	• People with disabilities and caregivers can access and understand information	Interviews with people with disabilities	
	about how to make WASH services accessible	and caregivers	
	People with disabilities and caregivers know how to make household WASH		
	services accessible		
	• People with disabilities access WASH services in public settings (e.g., at work,		
	town, temple)		

TABLE 1 Study indicators showing that policy commitments to core concepts are being implemented and the source of that evidence.

(Continued)

Core concept of human right	Indicators that policy commitments to core concepts are being implemented	Source of evidence	
of numan right	being implemented		
	• Service providers provide information on inclusive WASH in accessible	Interviews with service providers	
	formats (e.g., Braille, pictoral, use of sign language, captioned media)		
	• Service providers visit people with disabilities and caregivers at home if they		
	are unable to leave the house and provide information on inclusive WASH		
	• Sub-national government staff have received support (training, guidance)	Interviews with sub-national	
	understand the importance of inclusive WASH and how to to ensure people	government officials	
	with disabilities gain access to WASH services		
	• WASH data is disaggregated by disability at the sub-national level		
	• Sub-national government staff report progress on accessible public WASH		
	services to national government		
	• National government staff have received support (awareness raising, training,	Interviews with national government	
	guidance) understand the importance of inclusive WASH and how to ensure	officials	
	people with disabilities gain access to WASH services		
	Disability specialists are involved in the development of WASH related policies		
	• WASH data is disaggregated by disability at the national level		

the two provinces. Table 2 presents details of the study population characteristics.

Replicating published methods used in Nepal (Wilbur et al., 2021b,c), we applied stratified purposive sampling (Patton, 2002) to select seven key informants to represent variation in seniority, geographic location, and sectors (health, education, WASH, and/or disability).

Key informants were identified through recommendations from WaterAid and the Cambodian Disabled People's Organization's (CDPO) networks as professionals with relevant knowledge of working in the WASH, health, education and disability sectors.

We purposively selected 16 individuals with disabilities from lists provided by sub-national OPDs that documented their members' (1) names, self-reported impairment experienced, age (18–65+ years), gender, and geographical location, and (2) names of caregivers who provide support to people with disabilities, gender, and geographical location. We aimed to achieve maximum heterogeneity by selecting 50% rural; 50% females with disabilities, impairment type, and province.

Data collection methods

Data were collected through semi-structured interviews carried out by pairs of interviewers (one lead and one support). To comply with social distancing guidance in the COVID pandemic, interviews were conducted remotely, *via* internet videoconferencing (for government officials) or telephone (for people with disabilities and caregivers). All interviews were

conducted in Khmer, recorded on a voice recorder, and completed in 1 h or less.

Topic guides were prepared and used flexibly to explore core concepts of human rights with the study population. The topic guides for sub-national government officials, national government officials, disability service providers, WASH service providers, persons with disabilities, and caregivers are provided in Supplementary materials 1–6, respectively.

Regarding safeguarding, an algorithm outlining referral options or actions to be taken in response to disclosures of violence was annexed to the topic guides (see Supplementary materials 5, 6). Furthermore, a key challenge related to remote data collection *via* the telephone is an inability to see participants' visual cues, which, as Hensen et al. (2021) note, may reduce understanding and appropriate prompting. Researchers managed this by actively listening for changes in participants' tone or prolonged pauses in the conversation, as these could be indicators of stress or distress. When incidences arose, researchers offered to pause, end or rearrange the interview for a later date.

Data analyses

Data analyses were iterative. Recordings of interviews were translated and transcribed within 2 weeks of completing the interview so that data could be analyzed during collection. Transcripts were checked for accuracy by the interviewers; revisions were made before finalization.

Two authors thematically analyzed all transcriptions. This involved (1) familiarization with the data, (2) initial coding

TABLE 2 Study population characteristics.

Respondent type	Characteristics	N
National and sub-national Government officials	Government Ministry	
	Ministry of Health	4
	Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport	2
	Ministry of Rural Development	1
	Location	
	Phnom Penh	4
	Kampong Chhnang Province	2
	Svay Rieng Province	1
Service provider	Organization type	
	Organization of persons with disabilities	4
	International government organization	1
	Non-government organization	3
	Private sector	2
	Location	
	Kampong Chhnang Province	2
	Svay Rieng Province	2
	Both Provinces	6
People with disabilities	Gender	
	Female	8
	Male	8
	Age group	
	18-30	6
	31-64	8
	65+	2
	Impairment type	
	Visual	2
	Hearing	1
	Mobility	2
	Cognition	0
	Communication	1
	Multiple*	9
	Location	
	Kampong Chhnang Province	8
	Svay Rieng Province	8
Female caregivers	Functional domain of the person with	
	disabilities that the caregiver is	
	supporting	
	Visual	1
	Hearing	0
	Mobility	1
	Cognition	0
	Multiple*	2
	Location	
	Province 1	2
	Province 2	2

*Multiple included more than one impairment type, and self-care limitations (e.g., cognition, communication, mobility, and limitations in washing, dressing, toileting).

according to pre-determined codes which reflected the issues explored in the topic guides (e.g., *Participation, Entitlement and Affordability, Access*), (3) iteratively identifying additional codes, (4) developing an analytical codebook to organize data for interpretation, (5) double-coding a small amount of data to refine the codebook content and ensuring coding template (O'Connor and Joffe, 2020), (6) coding all transcripts, (7) comparing researcher codes, discussing and agreeing on final codes, (8) reviewing the relationships between the codes and discussing analyses with the broader research team. Nvivo 12 was used to organize data and capture analyses. Quotes, codes, and high-level analysis of these quotes were captured in an excel spreadsheet.

Informed consent process

At the start of the interview, the researchers sought informed consent from all participants. Information and consent sheets were emailed to government officials and service providers before the meeting, and written consent was sought. Verbal consent was sought from people with disabilities and caregivers over the telephone. The interview proceeded if consent was provided.

The research team

The research team consisted of academics from the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (who remained in the UK for the study), WASH professionals working for WaterAid in Cambodia, a disability rights activist employed by CDPO, and a freelance researcher. The latter two have a disability.

One of the four-person team was an experienced qualitative researcher but limited WASH knowledge. The other team members were experienced in WASH but not qualitative methods. Therefore, the topic guides provided detailed guidance on what issues to explore during interviews. Additionally, the team met prior to interviewing key informants to identify any issues that were irrelevant to the participant's role and responsibilities.

Some key informants had previously interacted with WaterAid and CDPO. In these cases, a team member working for a different organization led the interview and reiterated confidentiality throughout the interview process to encourage honest answers.

Ethics approval

The Research Ethics Committee provided ethical approval for the study at the LSHTM (reference: 17679-3) and the

National Ethics Committee for Health Research in Cambodia (reference: 160).

Results

Participation

At the national level, government officials regarded the participation of OPD staff with disabilities in WASH sector meetings as essential to ensure people with disabilities' requirements and priorities were reflected in WASH activities.

"... if there are any [meetings] or events, we always invite people from all the backgrounds, especially the people with disabilities, to participate" (National government official).

This quote demonstrates that the national government official thinks that participation of people with disabilities is desirable and inviting OPD staff to attend national WASH sector meetings is a means of achieving this. National-level OPD staff confirmed they had been invited to such meetings but sometimes lacked the time and space to engage effectively. Therefore, they prefer separate meetings where disability inclusion is discussed in more depth.

"Normally, in a big meeting like that, the time is set, and we do not have enough time to voice our opinions. However, if we have a separate meeting for us [....]I think it seemsit's working better" (National level Organization of Persons with Disabilities).

The following quote, given by the same national government official quoted above, highlights that they believe that people with disabilities participate in implementing WASH interventions at the sub-national level.

"Any implementation plans require the participation of the sub-national level. Thus, if there are any conditions or events, we always invite [...] people with disabilities to participate in planning-as you already know, only the disabled people understand their needs. Only they know what they want. If we just prepare for them, it will not be right unless they have their own voice of what they want" (National government official).

However, a government official at the sub-national level expressed a different perspective.

"To be honest, on the provincial level, it is very rare to meet [people with disabilities]. There were never people with disabilities attending conferences or meetings" (Province government official). Sub-national OPD staff explained that they were sometimes invited to sub-national meetings to serve as representatives for the broader disability community. Some OPD staff noted that raising the requirements of people with disabilities at Commune Investment Plan meetings was difficult because meeting attendees expected the OPDs to solve the issues they raised. This was not possible, partly because the OPDs lacked the financial resources and influence. Further, some staff reported facing backlash from meeting attendees when voicing the needs of people with disabilities at sub-national planning meetings.

"They talk with their group [...]: 'Every time she comes to the meeting there are always problems for [us] to solve with a lot of headaches and [we] cannot solve'. [..] They said that [...] So, they do not really want to see my face-do not really want to invite me to the meeting. [...]

"We work without salary and we just raise the problems. It is too difficult. [....], too much headache. We do not even have the money for gas and people look down on us too. Do not even have the salary. It is hopeless" (Sub-national OPD staff member).

Interviews with people with disabilities and caregivers revealed that very few respondents with disabilities had attended WASH meetings in their community. Barriers included never having been invited, difficulties reaching the meeting location, reliance on caregivers to take them to the meeting, that caregivers are not given financial assistance or transport to attend with the person with disabilities, and a lack of assistive devices (e.g., wheelchair) to support mobility. The latter was raised by many participants with disabilities and their caregivers as a significant barrier to leaving home. If these individuals were not visited in their homes, they were unable to participate:

"The reason [I don't take him out of the house] is it is difficult to do so [.....] How can he go out when he cannot walk and sit? And, I cannot carry him out. [...] It is just that I take care of him. I bathe him, give him food, etc. No one brings him out. [...]

"The reason [we have never gone to meetings on WASH] is we always stay home and never participated in anything. So, we do not know" (Caregiver of a man with a mobility impairment).

A woman with a visual impairment expressed her loneliness because she could not leave her home and interact with others.

Participant: "I never talk to anyone. I just stay at home like a frog in a well."

Researcher: "You only stay at home and cannot communicate with anyone?"

Participant: "Right, I have never been anywhere. I have blindness, so I cannot go anywhere."

There was an example of a WASH organization and OPD co-leading a community WASH meeting and encouraging the meaningful participation of people with disabilities. A person with cognitive and mobility impairments and her caregiver attended this meeting. The caregiver noted how the two organizations spent time explaining information clearly to the person with disabilities.

"They knew she was like this, so they paid attention to her. They explained to everyone, just focused on explaining to her clearer than to others" (Caregiver of a woman with cognitive and mobility impairments).

Individualized services, access, and entitlement and affordability

This section relates to people with disabilities access to accessible WASH services and information in schools and households. The ability to afford these services influences access for people with disabilities, so results related to these core concepts are discussed together.

Concerning access to accessible WASH services in schools, many key informants highlighted UNICEF's Three Star Approach for WASH in Schools (UNICEF, GIZ, 2013) as an example of achieving this. For instance, a national government official explained progress in this area by citing data gathered through this approach.

"We have seen that there are 77.4% of schools which, at least, has 1 star up to 3 stars. we have seen an increase of over 4% per year, which is something to be proud of" (National government official).

Service delivery organizations also cited the Three Star Approach as an example of how their organization works toward ensuring children with disabilities have access to WASH in schools. These included participants who work for NGOs that do not specifically focus on disability but work with 'vulnerable groups'.

"Our goal is that every school that we build the toilets for, they must get three stars" (NGO staff member).

At the household level, the following results indicate that policy commitments about improving access to affordable WASH services that everyone can use do not always lead to improvements for people with disabilities and their caregivers. For instance, most participants reported that they needed piped water, accessible toilets and bathing facilities, but very few could afford them, as expressed by a man with a mobility impairment: Participant: I want a bigger toilet so that the wheelchair can go in and stuff, but I do not have the money.

Researcher: I see. You do not install a railing? Participant: No, where can I get the money for that when I do not have any money?

Participants with disabilities rarely earned an income in the formal or informal sectors. If caregivers provided fulltime support to individuals, they too could not work. The few families that received a cash transfer through "IDPoor" noted the challenges faced in accessing it, including physically getting a person with disabilities to the bank to have their photo taken and an inability to afford transport to the bank to collect payments.

Many participants had wells near their homes, so water quantity was not an issue for those who could collect water independently. However, few adaptations were made to make the waterpoint more accessible, such as leveling the path from the household to the well and building a ramp to the waterpoint to enable wheelchair access. Many people with mobility, cognition and visual impairments relied on others to collect their water and put it in a place they could easily locate and reach.

Few participants with disabilities could independently and safely access and use bathing and toilet facilities at home. Most did not know what adjustments could be made to make facilities more accessible, how to make them, or whom to talk to.

"I do not know what we can do when he only has one hand and he is not strong enough. If I let him do it himself, I am afraid that he might fall" (Proxy interview with a caregiver of a man with a mobility impairment).

There are examples of simple innovations to support access to WASH in households, developed by people with disabilities or their families. For instance, piping water to the bed for independent bathing or constructing a railing to guide a man with a visual impairment to a bathroom outside.

"Even when I have a bit of diarrhea, I could get [to the toilet] faster too because I have what I have built for my needs. It is easy, not difficult at all (chuckles) Just hold the bamboos and walk along. I can walk quickly like people who can see. Nothing seems to be of obstacle for me" (Man with visual impairment).

People with disabilities reported not bathing as often as they wished, especially those reliant on caregivers. One caregiver explained they cannot wash the person with disabilities as often as the rest of the family bathe "because I am busy and it is hard." Caregivers also expressed how vital keeping clean is for positive social interactions:

"I want him to be clean so that others do not say that he is dirty and not good, and do not want to talk to or stay near him" (Caregiver of a man with cognitive impairments).

Family resource

WASH tasks completed by caregivers included collecting and storing water for the individual's bathing and drinking needs, which participants reported being time-consuming and physically demanding. Many caregivers support people to urinate and defecate by assisting them in reaching the toilet, supporting toileting in bed, and cleaning the body or clothing after urination or defecation.

Many caregivers provide full-time support to individuals without any training or guidance. They essentially developed their own care practices. Few had assistive devices, such as commodes or bedpans to support toileting, so caregivers and people with disabilities who could not sit out of bed unaided regularly came into contact with urine and feces. For instance, one caregiver of an individual who cannot sit out of bed unaided fashioned a hole in the person with disabilities' bed, so they could defecate there without having to be moved. The caregiver would then dispose of the feces.

No caregiver had assistive products, such as lifting devices, which would enable them to safely support the person with disabilities and with limited risk to themselves. Many caregivers explained how physically demanding it is to move people with mobility limitations, especially adults. Some caregivers, including one who had recently given birth, explained the WASH-related tasks performed and their concerns about how they will cope when the individual grows and gets heavier.

"I am worried that when she gets older, it will be harder for me to lift her up [...]. "I lift her back and forth. She is not a small child. She is almost 20 kg; not small. Other people who just gave birth would not lift her like this, but if I do not do it, no one else would" (Caregiver of a woman with a mobility impairment).

However, in interviews with government officials and service providers, only one OPD highlighted caregivers' critical role in supporting people with disabilities' WASH needs. None said they work to support caregivers to carry out this role.

Discussion

This study explored the implementation of core concepts of human rights referenced in Cambodia's WASH policies and

guidance and the WASH-related experiences of people with disabilities and their caregivers in two provinces. The Three Star Approach to WASH in schools is a promising example of how policy commitments could be implemented if they include specific targets and if these are systematically delivered, monitored and reported on. However, most of this study's findings illustrate that the Government of Cambodia's policy commitments to progressively realize the rights of persons with disabilities to water and sanitation are not necessarily borne out systematically across national, sub-national, and household levels. Challenges include difficulties faced by OPDs in advocating for the rights of persons with disabilities to water and sanitation in provincial system planning meetings, inadequate access to assistive devices (e.g., wheelchair) and inaccessible terrain, meaning many people with disabilities were unable to leave home or reach the WASH meeting venue, and limited support provided to get people to the meeting and then participate meaningfully. People with disabilities in our sample have inadequate WASH services at home, and many participants relied on others to collect water and support access to latrines and bathing facilities. People with disabilities and caregivers cited an inability to afford accessible WASH services and a lack of information and knowledge about ways to improve access for people with disabilities. Many caregivers supported individuals in collecting water, bathing, and toileting, which they reported as physically demanding and time-consuming. Caregivers had no guidance about how to carry out the role, had few assistive devices (such as bedpans and commodes) or products (i.e., lifting devices), and key informants supported none to carry out this role.

Participation

Existing evidence demonstrates that, if supported to participate effectively, OPDs can play an essential and positive role in furthering the rights of persons with disabilities (Young et al., 2016; Grills et al., 2020). Young et al. (2016) literature review about the roles and functions of OPDs in low- and middle-income countries found evidence that OPDs can have significant and positive outcomes for people with disabilities, especially in employment, participation in training interventions, accessing microfinance and bank loans and involvement in civil society. A randomized control trial that aimed to measure the effectiveness of OPDs in improving people with disabilities' wellbeing in India found positive correlations between OPD involvement and increased participation, access to services (including sanitation), and wellbeing of the study population (Grills et al., 2020).

However, many studies highlight less optimal involvement of OPDs in policy and practice processes, including a study which reviewed the OPDs' participation in Ghana's Disability Fund, which provides financial support to people with disabilities through its decentralized political structures (Opoku et al., 2018). National Institute of Statistics, Ministry of Planning (2020) found that OPDs were not fully consulted in the allocation grants, even though they were for people with disabilities (Opoku et al., 2018).

Our study highlighted challenges related to the ability of OPDs to meaningfully participate in meetings for various reasons. For instance, OPDs were expected to solve issues facing people with disabilities that they raised and sub-national planning meetings, even though they are often under-resourced and regarded as having limited status. Findings from other studies in different settings similarly highlight that OPDs are increasingly engaged in or expected to engage in a wide array of activities, including service delivery roles typically performed by the state, often with limited financing (Young et al., 2016; Cote, 2020; Grills et al., 2020). This finding is also noted in a forthcoming study that analyses data from nine populationbased surveys in LMICs, leading authors to conclude that people with disabilities may not be accessing public services as a result (Banks et al., 2020).

These challenges make it difficult for sub-national OPDs in our study to advocate for change and raise public awareness about disability rights, which is a core role of ODPs (Grills et al., 2020). If OPDs are not given more significant support and resources in Cambodia, there is a risk that they might either stop attending the meetings or advocating for people with disabilities. As the Government of Cambodia is ratified the UNCRPD, it should work toward achieving Article 29 of the UNCRPD (Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, 2008), which specifies that State Parties:

"b) To promote actively an environment in which persons with disabilities can effectively and fully participate in the conduct of public affairs, without discrimination and on an equal basis with others, and encourage their participation in public affairs, including:

ii. Forming and joining organizations of persons with disabilities to represent persons with disabilities at international, national, regional and local levels."

In practice, this should include state actors and civil society's investment in OPD's long-term sustainability, including funding core costs, capacity enhancement, and, as Cote (Cote, 2020) recommends assisting the organization to diversify its funding base to ensure its autonomy and independence.

At the household level, people with disabilities and caregivers should be supported to attend WASH meetings in the community. For instance, transport could be provided to take people unable to leave home, or staff should visit these households so that all people can influence WASHrelated decisions that will affect them. Information must be communicated in accessible formats, and people with disabilities should be given space and time to contribute their opinions. Results from a cluster-randomized trial to evaluate the impact of an inclusive community-led total sanitation (CLTS) intervention in Malawi showed that people with disabilities were more likely to attend community meetings and construct or adapt household latrines, so they were accessible for people with disabilities in the intervention arm (Biran et al., 2018). Efforts which led to these results included training facilitators on inclusive implementation of CLTS (Biran et al., 2018). This involved awareness-raising on disability and the WASH requirements of people with disabilities, methods to ensure people with disabilities participate in decision making, techniques to make sanitation facilities accessible, how to provide accessible information, and conducting house-to-house visits for people unable to leave the home (Biran et al., 2018). An inability to leave home was a reality for many participants with disabilities in our study, suggesting that investing in visiting people in their homes is desirable.

Individualized services, access, and entitlement and affordability

Access to accessible and affordable WASH in households, schools, public places, and workplaces is essential to participation. Our analysis of Cambodia's WASH policies and guidance (Scherer et al., 2021) indicated that the country's WASH in schools' policy commitments, targets and indicators related to disability are relatively strong (Scherer et al., 2021). The Three Star Approach for WASH in Schools (UNICEF, GIZ, 2013) appears to support monitoring the implementation of those commitments. This is because government officials and service providers, including those that do not explicitly focus on disability, are applying the tool and supporting schools to progress to the three-star status, which includes accessible latrines.

The Three Star Approach for WASH in Schools could potentially improve access to WASH services at school for children with disabilities who are in education. However, the Cambodian Demographic and Health Survey data, reported in the UN Disability and Development Report (United Nations Department of Economic Social Affairs, 2018), notes wide disparities in education for children with disabilities, whereby only 44% of children with disabilities completed primary education, compared to 73% of their peers without disabilities (United Nations Department of Economic Social Affairs, 2018). Such disparities, which increase from primary to secondary school, are evidenced in many other countries (Kuper et al., 2014; Mizunoya et al., 2018).

Our sampling was not intended to be statistically representative, so we could not meaningfully explore access to education and inclusive school WASH for participants with disabilities. However, we found that many people with

10.3389/frwa.2022.963405

disabilities could not leave home because of a lack of assistive devices and inaccessible terrain. This is reflected in many other studies (Sheppard and Polack, 2018; Banks et al., 2019; Mactaggart et al., 2021), including a scoping review that explored the barriers and facilitators to participation for children and adolescents with disabilities in LMICs (Huus et al., 2021). Huus et al. (2021) noted inaccessible school facilities and transport, poor roads and infrastructure, negative teachers' attitudes, financial implications, and lack of access to assistive devices as barriers to participation, including education (Huus et al., 2021). Therefore, attention to and investment in making school WASH facilities physically accessible in Cambodia is one component of realizing *Access*, but more must be done. Resources must be allocated to ensure people with disabilities can access and use WASH facilities in or near the home.

The human rights framework state that water and sanitation must be affordable (not free), requiring a safety net for those who cannot afford to pay (full) costs' [p. 78 (De Albuquerque, 2014)]. Our study shows that many people with disabilities cannot afford to make household WASH facilities accessible and have no information about how to make low-cost adaptations to improve accessibility. As adults with disabilities are 50% less likely to be employed than adults without disabilities (World Health Organization, 2011), more significant efforts must be taken to support affordability for this population and increase awareness of low-cost household WASH technology options. Efforts should draw on Cambodia's National Guidelines on WASH for persons with disabilities and older adults, specifically the "accessible designs" sections for handwashing stations (page 31-32) and water supply (page 38-39) (Royal Government of Cambodia, 2017), as well as resources for other resourcepoor settings (Jones and Wilbur, 2014; Government of India, Ministry of Drinking Water and Sanitation SBMG, 2015; Coultas et al., 2020). Service providers should systematically disseminate information through national WASH working group and Commune Investment Plan meetings, mass media campaigns via radio, television, and print, through visiting people with disabilities and their caregivers at home and community WASH meetings.

Family resource

Caregivers are vital to enabling people with disabilities who need assistance to meet their WASH needs and participate in daily life. Still, our policy analysis and this study highlight that caregiver's role is underappreciated within Cambodia's WASH policies, guidance or implementation (Scherer et al., 2021). This absence has several vital impacts. Firstly, when caregivers are not supported to understand how to provide WASH care hygienically and with dignity and do not have access to assistive devices to help toileting (such as lifting devices, commodes, and bedpans), their own mental and physical health and wellbeing suffer, as well as that of the individual they support. Similar impacts are observed in Pakistan, Vanuatu, Nepal, India, and Malawi, where some caregivers reported that providing longterm care can be rewarding but also that it incurs physical and psychological impacts (White et al., 2016; Ansari, 2017; Thapa and Sivakami, 2017; Wilbur et al., 2021a,c). Consequently, some people with disabilities were neglected, physically and verbally abused, ashamed, and socially isolated (White et al., 2016; Ansari, 2017; Thapa and Sivakami, 2017; Wilbur et al., 2021a,c,d). Across all settings, individual innovations to make WASH more accessible exist, but organized support is absent. Secondly, if caregivers who provide full-time support are not resourced to attend meetings, they must incur additional financial costs. It is likely that the household already experiences income poverty, so not facilitating attendance risks excluding these families from WASH meetings.

Bringing it all together

Our findings show that implementing disability-inclusive policy commitments may be possible if clear and consistent steps to achieve these are identified and service delivery organizations systematically work to realize them. However, efforts must be taken to support OPDs to advocate for disability rights at WASH sector meetings and invest in OPDs' long-term sustainability and capacity enhancement. At the commune and household level, greater support is required to enable people with disabilities and families to attend and meaningfully participate in WASH meetings, access to WASH facilities at home that can be used as independently as possible, as well as assist caregivers in their role to support WASH for people with disabilities.

Finally, our findings show that people with disabilities face discrimination in many areas of their life, including accessing WASH services. Discrimination experienced in areas such as health services, including assistive devices, education, and employment, can all impact a person's access to WASH services. Therefore, improving access to WASH services must be considered within the broader context. WASH sector professionals must connect with disability service providers and rights organizations to challenge disability discrimination more broadly. For example, WASH and disability service providers should collaborate to support livelihood programmes for people with disabilities to finance adjustments to make WASH services accessible and provide accessible information about such adaptations. They must also coordinate efforts to improve access to assistive devices and products to enable people with disabilities to reach WASH facilities and caregivers to support toileting and bathing more safely. In conclusion, a more comprehensive approach to progressively realizing the rights to water and sanitation for people with disabilities could significantly disrupt the vicious cycle of poverty and disability.

Study strengths and limitations

A key strength of this study was that results from our previous policy analysis (Scherer et al., 2021) fed into identifying issues to explore, developing topic guides, and analyzing this study's findings. Data collection was conducted by Cambodians with and without disabilities with professional experience in WASH, disability, and qualitative research methods. The study population was comprehensive as we interviewed a range of key informants from the national and district level, women and men with various impairments, and their caregivers.

Several limitations must be considered when interpreting these results. The COVID-19 pandemic meant we could not generate data in person and had to conduct interviews over the phone or online. This may have limited the rapport researchers could develop with participants and meant that we could not carry out methods triangulation. Some key informants knew the organization the researchers worked for, which could have influenced their responses. This was managed by reiterating confidentiality and anonymity of responses during the interview.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (UK) and National Ethics Committee for Health Research (Cambodia). The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

JW: literature search, study conceptualization, study design, data collection oversight, verification of underlying data, data analysis, data interpretation, and manuscript writing. PP, RH, and SN: data collection oversight, data analysis, data interpretation, and manuscript review. CH, LB, NS, and AB: data interpretation and manuscript review. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by funding from the Australian Government, Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade's Water for Women Fund (grant number: WRA1), under the project Translating disability-inclusive WASH policies into practice: lessons learned from Cambodia and Bangladesh.

Acknowledgments

Thank you to all the participants who shared their experiences openly with us. We would like to thank and acknowledge the contribution of Vaanda Slout, who was part of the research team and contributed throughout the study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Author disclaimer

The views expressed in this publication are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the Commonwealth of Australia. The Commonwealth of Australia accepts no responsibility for any loss, damage or injury resulting from reliance on any of the information or views in this publication.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ frwa.2022.963405/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL 1 Topic guides for sub-national government officials.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL 2 Topic guide for national government officials.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL 3 Topic guide for disability service providers.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL 4 Topic guide for WASH service providers.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL 5 Topic guide for people with disabilities.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL 6 Topic guide for caregivers.

References

Amin, M., MacLachlan, M., Mannan, H., El Tayeb, S., El Khatim, A., Swartz, L., et al. (2011). EquiFrame: a framework for analysis of the inclusion of human rights and vulnerable groups in health policies. *Health Human Rights*. 13, 1–20. Available online at: https://www.hhrjournal.org/2013/08/equiframe-a-framework-foranalysis-of-the-inclusion-of-human-rights-and-vulnerable-groups-in-healthpolicies/

Ansari, Z. (2017). Understanding the Coping Mechanisms Employed by People With Disabilities and Their Families to Manage Incontinence in Pakistan [MSc]. LSHTM.

Banks, L. M., Eide, A., Hunt, X., Abu Alghaib, O., and Shakespeare, T. (2020). How Representative are Organisations of Persons with Disabilities? Data from Nine Population-Based Surveys in Low- and Middle-Income Countries. World Development Forthcoming.

Banks, L. M., White, S., Biran, A., Wilbur, J., Neupane, S., Neupane, S., et al. (2019). Are current approaches for measuring access to clean water and sanitation inclusive of people with disabilities? Comparison of individualand household-level access between people with and without disabilities in the Tanahun district of Nepal. *PLoS ONE* 14, e0223557. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.02 23557

Biran, A., Danquah, L., Chunga, J., Schmidt, W. P., Holm, R., Itimu-Phiri, A., et al. (2018). A Cluster-Randomized Trial to Evaluate the Impact of an Inclusive, Community-Led Total Sanitation Intervention on Sanitation Access for People with Disabilities in Malawi. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hygiene* 98, 984–94. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.17-0435

Biran, A., and White, S. (2022). *Improving Access to WASH for People With Disabilities in Malawi*. A review of policy and practice.

Chenda Keo, T. B. (2014). Brigitte Bouhours. London: WaterAid and Australian Red Cross.

Cote, A. (2020). The Unsteady Path. Towards Meaningful Participation of Organisations of Persons With Disabilities in the Implementation of the CRDP and SDGs. A pilot study by Bridging the Gap. Madrid.

Coultas, M., Iyer, R., and Myers, J. (2020) Handwashing Compendium for Low Resource Settings: A Living Document. Brighton: The Sanitation Learning Hub Institute of Development Studies. doi: 10.19088/SLH.2020.008

De Albuquerque, C. (2014). *Realising the Human Rights to Water and Sanitation:* A Handbook by the UN Special Rapporteur: Principles.

Dumpert, J., Gelbard, S., Huggett, C., and Padilla, A. (2018). WASH Experiences of Women Living with Disabilities in Cambodia. CRSHIP: Issue Brief.

Government of India, Ministry of Drinking Water and Sanitation SBMG. (2015). Handbook on Accessible Household Sanitation for Persons with Disabilities (PwDs). Delhi.

Grills, N. J., Hoq, M., Wong, C-P. P., Allagh, K., Singh, L., et al. (2020). Disabled People's Organisations increase access to services and improve well-being: evidence from a cluster randomized trial in North India. *BMC Public Health.* 20:145. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-8192-0

Hensen, B., Mackworth-Young, C. R. S., Simwinga, M., Abdelmagid, N., Banda, J., Mavodza, C., et al. (2021). Remote data collection for public health research in a COVID-19 era: ethical implications, challenges and opportunities. *Health Policy Plan.* 36, 360–368. doi: 10.1093/heapol/czaa158

Huus, K., Schlebusch, L., Ramaahlo, M., Samuels, A., Berglund, I. G., Barriers, D., et al. (2021). and facilitators to participation for children and adolescents with disabilities in low- and middle-income countries - A scoping review. *Afr. J. Disabil.* 10:771. doi: 10.4102/ajod.v10i0.771

Jones, H., and Wilbur, J. (2014) Compendium of Accessible WASH Technologies. WaterAid.

Kingdom of Cambodia (2011). Policy on the Disability Pension for the Poor Disabled People. Phnom Penh.

Kingdom of Cambodia (2019). Cambodia's Voluntary National Review 2019 on the Implementation of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Available online at: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/ 23603Cambodia_VNR_SDPM_Approved.pdf (accessed August 1, 2022).

Kingdom of Cambodia. (2009). Law on the Protection and the Promotion of the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. Phnom Penh.

Kuper, H., Monteath-van Dok, A., Wing, K., Danquah, L., Evans, J., Zuurmond, M., et al. (2014). The impact of disability on the lives of children; cross-sectional data including 8,900 children with disabilities and 898,834 children without disabilities across 30 countries. *PLoS ONE* 9:e107300. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0107300 MacLeod, M., Pann, M., Cantwell, R., and Moore, S. (2014). Issues in access to safe drinking water and basic hygiene for persons with physical disabilities in rural Cambodia. *J. Water Health* 12, 885–895. doi: 10.2166/wh.2014.009

Mactaggart, I., Baker, S., Bambery, L., Iakavai, J., Kim, M. J., Morrison, C., et al. (2021). Water, women and disability: Using mixed-methods to support inclusive wash programme design in Vanuatu. *Lancet Region. Health* 8:100109. doi: 10.1016/j.lanwpc.2021.100109

Mactaggart, I., Schmidt, W.-P., Bostoen, K., Chunga, J., and Danquah, L. (2018). Access to water and sanitation among people with disabilities: results from cross-sectional surveys in Bangladesh, Cameroon, India and Malawi. *BMJ Open* 8:e020077. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020077

Mannan, H., Amin, M., MacLachlan, M., El Tayeb, S., El Khatim, A., Bedri, N., et al. (2011). The EquiFrame Manual: A Tool for Evaluating and Promoting the Inclusion of Vulnerable Groups and Core Concepts of Human Rights in Health Policy Documents. Dublin: The Global Health Press.

Mizunoya, S., Mitra, S., and Yamasaki, I. (2018). Disability and school attendance in 15 low- and middle-income countries. *World Dev.* 104, 388–403. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.12.001

National Institute of Statistics, Directorate General for Health, ICF International (2015). *Cambodia Demographic Health Survey 2014*. Phnom Penh; Rockville, MD: National Institute of Statistics, Directorate General for Health, and ICF International.

National Institute of Statistics, Ministry of Planning (2020). General Population Census of the Kingdom of Cambodia 2019 National Report on Final Census Results. Phnom Penh.

Ninh, K., and Henke, R. (2005). COMMUNE COUNCILS IN CAMBODIA A National Survey on their Functions and Performance, With a Special Focus on Conflict Resolution. The Asia Foundation.

O'Connor, C., and Joffe, H. (2020). Intercoder reliability in qualitative research: debates and practical guidelines. *Int. J. Q. Methods* 19:1609406919899220. doi: 10.1177/1609406919899220

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, (2008). Convention on the Rights of Persons With Disabilities.

Opoku, M. P., Nketsia, W., Agyei-Okyere, E., and Mprah, W. K. (2018). Extending social protection to persons with disabilities: Exploring the accessibility and the impact of the Disability Fund on the lives of persons with disabilities in Ghana. *Global Soc. Policy* 19, 225–45. doi: 10.1177/1468018118 818275

Palmer, M., Williams, J., and McPake, B. (2019). Standard of living and disability in Cambodia. *J. Dev. Stud.* 55, 2382–2402. doi: 10.1080/00220388.2018.15 28349

Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Rapporteur, U. S. (2008). Frequently Asked Questions: The Special Rapporteur on the Human Right to Safe Drinking Water and Sanitation.

Royal Government of Cambodia (2010). National Program fo Sub-National Democratic Development (NP-SNDD) 2010–2019.

Royal Government of Cambodia (2011). National Strategy for Rural Water Supply, Sanitation and Hygiene 2011-2025. In: Ministry of Rural Development, editor. Phnom Penh.

Royal Government of Cambodia (2014). Cambodia National Disability Strategic Action Plan, NSDP, 2014-2018. In: Disability Action Council, Ministry of Social Affairs VaYR, editors. Phnom Penh.

Royal Government of Cambodia (2018). *Cambodian Sustainable Development Goals (CSDGs) Framework (2016-2030) (unofficial translation)*. Available online at https://dac.gov.kh/en/download.html (accessed August 1, 2022).

Royal Government of Cambodia, Disability Action Council (2014). *National Disability Strategic Plan (2014-2018)*. Available online at: https://dac.gov.kh/ images/pictures/pdf/english/National-Disability-Strategic-Plan-2014-2018.pdf (accessed August 2, 2022).

Royal Government of Cambodia, Disability Action Council (2019). National Disability Strategic Plan (2019–2023).

Royal Government of Cambodia. (2017). National Guidelines on Water, Sanitation and Hygiene for Persons with Disabilities and Older People In: Ministry of Rural Development, editor. Phnom Penh.

Scherer, N., Mactaggart, I., Huggett, C., Pheng, P., Rahman, M., Biran, A., et al. (2021). The inclusion of rights of people with disabilities and women and girls in

water, sanitation, and hygiene policy documents and programs of Bangladesh and Cambodia: Content analysis using EquiFrame. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18:e105057. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18105087

Sheppard, P., and Polack, S. (2018). Missing Millions: How Older People With Disabilities are Excluded From Humanitarian Response. London: HelpAge International.

Thapa, P., and Sivakami, M. (2017). Lost in transition: menstrual experiences of intellectually disabled school-going adolescents in Delhi, India. *Waterlines* 36, 317–38. doi: 10.3362/1756-3488.17-00012

UNICEF, GIZ (2013). Field Guide: The Three Star Approach for WASH in Schools. New York, NY: UNICEF.

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2018). *Disability* and Development Report. Realising the Sustainable Development Goals by for and With Persons With Disabilities.

White, S., Kuper, H., Itimu-Phiri, A., Holm, R., and Biran, A. (2016). A qualitative study of barriers to accessing water, sanitation and hygiene for disabled people in Malawi. *PLoS ONE* 11:e0155043. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155043

WHO, UNICEF (2017). Progress on Drinking Water, Sanitation and Hygiene: 2017 Update and SDG Baselines. Geneva: WHO.

Wilbur, J., Kayastha, S., Mahon, T., Torondel, B., Hameed, S., Sigdel, A., et al. (2021c). Qualitative study exploring the barriers to menstrual hygiene management faced by adolescents and young people with a disability, and their carers in the Kavrepalanchok district, Nepal. *BMC Public Health* 21:476. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10439-y

Wilbur, J., Morrison, C., Bambery, L., Tanguay, J., Baker, S., Sheppard, P., et al. (2021a). "I'm scared to talk about it": exploring experiences of incontinence for people with and without disabilities in Vanuatu, using mixed methods. *Lancet Region. Health* 14:100237. doi: 10.1016/j.lanwpc.2021.100237

Wilbur, J., Morrison, C., Iakavai, J., Shem, J., Poilapa, R., Bambery, L., et al. (2021d). "The weather is not good": exploring the menstrual health experiences of menstruators with and without disabilities in Vanuatu. *Lancet Region. Health* 2021:e100325. doi: 10.1016/j.lanwpc.2021.100325

Wilbur, J., Scherer, N., Mactaggart, I., Shrestha, G., Mahon, T., Torondel, B., et al. (2021b). Are Nepal's water, sanitation and hygiene and menstrual hygiene policies and supporting documents inclusive of disability? A policy analysis. *Int. J. Equity Health* 2021:20. doi: 10.1186/s12939-021-01463-w

Wilbur, J., Torondel, B., Hameed, S., Mahon, T., and Kuper, H. (2019). Systematic review of menstrual hygiene management requirements, its barriers and strategies for disabled people. *PLoS ONE* 14:e0210974. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.02 10974

World Health Organization (WHO), United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) (2021). Progress on Household Drinking Water, Sanitation and Hygiene 2000-2020: Five Years Into the SDGs. Geneva.

World Health Organization, World Bank (2011). World Report on Disability.

Young, R., Reeve, M., and Grills, N. (2016). The functions of disabled people's organisations (DPOs) in low and middle-income countries: a literature review. *Disability CBR Inclusive Dev.* 27, 45–71. doi: 10.5463/dcid.v27 i3.539

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

APPROVED BY Frontiers Editorial Office, Frontiers Media SA, Switzerland

*CORRESPONDENCE Frontiers Production Office production.office@frontiersin.org

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Water and Human Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Water

RECEIVED 23 November 2022 ACCEPTED 23 November 2022 PUBLISHED 01 December 2022

CITATION

Frontiers Production Office (2022) Erratum: A qualitative cross-sectional study exploring the implementation of disability-inclusive WASH policy commitments in Svay Reing and Kampong Chhnang Provinces, Cambodia. *Front. Water* 4:1106421. doi: 10.3389/frwa.2022.1106421

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Frontiers Production Office. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Erratum: A qualitative cross-sectional study exploring the implementation of disability-inclusive WASH policy commitments in Svay Reing and Kampong Chhnang Provinces, Cambodia

Frontiers Production Office*

Frontiers Media SA, Lausanne, Switzerland

KEYWORDS

disability, water, sanitation and hygiene, policy, service delivery, Cambodia

An Erratum on

A qualitative cross-sectional study exploring the implementation of disability-inclusive WASH policy commitments in Svay Reing and Kampong Chhnang Provinces, Cambodia

by Wilbur, J., Pheng, P., Has, R., Nguon, S. K., Banks, L. M., Huggett, C., Scherer, N., and Biran, A. (2022). *Front. Water* 4:963405. doi: 10.3389/frwa.2022.963405

Due to a production error, a section of text in the **Abstract** of this article was written incorrectly. The corrected sentence reads: "Caregivers had no guidance about how to carry out the role and few had assistive devices (e.g., commodes, bedpans) or products (i.e., lifting devices), so supporting WASH for people with disabilities was physically demanding and time-consuming." This sentence replaces the incorrect version, which said "Caregivers had guidance about how to carry out the role and few had assistive devices (e.g., commodes, bedpans) or products (i.e., lifting devices), so supporting WASH for people with disabilities was physically demanding and time-consuming."

The publisher apologizes for this mistake. The original article has been updated.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Julie A. Winkler, Michigan State University, United States

REVIEWED BY Linda Mason, Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine, United Kingdom Jerry Okal, Population Council Nairobi, Kenya

*CORRESPONDENCE Jane Wilbur jane.wilbur@lshtm.ac.uk

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Water and Human Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Water

RECEIVED 01 July 2022 ACCEPTED 26 August 2022 PUBLISHED 23 September 2022

CITATION

Wilbur J, Clemens F, Sweet E, Banks LM and Morrison C (2022) The inclusion of disability within efforts to address menstrual health during humanitarian emergencies: A systematized review. *Front. Water* 4:983789. doi: 10.3389/frwa.2022.983789

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Wilbur, Clemens, Sweet, Banks and Morrison. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The inclusion of disability within efforts to address menstrual health during humanitarian emergencies: A systematized review

Jane Wilbur^{1,2*†}, Felicity Clemens^{3†}, Elisabeth Sweet⁴, Lena Morgon Banks^{1,2} and Chloe Morrison⁵

¹London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, University of London, London, United Kingdom, ²International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London, United Kingdom, ³Consultant Biostatistician, Victoria, BC, Canada, ⁴Columbia College, Columbia University, New York, NY, United States, ⁵World Vision, Port Vila, Vanuatu

Introduction: Women and girls with disabilities may be excluded from efforts to achieve menstrual health during emergencies. The review objectives were to (1) identify and map the scope of available evidence on the inclusion of disability in menstrual health during emergencies and (2) understand its focus in comparison to menstrual health for people without disabilities in emergencies.

Methods: Eligible papers covered all regions and emergencies. Peer-reviewed papers were identified by conducting searches, in February 2020 and August 2021, across six online databases (PubMed, MEDLINE, EMBASE, Global Health, ReliefWeb, and Cinahal Plus); gray literature was identified through OpenGrey, Gray Literature Report, Google Scholar, and Million Short. Eligible papers included data on menstrual health for women and girls with and without disabilities in emergencies.

Results: Fifty-one papers were included; most focused on Southern Asia and man-made hazards. Nineteen papers contained primary research, whilst 32 did not. Four of the former were published in peer-reviewed journals; 34 papers were high quality. Only 26 papers mentioned menstrual health and disability in humanitarian settings, but the discussion was fleeting and incredibly light. Social support, behavioral expectations, knowledge, housing, shelter, water and sanitation infrastructure, disposal facilities, menstrual material availability, and affordability were investigated. Women and girls with disabilities rarely participated in menstrual health efforts, experienced reduced social support, and were less able to access water, sanitation and hygiene facilities, including disposal facilities. Cash transfers and hygiene kit distribution points were often inaccessible for people with disabilities; few outreach schemes existed. Hygiene kits provided were not always appropriate for people with disabilities. Caregivers (all genders) require but lack guidance about how to support an individual with disabilities to manage menstruation.

Conclusion: Minimal evidence exists on menstrual health and disabilities in emergencies; what does exist rarely directly involves women and girls with disabilities or their caregivers. Deliberate action must be taken to generate data about their menstrual health requirements during humanitarian crises and develop subsequent evidence-based solutions. All efforts must be made in meaningful participation with women and girls with disabilities and their caregivers to ensure interventions are appropriate.

Systematic review registration: Identifier: CRD42021250937.

KEYWORDS

disabilities, menstrual health, emergencies and disasters, humanitarian, caregivers

Introduction

At the end of 2020, 82.4 million of the global population (1 in 95 people) were forcibly displaced due to conflict, violence, and natural disasters (The UN Refugee Agency, 2021). An estimated 10.3 million of those were people with disabilities, which means a "long-term physical, mental, intellectual or sensory impairments which, in interaction with various barriers, may hinder their full and effective participation in society on an equal basis with others" (Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, 2008; World Health Organization World Bank, 2011).

A recent population-based survey of Syrian refugees living in Istanbul found that 25% of the population have a disability, and 60% of households included at least one person with disabilities (Polack et al., 2021). These data indicate that more people with disabilities may be affected by emergencies than previously estimated.

Humanitarian crises, such as conflict, can also generate trauma and injuries, which can result in disabilities (World Health Organization World Bank, 2011). People with disabilities face inequalities in accessing healthcare services, education, and employment because of informational, attitudinal, accessibility, and financial barriers faced (Mitra et al., 2013; Mactaggart et al., 2018; Kuper and Heydt, 2019). These inequalities can be exacerbated during crises (United Nations General Assembly, 2016). For instance, morbidity rates of people with disabilities are up to four times higher than those without disabilities (United Nations Economic Social Commission for Asia the Pacific, 2015), and 60% of COVID-19 deaths in the UK were amongst people with disabilities, even though they make up 17% of the population (Glover and Public Health England, 2020; Kuper et al., 2020). Humanitarian and basic human rights principles require assistance to be provided without discrimination (Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, 2008; CBM International HelpAge International, 2018; Sphere, 2018; United Nations

Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, 2021). Yet efforts to ensure the inclusion of people with disabilities in humanitarian efforts are limited (Robinson et al., 2020). A recent review of international guidance on water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) responses during the COVID-19 found that one-third did not include any references to the rights of people with disabilities, and the majority of references were made in one guidance document (Scherer et al., 2021a).

People with disabilities in humanitarian crises may experience multiple forms of discrimination including, gender, impairment, and age (Crenshaw, 1991; McCall, 2005). For instance, women with disabilities are at heightened risk of sexual violence during emergencies (UN Committee on the Rights of Persons With Disabilities, 2016; Barrett and Marshall, 2017). Women and girls with disabilities also have gender-specific needs, such as menstrual health. Globally, an estimated 190 million people with disabilities rely on informal and professional caregivers for assistance (World Health Organization, 2021), so many women and girls with disabilities in humanitarian crises may be dependent on others to support their menstrual health.

Menstrual health is defined as a "state of complete physical, mental, and social wellbeing, and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity, in relation to the menstrual cycle" (Hennegan et al., 2021). Menstrual health includes having clean and affordable menstrual material, facilities to change and dispose of the material hygienically and privately, access to soap and water to wash the body and menstrual material used. It also means understanding what menstruation is, how to manage it hygienically, having access to diagnosis and treatment for menstrual-related disorders, and a positive environment free from menstrual-related stigma and discrimination. Women and girls in low-and middle-income countries face numerous challenges managing menstruation hygienically and with dignity (Hennegan et al., 2019). Evidence shows that inadequate menstrual health impinges education attainment (Sommer, 2010; Phillips-Howard et al., 2016; Miiro et al., 2018), gender

equality (Winkler and Roaf, 2015; Caruso et al., 2017), health and wellbeing (Crichton et al., 2013; Mason et al., 2013).

In humanitarian crises, menstrual health challenges can be heightened. For instance, women and girls may flee their home without menstrual materials (e.g., disposable or reusable pads, cloth, underwear), they may live in settlements without safe and private water points, latrines or bathing shelters where they can wash their bodies, and change, wash or dispose of menstrual materials (Phillips-Howard et al., 2016; Schmitt et al., 2021). In crises, women and girls from diverse socio-cultural and economic backgrounds may live together in host communities, camps or informal settlements. Women and girls might believe that they should live separately from men and boys whilst menstruating, and dispose of used menstrual materials, or dry reusables in private where men and boys cannot see them (Sommer, 2012; De Lange et al., 2014; Phillips-Howard et al., 2016). The humanitarian emergency may disrupt these practices, causing psychological stress, so humanitarian responses must take these preferences into account when designing menstrual health interventions. They must also cover a range of sectors, including water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH), sexual and reproductive health and rights, women and child protection, education and shelter because facilitators for menstrual health are included in these areas (Phillips-Howard et al., 2016). Furthermore, the response phase (e.g., search and rescue, emergency relief, early recovery, medium to long-term recovery and community development) (Crutchfield, 2013) as well as the type of emergency, determine the required menstrual health response (Sommer et al., 2016; Sphere, 2018).

Little evidence exists in the literature about the challenges that women and girls with disabilities face in humanitarian crises and no prior evidence syntheses exist on the topic. However, data from non-emergency settings in Vanuatu show that harmful menstrual beliefs affect all women and girls who menstruate, but when disability and menstrual-related discrimination overlap, they further entrench existing inequalities (Scherer et al., 2021b). For instance, inaccessible water and bathing facilities, and socio-cultural expectations that women and girls must manage menstruation independently, resulted in heightened pain, discomfort, and a lack of safety during menstruation, especially for people with mobility limitations and people who are reliant on caregivers. A systematic review on menstrual health and disability noted that people with mobility limitations found menstrual materials uncomfortable and difficult to use; information on menstruation is withheld from people with intellectual impairments who are at risk of sterilization, partly because caregivers wish to cease menstruation (Wilbur et al., 2019a). Caregivers were given no support or guidance to carry out menstrual care tasks hygienically and with dignity (Wilbur et al., 2019a).

This systematized review had two interrelated objectives: to (1) identify and map the scope of available evidence on the inclusion of disability in menstrual health during emergencies

and (2) understand its focus in comparison to efforts to improve menstrual health for people without disabilities in emergencies.

Grant and Booth (2009) define a systematized review as including some, but not all elements of the systematic review process. Due to the paucity of literature in the field, we were unable to apply a standardized reference scale to assess the quality of included papers, which is recommended when conducting a systematic review (Higgins et al., 2019). Instead, we drew on 20 years' experience in the field and knowledge of existing similar literature to construct a simple rating scale which aims to assess the quality of the papers included (see Section Quality assessment).

Throughout the article, we refer to "women and girls" to increase readability, but the authors recognize that menstrual health is relevant for everyone who menstruates, regardless of gender identity.

Materials and methods

A review protocol is registered online with PROSPERO; registration number: PROSPERO CRD42021250937.

Search strategy and selection criteria

The search strategy was designed to identify peer-reviewed and gray literature which explored menstrual health for people with and without disabilities in emergency settings. The review covered all countries and languages and did not set a date limit, to ensure the widest range of papers could be identified.

Searches were conducted in February 2020 and repeated in August 2021 to ensure any guidance produced during COVID-19 was identified. Six online databases were used: PubMed, MEDLINE, EMBASE, and Global Health through Ovid SP, ReliefWeb, and Cinahal Plus. A comprehensive search of gray literature was conducted using OpenGrey, Gray Literature Report, Google Scholar, and Million Short. Additional papers were identified by reviewing references of included papers and contacting humanitarian relief organizations that deliver WASH interventions, including menstrual health interventions. When papers were not available online, authors were contacted and asked for the full text.

Search terms were created to capture three main concepts: disability, menstruation, and humanitarian crises. Disability included specific impairments and broad assessments (e.g., self-reported activity or functional limitations). Humanitarian crises included: Geophysical, Meteorological, Hydrological, Climatic events, Biological, Man-made hazards, and Complex emergencies resulting from a combination of hazards. Supplementary Table S1 includes the search string for PubMed. TABLE 1 Socio-ecological framework for menstrual hygiene management, adapted for disability compared to the integrated model of menstrual experience.

Socio-ecological framework for MHM, adapted for disability (Wilbur et al., 2019a)		Integrated model of menstrual experience (Hennegan et al., 2019)		
Factors that support MHM	Outcomes	Antecedents		
Societal and government policy factors	Policies, strategies and curriculum; training standards and practices; traditional norms, practices and cultural beliefs	Socio-cultural context: menstrual stigma, gender norms	Behavioral expectations: enforced by others and self	
Environmental and resource availability ractors	Water and sanitation facilities including for solid waste management; availability of affordable, usable and culturally appropriate sanitary protection materials	Resource limitations	Physical environment: water, sanitation facilities and infrastructure, disposal facilities Economic environment: product affordability and availability	
Interpersonal factors—person with disabilities	Relationship with family, caregiver (family and/or professional); relationships with healthcare workers, teachers and other people in authority; relationships with peers; perceptions of changes in gender roles post-menarche	Socio-cultural context: menstrual stigma, gender norms	Social support: family, friends, teachers, healthcare workers Behavioral expectations: enforced by others and self	
Interpersonal factors—Caregiver	Relationship with family, the person with disabilities; relationships with healthcare workers and other people in authority; relationships with the wider community; perceptions of changes in gender roles post-menarche			
Personal factors—person with disabilities	Knowledge about the biology of menstruation and MHM, information on menstruation and MHM; skills in coping and behavioral adaptions (including pain relief); attitudes, beliefs and feelings about menstruation (including sterilization/long-term contraception); ability to manage menstruation independently, and support required		Social support: family, friends, teachers, healthcare workers Knowledge: menstrual biology, reproduction, accuracy of taboos, practical management	
Personal factors—Caregiver	Knowledge about the biology of menstruation and MHM, information on menstruation and MHM; skills in coping and behavioral adaptions (including pain relief); attitudes, beliefs and feelings about menstruation (including sterilization/long-term contraception); ability to manage another person's menstruation independently, support required and care tasks related to MHM			
Biological factors	Menstrual variations due to age and features of menstrual cycle (regular, irregular, heavy, light) and any other biological changes related to menstruation; intensity of menstruation (pain) and influences on behavior, health and concentration; biological issues that impact on MHM, such as incontinence	Socio-cultural context: menstrual stigma, gender norms	Knowledge: menstrual biology, reproduction, accuracy of taboos, practical management	

Inclusion/exclusion criteria

Eligible papers were in the gray literature or published in a peer-reviewed journal, included primary research, academic papers including theses, dissertations, and research reports, ongoing research, conference papers, organizational strategies, reports, guidance, blogs, and government reports. No exclusion criteria were set for the publication date, world region or language.

10.3389/frwa.2022.983789

Eligible participants were women and girls with and without disabilities who menstruate, and caregivers who support individuals with disabilities with their menstruation. WASH interventions that aimed to improve menstrual health in humanitarian settings qualified. Comparisons were made between menstrual health efforts that did and did not consider disability.

Relevant outcomes included the ability to access supportive facilities to manage menstruation, use and preference of menstrual materials, menstrual-related challenges experienced and coping strategies applied during humanitarian crises.

Study selection and data extraction

Two authors conducted the database searches. All records retrieved were exported to EndNote version X9, and duplicates were removed. Three authors independently screened titles and abstracts against the eligibility criteria, noting the rationale for inclusion/exclusion decisions for all records retrieved. Full-text papers were sourced for independent screening by two authors. Any discrepancies were discussed and resolved, with a third reviewer's opinion being sought where necessary.

Data were extracted from identified papers using predesigned tables based on the socio-ecological framework for menstrual hygiene management (MHM), adapted for disability to allow comparison across papers (Wilbur et al., 2019b). Table 1 presents the framework and incorporates the integrated model of menstrual experience, published by Hennegan et al. (2019). In this article, findings are presented against the latter, firstly for women and girls without disabilities and then with disabilities to enable comparison.

Data were extracted into Microsoft Excel against the factors that support MHM (Table 1) and the following: (1) paper details: author/s, year, title, (2) study location: World Bank region—low, middle or high-income country, country name, rural and/or urban, (3) humanitarian crisis type: geophysical, hydrological, climatic events, biological, man-made hazards, complex emergencies, (4) methods: study design, (5) participants: source of participants (household, camp, hospital, organization), disability type (e.g., sensory, mobility, cognition, communication), means of assessing disability (self-reported, clinical, government or organization list), caregiver type (family member, professional), sample size, (6) definition of menstrual health or measurement criteria, (7) quality assessment.

A narrative synthesis of extracted data is presented in this article. As study designs varied considerably, a meta-analysis was not conducted.

Quality assessment

The quality of the papers was assessed using two different sets of criteria. The guideline, strategy or policy papers were assessed against six criteria: explanation of context with clear aims and objectives; aims and objectives supported by the data; inclusion of the perspectives of participants (people with disabilities, organizations of persons with disabilities); consultation with organizations of persons with disabilities (OPDs) or experts during the development of the document; stakeholder involvement; and use of humanitarian standards as a framework. Papers scoring 4–6 were counted as high quality, papers scoring 2–3 were judged as medium quality, and papers scoring 0 or 1 were low quality.

For the other types of paper (primary research, published protocols, literature review/systematic review, journalistic articles or conference presentation), the following six criteria were used: details of sampling strategy provided; details on methods provided; humanitarian actors included; people receiving humanitarian assistance included; people with disabilities or caregivers included; results demonstrably backed by data, either by using case studies or summaries of responses. Once more, papers scoring 4–6 were rated as high quality, papers scoring 2–3 as medium quality, and papers scoring 0 or 1 as low quality. Supplementary Table S2 presents a summary of the quality of included papers.

Results

Study selection and characteristics

The review flowchart is presented in Figure 1.

Description of papers

A total of 51 papers were selected for data extraction using the criteria described in Methods (study selection and data extraction). Table 2 shows the publication characteristics of the 51 papers.

Table 2 describes the 51 papers included in the review. Eight of the 51 papers (16%) were published in peer-reviewed journals or had been peer-reviewed prior to publication. These included four papers containing primary research, three literature reviews or systematic reviews, and one meeting report (classified with the literature and systematic reviews).

Due to the predominance of gray literature as a source in our review, papers reporting the results of primary research did not necessarily contain descriptions of the methodologies used, or any quantification of findings. The primary research ranged from interviews with displaced people (Human Rights Watch, 2017) to training projects for actors in humanitarian settings (Phillips-Howard et al., 2016), to purposively sampled key informant interviews synthesized with results from focus groups and literature reviews (Brown et al., 2012).

In the 51 papers, menstrual health and disabilities were discussed with varying degrees of detail. Twenty-six (51%)



discussed menstrual health and disability in humanitarian settings; however, some of these discussions were very brief, acknowledging the issues but not providing any depth of discussion. Seventeen of these 26 papers (65%) papers discussed issues of disability in humanitarian settings, and issues of menstrual health in humanitarian settings, but not the overlap between these the two. The remaining 25 papers (49%) discussed either menstrual health or disability, with the other mentioned in passing (Brown et al., 2012; Reed and Coates, 2012; Sthapit, 2015; Ndlovu and Bhala, 2016; Sommer et al., 2016, 2018; Fisher et al., 2017; Human Rights Watch, 2017; D'Mello-Guyett et al., 2018).

For the eight peer-reviewed studies, four (Reed and Coates, 2012; Ndlovu and Bhala, 2016; Sommer et al., 2016, 2018) contained primary research. The other four (Sthapit, 2015; Fisher et al., 2017; D'Mello-Guyett et al., 2018) were literature reviews, systematic reviews or meeting reports.

Of the 51 papers, 34 (67%) were assessed as high quality and 14 (27%) as medium quality. Across the "type of paper", the

literature reviews and systematic reviews scored high on quality. Comparatively, the primary research scores less on quality, with 15 (79%) high quality and four (27%) medium quality. Of the eight peer-reviewed papers, two (25%) scored high quality and six (75%) medium quality. Table 3 provides a summary of quality assessment by type of paper. Supplementary Table S3 presents a summary of the results of individual papers.

Limited consultation with people with disabilities

In general, people with disabilities were rarely consulted in the preparation of reviews about menstrual health. Of the 35 papers that were not guidelines, strategies or policy papers (see Table 2), seven consulted people with disabilities or caregivers (UNICEF, 2016; Humanitarian Response, 2020). Nine of the 16 papers that were guidelines, strategies, or TABLE 2 Year of publication, region and type of crisis for the 51 included papers.

Characteristic	Category	Number of papers (%)
Type of paper	Primary research (Reed and Coates, 2012; Shah, 2012; Bastable and Russell, 2013; House, 2013; van der Gaag, 2013;	19 (37)
	International Medical Corps, 2014; Mena, 2015; Giardina et al., 2016; Ndlovu and Bhala, 2016; Sommer et al., 2016, 2018; Abu	
	Hamad et al., 2017; Ferron, 2017; Human Rights Watch, 2017; UN Women, 2017; Joint Agency Research Report, 2018;	
	Madigan, 2019; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019; Toma, 2019)	
	Published protocol for a systematic review (Yates et al., 2014)	1 (2)
	Literature review or systematic review (Brown et al., 2012; Rohwerder, 2014, 2016, 2017; Inter-Agency Standing Committee,	13 (25)
	2015; Sthapit, 2015; Inter-Cluster Gender Working Group, 2016; Fisher et al., 2017; Humanitarian Learning Centre, 2017,	
	2018; D'Mello-Guyett et al., 2018; Jay and Lee-Koo, 2018; Amoakoh, 2019)	
	Guidelines, strategy or policy papers (Harvey et al., 2004; UNHCR, 2006; Mitchell, 2009; House et al., 2012; de Albuquerque,	16 (31)
	2014; Pearce, 2015; UNICEF, 2016; Sommer et al., 2017; World Health Organization, 2017; Sphere, 2018; Inter-Agency	
	Standing Committee, 2019; CBM Water for Women Fund, 2020; Emirie et al., 2020; Humanitarian Response, 2020; Wilbur,	
	2020; Wilbur and Wapling, 2020)	
	Journalistic articles or conference presentations (Zawde, 2008; Sanchez and Rodriguez, 2019)	2 (4)
Publication year	2019–2021	11 (22)
	2016–2018	21 (41)
	2013–2015	10 (20)
	2010-2012	4 (8)
	Before 2010	5 (10)
Region	International (e.g., guidelines)	15 (29)
	Caribbean	1 (2)
	Southern Asia	8 (16)
	Middle Africa	1 (2)
	Eastern Africa	6 (12)
	Southern Africa	1 (2)
	Southern Europe	1 (2)
	Western Asia	2 (4)
	None specified (e.g., literature review)	16 (31)
Type of crisis	Geophysical	4 (8)
	Meteorological	2 (4)
	Hydrological	1 (2)
	Climatic	1 (2)
	Biological	5 (10)
	Man-made (including refugee camps with other causes unspecified)	12 (24)
	None specified (e.g., literature review)	26 (51)

TABLE 3 Summary of quality assessment by type of paper.

Type of paper	Quality		Total, <i>N</i> (%)	
	Low, N (%)	Medium, N (%)	High, N (%)	
Primary research	0	4 (27)	15 (79)	19 (37)
Published protocol for a systematic review	0	1 (100)	0	1 (2)
Literature review or systematic review	0	1 (8)	12 (92)	13 (25)
Guidelines, strategy or policy papers	1 (6)	8 (50)	7 (44)	16 (31)
Journalistic articles or conference presentations	2 (100)	0	0	2 (4)
Totals	3 (6)	14 (27)	34 (67)	51 (100)

policy documents explicitly described consulting people with disabilities, caregivers or OPDs. Overall, 16 (31%) of papers potentially consulted people with disabilities on menstrual health issues.

House (2013) noted that people with disabilities are less likely to participate in community decision-making. Therefore, their views on sanitation (and, by extension, menstrual health) are less likely to be heard. This exclusion is particularly crucial as people with disabilities can face barriers to accessing WASH interventions, including those relating to the environment, infrastructure, policy or institution, attitudes, and physiological attributes (House, 2013).

Socio-cultural context: Social support, behavioral expectations, knowledge (menstrual biology, practical management)

Stigma from peers (House et al., 2012; Mena, 2015) and societal constraints on freedom of movement affected women's and girls' ability to seek support (House et al., 2012; Joint Agency Research Report, 2018). Support networks included family, teachers, and health organizations (House et al., 2012; House, 2013; Ndlovu and Bhala, 2016; Abu Hamad et al., 2017; Amoakoh, 2019; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019).

Behavioral expectations resulted in restrictions on women's and girls' daily activities during menstruation, including being unable to cook, stay in the family home, or use the family sanitation facilities (Harvey et al., 2004; House et al., 2012; Bastable and Russell, 2013; House, 2013; Ndlovu and Bhala, 2016; Humanitarian Learning Centre, 2018; Madigan, 2019; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019; Toma, 2019). Some restrictions could lead to girls missing school during menstruation (House, 2013; UN Women, 2017).

Many girls and women reported having poor knowledge of the biology of menstruation at the menarche (Ndlovu and Bhala, 2016; Abu Hamad et al., 2017; Humanitarian Learning Centre, 2018; Amoakoh, 2019; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019; Toma, 2019) and consequent demand for access to more comprehensive information about menstrual health (House, 2013; Jay and Lee-Koo, 2018). This information could be transmitted through schools, community channels, including female religious leaders, and better information for mothers (often menstrual health influencers) (House et al., 2012; House, 2013; Ndlovu and Bhala, 2016; Sommer et al., 2017; Humanitarian Learning Centre, 2018; Amoakoh, 2019).

Accurate information on the menstrual cycle and how to manage it hygienically and with dignity is a critical component of menstrual health, the lack of which can have consequences for women's health, including infections such as vulvovaginal candidiasis (House et al., 2012; Phillips-Howard et al., 2016). In emergency settings, women and girls may be receiving menstrual materials that they are not familiar with and, therefore, will require instruction on their use, including changing, washing and drying or disposing of materials (Sommer et al., 2017). Other authors recommend that the correct use of materials should be demonstrated (UN Women, 2017; Amoakoh, 2019).

The need for training in the use of menstrual materials may also apply to humanitarian personnel. Two authors identified a need for training for humanitarian staff (both male and female) to allow them to address menstrual health confidently and appropriately (Rohwerder, 2014; Sommer et al., 2016). Examples of inappropriate provision include a male logistician in Haiti who procured g-string underwear for use with pads (Rohwerder, 2016) while other logistics personnel distributed menstrual pads one at a time (Rohwerder, 2014). In one setting, some women were provided with underwear with a skull and crossbones pattern (Rohwerder, 2014).

Social support, behavioral expectations, knowledge for people with disabilities

People with disabilities may face additional stigma around menstrual health with people not expecting girls with disabilities to menstruate, reducing the information and social support available to them (House et al., 2012). In general, it was noted that girls with disabilities had reduced social support (Sommer et al., 2017) and smaller networks (Rohwerder, 2017). Girls with disabilities are less likely to attend school (van der Gaag, 2013; Humanitarian Learning Centre, 2017; World Health Organization, 2017; Toma, 2019), with consequences for their social support networks. This exclusion could be exacerbated in an emergency as regular networks are disrupted (Rohwerder, 2017).

House et al. recommends that caregivers should be female and chosen by the woman or girl for physical assistance with menstrual health. Programs should be followed consistently by all caregivers involved, and the woman or girl's respect, privacy, and dignity should be prioritized (House et al., 2012). Furthermore, women and girls with disabilities may be isolated in their homes (Pearce, 2015) or have even less access to their communities and social support (Sommer et al., 2016). Outside the home, people with disabilities may need additional support from carers to prevent behaviors such as changing in inappropriate places (Sommer et al., 2017) or removing used menstrual materials in public (House et al., 2012).

Where necessary, educational materials on menstrual health should be provided in alternative formats (such as audio or pictures) (Sommer et al., 2017; Humanitarian Response, 2020). People with disabilities may not attend school and, therefore, may be unable to access lessons on menstrual biology (Sommer et al., 2017). Direct outreach to people with disabilities may therefore be necessary (Sommer et al., 2017), and feedback must be sought to ensure that people understand the material (Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 2019).

Caregivers for people with disabilities may also need education on the biology of menstruation and assurances that menstruation is normal (House et al., 2012; Sommer et al., 2017). One case study reports a Burundian man caring for his sister who had a disability and sought assistance from humanitarian workers to help his sister manage her menstruation. He was given disposable pads and shown how to support his sister with their use (Sommer et al., 2017). This example points to a more general need for caregivers to be shown how to help menstrual health in people with disabilities (House et al., 2012; Sommer et al., 2017).

Resource limitations—Physical environment: Housing, shelter, and latrines

Many of the papers included in this review (n = 24, 47%) commented on sanitation facilities and infrastructure for menstrual health in emergencies, perhaps because menstrual health has historically been seen as a WASH sector issue (Sommer et al., 2016).

Housing and shelter in emergency settings pose challenges for menstrual health. Overcrowded or cramped living conditions may not offer enough privacy for girls and women to manage their menstrual health (Sommer et al., 2016; Abu Hamad et al., 2017; Rohwerder, 2017; Madigan, 2019; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019). This lack of privacy for washing and drying menstrual cloths can lead to incomplete drying of materials and consequent perineal rashes and urinary tract infections (van der Gaag, 2013). Communal shelters, in particular, need private areas for women and girls to attend to their menstrual health without having to leave their homes at night (Sommer et al., 2016).

Surveys of women and girls in humanitarian settings identified difficulties with managing menstruation in latrines. Problems identified included: a lack of soap (Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019); lack of doors and door locks (Bastable and Russell, 2013; van der Gaag, 2013; UN Women, 2017; Joint Agency Research Report, 2018; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019); lack of privacy (Bastable and Russell, 2013; Madigan, 2019; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019); lack of space for washing and drying hands and menstrual materials (UN Women, 2017; Joint Agency Research Report, 2018; Madigan, 2019; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019); poor lighting at night (Bastable and Russell, 2013; van der Gaag, 2013; Joint Agency Research Report, 2018; Madigan, 2019); poor siting of latrines (Joint Agency Research Report, 2018; Amoakoh, 2019; Humanitarian Response, 2020); unsegregated latrines (van der Gaag, 2013; UN Women, 2017; Joint Agency Research Report, 2018; Madigan, 2019), and dirty, smelly or overcrowded latrines (Joint Agency Research Report, 2018; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019).

There was overlap in the literature about the infrastructure necessary to make facilities suitable for menstrual health management. The following features were specified: sexsegregated latrines (Harvey et al., 2004; van der Gaag, 2013; Sommer et al., 2016; Sphere, 2018); lights (Sommer et al., 2016, 2017; Joint Agency Research Report, 2018; Sphere, 2018); door locks (Harvey et al., 2004; House et al., 2012; van der Gaag, 2013; Sommer et al., 2017; Joint Agency Research Report, 2018; Sphere, 2018); separate private bathing spaces (Joint Agency Research Report, 2018), including screening around shower facilities (Bastable and Russell, 2013); private cubicles for washing menstrual cloths, as part of washrooms or laundry facilities (House et al., 2012; Bastable and Russell, 2013; Sommer et al., 2017; Amoakoh, 2019; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019); hand washing facilities (Harvey et al., 2004; Sommer et al., 2016); discreet drainage for laundry and bathing spaces (Sommer et al., 2017; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019); drying facilities (House et al., 2012; Bastable and Russell, 2013; Mena, 2015; Sommer et al., 2017; Sphere, 2018; Amoakoh, 2019; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019); disposal facilities (House et al., 2012; Mena, 2015; Sommer et al., 2016; Sphere, 2018; Amoakoh, 2019). Other adaptations could include a hook or shelf inside toilet cubicles and mirrors inside the latrines (Sommer et al., 2016). Consultation with women and girls on materials, siting, design and management of facilities was identified as a priority (Harvey et al., 2004; Sommer et al., 2017; Sphere, 2018; Humanitarian Response, 2020).

Housing, shelter, and latrines for people with disabilities

Overcrowded living space can have an even more significant impact on women and girls with disabilities, who may need more space to allow for the assistance of a caregiver (Rohwerder, 2017). There were few direct reports of the menstrual health needs of people with disabilities related to accessing latrines to change, wash and dry menstrual materials. One person with disabilities commented that a ramp to the latrine and a wheelchair provided by humanitarian assistance enabled her to use the toilet (van der Gaag, 2013).

A need for accessible toilet facilities was highlighted in the literature (House et al., 2012; Sommer et al., 2016, 2017, 2018; Sphere, 2018; Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 2019; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019; Humanitarian Response, 2020). Suggested modifications to improve accessibility for people with disabilities include security lighting (Harvey et al., 2004); extra rails (Harvey et al., 2004; House et al., 2012; Sommer et al., 2017), access ramps (Harvey et al., 2004; House et al., 2012; House, 2013; Sommer et al., 2017; Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 2019), larger cubicles (Harvey et al., 2004; House et al., 2012); wider doors (House et al., 2012; Sommer et al., 2017; Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 2019); door handles of appropriate height and size (Harvey et al., 2004; House, 2013; Sommer et al., 2017; Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 2019); taps of appropriate height (Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 2019); slip-resistant surfaces (House et al., 2012; Sommer et al., 2017); chairs placed inside the toilet (House et al., 2012; Sommer et al., 2017); latrines sited close to the homes of people with disabilities (Harvey et al., 2004), and support for washing hands (Harvey et al., 2004).

One report (Humanitarian Learning Centre, 2017), noted that WASH facilities are often not built to be accessible for people with disabilities, and guidance documents lack information about accessibility (House, 2013). Some reports acknowledged the need to consult with people with disabilities and their caregivers to design appropriate solutions (Sommer et al., 2017; Humanitarian Learning Centre, 2018; Sphere, 2018; Amoakoh, 2019).

Pre-existing barriers to WASH facilities have been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic (CBM Water for Women Fund, 2020; Wilbur, 2020, in press; Scherer et al., 2021b), and the pandemic has increased the importance of making WASH facilities accessible for people with disabilities (Emirie et al., 2020). Specific to menstrual health for people with disabilities, standards for disability inclusion require that women and girls have spaces for washing, including space for a caregiver, and space to wash and dry stained clothing and materials and dispose of materials (Rohwerder, 2017).

Resource limitations—Physical environment: Water facilities and infrastructure

Water may be scarce in an emergency setting. Host communities in Bangladesh reported a water shortage following an influx of refugees on the border (Joint Agency Research Report, 2018). In a refugee camp in the Philippines, a single water source might be shared by 100 families (van der Gaag, 2013). These resource limitations have clear implications for menstrual health, which requires water for washing and drying materials, hands and bodies (House et al., 2012; Sommer et al., 2017). Consulting women and girls on the siting of water points were recommended, partly to address security concerns (Sommer et al., 2017; Madigan, 2019).

Water facilities and infrastructure for people with disabilities

People with disabilities may have difficulties accessing water points, using pumps or carrying water (House, 2013). As noted above, toilet and bathing facilities may need to be adapted so that people with disabilities can access water within the facilities to support their menstrual health.

Resource limitations—Physical environment: Disposal facilities

Disposal mechanisms for used menstrual materials were often not considered in setting up WASH facilities in emergencies (Sommer et al., 2016). The disposal preference for used menstrual materials is affected by cultural beliefs and practices, such as burning or burying menstrual waste (House et al., 2012; Rohwerder, 2017; Humanitarian Learning Centre, 2018). Women might prefer to dispose of their pads in the latrine or toilet, which has implications for blocking and desludging latrines (House et al., 2012; Sommer et al., 2016). In one case, the bins for disposable materials were not covered, so women put used materials behind pipes in the shower cubicles where they could not easily be seen (Mena, 2015).

The Sphere handbook notes the need for appropriate disposal systems (Sphere, 2018), which must be convenient, private and hygienic (van der Gaag, 2013; Sommer et al., 2017). These systems need to be designed in consultation with women and girls (Mena, 2015; Amoakoh, 2019) to consider local preferences.

Disposal facilities for people with disabilities

Convenient and accessible disposal facilities are essential for people with disabilities who may need access to adapted spaces or help from a caregiver to manage their menstrual health (House et al., 2012). Consultation with people with disabilities and caregivers on suitable disposal mechanisms is required (Amoakoh, 2019; Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 2019).

Resource limitations—Economic environment: Product affordability

Product affordability did not feature heavily in the literature searched, other than noting that the relative affordability of different menstrual materials might influence people's preferences (House et al., 2012). However, the affordability of menstrual materials against other needs was flagged as an important issue in using cash transfers or voucher schemes in emergency settings (Ferron, 2017). Women interviewed about cash transfers for non-food items often preferred vouchers for specific items because they could be sure they could access the items they needed (Ferron, 2017). Some women preferred to be given hygiene kits because they felt respected and did not have to buy menstrual materials with limited money (Rohwerder, 2014).

Ferron (2017) recommended carrying out market assessments before implementing cash transfers to make

sure that the items are available and markets are functioning. There may also be issues of market distortion. In one setting, women did not buy menstrual materials they could afford, preferring instead to use the free materials they were given (Ferron, 2017).

Product affordability for people with disabilities

If cash transfers or vouchers are used to obtain menstrual products, there are access implications for people with disabilities, which include the process of registering for schemes, the accessibility of the technology used (such as mobile phone credit), the accessibility of distribution points, and the accessibility of shops and markets participating in the scheme, including transport options (Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 2019).

Resource limitations—Economic environment: Product availability

The provision of menstrual materials may be seen as a low priority in an emergency setting (van der Gaag, 2013), and local preferences may not be considered (Sommer et al., 2016). One expert noted: "The need for culturally-appropriate sanitary materials is a constant refrain in all humanitarian responses and an area that we continually fail/fall short on" (Rohwerder, 2014).

Hygiene kits in emergency settings sometimes do not contain enough menstrual materials (Rohwerder, 2014). Research by United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) found that in 2004, 10 of 53 refugee camps distributed adequate menstrual materials (UNHCR, 2006). In one survey in Bangladesh, 25% of women said they did not have sufficient supplies to meet their menstrual health needs (Joint Agency Research Report, 2018), while another found that 24% of women and girls had not received menstrual materials within the last 3 months (Humanitarian Response, 2020). In Mozambique, women also identified a lack of supply of materials (Madigan, 2019).

If reusable materials are being given, women need enough so that supplies can be washed and dried whilst another is in use (House et al., 2012; Rohwerder, 2014). Tampons and menstrual cups depend on water supply and soap for hand hygiene (House et al., 2012). Other considerations include product availability, comfort, changing frequency, security, color, need for underwear, and how much of a product is required (House et al., 2012). In another example, menstrual cloths of an unfamiliar color and thickness were supplied to women and girls in Pakistan and Kenya. They were not used, used for other purposes, or thrown away (van der Gaag, 2013). In one setting in Bangladesh, women were given new saris so they could use the old ones for menstrual cloths, but the old saris were not used as humanitarian agencies intended (Ferron, 2017). In Mozambique, there was insufficient cloth to make reusable pads (Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019). In one setting, women received reusable pads but no soap and wrong-sized underwear (Phillips-Howard et al., 2016). Some organizations provide menstrual pads without underwear, making them harder to use or with inappropriate underwear (Rohwerder, 2014, 2016).

Materials included in hygiene kits were: cotton material (Sommer et al., 2017; Sphere, 2018; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019); disposable pads (Sommer et al., 2017; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019); reusable cloth pads (Sphere, 2018); extra soap (Sommer et al., 2017; Sphere, 2018; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019); container with a lid for soaking or storing pads (Sommer et al., 2017; Sphere, 2018; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019); plastic basin for washing (Rohwerder, 2014); rope and pegs for drying reusable materials (Sommer et al., 2017; Sphere, 2018); analgesia (Rohwerder, 2014); torch (Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019), and underwear (Sommer et al., 2017; Sphere, 2018).

Product availability for people with disabilities

Some authors noted that the contents of a hygiene kit might need to be adapted for use by people with disabilities (Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 2019; CBM Water for Women Fund, 2020); or that hygiene kits could be standardized to include the needs of people with disabilities (Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 2019). These adaptations might consist of additional supplies (Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 2019; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019) and extra items such as protective bedding for people unable to mobilize (Sommer et al., 2017; Shaphren and Cuadra, 2019); supplementary items such as menstrual calendars could also be helpful (House et al., 2012). People with disabilities and caregivers should be consulted about their needs (Sommer et al., 2017; Amoakoh, 2019) and have opportunities to decide which products suit them (House et al., 2012).

One author noted that the distribution system of hygiene kits might not be reaching people with disabilities (Madigan, 2019). In one case, a woman was sharing her menstrual materials with her daughter, who had learning difficulties and did not attend school and had not been issued with menstrual materials (Sommer et al., 2018). Distribution centers could be adapted to be accessible (Sommer et al., 2017), or house visits might be more appropriate for people who are unable to leave the home (Madigan, 2019).

Discussion

This study had two objectives: to (1) identify and map the scope of available evidence on the inclusion of disability in menstrual health during emergencies and (2) understand its focus in comparison to efforts to improve menstrual health for people without disabilities in emergencies. We found significant gaps in attention to menstrual health for all women and girls in emergency settings. However, the lack of information relevant to women and girls with disabilities was particularly stark. Most data related to increasing access to WASH services for women and girls with disabilities, with significant gaps highlighted against other aspects of menstrual health, such as providing information in accessible formats.

Much has been written on the social support, behavioral expectations and knowledge related to menstruation and how harmful social beliefs can negatively impact women and girls' ability to thrive (Hennegan et al., 2019; Wilbur et al., 2019a). Our study highlights that those menstrual socio-cultural beliefs are also followed in emergencies. Critical support networks can be interrupted in humanitarian settings; impacts of disruptions may be greater for people with disabilities because they face discrimination in daily life and, therefore, may have smaller social support networks. These changes and loss of routine can be particularly traumatic for people on the autistic spectrum, which has been documented in the COVID-19 pandemic, along with a call for more autistic-specific advice and information (Ameis et al., 2020; Oomen et al., 2021).

Behaviors before and during menstruation carried out by people with intellectual impairments can include withdrawal, self-harm, increased hyperactivity, anger, and shame, as well as removing a menstrual material in public (Kyrkou, 2005; Chou and Lu, 2012; Thapa and Sivakami, 2017; Wilbur et al., 2021a,b). These behaviors may be amplified during emergencies when people are more likely to be frightened and feel vulnerable. Repetition of information through various mediums and establishing new norms and routines have successfully supported the menstrual health of women and girls in Nepal (Wilbur et al., 2019b). Such gains could be lost during emergencies unless clear and repetitive information on menstrual health is provided to the individual and caregiver where relevant.

Our study shows conflicting data between the recommendation that caregivers should be women and identified by people with disabilities and the need to ensure that everyone who provides care, regardless of gender, should be supported. As social networks may be disrupted, men may help women and girls with disabilities manage menstruation for the first time. Therefore, it is important not to enforce or assume traditional gender roles, which may exclude male caregivers who need support and guidance. Instead, the wishes and choices of the person with a disability should be encouraged as much as possible through supported decision-making.

Existing evidence highlights that people with disabilities may be more negatively affected by poor housing conditions than people without disabilities during emergencies (Sheppard and Polack, 2018). Impacts include an increased dependency on self-care, being housebound and socially isolated, which may worsen existing health conditions and social exclusion. Our findings reflect these concerns but also demonstrate that all women and girls face challenges accessing water, using safe and private latrines and bathing shelters to change, wash the body and menstrual materials, or end-use disposal mechanisms. However, women and girls with disabilities face additional barriers. Technical guidance on how to make WASH infrastructure accessible for people with disabilities exists (Jones and Reed, 2005; Jones and Wilbur, 2014; Government of India, 2015), including WASH in emergencies (UNICEF, 2017; Coultas et al., 2020). These resources include suggestions about how to make "reasonable accommodations", which are ad-hoc temporary arrangements to accommodate one or more people with disabilities-such as placing a temporary and movable wooden ramp to the entrance of a latrine (Coultas et al., 2020) or a movable toilet seat over a traditional pit latrine (Jones and Wilbur, 2014). These designs could facilitate greater access to latrines for people with disabilities and their caregivers. Yet more technical guidance about how to make menstrual material disposal mechanisms fully accessible is required.

Most of our study findings related to people with disabilities centered on accessible WASH facilities. Though this sector is vital for menstrual health, a narrow focus would risk not addressing the issue in its entirety, and people with more "invisible" impairments (such as cognitive and communication) may be unintentionally excluded from menstrual health efforts. "Inclusive WASH" is widely understood as accessible infrastructure (Coe and Wapling, 2015; Wilbur et al., 2021b), but inclusive WASH is not an output; it is "a process which addresses the barriers to accessing and using WASH services faced by people who are vulnerable to exclusion, including people with disabilities" (Wilbur et al., 2021a). Ensuring accessible information and WASH infrastructure, challenging negative stereotypes, integrating disability into policy commitments and monitoring progress, and ensuring the participation of people with disabilities and caregivers in all these activities are all part of inclusive WASH.

Inadequate effective and meaningful participation of people with disabilities in WASH programs, from design to evaluation, has been widely documented in development settings (Groce et al., 2011; UN Water, 2015; Scherer et al., 2021b; Wilbur et al., 2021b). Evidence also exists from humanitarian settings, including two papers which explore the extent to which the rights of persons with disabilities are included in international guidance on WASH responses to prevent the transmission of COVID-19 (Scherer et al., 2021a) and interventions (Wilbur, in press). Both found that participation was referenced significantly less than ensuring access to WASH infrastructure in guidance documents (Scherer et al., 2021a) and interventions (Wilbur, in press). These patterns are apparent in our study. Participation can boost self-confidence, which could, in turn, reduce stigma and self-stigma (Corrigan et al., 2009). Supporting the autonomy and agency of people with disabilities can also challenge broader misconceptions about disability, including that they cannot contribute to the community's development. In a study in
Zambia, enabling the meaningful participation of people with disabilities in the design of communal water points resulted in changes in infrastructure design, making it easier for all people to use. This visibility positively impacted community members' attitudes toward people with disabilities (Danquah, 2015). The participation of women and girls with and without disabilities and caregivers in humanitarian contexts would raise awareness about their specific requirements and support the development of relevant and culturally acceptable solutions.

Our study shows that significantly more attention must be given to ensuring all women and girls in emergencies can access affordable, effective and culturally appropriate menstrual materials, information about how to use these and effective distribution mechanisms. Encouragingly, menstrual underwear and a wash and dry bag to reduce menstrual waste and disposal challenges in humanitarian contexts are currently being developed and pilot tested (Elrha, n. d.-b). Furthermore, the feasibility of integrating menstrual health education and menstrual hygiene kits that contain the menstrual cup or reusable menstrual materials is being explored in refugee settlements in Uganda (Elrha, n. d.-a). Such innovations and studies should also be piloted with and include women and girls with different impairments and their caregivers to understand their appropriateness for these populations. Consideration must be given to the specific needs of women and girls with disabilities, including based on their impairment (Charlifue et al., 1992; Patage et al., 2015), ability to leave home, understand information and instructions; ability to afford and access transport, shops or distribution site, as well as access to social protection schemes, including cash transfers (Sheppard and Polack, 2018).

Our study has highlighted the need to ensure distribution centers are fully accessible for people with disabilities. However, potential challenges in navigating the environment for people without the assistive devices they need (e.g., wheelchair, hearing aid, walking cane) must be recognized. For instance, only 5-15% of people who require assistive devices have them in low-and middle-income countries (World Health Organization World Bank, 2011); this gap could be worse in emergencies where existing disability services may be disrupted or if assistive devices are lost or damaged. Visiting the homes of women and girls with disabilities is essential to ensuring menstrual materials are distributed to everyone who requires them. This adaptation is recognized in the United Nations Human Rights Council's first resolution on MHM, which includes the call to deliver menstrual health information and education to caregivers and "out-of-school settings" in "peace time", as well as emergency preparedness and responses (United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, 2021).

Significantly more data about menstrual health and disability in emergencies must be generated, and their findings should feed into training for implementers. In 2017, A

Toolkit for Integrating Menstrual Hygiene Management into Humanitarian Response was published (Sommer et al., 2017), pilot-tested and evaluated in Tanzanian refugee camps (Sommer et al., 2018). The toolkit contains modules on training and menstrual hygiene management for vulnerable populations, which includes women and girls with disabilities. This toolkit is positive, but integrating disability explicitly in its training modules is required to raise awareness and increase staff capacities to communicate menstrual healthrelated information confidently and in accessible formats. This mainstreaming is important because people with disabilities report that they are 50% more likely to find healthcare staff skills inadequate, four times more likely to receive ill-treatment in the healthcare system and less able to understand the information provided (World Health Organization World Bank, 2011). These statistics might be worse in humanitarian settings, where activities need to be carried out quickly and healthcare resources are in more limited supply, such as during the "emergency relief" phase (Crutchfield, 2013).

Menstrual health in emergencies requires multisectoral responses. This includes disability-related services, WASH, women and child protection, sexual and reproductive health, shelter, and education. Core to all efforts must be the involvement of people with disabilities, including Organizations of Persons with Disabilities, in all phases from inception to evaluation. Only this meaningful engagement will ensure that women and girls with disabilities are at the front and center of their own menstrual health development initiatives.

Review strengths and limitations

To the best of the authors' knowledge, this is the first review (systematized or otherwise) that explores the menstrual health experiences of women and girls with and without disabilities in humanitarian emergencies. It also includes a comprehensive search of peer-reviewed and gray literature.

However, several limitations must be considered when interpreting the results. Of the included papers that identified a region, the majority focused on Southern Asia, followed by Eastern Africa, but none were from the Pacific region. More than half of the papers did not specify the types of crises, but of those that did, man-made received the most attention and hydrological and climatic, the least. Therefore, the findings may not be generalizable to all contexts. Though non-English papers were not excluded, English search terms were used, so some papers in languages other than English might have been missed. Finally, no study specified the impairments experienced by women and girls with disabilities, so a comparison of menstrual experiences across impairment groups could not be completed. In addition, the quality assessment criteria used in this review could not be validated against similar criteria in the literature due to the dearth of papers published in the field.

Conclusion

This study demonstrates gaps in attention to menstrual health for women and girls in humanitarian crises and underscores that disability and menstrual discrimination overlap to increase inequalities during emergencies. Few interventions were identified addressing the requirements of women and girls with disabilities and their caregivers. More evidence about the requirements of these populations in humanitarian crises must be generated, and subsequent solutions developed. Women and girls with disabilities and their caregivers must meaningfully participate throughout the whole process to ensure menstrual health efforts are appropriate.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

JW: conceptualization, data curation, formal analysis, funding acquisition, investigation, methodology, project administration, resources, software, validation, visualization, writing—original draft, and writing—review and editing. FC: data curation, formal analysis, investigation, resources, software, validation, visualization, writing—original draft, and writing review and editing. ES: data curation, investigation, and writing—review and editing. LB: writing—review and editing. CM: conceptualization, data curation, funding acquisition, project administration, resources, and writing—review and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was funded by Elrha Humanitarian Innovation Fund, Grant Number: 45437. The funder was not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article, or the decision to submit it for publication.

Conflict of interest

Author CM was employed by World Vision. Author JW reported grants from World Vision.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ frwa.2022.983789/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE S1 Type of paper reviewed.

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE S2 Summary of guality for included papers.

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE S3 Summary of results from individual papers.

References

Abu Hamad, B., Gercama, I., Jones, N., and Abu Hamra, E. (2017). No one told me about that: exploring adolescent access to health services and information in Gaza. *Gender Adolesc. Global Evid.* Available online at: https://www.gage.odi.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/GAGE-Health-Briefing-Gaza.pdf (accessed March 01, 2021).

Ameis, S. H., Lai, M.-C., Mulsant, B. H., and Szatmari, P. (2020). Coping, fostering resilience, and driving care innovation for autistic people and their families during the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond. *Molecular Autism.* 11, 61. doi: 10.1186/s13229-020-00365-y

Amoakoh, S. D. (2019). Human Rights in Humanitarian Policy: Dissecting the Catalysts And barriers to Employing a Human Rights-Based Approach in Drafting Menstrual Health Into the Sphere 2018 Handbook. Columbia University. Barrett, H., and Marshall, J. (2017). Understanding Sexual and Gender Based Violence Against Refugees With a Communication Disability and Challenges to Accessing Appropriate Support: A Literature Review. Available online at: https://www.elrha.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/sgbv-literature-review-2. pdf (accessed March 01, 2021).

Bastable, A., and Russell, L. (2013). *Gap Analysis in Emergency Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Promotion*. Humanitarian Innovation Fund. Available online at: https://www.elrha.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/HIF-WASH-Gap-Analysis.pdf (accessed March 01, 2021).

Brown, J., Jeandron, A., and Cumming, O. (2012). Water, sanitation and hygiene in emergencies: summary review and recommendations for further research. *Waterlines*. 31:11–29. doi: 10.3362/1756-3488.2012.004 Caruso, B. A., Clasen, T. F., Hadley, C., Yount, K. M., Haardörfer, R., Rout, M., et al. (2017). Understanding and defining sanitation insecurity: women's gendered experiences of urination, defecation and menstruation in rural Odisha, India. *BMJ Global Health.* 2, e000414. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2017-000414

CBM International and HelpAge International (2018). *Humanitarian Inclusion Standards for Older People and People With Disabilities*. London: CBM International, HelpAge International.

CBM and Water for Women Fund (2020). *Disability Inclusion and COVID-19: Guidance for WASH Delivery*. Melbourne: CBM, Water for Women Fund.

Charlifue, S. W., Gerhart, K. A., Menter, R. R., Whiteneck, G. G., and Scott Manley, M. (1992). Sexual issues of women with spinal cord injuries. *Spinal Cord.* 30, 192–199. doi: 10.1038/sc.1992.54

Chou, Y. C., and Lu, Z. Y. (2012). Caring for a daughter with intellectual disabilities in managing menstruation: a mother's perspective. J. Intellect. Dev. Disabil. 37, 1–10. doi: 10.3109/13668250.2011.651615

Coe, S., and Wapling, L. (2015). Review of Equity and Inclusion. Phase 2 Report: Country Programme Reviews and Visits - Mali, Nepal and Bangladesh. London, England: WaterAid.

Corrigan, P. W., Larson, J. E., and Rüsch, N. (2009). Self-stigma and the "why try" effect: impact on life goals and evidence-based practices. *World Psychiatry* 8, 75–81. doi: 10.1002/j.2051-5545.2009.tb00218.x

Coultas, M., Iyer, R., and Myers, J. (2020). Handwashing Compendium for Low Resource Settings: A Living Document Brighton, UK: The Sanitation Learning Hub Institute of Development Studies (Brighton).

Crenshaw, K. (1991). Mapping the margins: intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of color. *Stanford Law Rev.* 43, 1241–1299. doi: 10.2307/1229039

Crichton, J., Okal, J., Kabiru, C. W., and Zulu, E. M. (2013). Emotional and psychosocial aspects of menstrual poverty in resource-poor settings: a qualitative study of the experiences of adolescent girls in an informal settlement in Nairobi. *Health Care Women Int.* 34, 891–916. doi: 10.1080/07399332.2012. 740112

Crutchfield, M. (2013). *Phases of Disaster Recovery: Emergency Response for the Long Term.* London, UK: ReliefWeb. Available online at: https://reliefweb.int/report/world/phases-disaster-recovery-emergency-response-long-term (accessed March 01, 2021).

Danquah, L. (2015). Undoing Inequity: Inclusive Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Programmes That Deliver for All in Zambia. London, UK: WaterAid.

de Albuquerque, C. (2014). Realising the Human Rights to Water and Sanitation: A Handbook by the UN Special Rapporteur Catarina de Albuquerque. Available online at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/special-procedures/sr-water-and-sanitation/ handbook-realizing-human-rights-water-and-sanitation (accessed March 01, 2021).

De Lange, R., Lenglet, A., Fesselet, J. F., Gartley, M., Altyev, A., Fisher, J., et al. (2014). Keeping it simple: a gender-specific sanitation tool for emergencies. *Waterlines* 33, 45–54. doi: 10.3362/1756-3488.2014.006

D'Mello-Guyett, L., Yates, T., Bastable, A., and Dahab, M. (2018). Setting Priorities for Humanitarian Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Research: A Meeting report DFID. Available online at: https://www.gov.uk/research-for-developmentoutput/setting-priorities-for-humanitarian-water-sanitation-and-hygieneresearch-a-meeting-report (accessed March 01, 2021).

Elrha (n. d.-a). Feasibility of Reusable Menstrual Products in Humanitarian Programming. Available online at: https://www.elrha.org/project/feasibility-of-resuable-menstrua-products-in-humanitarian-programming/ (accessed March 01, 2021).

Elrha (n.d.-b). Menstrual Hygiene Management (MHM) Waste Solutions: Innovative Underwear and Laundry Bags. London, UK: Elrha. Available online at: https://www.elrha.org/project/menstrual-hygiene-management-mhm-wastesolutions-innovative-underwear-and-laundry-bags/ (accessed March 01, 2021).

Emirie, G., Iyasu, A., Gezahegne, K., Jones, N., Presler-Marshall, E., Tilahun, K., et al. (2020). Experiences of vulnerable urban youth under Covid-19: the case of youth with disabilities. *Gender Adolesc Global Evid*. Available online at: https:// odi.org/en/publications/experiences-of-vulnerable-urban-youth-under-covid-19-the-case-of-youth-with-disabilities/ (accessed March 01, 2021).

Ferron, S. (2017). Enabling Access to Non-food Items in an Emergency Response: A Review of Oxfam Programmes. London: Oxfam. Available online at: https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/620325/erenabling-access-non-food-items-emergency-response-100817-en.pdf? sequence=1 (accessed March 01, 2021).

Fisher, J., Cavill, S., and Reed, B. (2017). Mainstreaming gender in the WASH sector: dilution or distillation? *Gender Dev.* 25, 185–204. doi: 10.1080/13552074.2017.1331541

Giardina, D., Sorlini, S., and Rondi, L. (2016). Sanitation response in emergencies: lessons learnt from practitioners in post-earthquake Haiti. *Environ. Eng. Manage. J.* 15, 2029–2039. doi: 10.30638/eemj.2016.219

Glover, C., and Public Health England (2020). *Deaths of People Identified as Having Learning Disabilities With COVID-19 in England in the Spring of 2020*. GOV.UK: Public Health England.

Government of India (2015). "Handbook on accessible household sanitation for persons with disabilities (PWD)," in *Ministry of Drinking Water and Sanitation SBMG*.

Grant, M., and Booth, A. (2009). A typology of reviews: an analysis of 14 review types and associated methodologies. *Health Inform. Libraries J.* 26, 91–108. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-1842.2009.00848.x

Groce, N., Bailey, N., Lang, R., Trani, J. F., and Kett, M. (2011). Water and sanitation issues for persons with disabilities in low- and middle-income countries: a literature review and discussion of implications for global health and international development. J. Water Health. 9, 617–627. doi: 10.2166/wh.2011.198

Harvey, P., Bastable, A., Ferron, S., Forster, T., Hoque, E., Morries, L., et al. (2004). *Excreta Disposal in Emergencies: A Field Manual.* IFRC, Oxfam, G. B., UNHCR, UNICEF.

Hennegan, J., Shannon, A., Rubli, J., Schwab, K., and Melendez-Torres, G. (2019). Women's and girls' experiences of menstruation in low- and middleincome countries: a systematic review and qualitative metasynthesis. *PLoS Med.* 16, e1002803. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002803

Hennegan, J., Winkler, I., Bobel, C., Keiser, J., Hampton, J., Larsson, G., et al. (2021). Menstrual health: a definition for policy, practice, and research. *Sexual Reprod. Health Matters* 29, 1911618. doi: 10.1080/26410397.2021.1911618

Higgins, J., Thomas Ja,H, A., M. C., Li, T., and Page, M., Welch, V. A. (2019). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. 2nd Edn. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.

House, S. (2013). Situation analysis of the Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) sector in relation to the fulfilment of the rights of children and women in Afghanistan, 2013. UNICEF. Available online at: https://reliefweb.int/report/ afghanistan/situation-analysis-water-sanitation-and-hygiene-wash-sector-relation-fulfilment (accessed March 01, 2021).

House, S., Mahon, T., and Cavill, S. (2012). Menstrual hygiene matters: a resource for improving menstrual hygiene around the world. *WaterAid*. Available online at: https://washmatters.wateraid.org/publications/menstrualhygiene-matters (accessed March 01, 2021).

Human Rights Watch (2017). Greece: Refugees With Disabilities Overlooked, Underserved. Human Rights Watch. Available online at: https://www.hrw.org/ news/2017/01/18/greece-refugees-disabilities-overlooked-underserved (accessed March 01, 2021).

Humanitarian Learning Centre (2017). Operational Practice Paper 1: Disability Inclusive Humanitarian Response. Brighton: Humanitarian Learning Centre. Available online at: https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/handle/20.500. 12413/13404/HLC%20OPP_1.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (accessed March 01, 2021).

Humanitarian Learning Centre (2018). Operational Practice Paper 3: Menstrual Hygiene Management in Humantarian Emergencies. Brighton: Humanitarian Learning Centre. Available online at: https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/handle/ 20.500.12413/13778 (accessed March 01, 2021).

Humanitarian Response (2020). Joint Response Plan: Rohingya Humanitarian Crisis. Strategic Executive Group. Available online at: https://reliefweb.int/report/ bangladesh/2020-joint-response-plan-rohingya-humanitarian-crisis-januarydecember-2020 (accessed March 01, 2021).

Inter-Agency Standing Committee (2015). *Humanitarian crisis in Nepal: Gender Alert May 2015*. Inter-Agency Standing Committee. Available online at: https://www.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/Headquarters/Attachments/Sections/ News%20and%20events/Stories/2015/IASC%20Gender%20Reference%20Group %20%20Nepal%20Gender%20Alert%20May%2018%202015%20Finalised.pdf (accessed March 01, 2021).

Inter-Agency Standing Committee (2019). Inclusion of Persons With Disabilities in Humanitarian Action: Guidelines. Inter-Agency Standing Committee. Available online at: https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/iasc-guidelines-oninclusion-of-persons-with-disabilities-in-humanitarian-action-2019 (accessed March 01, 2021).

Inter-Cluster Gender Working Group (2016). Nepal Gender Profile. OCHA/UN Women. Available online at: https://reliefweb.int/report/nepal/ nepal-gender-profile-march-2016-inter-cluster-gender-working-group (accessed March 01, 2021).

International Medical Corps (2014). Rapid Gender and Protection Assessment Report: Kobane Refugee Population. Suruc, Turkey: International Medical Corps, Care. Jay, H., and Lee-Koo, K. (2018). Raising Their Voices: Adolescent Girls in South Sudan's Protracted Crisis. Melbourne, VIC: Monash University.

Joint Agency Research Report (2018). Rohingya Refugee Response Gender Analysis: Recognizing and Responding to Gender Inequalities. Action Against Hunger, Save the Children. Oxfam: Joint Agency Research Report.

Jones, H., and Reed, B. (2005). Water and sanitation for Disabled People and Other Vulnerable Groups - Designing services to Improve Accessibility. Loughborough University. London: WEDC.

Jones, H., and Wilbur, J. (2014). Compendium of Accessible WASH Technologies. London: WaterAid.

Kuper, H., Banks, L. M., Bright, T., Davey, C., and Shakespeare, T. (2020). Disability-inclusive COVID-19 response: what it is, why it is important and what we can learn from the United Kingdom's response. *Wellcome Open Res.* 5, 79. doi: 10.12688/wellcomeopenres.15833.1

Kuper, H., and Heydt, P. (2019). *The Missing Billion: Access to Health Services for 1 Billion People With Disabilities*. London: LSHTM.

Kyrkou, M. (2005). Health issues and quality of life in women with intellectual disability. *J. Intellect. Disabil. Res.* 49, 770–772. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2005.00749.x

Mactaggart, I., Banks, L. M., Kuper, H., Murthy, G. V. S., Sagar, J., Oye, J., et al. (2018). Livelihood opportunities amongst adults with and without disabilities in Cameroon and India: a case control study. *PLoS ONE* 13, e0194105. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0194105

Madigan, S. (2019). "Rapid gender and protection analysis: Cyclone Kenneth response, Cabo Delgado Province, Mozambique," in *COSACA Humanitarian Consortium*.

Mason, L., Nyothach, E., Alexander, K., Odhiambo, F. O., Eleveld, A., Vulule, J., et al. (2013). 'We keep it secret so no one should know' – a qualitative study to explore young schoolgirls attitudes and experiences with menstruation in rural Western Kenya. *PLoS ONE* 8, e79132. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0079132

McCall, L. (2005). The complexity of intersectionality. Signs 30, 1771-1800. doi: 10.1086/426800

Mena, R. (2015). Meeting Gender and Menstrual Hygiene Needs in MSF-OCA Health Structures. Loughborough: Loughborough University.

Miiro, G., Rutakumwa, R., Nakiyingi-Miiro, J., Nakuya, K., Musoke, S., Namakula, J., et al. (2018). Menstrual health and school absenteeism among adolescent girls in Uganda (MENISCUS): a feasibility study. *BMC Womens Health* 18, 4. doi: 10.1186/s12905-017-0502-z

Mitchell, K. (2009). Adolescent Sexual and Reproductive Health Toolkit for Humanitarian Settings: A Companion to the Inter-Agency Field Manual on Reproductive Health in Humanitarian Settings. New York: Save the Children USA, UNFPA.

Mitra, S., Posarac, A., and Vick, B. (2013). Disability and poverty in developing countries: a multidimensional study. *World Dev.* 41, 1–18. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2012.05.024

Ndlovu, E., and Bhala, E. (2016). Menstrual hygiene - a salient hazard in rural schools: a case of Masvingo district of Zimbabwe. *JAMBA* 8, 204. doi: 10.4102/jamba.v8i2.204

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (2008). *Convention on the Rights of Persons With Disabilities*. Available online at: http://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/CRPD/Pages/ConventionRightsPersonsWithDisabilities.aspx#2 (accessed March 01, 2021).

Oomen, D., Nijhof, A. D., and Wiersema, J. R. (2021). The psychological impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on adults with autism: a survey study across three countries. *Mol. Autism* 12, 21. doi: 10.1186/s13229-021-00424-y

Patage, D. P., Sharankumar, H., Bheemayya, B., Ayesha, N., and Kiran, S. (2015). Reproductive and sexual health needs among differently abled individuals in the rural field practice area of a medical college in Karnataka, India. *Int. J. Med. Sci. Public Health* 4, 964–968. doi: 10.5455/ijmsph.2015.05022015198

Pearce, E. (2015). Building Capacity for Disability Inclusion in Gender-Based Violence Programming in Humanitarian Settings: A Toolkit for GBV Practitioners. New York: Women's Refugee Commission.

Phillips-Howard, P. A., Caruso, B., Torondel, B., Zulaika, G., Sahin, M., and Sommer, M. (2016). Menstrual hygiene management among adolescent schoolgirls in low- and middle-income countries: research priorities. *Global Health Action* 9, 33032. doi: 10.3402/gha.v9.33032

Polack, S., Scherer, N., Yonso, H., Volkan, S., Pivato, I., Shaikhani, A., et al. (2021). Disability among Syrian refugees living in Sultanbeyli, Istanbul: results from a population-based survey. *PLoS ONE* 16, e0259249. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0259249

Reed, B., and Coates, S. (2012). Diversity training for engineers: making "gender" relevant. *Municipal Engineer*. 165, 127–135. doi: 10.1680/muen.11.00020

Robinson, A., Marella, M., and Logam, L. (2020). *Gap Analysis: The Inclusion of People With Disability and Older People in Humanitarian Response (Literature Review)*. London, UK.

Rohwerder, B. (2014). Non-Food Items (NFIs) and the Needs of Women and Girls in Emergencies. Birmingham: GSDRC.

Rohwerder, B. (2016). Women and Girls in Forced and Protracted Displacement. Birmingham: GSDRC.

Rohwerder, B. (2017). Women and Girls With Disabilities in Conflict and Crises. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies.

Sanchez, E., and Rodriguez, L. (2019). *Period Poverty: Everything You Need to Know*. Global Citizen. Available online at: https://www.globalcitizen.org/en/content/period-poverty-everything-you-need-to-know/ (accessed March 01, 2021).

Scherer, N., Mactaggart, I., Huggett, C., Pheng, P., Rahman, M.-,u, Biran, A., et al. (2021b). The inclusion of rights of people with disabilities and women and girls in water, sanitation, and hygiene policy documents and programs of Bangladesh and Cambodia: content analysis using EquiFrame. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18, 5087. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18105087

Scherer, N., Mactaggart, I., Huggett, C., Pheng, P., Rahman, M.-u, and Wilbur, J. (2021a). Are the rights of people with disabilities included in international guidance on WASH during the COVID-19 pandemic? Content analysis using EquiFrame. *BMJ Open* 11, e046112. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-046112

Schmitt, M. L., Wood, O. R., Clatworthy, D., Rashid, S. F., and Sommer, M. (2021). Innovative strategies for providing menstruation-supportive water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) facilities: learning from refugee camps in Cox's bazar, Bangladesh. *Conflict Health.* 15, 10. doi: 10.1186/s13031-021-00346-9

Shah, S. A. (2012). After the Deluge: Gender and Early Recovery Housing in Sindh, Pakistan. Geneva: UNHCR.

Shaphren, A., and Cuadra, A. (2019). Children still cry, water everywhere! A rapid assessment of child protection, gender based violence, and menstrual hygiene management needs of children, young girls and women affected by Cyclone Idai and Buzi District, Sofala Province. *Plan-International*. Available online at: https://reliefweb.int/report/mozambique/children-still-cry-water-everywhere-rapid-assessment-child-protection-gender-based (accessed March 01, 2021).

Sheppard, P., and Polack, S. (2018). *Missing Millions: How Older People With Disabilities Are Excluded From Humanitarian Response*. London, UK: HelpAge International.

Sommer, M. (2010). Where the education system and women's bodies collide: the social and health impact of girls' experiences of menstruation and schooling in Tanzania. *J. Adolesc.* 33, 521–529. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2009.03.008

Sommer, M. (2012). Menstrual hygiene management in humanitarian emergencies: gaps and recommendations. *Waterlines* 31, 83–104. doi: 10.3362/1756-3488.2012.008

Sommer, M., Schmitt, M. L., and Clatworthy, D. (2017). A Toolkit for Integrating Menstrual Hygiene Management (MHM) Into Humanitarian Response. New York: Columbia University, Mailman School of Public Health and International Rescue Committee.

Sommer, M., Schmitt, M. L., Clatworthy, D., Bramucci, G., Wheeler, E., and Ratnayake, R. (2016). What is the scope for addressing menstrual hygiene management in complex humanitarian emergencies? A global review. *Waterlines* 35, 245–264. doi: 10.3362/1756-3488.2016.024

Sommer, M., Schmitt, M. L., Ogello, T., Mathenge, P., Mark, M., Clatworthy, D., et al. (2018). Pilot testing and evaluation of a toolkit for menstrual hygiene management in emergencies in three refugee camps in Northwest Tanzania. *J. Int. Humanitarian Act.* 3, 1–4. doi: 10.1186/s41018-018-0034-7

Sphere (2018). The Sphere Handbook: Humanitarian Charter and Minimum Standards in Humanitarian Response. Sphere. Available online at: https://www.unhcr.org/uk/50b491b09.pdf (accessed March 01, 2021).

Sthapit, C. (2015). Gendered impacts of the earthquake and responses in Nepal. *Feminist Stud.* 41, 682–688. doi: 10.1353/fem.2015.0028

Thapa, P., and Sivakami, M. (2017). Lost in transition: menstrual experiences of intellectually disabled school-going adolescents in Delhi, India *Waterlines* 36, 317–338. doi: 10.3362/1756-3488.17-00012

The UN Refugee Agency (2021). *Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2020*. Copenhagen: UNHCR.

Toma, I. (2019). Education-Focused Gender Analysis Case Studies: Pibor and Juba, South Sudan. Oxfam International. Available online at: https://oxfamilibrary. openrepository.com/handle/10546/620722 (accessed March 01, 2021).

UN Committee on the Rights of Persons With Disabilities (2016). *General Comment No.3, Article 6: Women and Girls With Disabilities.* Available online at: https://www.refworld.org/docid/57c977344.html (accessed 1 March 2021).

UN Water (2015). Eliminating Discrimination and Inequalities in Access to Water and Sanitation. Available online at: http://www.unwater.org/app/uploads/2015/05/ Discrimination-policy.pdf (accessed March 01, 2021).

UN Women (2017). Menstrual Hygiene Management in Humanitarian Situations: The Example of Cameroon. UN Women. Available online at: https://menstrualhygieneday.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/WSSCC_ MHMHumanitarien-Cameroon_EN-2017.pdf (accessed March 01, 2021).

UNHCR (2006). UNHCR Handbook for the Protection of Women and Girls. Provisional Release for Consultation Purposes. UNHCR. Available online at: https://cms.emergency.unhcr.org/documents/11982/57181/UNHCR+Handbook+ for+the+Protection+of+Women+and+Girls.pdf/ed5b4707-337f-4275-86e7-3af5f81186ea (accessed March 01, 2021).

UNICEF (2016). Strategy for Water, Sanitation and Hygiene 2016-2030. New York: UNICEF.

UNICEF (2017). Guidance - Including Children With Disabilities in Humanitarian Action: WASH. New York, NY: UNICEF.

United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (2015). Overview of Natural Disasters and their Impacts in Asia and the Pacific 1970-2014. Geneva: United Nations.

United Nations General Assembly (2016). One Humanity: Shared Responsibility - Report of the Secretary-General for the World Humanitarian Summit (A/70/709). Geneva: United Nations.

United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (2021). *Menstrual Hygiene Management, Human Rights and Gender Equality*. Available online at: https://ap.ohchr.org/documents/dpage_e. aspx?si=A/HRC/47/L.2 (accessed March 01, 2021).

van der Gaag, N. (2013). Because I am a girl: the state of the world's girls 2013. In double jeopardy: adolescent girls and disasters. *Plan-International*. Available online at: https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/document/double-jeopardy-adolescent-girls-and-disasters-because-i-am-girl-state-worlds-girls-2013/ (accessed March 01, 2021).

Wilbur, J. (2020). Summary Report on Considering Disability and Ageing in COVID-19 Hygiene Promotion Programmes The HygieneHub. Available online at: https://resources.hygienehub.info/ en/articles/4097594-summary-report-on-considering-disability-andageing-in-covid-19-hygiene-promotion-programmes (accessed March

20, 2021). Wilbur, J., Ferdous, S., and Wapling, L. (in press). Evaluation of the inclusion of disability and ageing in hygiene behaviour change interventions to curb the spread of COVID-19 across 37 low- and middle-income countries. *Front Pub Health.*

Wilbur, J., Kayastha, S., Mahon, T., Torondel, B., Hameed, S., Sigdel, A., et al. (2021a). Qualitative study exploring the barriers to menstrual hygiene management faced by adolescents and young people with a disability, and their carers in the Kavrepalanchok district, Nepal. *BMC Public Health* 21, 476. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10439-y

Wilbur, J., Mahon, T., Torondel, B., Hameed, S., and Kuper, H. (2019b). Feasibility study of a menstrual hygiene management intervention for people with intellectual impairments and their carers in Nepal. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 16, 3750. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16193750

Wilbur, J., Scherer, N., Mactaggart, I., Shrestha, G., Mahon, T., Torondel, B., et al. (2021b). Are Nepal's water, sanitation and hygiene and menstrual hygiene policies and supporting documents inclusive of disability? A policy analysis. *Int. J. Equity Health* 20, 1–4. doi: 10.1186/s12939-021-01463-w

Wilbur, J., Torondel, B., Hameed, S., Mahon, T., and Kuper, H. (2019a). Systematic review of menstrual hygiene management requirements, its barriers and strategies for disabled people. *PLoS ONE* 14, e0210974. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0210974

Wilbur, J., and Wapling, L. (2020). COVID Inclusive WASH Checklist for Including Disability and Ageing in WASH. LSHTM.

Winkler, I., and Roaf, V. (2015). Taking the bloody linen out of the closet: menstrual hygiene as a priority for achieving gender equality. *Cardozo J. Law Gender*. Available online at: https://papers.srn.com/sol3/papers.cfm? abstract_id=2575250 (accessed March 01, 2021).

World Health Organization (2017). Global Accelerated Action for the Health of Adolescents (AA-HA!): Guidance to Support Country Implementation. Geneva: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization (2021). *Disability and Health*. Available online at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/disability-and-health (accessed March 20, 2021).

World Health Organization World Bank (2011). *World Report on Disability*. Geneva. Available online at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/ 9789241564182 (accessed March 22, 2021).

Yates, T., Vijcic, J., Joseph, M. L., and Lantagne, D. (2014). "Impact of WASH interventions during disease outbreaks in humanitarian emergencies: a systematic review protocol," in *Humanitarian Evidence Programme*. Oxfam. Available online at: http://hdl.handle.net/10546/605152 (accessed March 01, 2021).

Zawde, D. (2008). Reproductive Health in Emergencies: Challenges and Imperatives Under Forced Human Displacement. A Pan-African NGO Perspective. Reproductive Health in Emergencies; Kampala.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sue Cavill, Independent Researcher, Berkshire, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Nuhu Amin, University of Technology Sydney, Australia

*CORRESPONDENCE Amita Bhakta amitabhakta@hotmail.co.uk

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Water and Human Systems, a section of the journal

Frontiers in Water

RECEIVED 18 August 2022 ACCEPTED 20 September 2022 PUBLISHED 08 November 2022

CITATION

Bhakta A, Cawood S, Zaqout M and Evans B (2022) Sanitation work: Realizing equity and inclusion in WASH. *Front. Water* 4:1022581. doi: 10.3389/frwa.2022.1022581

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Bhakta, Cawood, Zaqout and Evans. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or

reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Sanitation work: Realizing equity and inclusion in WASH

Amita Bhakta^{1*}, Sally Cawood², Mariam Zaqout³ and Barbara Evans³

¹Independent Researcher, Leicester, United Kingdom, ²Lancaster Environment Centre, Lancaster University, Lancaster, United Kingdom, ³School of Civil Engineering, University of Leeds, Leeds, United Kingdom

Recognition of the human right to water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH), and equity and inclusion concerns around gender, disability and age have led to crucial change in WASH programmes and policy, responding to commonly hidden issues such as menstrual hygiene, inclusive facilities for people with disabilities, and affordable services for residents of informal settlements. Despite progress toward realizing the rights of end users "to" sanitation, this crucial body of work has overlooked the rights of an unseen, diverse population working "in" these services, including those who handle human waste. There are increasing calls within and beyond WASH for sanitation workers - marginalized by their informal and hazardous roles, and intersections of caste, religion and gender - to realize their rights to safe working conditions and social security. Yet, sanitation work has received little attention from equity and inclusion WASH scholars, despite the pressing need to challenge dominant technical, health-centric framings of sanitation that can overlook workers' lived realities. We argue for an intersectional, interdisciplinary approach to support sanitation workers to realize rights to fair living and working conditions, including inclusive WASH infrastructure at work. We draw on the limited literature available to highlight gaps in, and show the importance of the sub-sector of equity and inclusion to engage further with the lived realities of sanitation workers. Increased collaboration between sanitation workers, activists, and allies working on inclusion, labor rights, fecal sludge and solid waste management is paramount to realize sanitation workers' rights and to truly provide "inclusive" sanitation for all by 2030.

KEYWORDS

sanitation work, intersectionality, equity and inclusion, WASH, caste, gender

Introduction

In recent decades, scholars, activists and practitioners have been paying greater attention to how water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) infrastructure and services are accessed and used differently, according to who you are (including intersections of caste, class, religion, gender, disability, and age), where you live, and what you do (your occupation). It is the latter, however, that has received less attention to date within equity and inclusion scholarship, and the WASH sector more broadly. What happens, when your occupation is central to the delivery of sanitation services, yet your health,

safety and well-being, and access to these services yourself are overlooked by employers and government agencies? This is the reality for millions of sanitation workers across the world¹. Sanitation workers tirelessly handle, remove and sort human waste so that the living environment for others might be "clean." Frequently hailing from marginalized, low-income, class, caste backgrounds or religious minorities, the priorities and concerns of sanitary workers, especially those involved in hazardous removal of human waste, remain not only overlooked, but in the words of Bhasha Singh (2014) - intentionally unseen by decision makers, and wider society. This paradox between visibility (in public spaces) and invisibility (in discourse, policy and practice) was epitomized by the COVID-19 pandemic, with sanitary workers hailed as "frontline heroes," yet not provided with adequate wages, job security or protections (Salve, 2020; Prater and Springate, 2021; Swaroop and Lee, 2021; WaterAid, 2021; Alam et al., 2022; Saldanha et al., 2022) - challenges that cut across the so-called global North and South.

Recognition of the human right to WASH and ongoing equity, diversity and inclusion concerns around the need to deliver safe, accessible, affordable and sustainable infrastructure and services to, for and with a range of users, has led to a lively field of research and advocacy in WASH on people with disabilities (Jones and Reed, 2005), menstruating adolescent girls (Sommer and Sahin, 2013), including those with disabilities (Wilbur et al., 2022), people who experience incontinence (Rosato-Scott et al., 2020), transgender and non-binary users (Boyce et al., 2019), and perimenopausal women (Bhakta et al., 2021). Despite this lively debate, and progress in the provision of basic and improved sanitation worldwide, the rights of those who are critical to management of both human and solid waste - sanitation workers - remain overlooked in inclusive WASH approaches. Equity and inclusion discussions are yet to directly respond to the stigmatization of sanitation workers who clean toilets, empty septic tanks, pit latrines, sewers and drains, collect and dispose of solid waste and sweep streets, exposing them to harm. Highlighted as an area of concern by the Special Rapporteur on the human right to safe drinking water and

sanitation over a decade ago (de Albuquerque, 2009, 2012), this work remains deeply interlinked to identity and social status around the world, and especially in South Asia. To "leave no one behind" and achieve the Sustainable Development Goals (most notably Goals 5, 6, 8, 10 and 11), concerted efforts from equity and inclusion perspectives are needed to realize the rights of this "unseen" population.

This paper focuses especially on sanitation workers, to highlight the need for greater focus upon rights "in" sanitation, directly focussing on the individuals and groups who deliver and maintain services, as well as the rights "to" sanitation and WASH for users. We draw on the limited literature available on human waste management in particular - an area that has received less attention to date - as well as more established insights from solid waste management and healthcare, to highlight the need for the sub-discipline of equity and inclusion, and wider sector, to engage further with the rights of sanitation workers, around the world. Though the challenges facing those involved in manually handling human waste (including, for example, manual scavengers in South Asia), are particularly noteworthy, we recognize, and highlight, that sanitation work is a global occupation that demands greater attention. The paper outlines why an intersectional and interdisciplinary approach is needed to support sanitation workers - across the globe - to realize rights to decent work and living conditions, social security, education and training, supported by access to inclusive and gender-sensitive WASH infrastructure at work.

Sanitation workers: Rights "in" sanitation

Whilst human rights activists have worked for decades to highlight the plight of sanitation workers, it is only in recent years that the health, safety and dignity of sanitation workers has received greater attention in WASH research, policy and practice on the global and regional stage. Understanding the challenges of sanitation work has been an emergent subject of interest to several disciplines and sectors within and outside WASH (notably healthcare, solid waste management and labor rights). Occupational health and safety research has an established body of research around the health outcomes of the job, such as Gastroenteritis, respiratory and musculoskeletal diseases, and mortality (Gong et al., 2013; Acharya, 2019; Chumo et al., 2021; Oza et al., 2022). There is also a growing interest in studying the correlations between worker training, knowledge, behavior and their health outcomes (Alam et al., 2022; Ye et al., 2022), and observing the operation of desludging to design standard operating procedures to improve occupational health (Eales, 2005; Abbasi and Badruddin, 2019; Gautam et al., 2021). Research has also addressed the socio-economic status of sanitation workers and their families, including caste and colonial underpinnings of the occupation in South Asia

¹ The number of people involved in 'sanitation work' globally is unknown. Definitions of 'sanitation work' also vary significantly within and between countries. Whilst some scholars, activists and policy advocates focus explicitly on those involved in handling human waste (feces) across the sanitation value chain (see, for example, the Initiative for Sanitation Workers: https://www.susana.org/en/knowledgehub/projects/database/details/676), others include both human and solid waste management under the umbrella of 'sanitation work'. This is because there is a great deal of overlap between these sectors, and those involved in the work (for example, waste workers in India handling both solid and human waste). Sanitary work can also include healthcare workers (collecting and sorting medical waste inside and outside of hospitals), wastewater treatment plant operators, and other workers who may come into contact with waste, as part of their jobs.

(Joshi et al., 2004; Khurana and Ojha, 2009; Chowdhury, 2011; Hossain, 2013; Sultana and Subedi, 2016; Prasad and Ray, 2019; Walters, 2019).

A critical body of research also focuses on the multifaceted challenges of the livelihoods of sanitation workers, including how institutions shape this occupation, informality, low and irregular incomes, and arbitrary contracts (van der Wel et al., 2010; Nkansah et al., 2012; Mallory et al., 2020; Xu and Dou, 2021; Rajendra, 2022). This area of focus correlates with current initiatives in the WASH sector around improving sanitary work. For instance, in Bangladesh, Practical Action supported two sanitation worker groups to formalize and mechanize their work and build a public-private partnership with the local government (de La Brosse et al., 2017). They also provided vocational training (in health and safety and financial management) and access to subsidized personal protective equipment. Sanergy, a social enterprise, has also worked with manual pit emptying groups in Nairobi, Kenya, to deliver sanitation services in lowincome settlements. Although supporting sanitation workers is vital, long-term improvement in, or job security for workers remains elusive, with many WASH projects and programmes oriented primarily toward efficient and sustainable service delivery, and not worker welfare (Mallory et al., 2020; Zaqout et al., 2021).

As sanitation work is gaining traction within the WASH sector, several studies have called for, and are concerned with assessing the prevalence of sanitation work, profiling and mapping the challenges to moving to a "dignified" job (Dalberg, 2017; World Bank et al., 2019; Peal and Kapulu, 2021; Raghavendra and Kumar, 2022). Numerous national and international forums also showcase the significant role of sanitation workers and the various challenges they face. For example, in 2016, the fecal sludge management network in Bangladesh held a "Dignity of Septic Tank Emptiers Convention in Dhaka" to leverage support for this disadvantaged group (WSUP, 2016). In 2021, several researchers and practitioners ran the first "Sanitation Workers Forum"² to share recent work and research on sanitation work and identify ways to improve this occupation, alongside sanitation worker representatives. Since the challenges of this livelihood are rooted in social and political systems, movements beyond the WASH sector also strongly advocate for sanitation workers. For example, Baruah (2014) provides a historical overview of the social movements in India that advocate for the elimination of manual scavenging - a "caste-based and hereditary occupation form of slavery" (International Dalit Solidarity Network, 2022) - from Dalit movements against untouchability in 1972 to the current constitutional acts to end manual scavenging as a "supposed"

solution to the dire status of this job³. In Pakistan, the "Sweepers are Superheroes" campaign, led by human rights activists and lawyers was also established to challenge the social stigma of this job, stop discrimination in recruitment practices, and advocate for improved working conditions (Aqeel and Gill, 2021). It is important, in our discussion therefore, that we recognize that recent advances in debate are part of much longer-term struggles of, from and in support of sanitation workers globally.

Going deeper: An intersectional and interdisciplinary approach

With some notable exceptions (outlined above), the vast majority of emerging literature on sanitation work in the WASH sector has, to date, centered mainly on occupational health and safety, technological "solutions" (Cawood and Bhakta, 2021) and policies and regulations, less so on the diverse experiences, needs and priorities of workers themselves. The absence of discussion on sanitation work in the sub-sector of equity and inclusion is particularly notable, and surprising, given that identity is deeply bound to recruitment practices, the division of labor (and work tasks), working and living conditions, livelihood trajectories and intergenerational change. In this short piece, we argue that understanding the equity and inclusion challenges associated with sanitation work requires a much deeper appreciation of who is involved in the work, how and why this is changing, and the differentiated individual and collective needs of workers. Utilizing an intersectional approach⁴ and a desk-based narrative review of recent literature on sanitation work, we highlight below some of the key ways in which "who you are" might shape your everyday working realities in different contexts. We also pose key questions that require deeper, interdisciplinary engagement (from Anthropology and Geography, History and Social Development, to Policy, Law and Civil Engineering) with, and in support of sanitary workers and their representatives going forward.

Caste and religion

Sanitation work, across all its forms, is deeply bound to caste, class, race, religion and migratory status. Whilst the

² All videos from the forum can be found at: https://sanitationworkers. susana.org/resources and four summary blogs from the event here: https://www.amita-bhakta-hidden-wash.net/forced-to-clean-excretaby-accident-of-their-birth-in-a-particular-caste/.

³ See also the ongoing campaign 'Stop Killing Us' by prominent antimanual scavenging activist Bezwada Wilson of Safai Karamchari Andolan. 4 Despite diverse and at times conflicting interpretations (for origins, see Crenshaw, 1989 and for a useful overview, see Collins and Bilge, 2016), intersectionality remains a vital tool for WASH and equity and inclusion researchers, practitioners and policy advocates to examine how overlapping forms of oppression (according to caste, class, religion, race, gender, disability and age, sexuality and other identity markers) impact certain groups in daily life.

caste underpinnings of this work are most notable and widely documented in South Asia (where Dalits continue to dominate cleaning occupations), sanitary work has been, and continues to be associated with low-class and religious, racial and ethnic minorities around the world, from particular ethnic groups in Japan (Hanley, 1987; Groemer, 2001), Nigeria (Uwa, 2018) and Madagascar (Rijke-Epstein, 2019), to tribal minorities in Ghana (Nkansah et al., 2012), black employees in the USA (Martin Luthur King, Jr. Research and Education Institute, n.d), and undocumented migrants in the Maldives (International Labour Organization, 2022). However, it is within South Asia that who you are is deeply intertwined with what you do (including how you are treated within and outside of the workplace), where you live, and what alternative occupations are available to you and your children. Within this context, manual scavenging, and other forms of hazardous and degrading waste work, remain dominated by particular low-caste and religious minorities, due to the historical division of labor linked to religious texts on purity and pollution - institutionalized by British colonizers (Sultana and Subedi, 2016) - and reproduction of caste as a contemporary form of social, economic and political power (Shahid, 2015; Dubey et al., 2021). Whilst commonly associated with the removal of feces from dry latrines in rural India, manual scavenging has adapted with modernization (Wilson and Singh, 2017) with the introduction of sewers, newly constructed toilets and septic tanks (Mander et al., 2019). Even though the practice has been banned, new machines have been introduced, and job titles have changed (from "Sweeper" to "Sanitary Worker") - bringing new socioeconomic groups into the occupation - manual scavenging and other hazardous waste work persists in India, Bangladesh and Pakistan⁵ via waged and unwaged labor. For example, in Pakistan, adverts proclaim that "only Christians need apply" for government sanitary posts including dangerous sewer work (ur-Rehman and Abi-Habib, 2020), reinforcing discrimination and subjugation of (converted) Christians involved in cleaning (Butt, 2020; Ageel and Gill, 2021). In Bangladesh, manual pit emptiers from self-defined Harijan communities ("children of God"⁶) are unable to access improved jobs on mechanical trucks used to empty human waste, with some reverting back to using buckets and spades (Zaqout et al., 2021). Critical questions and uncertainties remain, as new technology is introduced into the sector, yet manual handling of waste (and exposure to hazards for particular groups) persists across the globe. For example, what role can or does technology play in improving the work, and for whom? Who operates the truck or pump, and who still

goes into the pit? What are the implications of "job takeover" by different socio-economic or religious groups? Is work still (informally) sub-contracted out to particular groups of people, and what does this mean for wages and basic protections? Whilst the caste and religious underpinnings of sanitation work have received particular attention, key questions also remain around class and race, and how this intersects with sanitation work both historically, and across the world today.

Gender

Sanitation work has traditionally been divided along gendered lines as well as by caste in contexts such as South Asia, shaping the lived experiences (including recruitment practices and nature of work tasks) of men, women, boys, girls and transgender communities. For example, whilst men and boys commonly descend into sewers and septic tanks to manually empty them⁷, women and girls are more often involved in toilet cleaning (including dry latrine cleaning, a form of manual scavenging) sweeping streets, railways and sorting municipal waste. In India, young women who have married into families that clean dry latrines are known to have been forced into the same work (often taking over households from in-laws), even if their own families did not engage in cleaning. Widows have also been recruited as government safai karamcharis (sanitation workers) through the warsa hakka scheme upon the death of their husbands - including from "sewer deaths" (Kadlak et al., 2019; Dubey et al., 2021). Personal protective equipment is rarely designed for women or children. A 2009 survey by the Women's Engineering Society found that in the UK only 8% of women working in engineering roles wore PPE specifically designed for women and therefore were often uncomfortable or even placed at greater risk in the workplace (Women's Engineering Society, 2010). There is little evidence that the situation is better in other countries, with early reports from Wai in Maharashtra, India (Center for Water and Sanitation (CWAS), CEPT University, 2020), suggesting that women workers lack access to adequate safety boots and goggles, have ill-fitting face shields and helmets, and only receive part of the full uniform given to sanitation workers. Female waste workers in India have little or no access to toilets to change menstrual materials, resulting in discomfort and gynecological problems. Menstruating workers use two to three sanitary pads at once, walk for long distances carrying up to 30 kg of waste throughout the day, and navigate staircases without railings whilst carrying large loads (Arise Consortium, 2022). Perimenopausal waste workers and sweepers with heavy

frontiersin.org

⁵ Manual scavenging has also been reported in Nepal, Sri Lanka and the Maldives, though data remains scarce.

⁶ The distinction between *Harijan* and Dalit is significant, and the subject of much debate between Gandhi (associated with use of the former) and Dr Ambedkar (for details, see Roy, 2017).

⁷ Though women and girls rarely enter sewers or septic tanks, they have been found to 'help' male workers by carrying buckets and dumping waste (Karim, 2017; Cawood et al., 2021), and are directly exposed to fecal waste in dry latrines or other cleaning activities (for example, as caretakers for shared or public facilities, railway cleaners or road sweepers).

and irregular menstrual periods with the loss of up to 80 ml (6 tablespoons) of blood require access to sanitation to change soiled menstrual materials and wash (Bhakta et al., 2021). Faced by a lack of income, paid maternity leave and safe childcare spaces, female Nigerian waste workers also have no choice but to work and take their infants onto dumpsites to be able to breastfeed them (Obadina, 2016). By putting the rights of women and girls with no fixed "workplace" into sharper focus, could equity and inclusion perspectives on sanitation work inform gender-sensitive urban planning to ensure they can access facilities when and where needed? Lessons can also be taken from Andhra Pradesh, Telangana and Odisha in India, where socially and economically disenfranchised transgender people, who lack access to inclusive sanitation, are spearheading the takeover of desludging services through self-help groups to generate livelihood opportunities (National Faecal Sludge and Septage Management Alliance and Niti Aayog, 2021). Navigating work and domestic responsibilities, a lack of social security, negative impacts of physical labor on their reproductive health (Kadlak et al., 2019; Senthalir et al., 2020), vulnerabilities to sexual violence and harrassment at home and work, poor access to healthcare, housing and education, job insecurity, chronic morbidity, and lack of participation in political activities ultimately has adverse effects on the mental and physical health of women workers (Monteiro and Nalini, 2021) who face "double" or "triple" discrimination due to caste, gender and occupation (Patras and Usman, 2019; Kumar and Preet, 2020; WaterAid India, 2020). Other critical questions relating to gender and sanitation work that remain unanswered include; how do female sanitary workers navigate menstrual hygiene in their shift patterns? Whilst equity and inclusion debates have driven menstrual hygiene management (MHM) provision in schools, can sanitation services truly be inclusive if the MHM needs of women and girls who spend hours collecting waste outside of school are overlooked? What facilities are available for sanitary workers in the workplace (for example, showers, handwashing stations)? What are the needs and priorities of transgender sanitary workers? What safety equipment is available, and is this suitable for different body types, preferences and climates? To what extent are the concerns of workers taken into consideration by employers, particularly in relation to sexual harassment?

Disability

Whilst there is lively debate in equity and inclusion, and across WASH around access to facilities for users with a disability (see, for example, Wilbur et al., 2022), to date, very little is known about sanitary workers with a disability, and how disability intersects with gender, caste and other personal characteristics. This lack of knowledge exists around two key areas - workers with existing disabilities who undertake sanitary work (their specific needs, challenges and priorities), and workers who have a disability, because of sanitation work (for example, from prolonged exposure to harm, such as hazardous gases or materials, and acute trauma, such as leg or arm fractures). Manual pit and septic tank emptiers and sewer cleaners face particular risks of lifelong disabilities due to work-related injury, including polio, musculoskeletal disorders, skin lesions. These in return are also associated with lifelong impacts on cognition and learning and in some cases psychosis (Gonzalez et al., 1992; Jukes et al., 2002; Esa et al., 2021). Inhalation of noxious gases also reduces quality of life due to asthma (Oza et al., 2022), and can lead to death for septic tank emptiers, who are rendered unconscious and can literally drown in feces in these "death traps" (Mander et al., 2019). Disability-inclusive WASH warrants expansion to consider the rights of injured sanitation workers with disabilities, and how the rights of workers with pre-existing (physical and psychological) needs can be realized. Discussions on the improvement of occupational health and safety for sanitation workers need to further progress to incorporate adapted protective equipment, flexible working hours, accessible facilities in the workplace, and social security support for workers with disabilities. Could disability-inclusive employment opportunities improve livelihoods for and inclusion of people with disabilities, in sanitation work, and societies where disability remains taboo? Inclusive sanitation programming also needs to pay greater attention to the WASH facilities available in low-income settlements or "colonies" in which sanitation workers commonly live, and if these are accessible for those with disabilities - a central question for urban planning and WASH interventions overall. Greater attention also needs to be paid to the harm that sanitation work brings and the wider environment in which it takes place on mental health and well-being, with reports of worker suicides, depression and anxiety, linked to lack of, or withholding of pay, and harassment.

Age

A further area that has received limited attention to date is that of age, and how this intersects with other identity markers in sanitation work. Whilst there is extensive literature on child labor in relation to solid waste work (including sorting e-waste), less is known about children involved in handling human waste - though we know this also exists⁸, especially where it is a hereditary occupation. Existing studies note how child waste pickers financially contribute to low-income households, but find it challenging to avoid risks including traffic accidents, being trapped in waste compressors, slipping or falling, and being cut by waste materials, due to their age (Krajewski et al., 2002).

⁸ In Bangladesh, recent research found that boys as young as 7 years old start shadowing male relatives who enter pits and tanks to remove sludge (often at night) (Cawood et al., 2021).

Studies have also found that families face the financial burden of treating wide-ranging health problems among waste collector children, including respiratory issues, malnutrition, fatigue, skin problems, vision impairments and costly treatment for bone fractures (Alam et al., 2021). Much more information is needed on how the experiences of sanitation work, especially human waste management, vary according to age, among young and older populations. For example, what are the different pathways into and out of the occupation for children and young people? What aspirations do children of sanitary workers have for alternative livelihoods? How effective is education and training in opening up different possibilities? And, how are the needs and priorities for older workers, including pension entitlements (as well as other core social protections) addressed? What are the implications or possibilities of changing occupations, later in life, and for overall life expectancy9? And, building upon the emergent scholarship in incontinence in equity and inclusion debates (Rosato-Scott et al., 2020) - how do workers across all ages who experience incontinence manage at work if they cannot control leaks of urine and feces and do not have adequate access to non-food items such as incontinence pads, and regular access to toilets?

The intersections of occupation with caste, class, race, religion, gender, disability and age, ultimately require much greater attention within equity and inclusion scholarship, and the WASH sector and social science research more broadly. To avoid simply listing identity characteristics, we need more detailed, and sensitive research into how these intersections (for example, caste, gender and religion, class and race, or age and disability), affect the everyday experiences of sanitation workers around the world. Whilst the questions posed assume that sanitation workers have "a workplace," regular employment and clearly identified employers - we also know that this is not often the case, especially in contexts where subcontracting and outsourcing of sanitation services is increasingly the norm (reflecting a pressing need to review labor laws and employment practices). Special attention should also be paid, therefore, to the realities and priorities of informal and private workers from different backgrounds. Answering these questions requires, we argue, a mixed methodological toolkit that places an intersectional, interdisciplinary and participatory approach at the fore - something that equity and inclusion scholars and practitioners understand and apply well in their work. In putting forward such an agenda, we must also be mindful of who speaks for whom in research, policy and practice relating to sanitation work, reflecting on our own positions of privilege, questioning our assumptions, and why those associated with sanitation work (particularly Dalits in South Asia), remain poorly represented in leadership positions and debates in research, policy and practice.

9 Some estimates in India suggest that life expectancy for sanitary workers sits at around 40-45 years old (Dalberg, 2017). Little is known about life expectancy in other country contexts where sanitation work occurs.

The final section below, outlines some tentative avenues forward, with these important limitations in mind.

From rights "to," to rights "in" WASH

Collaboration between sanitation workers, human rights activists and allies in the WASH sector and equity and inclusion community, has the potential to foster a long-lasting improvement in the experiences of sanitation workers and workers who are able to leave this occupation. Engaging directly with sanitation workers of all backgrounds through participative and action-oriented research techniques (including, for example, PhotoVoice, oral histories, participant-led video and diary making) is key to realizing the rights of, and with workers, drawing on long-established discussions on "putting the first last" (Chambers, 1997). WASH professionals including equity and inclusion experts, social workers, and social development practitioners, need to apply and adapt the techniques which have enabled them to effectively engage with people with disabilities, women and girls, to work with sanitation workers to identify the support measures they need. Whilst the Washington Group Questions¹⁰¹¹, can help to identify injured workers' functional limitations, accessibility audits can ensure that their rights to WASH are not compromised by their disabilities. Feminist and queer approaches can also elevate the voices of all workers, but especially women, girls and those identifying as transgender, to raise the issues that matter to them in sanitation work, yet may remain hidden.

Existing frameworks for equity, inclusion and rights in WASH such as those developed by WaterAid (n.d) for service users require further expansion to explicitly consider the measures needed to support a diverse population of sanitation workers (and other workers) who provide essential services. A framework of standards for inclusion in the sanitation workforce should be tailored to the needs of workers from different backgrounds and reflect their diversity. As noted above, equity and inclusion frameworks need to also recognize that sanitation workers do not necessarily have a fixed workplace, or access to adequate WASH facilities where they live. Future development of these frameworks to include sanitation workers requires collaboration between sanitation workers and those working on gender issues including MHM and transgender rights, disability, labor rights and planning, to provide inclusive WASH facilities including toilets and spaces for childcare in strategic locations for workers who are constantly "on the move." Collaborative

¹⁰ The range of Washington Group Questions, including a "short" set and an "extended" set are available at this link: https://www. washingtongroup-disability.com/question-sets/.

¹¹ See Wilbur et al. (2022) for an example of how the Washington Group questions were used as part of assessing girls' impairments to ensure they met the inclusion criteria for research on MHM needs of adolescent girls with disabilities in Vanuatu.

approaches could also help to identify, and support existing routes for workers to realize their rights through collectivisation and unionization, and work with relevant bodies such as municipal authorities - something that again has a long, and contested history. By better understanding "who" sanitation workers are, there is scope to address barriers to using personal protective equipment including poor fit, discomfort, "breathability" of materials, and design (WaterAid, 2020).

Existing standards for workplace inclusion, promoted by the ILO and enshrined in national law in many countries, such as maternity protection, social security, standards on annual leave, minimum pay, unfair dismissals, harassment cases, insurance and compensation for injury, and sickness support must also form part of inclusive approaches to supporting sanitation workers. Empowering sanitation workers should not just be a device to improving sanitation service delivery but rather a commitment to the human right to decent work, and human flourishing. The WASH sector advances in waste management technology, and sanitation business models should be guided by an equity and inclusion lens to gain a holistic appreciation of the intersectionality of this occupation and the intertwined challenges associated with it. That this lens should be embedded in, rather than added to the current debate seems self-evident to us. Securing the rights of all who work in sanitation is foundational to equity and inclusion. Success is indicated when workers experience safety and security within the sanitation sector as well as access to safely managed sanitation services for themselves. This centring is crucial to promote decent sanitation jobs while extending inclusive sanitation services for all, and to promoting rights "in" WASH, as well as "to."

Author contributions

AB and SC conceptualized the paper. AB led the design and drafting of the manuscript with SC and MZ. AB, SC, MZ, and BE

References

Abbasi, T. A., and Badruddin, I. (2019). Developing standard operating procedures for sanitation workers working with urban utilities in Pakistan. *Waterlines* 38, 64–68. doi: 10.3362/1756-3488.18-00019

Acharya, S. (2019). "Health, safety and well-being of sanitation workersrealities of historical exclusion and livelihoods," in, *Health, Safety and Well-Being* of Workers in the Informal Sector in India, eds S. Panneer, S. S. Acharya, N. Sivakami, 199–214.

Alam, M. M., Hossain, M., Islam, N., Muran, M. W., and Khan, N. A. (2021). Impacts of health and economic costs on street children working as waste collectors in Dhaka City. *Int. J. Environ. Sustain. Dev.* 20, 29–50. doi:10.1504/JJESD.2021.10034773

Alam, M. U., Sharior, F., Shoaib, D. M., Hasan, M., Tabassum, K. F., Ferdous, S., et al. (2022). Hygiene knowledge and practices and determinants of

reviewed, edited, and agreed on the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported, in whole or in part, by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (Grant Number: INV-018540). Under the grant conditions of the Foundation, a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 Generic License has already been assigned to the Author Accepted Manuscript version that might arise from this submission.

Acknowledgments

A special thank you to members of the Initiative for Sanitation Workers (ISW) advisory group and to all speakers, participants and organizers of the Sanitation Workers Forum.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

occupational safety among waste and sanitation workers in bangladesh during the COVID-19 pandemic. Hyg. Environ. Health Adv. doi: 10.1016/j.heha.2022.1 00022

Aqeel, A., and Gill, M. (2021). Shame and Stigma in sanitation: Competing Faiths and Compromised Dignity, Safety and Employment Security of Sanitation Workers in Pakistan- An Initial Assessment With Recommendations. Center for Law and Justice, Pakistan

Arise Consortium (2022). Bloody Inconvenience: Menstrual Health in Waste Worker Communities. Available online at: https://www.ariseconsortium. org/bloody-inconvenience-menstrual-health-in-waste-worker-communities/ (accessed August 11, 2022)

Baruah, A. (2014). The prohibition of employment as manual scavengers and their rehabilitation act, 2013: a review. *Space Culture* 1, 9-17. doi: 10.20896/saci.v1i3.41

Bhakta, A., Esseku, H., Esseku, Y. Y., Fisher, J., and Reed, B. J. (2021). The hidden WASH needs of perimenopausal women. *J. Water Sanit. Hyg. Dev.* 11, 1016–1025. doi: 10.2166/washdev.2021.101

Boyce, P., Brown, S., Cavill, S., Chaukekar, S., Chisenga, B., Dash, M., et al. (2019). Transgender inclusive sanitation: insights from South Asia. *Waterlines* 37, 102–117. doi: 10.3362/1756-3488.18-00004

Butt, W. H. (2020). Waste intimacies: caste and the unevenness of life in urban Pakistan. Am. Ethnol. 47, 1-15. doi: 10.1111/amet.12960

Cawood, S., and Bhakta, A. (2021). Man or Machine? Eliminating Manual Scavenging in India and Bangladesh. Available online at: https://femlab.co/ 2021/03/19/man-or-machine-eliminating-manual-scavenging-in-india-andbangladesh/ (accessed March 19, 2021).

Cawood, S., Farzana, M., Naeem, F., and Hossain, I. A. (2021). Are Minorities Losing Out on Improved Sanitation Work? Calls to Action for Bangladesh. Available online at: https://washmatters.wateraid.org/blog/are-minorities-losing-out-onimproved-sanitation-work-calls-to-action-for-bangladesh (accessed February 19, 2021).

Center for Water and Sanitation (CWAS), CEPT University (2020). Improving Safety of Sanitation Workers with Focus on PPE Usage: Case of Wai Municipal Council. Ahmedabad: CEPT University.

Chambers, R. (1997). Whose Reality Counts? Putting the First Last. London: Intermediate Technology Publications.

Chowdhury, S. (2011). Traditional profession and livelihood : a study on sweeper community. *J. Econ. Sustain. Dev.* 2, 87–94. Available online at: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/234645433.pdf

Chumo, I., Simiyu, S., Gitau, H., Kisiangani, I., Kabaria Kanyiva Muindi, C., and Mberu, B. (2021). Manual pit emptiers and their heath: profiles, determinants and interventions, world academy of science, engineering and technology. *Int. J. Med. Health Sci.* 15, 207–213. Available online at: https://publications.waset. org/10012095/manual-pit-emptiers-and-their-heath-profiles-determinants-andinterventions

Collins, H. P., and Bilge, S. (2016). *Intersectionality (Key Concepts)*. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Crenshaw, K. (1989) Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Anti-Discrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory, and Antiracist Politics. University of Chicago Legal Forum 1989

Dalberg (2017). Sanitation Workers. Available online at: https://www.sanitationworkers.org/ (accessed August 10, 2022).

de Albuquerque, C. (2009). Report of the Independent Expert on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Related to Access to Safe Drinking Water and Sanitation. United Nations General Assembly, Human Rights Council.

de Albuquerque, C. (2012). Stigma and the Realisation of the Human Rights to Water And Sanitation. Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Human Right to Safe Drinking Water and Sanitation. United Nations General Assembly, Human Rights Council.

de La Brosse, N., Stevens, L., and Islam, R. (2017). Preliminary Results of the FSM Business Model in Faridpur, Bangladesh: Tackling the Post-ODF Challenge through Public-Private Partnerships. Available online at: https://infohub.practicalaction. org/bitstream/handle/11283/620507/FaridpurGatesFoundationproject_ FSM4casestudy~2017.pdf;jsessionid=A307398531C8E103C13778D393E686C3? sequence=1

Dubey, S. Y., Murphy, J.W., (2021). Manual scavenging in Mumbai: the systems of oppression. *Human. Soc.* 45, 533–555. doi: 10.1177/0160597620964760

Eales, K. (2005) Sanitation Partnerships Series : Bringing pit emptying out of the darkness : A comparison of approaches in Durban, South Africa, and Kibera, Kenya, Building Partnership for Development in Water and Sanitation. Available online at: http://www.ircwash.org/sites/default/files/Eales-2005-Bringing.pdf

Esa, H., Norazlah, B., Hameed, A. A., Ding, C. H., and Wahab, A. A. (2021). Typhoid fever presenting as acute psychosis in a young adult: case report and literature review of typhoid psychosis. *Trop. Biomed.* 38, 192-195. doi: 10.47665/tb.38.2.057

Gautam, M., Wankhade, K., Sarangan, G., and, Sudhakar, S. (2021). Framework for addressing occupational safety of de-sludging operators: a study in two Indian cities. *J. Environ. Manag.* 289, 112243. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.11 2243

Gong, Y., Yu, J., Zhang, X., and, Liang, Y. (2013). Occupational safety and health status of sanitation workers in urban areas: a pilot study from wuhan, China. *Int. J. Occup. Saf. Ergon.* 19, 435–442. doi: 10.1080/10803548.2013.11076991

Gonzalez Arraez, J. I., Alfonso Sanchez, J. L., Talamante Serrulla, T., Cortina Birlanga, S., and, Gil Mari, A. (1992). Environmental sanitation and typhoid-paratyphoid infection morbidity in Valencia. *Rev. Sanid. Hig. Publica.* 66, 307-12.

Groemer, G. (2001). The creation of the edo outcaste order. J. Japanese Stud. 27, 263–293. doi: 10.2307/3591967

Hanley, S. B. (1987). Urban sanitation in preindustrial Japan. J. Interdiscip. History 18, 1-26. doi: 10.2307/204726

Hossain, T. (2013). *The Sweepers: A Socially Excluded Community*. Available online at: https://www.thedailystar.net/news/the-sweepers-a-socially-excluded-community (accessed July 7, 2018).

International Dalit Solidarity Network, I. D. S. N. (2022). *Manual Scavenging*. Available online at: https://idsn.org/key-issues/manual-scavenging/ (accessed November 3, 2022).

International Labour Organization (2022). List of Instruments by Subject and Status. Available online at: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p= NORMLEXPUB:12030:0::NO (accessed June 06, 2022).

Jones, H. E., and Reed, R. A. (2005). Water and Sanitation for Disabled People and Other Vulnerable Groups: Designing Services to Improve Accessibility. WEDC, Loughborough University.

Joshi, D., Morgan, J., and Fawcett, B. (2004). Sanitation for the Urban Poor: Whose Choice, Theirs or Ours? Final Technical Report, Project R8028. Available online at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/ 57a08cc3ed915d622c00156b/R8028-FTR.pdf (accessed August 10, 2022).

Jukes, M. C. H., Nokes, C. A., Alcock, K. J., Lambo, J. K., Kihamia, C., Ngorosho, N., et al. (2002). Heavy schistosomiasis associated with poor short-term memory and slower reaction times in Tanzanian school children. *Trop. Med. Int. Health* 7, 104–117. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3156.2002.00843.x

Kadlak, H., Salve, P. S., and Karwade, P. (2019). Intersectionality of caste, gender and occupation: a study of Safai Karamchari women in Maharashtra. Contem. Voice Dalit 11, 130–138. doi: 10.1177/2455328X18822904

Karim, A. (2017). *City Cleaners:Stories Of Those Left Behind*. Available online at: http://www.snv.org/public/cms/sites/default/files/explore/download/english_book_design_v3.pdf (accessed June 20, 2022).

Khurana, I., and Ojha, T. (2009). Burden of Inheritance: Can We Stop Manual Scavenging? Yes, But First We Need to Accept It Exists. Available online at: https://www.ircwash.org/sites/default/files/Khurana-2009-Burden.pdf (accessed May 20, 2022).

Krajewski, J. A., Tarkowski, S., Cyprowski, M., Szarapi 'nska-Kwaszewska, J., and Dudkiewicz, B. (2002). Occupational exposure to organic dust associated with municipal waste collection and management. *Int. J. Occup. Med. Environ. Health* 15, 289–301.

Kumar, S., and Preet, P. (2020). Manual Scavenging: Women Face Double Discrimination as Caste and Gender Inequalities Converge. Economic and Political Weekly. p. 26–27.

Mallory, A., Omoga, L., Kiogora, D., Riungu, J., Kagendi, D., and Parker, A. (2020). Understanding the role of informal pit emptiers in sanitation in Nairobi through case studies in Mukuru and Kibera settlements. *J. Water Sanit. Hyg. Dev.* 11, 1–10. doi: 10.2166/washdev. 2020.193

Mander, H., Sharma, S., and Verma, V. (2019). India's Lowest Depths: Culpability for Persisting Sewage Worker Deaths and Manual Scavenging. Centre for Equity Studies; International Labour Organisation.

Martin Luthur King, Jr. Research and Education Institute (n.d.). *Memphis Sanitation Workers Strike*. Available online at: https://kinginstitute.stanford. edu/encyclopedia/memphis-sanitation-workers-strike (accessed: August 16, 2022).

Monteiro, T. S., and Nalini, R. (2021). Mental health at the intersections of marginalization: a conceptual model to explore the mental health concerns of women sanitation workers in India. *Asian Social Work Policy Rev.* 15, 102–111. doi: 10.1111/aswp.12223

National Faecal Sludge and Septage Management Alliance and Niti Aayog (2021). Faecal Sludge and Septage Management in Urban Areas: Service and Business Models. Available online at: https://www.niti.gov.in/sites/default/files/2021-08/ NITI-NFSSM-Alliance-Report-for-digital.pdf (accessed May 27, 2022).

Nkansah, A., Fisher, J., and Khan, M. S. (2012). Manual pit emptying as a sustainable livelihood in Ghana, proceedings of the institution of civil engineers. *Eng. Sustain.* 165, 215–221. doi: 10.1680/ensu.10.00056

Obadina, A. A. (2016). Solid Waste Management Livelihood on Lagos Dumpsite: Analysis of Gender and Social Difference. Available online at: https://repository. lboro.ac.uk/articles/thesis/Solid_waste_management_livelihood_on_Lagos_ dumpsite_analysis_of_gender_and_social_difference/9455081 (accessed May 27, 2022).

Oza, H. H., Lee, M. G., Boisson, S., Pega, F., Medlicott, K., and, Clasen, T. (2022). Occupational health outcomes among sanitation workers: a

systematic review and meta-analysis. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 240, 113907. doi: 10.1016/j.ijheh.2021.113907

Patras, A. I., and Usman, A. (2019). Intersection of gender, work and caste: the case of Christian female sweepers of Lahore. *J. Res. Soc. Pak.* 56, 363–373. Available online at: http://pu.edu.pk/images/journal/history/PDF-FILES/31_56_2_19.pdf

Peal, A., and Kapulu, C. (2021). City-Level Quantification and Profiling of Sanitation Workers: Options for Integrating Sanitation Worker Assessments in the Shit Flow Diagram Process. Working Paper (March 2021). WaterAid. Available online at: https://washmatters.wateraid.org/publications/city-levelquantification-and-profiling-of-sanitation-workers (accessed August 11, 2022).

Prasad, S. C. S., and Ray, I. (2019). When the pits fill up: (in)visible flows of waste in urban India. *J. Water Sanit. Hyg. Dev.* 9, 338-347. doi: 10.2166/washdev.2019.153

Prater, C., and Springate, S. (2021). Sanitation Workers: The Forgotten Frontline Workers During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Available online at: https://www.wateraidindia.in/publications/sanitation-workers-the-forgotten-frontline-worker s-during-the-covid-19-pandemic (accessed July 01, 2022).

Raghavendra, R. H., and Kumar, R. A. (2022). Sanitation Workers: A Neglected Community of Indian Civilized Society. Contemporary Voice of Dalit. p. 1–12.

Rajendra, A. (2022). Skills in "Unskilled" Work: A Case of Waste Work in Central India. Routledge: Third World Quarterly. p. 1-19.

Rijke-Epstein, T. (2019). The politics of filth: sanitation, work and competing moralities in Urban Madagascar 1980s-1977. J. African History 60, 229–256. doi: 10.1017/S0021853719000483

Rosato-Scott, C., Barrington, D. J., Bhakta, A., House, S. J., Mactaggart, I., and Wilbur, J. (2020). Incontinence: we need to talk about leaks. *Front. Sanit.* 1–25. doi: 10.19088/SLH.2020.005

Roy, A. (2017). The Doctor and The Saint: The Ambedkar-Gandhi Debate - Caste, Race and Annihilation of Caste. Chicago, IL: Haymarket Books.

Saldanha, S., Kirchchelle, C., Webster, E., Vanderslott, S., and, Vaz, M. (2022). Between paternalism and illegality : a longitudinal analysis of the role and condition of manual scavengers in India. *BMJ Glob. Health.* 7, 1–8. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2022-008733

Salve, P. S. and Jungari, S. (2020). Sanitation workers at the frontline: work and vulnerability in response to COVID-19. *Local Environ.* 25, 627–630. doi: 10.1080/13549839.2020.1792430

Senthalir, S., Nagarajan, A., Sudhakar, S. (2020). COVID-19: Sanitation Workers Require Access to Menstrual Health. Available online at: https://thewire.in/rights/ women-sanitation-workers-menstruation (accessed January 31, 2022).

Shahid, M. (2015). Manual scavenging: issues of caste, culture and violence. Soc. Change 45, 242–255. doi: 10.1177/0049085715574187

Singh, B. (2014). Unseen: The Truth About India's Manual Scavengers. New Delhi: Penguin.

Sommer M., and Sahin M. (2013). Overcoming the Taboo: advancing the global agenda for menstrual hygiene management for schoolgirls. *Am. J. Public Health* 103, 1556-1559. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2013.301374

Sultana, H., and Subedi, D. B. (2016). Caste system and resistance: the case of untouchable hindu sweepers in Bangladesh. *Int. J. Politics Culture Soc.* 29, 19–32. doi: 10.1007/s10767-015-9202-6

Swaroop, K., and Lee, J. (2021). Caste and COVID-19: notes on sanitation in a pandemic. *Econ. Political Weekly*, 56, 35–42. Available online at: https://www.epw. in/journal/2021/13/perspectives/caste-and-covid-19.html

ur-Rehman, Z., Abi-Habib, M. (2020). Sewer Cleaners Wanted in Pakistan: Only Christians Need Apply. Available online at: https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/04/world/asia/pakistan-christians-sweepers.html (accessed February 1, 2022).

Uwa, J. (2018). Transcultural tension and the politics of sewage management in (post) colonial Lagos. *Social Dyn.* 44, 221–238. doi: 10.1080/02533952.2018.1481684

van der Wel, A., Bereziat, E., and de Bruijne, G., Barendse, J. (2010). *Financing the Informal Entrepreneur: Recognizing Business Opportunities in Sanitation, Sustainable Sanitation Practice.* Available online at: http://www.ircwash.org/sites/default/files/Wel-2010-Financing.pdf (accessed July 01, 2022).

Walters, V. (2019). Parenting from the "polluted" margins: Stigma, education and social (im) mobility for the children of India's out-casted sanitation workers. *J. South Asia Stud.* 42, 51–68. doi: 10.1080/00856401.2019.1556377

WaterAid (2020). Assessing the Usability of Personal Protective Equipment for Sanitation Workers in Tropical Countries. London: WaterAid.

WaterAid (2021). Sanitation Workers: The Forgotten Frontline Workers During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Available online at: https://washmatters.wateraid.org/ sites/g/files/jkxoof256/files/sanitation-workers-the-forgotten-frontline-workers-during-the-covid-19-pandemic_l.pdf (accessed August 10, 2022).

WaterAid (n.d.). *Equality, Inclusion and Rights Framework*. London: WaterAid. Available online at: https://washmatters.wateraid.org/publications/equality-inclusion-and-rights-framework

WaterAid India (2020). Status of Women Engaged in Manual Scavenging: Report based on a Baseline Survey Undertaken in 2018 in Four States of India. Available online at: https://www.wateraid.org/in/publications/status-of-womenengaged-in-manual-scavenging (accessed August 10, 2022).

Wilbur, J., Morrison, C., Iakavai, J., Shem, J., Poilapa, R., Bambery, L., et al. (2022). The Weather is not Good: Exploring the Menstrual Health Experiences of Menstruators With and Without Disabilities in Vanuatu. The Lancet Regional Health - Western Pacific. doi: 10.1016/j.lanwpc.2021.100325

Wilson, B., Singh, B. (2017). The Long March to Eliminate Manual Scavenging. India Exclusion Report. New Delhi, Centre for Equity Studies. p. 298-322

Women's Engineering Society (2010). PPE CLothing Survey Results 2010. Available online at: https://www.wes.org.uk/sites/default/files/ SurveyResultsFlyerMar.pdf (accessed August 18, 2022).

World Bank, ILO, WaterAid, and WHO. (2019). Health, Safety and Dignity of Sanitation Workers: An Initial Assessment. Washington, DC: World Bank.

WSUP (2016) Dignity for Pit and Septic Tank Emptiers: WSUP Co-Convenes Dhaka Conference to Highlight Need for Improved Working Conditions. Available online at: https://www.wsup.com/blog/dignity-for-pit-and-septic-tank-emptiers/ (accessed June 10, 2018).

Xu, Y., and Dou, X. (2021). From empowerment to encapsulation: sanitation workers struggles and sources of power in South China. Labor History 62, 413–433. doi: 10.1080/0023656X.2021.1957805

Ye, Q., Asmi, F., Anwar, M. A., Zhou, R., and, Siddiquei, N. (2022). Health concerns among waste collectors during pandemic crisis. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 29, 6463–6478. doi: 10.1007/s11356-021-16 071-y

Zaqout, M., Cawood, S., Evans, B. E., and Barrington, D. J. (2021). Sustainable sanitation jobs: prospects for enhancing the livelihoods of pit-emptiers in Bangladesh. *Third World Q.* 42, 329–347. doi: 10.1080/01436597.2020.18 10560

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Alessandro Pagano, Istituto di Ricerca Sulle Acque IRSA-CNR, Italy

REVIEWED BY

Muhammad Abrar Faiz, Institute of Geographic Sciences and Natural Resources Research (CAS), China Shervan Gharari, University of Saskatchewan, Canada

*CORRESPONDENCE Diana Gonzalez diana.gonzalezbotero@uts.edu.au

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Water and Human Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Water

RECEIVED 21 September 2022 ACCEPTED 28 November 2022 PUBLISHED 20 December 2022

CITATION

Gonzalez D, Carrard N, Chhetri A, Somphongbouthakanh P, Choden T, Halcrow G, Budhathoki R, Wangchuk U and Willetts J (2022) Qualities of transformative leaders in WASH: A study of gender-transformative leadership during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front. Water* 4:1050103. doi: 10.3389/ftwa.2022.1050103

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Gonzalez Carrard Chhetri Somphongbouthakanh, Choden, Halcrow, Budhathoki, Wangchuk and Willetts. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Qualities of transformative leaders in WASH: A study of gender-transformative leadership during the COVID-19 pandemic

Diana Gonzalez^{1*}, Naomi Carrard¹, Aastha Chhetri², Phetsakhone Somphongbouthakanh³, Tshering Choden⁴, Gabrielle Halcrow⁵, Ratan Budhathoki², Ugyen Wangchuk⁴ and Juliet Willetts¹

¹Institute for Sustainable Futures, University of Technology Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ²SNV Nepal, Kathmandu, Nepal, ³Independent Consultant, Vientiane, Laos, ⁴SNV Bhutan, Thimphu, Bhutan, ⁵SNV Netherlands Development Organisation, The Hague, Netherlands

Introduction: Equal access to water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) for all requires leadership that prioritises and drives inclusion. Inclusive WASH also presents opportunities to advance equality more widely, with WASH a pathway to meaningful participation and empowerment for diverse groups. The concept of gender-transformative leadership-which connects ideas of leadership to transformative models of gender equality in development theory that challenge prevailing power structures-is a relevant lens for exploring inclusive WASH. This article shares findings and reflections from a positive deviance study that aimed to investigate gender-transformative leadership in the WASH sector to explore (i) the factors shaping gender-transformative leadership and the characteristics of gender-transformative leaders; (ii) actions taken by gender-transformative leaders; (iii) the types of outcomes achieved; and (iv) ways to strengthen gender-transformative leadership.

Methods: The study was undertaken during the COVID-19 pandemic and consisted of interviews with 19 leaders in Bhutan, Lao People's Democratic Republic, and Nepal. We developed a conceptual framework which considers leaders' (i) personal values and traits; (ii) leadership styles; (iii) actions; and (iv) outcomes, influenced by a range of (v) enabling factors and barriers.

Results: Leaders' personal values and traits included a strong learning orientation, social justice values, humility, courage, and altruism. Leadership styles were primarily empathetic, with leaders guided by a mission to lead by example and pursue equality in their professional and personal lives. Exploration of actions and outcomes revealed a range of inclusion-oriented WASH activities responding to pandemic-related challenges, with associated potential outcomes in shifting norms. However, validation of outcomes was not possible due to the study timeframe and complexity of tracing complex social change in a positive deviance study reliant on self-reporting. Analysis of enablers and barriers to gender-transformative leadership respectively emphasized the importance of educational opportunities and the persistence of traditional gender norms.

Conclusion: Findings contribute to the body of knowledge on gendertransformative leadership, being the first study to connect this concept to WASH. Future research could build further evidence by applying the conceptual framework to analyze additional contexts or sectors, and by more fully articulating and validating outcomes in terms of their potential for gendertransformative leadership to drive equality both in and beyond WASH.

KEYWORDS

gender-transformative leadership, gender equality, leadership, WASH, gender, transformation, inclusion

Introduction

Gender-transformative leadership is key to driving inclusion and equality in and beyond water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) services. It comprises part of a social-inclusion perspective that recognises the importance of both leaving no one behind in access to services, and the potential for WASH to drive inclusion and empowerment more widely. Strengthening WASH services can be a pathway to gender equality by challenging norms, creating opportunities for meaningful participation and addressing inequitable distribution of household tasks (Willetts et al., 2010; Sam and Todd, 2020). Access to WASH has been shown to create leadership and economic opportunities for women and people with disabilities (Indarti et al., 2019; Soeters et al., 2021; Huggett et al., 2022). When intentionally designed to challenge harmful social norms and structural inequalities, WASH has also demonstrated potential to drive gender equality more generally. A recent study found strong associations between gender equality related to WASH and other aspects of life beyond WASH, particularly related to women's and men's agency (Gonzalez et al., 2022). Such approaches to WASH are now widely referred to as gender-transformative, bringing feminist theoretical perspectives to bear such that WASH activities have potential to drive both inclusion and wider equality (MacArthur et al., 2020, 2022).

To realise the dual aims of inclusive WASH and transformative change, leadership is required that challenges the status quo and builds momentum towards greater equality. Such forms of leadership can be termed transformative or transformational leadership. Initially defined by Burns (1978), the concept of transformational leadership was presented as an alternative to transactional leadership. Transformational leadership offered a model of leaders who engaged motives, worked to improve their team's capabilities, were visionary and sought systems change (Burns, 1978, as cited in Stewart, 2006; Hawkins et al., 2022). The concept has been discussed with reference to education, where 'instructional' leadership models focused on goals and curriculum are contrasted with

transformational leadership focused on restructuring and improving school conditions (Stewart, 2006). Transformational leadership has also been widely explored in organisational research, where transformational styles have been associated with organisational effectiveness in diverse institutions (Bass, 1999).

More recently, transformative leadership has emerged as a progression of transformational leadership that emphasises the connections between beliefs, actions, and inclusive outcomes. Transformative leadership ideas draw on Burns' foundational work, but rather than focusing on outcomes of effectiveness and efficiency, transformative leadership theory places greater emphasis on beliefs and actions that challenge inequity and promote inclusion (Shields, 2020). Transformative leadership also recognises leadership as a diffuse and collaborative process, as characterised by (Montouri and Donnelly, 2018, p. 319): "[t]he basic premise of transformative leadership is that everyone can lead, and that particularly in this transformative moment, everybody contributes to, and in fact co-creates, the world we live in, whether conscious of their agency or not." The idea that leadership can be exercised in relational and nonhierarchical ways sees leaders as diverse agents of change, with transformative leaders those that pursue equity and inclusion both within and through their roles.

The clear connections between 'transformative leadership' and 'gender-transformative' concepts have sparked interest in the potential for 'gender-transformative leadership' to drive gender equality, most notably in health and development fields. From the health sector, Hawkins et al. (2022) propose a definition of gender-transformative leadership as *"leadership which seeks to address gender inequities in power which perpetuate and reinforce inequities across different systems and structures of oppression"* (Hawkins et al., 2022, p. 6). The definition draws on the work of Keeling et al. (2018) who also emphasise that rather than placing the burden of change on women to 'lean in' to roles they have been excluded from, gender-transformative leadership aims to address the biases and discriminatory practises that perpetuate deep-rooted structures of inequality. Beyond the health sector, similar concepts have been used by UN Women in leadership training offerings, which define gender-transformative leaders as those "who empower themselves and their organizations to pay close attention to gender power structures and discriminatory practices—both formal and informal—in order to advance gender equity in their organizations as well as in the communities and constituencies they serve" (UN Women, as cited in Jhpiego Corporation, 2020, p. 1).

As the WASH sector progresses its thinking about gender transformative approaches (MacArthur, Forthcoming), it is timely to explore the role of gender-transformative leadership in driving inclusion both within and through WASH initiatives. To date, there has been limited exploration of gender-transformative leadership in the WASH sector, with few documented examples. One-an analysis of Oxfam's programming in Africa (across WASH and other sectors)found that transformative leadership advanced women's rights by prompting critical discussion about deeply held values and prejudices (Brown et al., 2019). Another example analysed participatory water management structures in Brazil from a feminist transformative leadership perspective, finding that participatory approaches may facilitate women's political involvement (Moraes and Perkins, 2007). Beyond WASH, gender-transformative leadership has been given focus in health (e.g., Keeling et al., 2018; Hawkins et al., 2022), though this work tends to conflate gender-transformative leadership with women's leadership. While women's leadership is a crucial component of transformative change, assuming the two are equivalent may obscure opportunities for gender-transformative leadership to be conceived as a process through which everyone can co-create more equal societies. As such, there is an opportunity to build on evidence about the potential for gender-transformative leadership to advance gender equality both in and through WASH programs, exploring the role of leaders in challenging unequal power dynamics and striving for greater equality.

The COVID-19 pandemic context presents both barriers and opportunities for gender-transformative leadership in WASH. On one hand, the highly gendered nature of the pandemic (Simba and Ngcobo, 2020; Wenham et al., 2020; Herten-Crabb and Wenham, 2022) has highlighted how structural inequalities continue to impact women's roles and experiences. On the other, the disruptions brought by the pandemic and responses present opportunities for social innovations that can drive transformative change (Montgomery and Mazzei, 2021). The central importance of WASH in pandemic response and preparedness is clear from a health perspective (Howard et al., 2020; Donde et al., 2021). Yet less attention has been given to the ways in which COVID-19, WASH, and gender-transformative concepts interconnect. A key question is how to leverage the changes brought by rapid pandemic responses to strengthen and create opportunities for gender-transformative leadership, both in and through WASH.

This article shares a study of gender-transformative leadership in WASH undertaken in three countries during the COVID-19 pandemic. This study contributes evidence on the characteristics and actions of gender-transformative leaders working in a variety of WASH roles, exploring how leaders' values, relational styles and actions might contribute to inclusion within and through WASH-related activities. We first describe the study's positive deviance approach, which sought to generate knowledge and learning while also celebrating and inspiring gender-transformative leadership through the research process. As part of the approach, we present the conceptual framework that guided questions and analysis, which offers a replicable frame for engaging with the characteristics, outcomes and contextual dynamics of gender-transformative leadership. Findings are presented and discussed across three dimensions: characteristics of gendertransformative leaders, considerations for strengthening gendertransformative leadership, and participant and researcher reflections on the research approach.

Approach

This qualitative study of gender-transformative leadership in WASH was undertaken in Bhutan, Lao People's Democratic Republic (Lao PDR), and Nepal during the COVID-19 pandemic in 2021. The study adopted a positive deviance approach (Bradley et al., 2009), purposely seeking leaders identified as operating in a gender-transformative manner. We also drew on strengths-based research ideas, eliciting success stories and seeking to inspire positive action. The approach built on a previous application of strengths-based approaches for evaluation of gender-WASH dynamics (Willetts et al., 2013). By taking a positive deviance approach, and inspired by strengthsbased approaches, the team aimed to celebrate and recognise the participating leaders for their contributions to gender equality in or through WASH and to generate useful insights that might support other gender-transformative initiatives, much needed for recovering from the various negative impacts of the pandemic.

We also sought alignment with the transformative research paradigm (Creswell, 2014), which promotes social justice and demands conducting research *with*, instead of research *on* participants. Transformative research ideas were applied by inviting and supporting participating leaders to contribute to, review, and co-develop outputs, as well as co-defining ways in which the research could be beneficial to them through sharing their stories and promoting their achievements with the wider international WASH sector. As such, we produced a diversity of non-traditional research outputs targeting different audiences that shared leaders' experiences in their own voices. The outputs included a visual research report UTS-ISF and SNV, 2021a, a learning brief UTS-ISF and SNV, 2021b), a series of six blog stories featuring two selected leaders from each country (e.g., Kumar et al., 2021b) and accompanying video stories (SNV and UTS-ISF, 2021a), two presentations at an international conference, and a webinar.

To ensure the rigour and validity of this qualitative study, we employed criteria for qualitative research quality, namely: credibility, dependability, confirmability, transferability, and reflexivity. In particular, in this article we have included many direct quotes from participants to contribute to dependability and confirmability and substantiate our findings, and have made transparent our methodology and the research context to support credibility and transferability. Reflexivity was supported by ensuring a diverse research team, conducting team sensemaking processes and including researcher reflections in this article. A complementary approach would be to employ quantitative measures of transformative leadership. This was not appropriate or possible due to the lack of agreement around such indicators, and concerns that current measures have a limited theoretical basis and are generally designed for examining leadership in the private sector (Jensen et al., 2019).

This study was conducted in partnership between researchers from the University of Technology Sydney's Institute for Sustainable Futures (UTS-ISF) and WASH practitioners from SNV in each country. Both organisations had pre-existing and long-standing relationships and took a collaborative approach to the research. SNV had a long-term presence in each country implementing WASH programmes with a strong emphasis on systems strengthening and working with government and non-government sector leaders in each country. This study was based on local knowledge and experience and sought to strengthen SNV's responses and coordination mechanisms in each of the three countries. This study was conducted under the Australian Government's Water for Women Fund, as part of their COVID-19 initiatives to support the response and recovery across Asia and the South Pacific.

Each step of the process (Figure 1) was influenced by the collaborative research partnership, from identifying the research need, to co-designing the research approach, to undertaking the different research activities related to data collection and analysis, and lastly to co-producing research outputs. This co-production approach was designed to ensure quality research that also had potential to facilitate learning for all involved (Winterford, 2017; Pereira et al., 2020).

Study aims

This study aimed to investigate gender-transformative leadership in the WASH sector to identify and explore: (i) the factors that shape gender-transformative leadership and the characteristics of gender-transformative leaders; (ii) the actions gender-transformative leaders take and how they carry them out; (iii) the types of outcomes gender-transformative leadership can achieve; and (iv) the ways in which gender-transformative leadership can be strengthened. As described above, through an explicit transformative, positive deviance approach, the research also sought to inspire other leaders, current and emerging, to adopt gender-transformative approaches.

Study contexts

This study was conducted as part of SNV's Beyond the Finish Line (BFL) programme, a five-year multi-country programme (2018–2022) funded by the Australian Government's Water for Women Fund. The BFL programme aimed to improve rural WASH services in Bhutan, Lao PDR, and Nepal, and adopted country-specific approaches based on country priorities. The programme took a systems strengthening approach and a strong focus on gender equality and social inclusion, in alignment with the Water for Women Fund objectives. Implementation of the BFL programme took an area-wide approach in each country fostering local government leadership, collaborating with rights-holders organisations, and engaging with leadership at the national level.

In Bhutan, the BFL programme focused on working with local leaders to improve inclusion and equality in and through WASH, through initiatives such as 'leadership for change' and 'making rights real'. The programme employed technical support and evidence-based advocacy combined with knowledge and learning processes to strengthen the capacity and performance of three national and eight sub-national government authorities and two civil society partners in eight districts. In four of the eight districts, the programme focused on leveraging political commitments, decentralisation, and costsharing mechanisms to achieve area-wide access and usage of WASH services for all, including households, schools, and institutions. In the remaining four districts, the programme focused on going 'beyond the finish line' of open defecation-free status, which included institutionalising strategies to ensure duty bearers and services had improved capacity to identify, reach and respond to the needs of potentially disadvantaged groups including people with disabilities, female-headed households, the elderly, and the poorest households. The onset of the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in delays in programme activities. There were no COVID-19 outbreaks in Bhutan while the study was being conducted. As part of the national COVID-19 response, SNV supported new handwashing stations and worked closely with local governments.

In Lao PDR, the implementation of the BFL programme focused on supporting the provincial and district authorities in three districts of Savannakhet Province, working with existing systems and resources to strengthen rural sanitation in vulnerable flood-prone areas. In each district the programme was implemented by teams comprising officials from public

frontiersin.org



health, education, planning, the women's union, and the youth union. With an emphasis on capacity strengthening for government officials, activities included gender equality and social inclusion (GESI) training, technical support and coaching in forms designed to enable government leadership. During the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, Savannakhet province had the highest number of cases and was affected by lockdowns and other restrictions. SNV supported government pandemic response initiatives including a communication campaign on the importance of soap, safe handwashing, and other protective measures against COVID-19.

Implementation of the BFL programme in Nepal focused on working with the newly formed local government (Rural Municipalities) through water supply operators and support service providers, and with civil society and rights-holder groups to capacitate and build strengthened WASH sector systems. The programme leveraged the opportunity of government decentralisation to develop inclusive, sustainable, and resilient water supply services in eight rural municipalities in Dailekh and Sarlahi Districts as role models for inclusive WASH services. The programme paid special attention to the inclusion of people from sexual and gender minorities and people with disabilities. This was based on an aspiration to include and promote the leadership and voice of such often socially excluded groups with the intent that this would result in gender and social inclusion outcomes. Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, SNV continued its commitment to strengthen governance in WASH through continuous coordination and collaboration with local governments and took actions to provide immediate relief. These actions included designing and installing foot-operated disability-inclusive handwashing stations, outreach campaigns to people at risk of marginalisation, delivering awareness communication campaigns in communities, and promoting online platforms for dissemination of information to support local governments.

Conceptual framework

We developed a conceptual framework to inform interview questions and guide analysis. The framework was based on a rapid review of academic and other literature on transformative leadership and gender-transformative leadership. Aligning with the ideas that leadership is diffuse and relational (Montouri and Donnelly, 2018), and connected to social justice-oriented beliefs (Shields, 2020), the framework spans personal, relational, and action-oriented dimensions. It comprises five components: (i) personal values and traits, (ii) leadership style, (iii) actions, (iv) outcomes and (v) enablers and barriers (Figure 2). The



framework reflects a simplified theory of change in which personal values of a leader drive their leadership styles and actions, which in turn generate WASH and gendertransformative outcomes. Contextual enablers and barriers mediate all stages of the process and operate at multiple levels from individual circumstances through to organisational cultures, social norms, and structural factors. We acknowledge that reality is inevitably more complex and iterative, given that social change is rarely linear and can be shaped by multiple interconnected and unpredictable factors. Yet in designing the framework a key consideration was balancing conceptual rigour with practical usability as determined by research partnership team discussion. This approach aligns with a pragmatic research orientation that justifies shaping social inquiry as appropriate to the pursuit of normative goals (Kaushik and Walsh, 2019).

Including **personal values and traits** recognises the fundamental role of values in driving transformative action (Brown et al., 2019) and combines aspects of what Montouri and Donnelly (2018) refer to as a leader's 'way of being' and 'way of knowing'. Exploring leaders' worldviews, consciousness and personal principles offers the opportunity to identify whether particular values commonly underpin transformative leadership, and how these manifest in leadership styles and actions.

Leadership styles describe how a leader conducts themself and communicates with others. Actions refer to what a leader actually does in their role. The rationale for distinguishing leadership styles from actions is that modes of engagement critically shape transformative leadership "as an 'everyday, everyone, everywhere' relational process" (Montouri and Donnelly, 2018, p. 322). Exemplifying the everyday practises and processes, actions offer tangible examples of how leadership is exercised to achieve change. While the boundaries are inevitably overlapping given the inextricable nature of styles and actions, leadership styles broadly align with Montouri and Donnelly's (2018) conception of a leader's 'way of relating', while actions reflect their 'way of doing'.

Outcomes refer to the changes that occur as a result of a leader's actions and leadership style. Outcomes of gendertransformative leadership might include changes in rules, policies, formal institutions, systems, structures, and decisionmaking (Brown et al., 2019; Soeters et al., 2019a). Outcomes can be individual or collective and can span practical or strategic interests (after Moser, 1993). An important consideration is that outcomes may be intangible and challenging to comprehensively map, given the conceptualisation of transformative leadership as involving small actions with cumulative effects (Montouri and Donnelly, 2018).

Lastly, **enablers and barriers** capture the contextual dynamics that influence a leader's values, style, actions, and associated outcomes. Such dynamics include diverse and dynamic personal, collective, relational, and structural factors and experiences. We include contextual factors in the framework in recognition of their potential to drive or undermine gendertransformative leadership in different places and points in time. We also specifically included barriers to identify and acknowledge the challenges (e.g., norms and exclusionary practises) that gender-transformative leaders must grapple with when seeking to influence change towards greater equality.

Data collection

We conducted 19 in-depth semi-structured interviews with leaders across the three countries between January and April 2021. The relevant SNV country teams identified the participants, with a primary criterion focused on leaders who were considered to positively contribute to gender transformations in the WASH sector in their local contexts. We also aimed to ensure representation of a diverse group of leaders. The relevant guiding criteria included a broad definition of leadership (both formal and informal leaders), leaders with experience working in WASH or health, ensuring at least two genders represented, a spread of emerging, mid-career and senior leaders, people with disabilities, and minority and majority ethnic groups where relevant.

prompts Question are provided in the Supplementary material. The interviews sought to evoke personal stories and reflections, in line with our conception of transformative leadership as combining personal with social ways of being and relating (Montouri and Donnelly, 2018). We asked participants about themselves and their roles, their experience of gender leadership during the COVID-19 response, their personal perspectives on leadership, leaders' visions for gender equality and ideas for enabling gender-transformative leadership, and next steps for the research, including how the team could make the research beneficial to them. Responses were recorded through written notes as well as audio recordings.

All the interviews were conducted by the local SNV teams in the participants' local language, and one interview was conducted jointly by SNV and UTS-ISF in English. Where possible, the interviews were conducted in person, taking the necessary precautions to mitigate the risk of COVID-19 transmission.

Ethical approval to conduct the research was obtained from the University of Technology Sydney prior to data collection, and informed consent was obtained from all respondents. Acknowledging the potential sensitivity of the discussions and the positions of several leaders as having lived experiences of barriers to leadership, interviewers were trained on ethical research principles and approaches, and briefed on appropriate responses to participant distress. Participants reviewed and approved the research outputs before publication, including seeking permission to use some quotes in this paper with identification of relevant leaders.

Data analysis and sensemaking

All the interview data were translated into English and transcribed by the interviewers. We manually coded

the transcribed data in Microsoft Excel by first using a deductive analysis approach derived from the conceptual framework to categorise data into the five main framework components. We then used an inductive approach to identify the emerging themes within each component. We undertook a frequency analysis to identify stronger themes. In the thematic analysis we disaggregated responses from men and women leaders to understand differences or alignment between groups. Thematic analysis was undertaken by two researchers to check for consistency and divergence in interpretation.

Following the initial thematic analysis, we conducted an online sensemaking workshop with the three-country research team to (i) share, discuss and validate the preliminary findings; (ii) create space for a group reflection on the research and its implications for the WASH sector; and (iii) decide on the approach to share draft documentation with participants to seek their feedback and approval to use selected quotes.

Results and discussion

In this section we present and discuss findings from the interviews with 19 leaders and research team collaborative sensemaking. We first present insights on the characteristics of gender-transformative leaders, followed by values, styles, actions, and outcomes. We then discuss considerations for strengthening gender-transformative leadership arising from our exploration of enablers, barriers and leaders' visions. Finally, we reflect on the research approach as a collaborative means to inspire and strengthen gendertransformative leadership, before reflecting on limitations and challenges.

When illustrating findings with research data in the form of quotes, we have attributed some quotes to participants where permission was given to do so, and with a view to profiling and celebrating the leaders involved. Where quotes include sensitive information, we have de-identified the contributions.

Characterising gender-transformative leaders

The participating leaders worked in a range of organisations and played diverse roles in the WASH sector. They included three leaders in national government positions (one woman and two men), seven in sub-national government positions (four women and three men), five in local rights-holders organisations (three women and two men), and four NGO workers (one woman and three men). Four of the 19 leaders were people with disabilities, and one worked for an organisation for people with disabilities. Participating leaders were between 19 and 65 years old, and the median age of participants was 40. Six of the leaders held senior leadership positions, nine were mid-level, and four

TABLE 1 Number of participants disaggregated by country and gender.

	Bhutan	Lao PDR	Nepal	Total
Women	2	5	2	9
Men	3	1	6	10
Total	5	6	8	19

were early career leaders. Only two genders were represented, with the gender breakdown by country shown in Table 1.

Personal values and traits

The data showed compelling evidence of strong social justice and feminist values among gender-transformative leaders, with all 19 participants expressing a desire to do right by those in positions of disadvantage, particularly during the response to COVID-19. Participants linked these values to personal experiences. In some cases, direct personal experiences of discrimination relating to disability or gender shaped justiceoriented values, in other cases they were connected to observed instances of disadvantage. One participant shared:

"In the community, women are discriminated against by family. They face violence in the house. I also faced discrimination and violence from my in-laws. I want to stop violence toward women. Hence gender equality and inclusion issues became my priority."- Participating leader

Related to these values, leaders expressed that striving for equality was central to the work they did, linking their daily work to the pursuit of wider social change.

Leaders also demonstrated a strong learning orientation (12 of 19 participants), expressing openness to learning from others and curiosity about new ideas, and framing life-long learning as critical for being a good leader. One respondent said:

"One needs to want to lead with an attitude to learn [...] I openly acknowledge that I don't know everything and I'm willing to listen and learn from others. It's always important to keep doors open to learning and creating an environment for all to learn and thrive." - H.E. Dechen Wangmo, Minister of Health, Government of Bhutan

Another participant with similar views shared:

"I am a person who likes to learn. I like to try new things, learn from others and reflect about myself. Now, I have better experience in leadership and I guide others, but I do not stop learning. If I do not learn, I cannot perform the leadership tasks well. For example, when COVID came, I learned from young staff in my team how to use Zoom, WhatsApp and *meeting online, and new knowledge on COVID.*" - Chomsy Ngamvilay, Deputy Head of the Atsaphone District Health Office, Savannakhet Province, Lao PDR

Humility was linked to a learning orientation, with leaders expressing traits of being open to learning from others, aware of diffuse expertise and seeing themselves as enabled by the people around them.

Some leaders were driven by a wish to prove themselves (eight participants), a trait most commonly reported by women leaders or leaders with a disability. While the situation of leaders reporting this characteristic attests to their sense of agency, the finding also suggests they experience the burden of breaking barriers in contexts where social norms continue to prescribe leadership as predominantly the domain of men and able-bodied people (as described by Ryan and Haslam, 2007). Respondents shared:

"Women themselves also need to prove that they can be a leader." - Participating leader

"I wanted to show the community that people with a disability can do everything." - Rajesh Sahani

Other common attributes that emerged from the data were self-reflection, courage, trustworthiness, altruism, the ability to inspire, motivate and mobilise others, and being a role model for others. Having excellent communication skills as demonstrated by being a good listener, eloquence, and delivering clear and consistent messages were also highlighted. Additionally, optimism in the face of challenges, which had a positive effect on others, as well as working with dedication, passion and commitment were seen as important leadership traits by participants.

The range of values and traits identified in our sample of leaders broadly aligned with those described in literature on transformative leadership and leadership for women's rights—particularly the social justice orientation and feminist values (Brown et al., 2019). A social justice orientation also speaks to Montouri and Donnelly's (2018) 'way of being' that emphasises the role of transformative leaders as continuously creating the world around them, while a humble learning orientation suggests reflective capability and openness to uncertainty in alignment with a transformative leadership 'way of knowing' (Montouri and Donnelly, 2018).

Leadership styles

The leadership styles of gender-transformative leaders were primarily empathetic (12 of 19 participants), particularly during the COVID-19 response. Styles were shaped by and reflected the above-mentioned values including altruism, social justice, equality, and working with dedication, passion, and

10.3389/frwa.2022.1050103

commitment. The pandemic highlighted the gaps and needs of people at risk of exclusion and marginalisation, to which the participating leaders responded by prioritising said populations, specifically, women victims of gender-based violence, the elderly, and people with disabilities. During the COVID-19 response participating leaders also reported prioritising supporting their staff to ensure their wellbeing.

Gender-transformative leaders were also found to lead by example (11 leaders) and to pursue equality in their professional and personal lives, which was associated with the traits of being a role model and motivating and mobilising others, as described above. One respondent said:

"Gender equality and social inclusion have become a very important issue for me. In fact, when I worked in the community, I handled many cases of violence against women which was much related to household roles and responsibilities. The women complained about being overloaded with work and faced violence when they were not able to complete the work on time. Initially, to mitigate such problems, I used to conduct orientation and training programs only for women. But then I realised that this is not the best option to reduce violence against women, so I started bringing both men and women together in one place to train them on equal responsibility for men's and women's household chores, gender equality and gender balance. The result was very positive which encouraged me to work in GESI as well as to change my behaviour. I started to support my wife in household chores. My family now teases me for working in the kitchen, as I would otherwise never enter the kitchen a few years back. When people of the community inquire if I myself apply what I say in my own home, I gladly respond that I do." - Madan Kumar Barma, Project Coordinator, SNV Nepal

Another respondent said:

"I have never stopped raising my voice for women and marginalised people in my society as well as in my home." -Ambika Yadav, Sarlahi District Coordinator, SNV Nepal

The leadership styles identified were generally underpinned by teamwork, with six leaders reporting they led with an 'open door' policy to welcome new ideas and collaboration. Over a third of leaders demonstrated inclusive leadership styles by involving and giving voice to others, as well as actively seeking others' input and participation and not elevating their own status. These styles were linked to the values of humility and a learning orientation described above. One leader stated:

"I firmly believe that everybody, irrespective of who they are, has things to contribute. Valuing other people's potential and always keeping my door open to my subordinates, nourishing the relationships that support my leadership is important to me." - H.E. Dechen Wangmo, Minister of Health, Government of Bhutan

Gender-transformative leadership styles were shaped by goal- and vision-orientations (seven participants) and over a third of leaders demonstrated strategically influencing people at both the community and government levels in order to effect change. Participants enacted persuasive leadership styles (six of 19 participants) by building consensus and convincing others to see the importance of gender equality and social inclusion in their own work. This sometimes led to criticism and backlash within communities and among peers, which leaders were equipped and experienced to manage, with some leaders expressing feeling energised by and not shying away from these challenges.

Less common leadership styles that emerged from the research included leadership of self (four of 19 leaders), which involved self-reflection and actively seeking feedback from others. Two leaders demonstrated risk-taking leadership styles, linked to the value of courage. Lastly, adaptive management styles and having flexible plans without compromising the overall goal were also highlighted by two leaders.

The gender-transformative leadership styles identified at the time of the research aligned with those outlined in gender-transformative literature, which describes gendertransformative leadership styles as motivating, caring, collaborative and collective (Brown et al., 2019; Soeters et al., 2019a; Fuhrman and Rhodes, 2020). Styles also matched a transformative 'way of relating' that rejects binary oppositions (e.g., leader/follower) and pursuit of the creation of mutual benefit (Montouri and Donnelly, 2018). A particular contribution of our study is the inclusion of men demonstrating transformative leadership styles, which offers empirical examples of cases where such styles-often described as 'feminine' leadership attributes (Billing and Alvesson, 2022; Saseanu et al., 2014)-can be enacted by women or men in all their diversity for the progression of gender transformations. As such, this research affirms the value of having all genders engaged as leaders in the realisation of women's rights and gender equality and inclusion (Brown et al., 2019; Soeters et al., 2019a; Meagher et al., 2020).

Actions

Illustrative actions taken by gender-transformative leaders were captured in the form of stories and specific examples of efforts leaders had made to ensure that their work was gendertransformative and supported social inclusion, particularly during COVID-19. All the leaders shared compelling stories of actions they had undertaken, which were closely aligned with the personal values and traits and leadership styles previously described.

Leader's actions were diverse. Actions within government included enabling women's participation in the workplace through building a breastfeeding room in a public government office and supporting younger women in the workplace to move up into higher roles and leadership positions in local government. Other actions included championing gender mainstreaming into public health and WASH work at the local government level, providing mentorship to younger staff, and seeing value in building others' skills and knowledge up. Importantly, actions included involving men in gender-related training and activities because "it is not just about telling men, but also about involving them" (Participating leader, man). Encouraging men's participation was also a strategy to manage resistance and backlash to gender transformations and to start conversations about gender equality together. Finally, a leader reported placing the vulnerable at the centre of the COVID-19 response by mobilising teams to call all the elderly people in the country, ensuring their safety and well-being during the pandemic.

A particularly compelling story of gender-transformative actions during the pandemic is one from a participant from Nepal (Box 1). Her actions highlight her efforts to improve WASH services for all during the pandemic, and reflect her personal journey of overcoming personal barriers and limitations within a conservative community with strong patriarchal norms.

Outcomes

The outcomes achieved through gender-transformative leadership were difficult to ascertain in this research, which was not designed to be evaluative. As such, we instead sought perspectives on possible or expected outcomes, self-reported by leaders, as a means to explore the potential for gendertransformative leadership to drive positive outcomes, and as a basis for further research.

When exploring outcomes, we took guidance from literature asserting the potential for gender-transformative leadership and programmes more generally to drive structural change towards equality. Literature has asserted the potential for gendertransformative leadership to drive changes in social norms and perceptions of women leaders (Mulder et al., 2019), in formal and informal decision-making practises (Brown et al., 2019), as well as tangible improvements in access to quality services such as water, education, and healthcare (Brown et al., 2019; Soeters et al., 2019a). In this study, while we did not expect to identify and attribute significant outcomes to specific leadership actions, we did wish to highlight the transformative potential of practises featured as strengths. As such, interviews explored short-term outcomes and potentially catalytic changes self-reported by participants, with a view to identifying indicative or illustrative examples.

The self-reported outcomes were categorised into societal (external) and personal (internal) changes. Societal outcomes were diverse and predominantly referred to inclusive service provision and contributions to broader systemic changes. Specifically, leaders mentioned achieving the placement of groups at risk of exclusion at the centre of the COVID-19 responses (12 of 19 participants); improving quality WASH services for all (eight participants) particularly related to access to water and hand hygiene behaviours during COVID-19 response and prevention; and delivering inclusive health services (five participants).

Leaders shared several examples of societal outcomes related to efforts made towards achieving systemic changes within rural communities and institutions. Outcomes spanning both communities and institutions included changes in the public's negative perceptions of women leaders (three leaders), an increase in women's participation in the workplace and as beneficiaries of activities in the community (nine leaders), and perceived higher awareness of the need for gender equality and social inclusion among community members and in professional bodies (four leaders). In communities, five leaders reported changes in gender social norms related to the division of household work, decision-making, and women's access to education and work. Lastly, specific institutional societal outcomes included an increase in girls' access to education (two leaders); cultivating an intergenerational legacy of gendertransformative leadership through mentorship (two leaders); and changes in national policy concerned with women's and children's health (one leader).

Related to changes in perceptions about women leaders, one participant said:

"I am pleased and really proud of how my leadership has encouraged women in my community to come forward and to participate. My work also made people realise the importance of diversity of voices in the decision-making rooms, particularly on the importance and value addition of women leaders." - Namgay Pelden, first female Gup (local elected leader), Dagana District, Bhutan

Two personal outcomes were identified. The first one was associated with a sense of personal satisfaction (more commonly expressed by men) as a result of the outcomes achieved throughout their careers and their influence on others (10 leaders). One respondent expressed:

"I get a sense of satisfaction when I am able to bring positive changes in others. I try to cultivate these aspects in my own leadership style." - Rinchen Wangdi, Chief of Public Health Engineering Division, Department of Public Health, Bhutan BOX 1 Improving WASH services for all during the pandemic, the story of Ambika Yadav. Source: Adapted from Kumar et al. (2021a) and SNV and UTS-ISF (2021b).

Ambika Yadav is a community leader and an active advocate for GESI in her personal and professional life. Ambika reported playing a bold and pivotal role to ensure the continuation of WASH services in the communities where she worked, taking the risk to go out into the communities to provide services during the peak of the pandemic.

Her team started by conducting a WASH sector gap analysis with the local government to identify the vulnerable groups whose access to sanitation and handwashing facilities was impacted by COVID-19. The results from the gap analysis led to the installation of GESI-friendly contactless (foot-operated) handwashing stations in public places and quarantine centres. In turn, these efforts led to significant improvements in hygiene behaviours among women, children, people with disability, elderly people, and members of minority groups.

Ambika was also proactive in mobilising her team to spread awareness about the importance of physical distancing and handwashing with soap through mobile messaging, particularly among people with disabilities. This resonates with her belief in creating an enabling environment for people with disabilities and empowering them in every way.

Ambika is motivated to challenge gender and social norms, particularly within her community, which restricted her access to education and to work outside the home when she was younger:

"Living in a community that largely had reservations about sending girls to school, and having a daughter who lives with a disability, drove me to take action professionally and personally."

She continues to advocate for equal participation of women and marginalised groups in society, including in the Rural Municipal WASH Coordination Committees, and has collaborated with various rights-holder organisations. Ambika believes that a leader should be bold and should invest in building strong relationships:

"Twenty-five years of my professional journey have taught me that trust is the strong bone of leadership. Clear determination, dissemination of information in the right manner, and regular communication has helped to build trust with stakeholders in the community and has supported me in influencing them."

And another one said:

"I feel proud that local government has been focusing their activities on the most vulnerable in the community because of our facilitation." - Madan Kumar Barma, Project Coordinator, SNV Nepal

The second personal outcome referred to the leaders' increased self-confidence (nine leaders) in both their abilities as leaders and how being a leader made them a more self-confident person. One woman leader expressed:

"My own leadership changed my economic status, built my confidence, and empowered me. I am not economically dependent on family and now I feel I am respected by other people in my community. I can confidently speak and raise my voice for women's rights and the rights of people with disabilities." - Suchitra Chaudhary, School teacher and Member of Disabled People Organization Network, Nepal

Another leader said:

"My work changed me a lot, especially my self-confidence, and helped me appreciated my ability." - Silivanh Khamsingsavath, Accountant and Secretary, Lao Disabled People's Association, Savannakhet Province Branch, Lao PDR

Leaders' self-reported outcomes were diverse and spanned societal and personal changes. Although difficult for leaders to articulate and for the researchers to independently verify, leaders' self-reported outcomes provide sufficient evidence of plausible contributions of gender-transformative leadership to positive social change in and through WASH.

Strengthening gender-transformative leadership

In this section we present and discuss the enabling factors, barriers, and leaders' visions and wishes for the future. These three factors evoke pathways for contributing to strengthening gender-transformative leadership.

Enablers

There was very strong evidence of external support from others as a main enabling factor for gender-transformative leadership. External support was perceived to come from different levels, categorised into domestic sphere, professional sphere, and external organisations and networks. Support in the domestic sphere (reported by nine participants) included family members relieving leaders from domestic chores and childcare allowing them more time in professional roles, and was particularly highlighted by women. Families also

60

10.3389/frwa.2022.1050103

provided emotional support and encouragement. Support in the professional sphere (reported by 14 participants) generally came from bosses, colleagues or teachers through mentoring, professional opportunities, constructive feedback, and advice. Support from external organisations and networks (reported by 10 participants) was received through access to capacity building opportunities and exposure to new ideas. Reflecting on the support she received from other leaders, a participant expressed:

"I am in this position because of the leaders who trusted my capacity and ability. I could complete the tasks assigned by my boss when I was a technical staff [...] I also have learned from other senior women leaders at the Provincial Health Department, who have been my role models." -Souksakhone Kothliengthong, Head of the Health and Hygiene Communication and Promotion Unit, Savannakhet Province, Lao PDR

Other enabling factors included access to education and training (12 participants), though this was also expressed as a challenge for some women leaders and leaders with disabilities. Leaders expressed that accessing education and training gave them the right academic qualifications and built their self-confidence, credibility, and trust from others. Access to role models (three participants), mentorship, and capacity building opportunities (five participants) also supported leaders to gain confidence, knowledge, and skills. Enablers identified by participants reflected those described in gender-transformative leadership literature, which particularly highlights the importance of knowledge, transformative learning experiences, apprenticeships, and mentorships (Brown et al., 2019; Soeters et al., 2019a; Fuhrman and Rhodes, 2020).

Lastly, four leaders expressed that their personal experiences of disadvantage or direct contact with those in disadvantaged positions shaped them to be the gender-transformative leaders they are and gave them direction in their journeys as gendertransformative leaders.

Barriers

Barriers to gender-transformative leadership in the WASH sector were diverse and ranged from personal experiences of discrimination, to wider social resistance and backlash, to formal and institutional structures and policies. The majority of participating leaders expressed great difficulty in overcoming harmful gender and social norms to drive change within the communities where they worked (13 of 19 leaders). Additionally, women leaders and leaders with disabilities articulated having to overcome these harmful norms in their personal lives and for their professional advancement, for example, when trying to access education and join the workforce, which in their respective communities was not the norm for women or people with disabilities.

"I experienced people not welcoming me to go to school because I am a person with a disability. I wanted to see changes by starting from myself to show them that I have ability and I can do many things. I can take a job. This is what I wanted people in society to accept people with disabilities and this gave me energy to create change in society, office and within myself and for others." - Silivanh Khamsingsavath, Accountant and Secretary, Lao Disabled People's Association, Savannakhet Province Branch, Lao PDR

Standing up against harmful gender and social norms was not easy for leaders (6 of 19 leaders), particularly women leaders, and it included a sense that women had to work harder to fulfil new leadership roles while also fulfilling traditional gender roles. Three leaders also expressed that women lack confidence to lead, and three other leaders also experienced the consequences of the public's negative perceptions of women leaders.

Leaders expressed that in their gender-transformative work it was not uncommon to encounter backlash, resistance to change, and criticisms (5 leaders). They reported dealing with these challenges by drawing on their values of optimism, courage, dedication, and passion. They also used the leadership styles described earlier, of persuasion and building consensus, leading by example, being goal- and vision-oriented, and maintaining openness to new ideas.

Lastly, six leaders (predominantly from the NGO sector) reported having to navigate broader institutional and systemic challenges. These included a lack of clear national policies and guidelines for GESI, weak implementation of policies and guidelines, and difficulty accessing funds for GESI-focused work. The latter was particularly difficult during the COVID-19 response since other work was prioritised. One respondent said:

"Our government has more focus on infrastructure development rather than human development. GESI issues are still not a priority issue for the government. Somehow, this also creates obstacles when raising the voice for gender equality." - Ambika Yadav, Sarlahi District Coordinator, SNV Nepal

Visioning

While investigating how gender-transformative leadership could be strengthened, we asked participating leaders what would be the one change they would make if they could snap their fingers and magically enable better leadership for equality and inclusion. Responses revealed three themes in desired changes. The first desired change was for social norms that celebrate and enable diversity in leadership. Achieving this vision would represent dismantling harmful social norms including traditional ideas about what makes, and who can be, a good leader. The second theme focused

61

on enabling environments, envisioning systematic embracing of transformation ideals such that gender equality and social inclusion are mainstreamed in institutions. This theme also envisioned an increase in educational and capacitystrengthening opportunities. The third theme focused on intersectionality and diversity, particularly focusing on the importance of addressing multiple structural power imbalances, including but not limited to gender. In the study, the importance of considering disability inclusion was particularly emphasised for advancing transformative leadership.

Each of these themes reflects ongoing discussions in literature on gender equality and social inclusion in WASH (e.g., Soeters et al., 2019b; MacArthur et al., 2022; Water for Women, 2022). Having such perspectives expressed by participating leaders affirms their relevance for practical action and the importance of those working in WASH to continue advocating for a focus on transformative change. As we recover from the social and economic impacts of COVID-19, grapple with urgent climate change challenges, and continue to champion the delivery of essential WASH services, we must do so in a way that actively advances gender and social transformation towards more equal, inclusive societies.

Reflections on the research approach

The research approach emphasised collaboration, strengths, and transformation both in and through the process of undertaking this study. In this section, we share reflections in the form of testimonies from a leader and members of the research team, then synthesise themes and implications for future research.

For the participating leaders

The transformative approach to the research involved engaging the participating leaders beyond data collection. Leaders identified ways in which the research might support and benefit them. These included building and expanding networks, creating opportunities to speak at events, creating opportunities to share and learn from others, sharing their testimonies and experiences with donors and others who might support their work, and participating in developing the research outputs. We took a storytelling approach in the production of the different outputs (described in Section Approach) to celebrate leaders and provide them with resources to share their achievements and inspire others. We also selected leaders to be featured in videos and blog stories, sought leaders' input and review into the different research outputs, and shared outputs with donors and the wider WASH sector. One of the participating leaders shared his reflections (Box 2).

For the research team

The pandemic has created many challenges, but also some opportunities. Interviewed leaders shared the increased pressure it placed on them and their roles, but they showed continued strength and courage during very challenging times. The research team hoped that this research would provide fresh insights into the critical and varied roles that gendertransformative leaders can and do play in facilitating more gender equitable and socially inclusive WASH systems, policies, and services. The case studies of the leaders opened our eyes to the rewards, challenges, and benefits of transformative leadership, showing us what is possible. Two members of the research team shared their personal reflections on the research and what it meant for them (Boxes 3, 4).

Limitations and challenges

We identify three limitations spanning practical and methodological aspects of the study, which should be considered when interpreting and drawing conclusions from insights presented. First, conducting the research in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic across three countries created some practical challenges and resulted in occasional interruptions and delays. The team was aware of the potential for delays, and while the research plan was flexible and adaptable, the approach to conducting certain activities had to be adjusted. One such example is collective data analysis, which had initially been planned to be conducted jointly by all team members. Due to delays and time pressures, a sequential process was instead undertaken in which UTS-ISF team members undertook initial analysis which was then shared and critically discussed during a wider team sensemaking workshop. To address the associated risk of confirmation bias, during wider sensemaking we included interactive processes with opportunity for anonymous input and critique of identified themes.

A second limitation concerns identification of outcomes associated with gender-transformative leadership. As noted in Section Characterising gender-transformative leaders, outcomes were not easy for participants to articulate due to both the timing of the research and personal characteristics of leaders (with modesty and humility characteristic traits). As such, evidence presented about outcomes should be interpreted as indicative and instructive for further research, rather than comprehensive or strongly evidence-based. We justify the inclusion of outcomes despite these limitations given the imperative to build evidence about how gender-transformative leadership can contribute to positive social change. In future, studies could include use of quantitative indicators of change combined with qualitative insights to provide a robust, substantiated evidence-base of change.

Finally, the positive deviance approach and strengthsbased orientation to interviews means that explicit details BOX 2 Personal reflection by Ugyen Wangchuk, former Executive Director of Ability Bhutan Society, Bhutan.

I was inspired by other leaders who participated in this research. In particular, I was inspired by the stories of Namgay Pelden, a local government woman leader in Bhutan, and H. E. Dechen Wangmo, the Minister of Health of Bhutan. I admired their leadership, initiative and genuine passion for people from marginalised groups including women and people with disabilities, and learnt lessons about accessibility and inclusion in WASH.

Being part of the research changed some of my perspectives on leadership. For example, in Bhutan we do not have many women leader champions, and those are 2 leaders that I can look up to. Their skills and leadership really inspired me and made me aware of my own biases. As a male leader, sometimes I fail to take into consideration the needs of women. But through this research, I saw how women leaders take into consideration the needs of women and people with disabilities, and this was very inspirational. As men, we tend to assume things, and I have reflected that we are not in a position to understand the needs of women and people with disabilities in difficult times. As a leader, sometimes we could do more harm than good even if we have good intentions, because we might make assumptions that are not necessarily true.

BOX 3 Personal reflection by Aastha Chhetri, MandE Advisor, SNV in Nepal.

This research has enabled me to understand that no circumstances can stop you from doing what you want. Being a leader is not an easy task, and it requires education, continuous hard work, patience, and dedication. A new perspective on leadership I gained from working in this research is that being able to influence people into doing something good is noble work and it provides a high sense of satisfaction at the end of the day. I would like to inspire women and disadvantaged people to speak for themselves and raise their voices in WASH. I want to work towards supporting them in doing what they can to improve the sanitary conditions in and around their households and their entire community.

This research has been conducted in trying to understand the pathway followed in the making of a leader. This involves the struggles faced along with support received by the leaders and covers all the lived experiences which have shaped the leaders, which is a new and different approach in WASH research.

BOX 4 Personal reflection by Phetsakhone Somphongbouthakanh, Gender Equality and Inclusion Consultant for SNV in Lao PDR.

Sitting with leaders and learning about their work and experiences gave me a new perspective on leadership: being a leader does not mean following one standard model of leadership. Everywhere and everyone is different and needs to be led in different ways. Especially listening to the leaders with disabilities inspired me to advocate for policy change that benefit them and continue working on inclusive leadership as well as improving my own self-leadership.

Something I could do differently, or might do in future to support the kinds of leaders I spoke to through this research is to spend more time with them to listen, learn about their needs and share what I have learned with others as much as possible. I believe the work SNV did to collect these valuable experiences from leaders, and different levels of ability is very important work. These findings and insights could be used to strengthen CSOs' work on WASH leadership programmes. They could also be used in policy dialogues to progress gender equality and social inclusion and to inspire other organisations and governments to prioritise GESI in their WASH programmes. I invite readers to reflect on themselves as they read through the findings, select the aspects of their leadership they think could be strengthened and think of a doable action that could improve their gender-transformative leadership. Share and inspire others.

on the challenges of being a gender-transformative leader, or barriers to exercising gender-transformative leadership, may have been missed. Barriers discussed in this article represent those experienced by leaders who were specifically identified as gender-transformative, and therefore do not explore the ways in which pervasive structures and norms create leadership opportunities for some while excluding others. While we assert the value of a positive deviance approach in this study as a means to celebrate and inspire, we also affirm the importance of complementary research that more deeply engages with the multiple, intersecting barriers that may limit gendertransformative leadership.

Conclusions

This article presented a conceptual framework for analysis of gender-transformative leadership, and results from a positive deviance study of gender-transformative WASH leaders in Bhutan, Lao PDR, and Nepal. The conceptual framework reflects a conception of leadership as diffuse and relational. In the framework, personal, relational, action-oriented and contextual dimensions are all identified as shaping the qualities and potential of transformative leadership.

Findings from interviews with 19 leaders identified alignment between the values and styles of gendertransformative WASH leaders and those discussed in wider transformative leadership literature. Leaders were found to have strong learning orientations and social justice and feminist values, often shaped by direct personal experiences of discrimination or their observations of disadvantage. This aligned with typical values and traits of transformative leaders in the literature. They also displayed characteristics of being altruistic, humble, and brave.

Leadership styles were found to be relational, shaped by empathy and a commitment to lead by example, in alignment with literature which suggests that such leaders are typically motivating, caring, collaborative and collective. Interestingly, these 'feminine' leadership qualities were exhibited by both women and men leaders, affirming the value of having all genders engaged in the realisation of women's rights and gender equality and inclusion. Illustrative actions identified in the study included direct support for women's advancement, championing gender mainstreaming and placing vulnerable groups at the centre of the COVID-19 response. Indicative outcomes—while requiring further validation—suggested the potential of gendertransformative leadership to drive tangible societal outcomes such as inclusive service provision, shifts social norms and perceptions, as well as personal changes in self-confidence and work satisfaction.

The study identified strong external support to be an important enabler of transformative leaders. Such support could come from different levels, including in the domestic sphere, professional sphere, and external organisations and networks. Common barriers faced by transformative leaders included personal experiences of discrimination, wider social resistance and backlash, and lack of formal and institutional structures and policies. Three key areas noted as areas to strengthen in the future included increased celebration of diversity in leadership, increase mainstreaming of equality and inclusion in institutions, and the importance of paying attention to intersectionality and concurrently addressing multiple structure imbalances.

This study contributes to the body of knowledge in leadership in general, and gender-transformative leadership applied to the WASH sector in particular. Having been undertaken during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, the study also highlights the critical role of transformative leaders in prioritising inclusion during times of rapid social upheaval and change. The conceptual framework and key findings from this research can be beneficially applied to other contexts or sectors to generate evidence about how transformative leadership can be celebrated and supported as a means to drive gender equality and social inclusion in and through WASH, and beyond.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of Technology Sydney, Human Research Ethics Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

Conceptualization: NC, DG, JW, and GH. Methodology: NC, DG, and JW. Investigation: AC, RB, TC, and PS. Data curation: DG. Analysis: DG, NC, AC, PS, RB, TC, and GH. Writing-original draft preparation: DG, NC, AC, and JW. Writing-reviewing and editing: PS, UW, RB, TC, and GH. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

This research was funded by the Australian Government's Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade through the Water for Women Fund, Grant No. SNV/WfW/030/046/168.

Acknowledgments

We would like to express our most sincere gratitude to all the leaders who participated in this research for their leadership and their generosity with their time, especially during the challenging times of the COVID-19 pandemic. This article has been reviewed and endorsed by leaders involved in the research study. We also want to acknowledge key people who contributed to the research: UTS-ISF: Katie Ross; SNV in Lao PDR: Le Thi Thuy Huong, Khongphan Vilayphone, Keomany Phommahan, Outhikone Souphomin, Soneouthid Phanthalangsy, and Bounpheng Sychaleurn; and SNV in Nepal: Ambika Yadav, Ram Prakash Singh, Sangita Adhikari, and Sabitra Dhakal.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ frwa.2022.1050103/full#supplementary-material

References

Bass, B. M. (1999). Two decades of research and development in transformational leadership. *Eur. J. Work Organ. Psychol.* 8, 9–32. doi: 10.1080/135943299398410

Billing, Y. D., and Alvesson, M. (2022). Questioning the notion of feminine leadership: a critical perspective on the gender labelling of leadership. *Gender Work Organ.* 7, 144–157. doi: 10.1111/1468-0432.00103

Bradley, E. H., Curry, L. A., Ramanadhan, S., Rowe, L., Nembhard, I. M., and Krumholz, H. M. (2009). Research in action: using positive deviance to improve quality of health care. *Implement. Sci.* 4, 25. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-25

Brown, E., Ekoue, E., and Goodban, V. (2019). Transformative leadership for women's rights in Africa: learning from Oxfam's work. *Agenda* 33, 21-37. doi: 10.1080/10130950.2019.1598776

Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. New York, NY: Harper and Row.

Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative and Mixed Methods Approaches, 4th Edn. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.

Donde, O. O., Atoni, E., Muia, A. W., and Yillia, P. T. (2021). COVID-19 pandemic: water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) as a critical control measure remains a major challenge in low-income countries. *Water Res.* 191, 116793. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2020.116793

Fuhrman, S., and Rhodes, F. (2020). Where are the Women? The Conspicuous Absence of Women in COVID-19 Response Teams and Plans, and Why We Need Them. Care International. Available online at: https://www.care-international.org/ files/files/CARE_COVID-19-womens-leadership-report_June-2020.pdf

Gonzalez, D., Abdel Sattar, R., Budhathoki, R., Carrard, N., Chase, R. P., Crawford, J., et al. (2022). A partnership approach to the design and use of a quantitative measure: co-producing and piloting the WASH gender equality measure in Cambodia and Nepal. *Dev. Stud. Res.* 9, 142–158. doi:10.1080/21665095.2022.2073248

Hawkins, K., Morgan, R., Overs, C., Manzoor, M., Dhatt, R., and Bali, S. (2022). "Women and global health leadership: power and transformation," in *Women and Global Health Leadership: Power and Transformation*, eds R. Morgan, K. Hawkins, R. Dhatt, M. Manzoor, S. Bali, C. Overs (Cham: Springer), 1–18.

Herten-Crabb, A., and Wenham, C. (2022). "I was facilitating everybody else's life. and mine had just ground to a halt": the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on women in the United Kingdom. *Soc. Politics* 2022, jxac006. doi: 10.1093/sp/jxac006

Howard, G., Bartram, J., Brocklehurst, C., Colford, J. M., Costa, F., Cunliffe, D., et al. (2020). COVID-19: urgent actions, critical reflections and future relevance of 'WaSH': lessons for the current and future pandemics. *J. Water Health* 8, 613–630. doi: 10.2166/wh.2020.162

Huggett, C., Da Costa Cruz, L., Goff, F., Pheng, P., and Ton, D. (2022). Beyond inclusion: practical lessons on striving for gender and disability transformational changes in WASH systems in Cambodia and Timor-Leste. H_2Open J. 5, 26–42. doi: 10.2166/h20j.2022.039

Indarti, N., Rostiani, R., Megaw, T., and Willetts, J. (2019). Women's involvement in economic opportunities in water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) in Indonesia: examining personal experiences and potential for empowerment. *Dev. Stud. Res.* 6, 76–91. doi: 10.1080/21665095.2019.1604149

Jensen, U., Andersen, L. B., Bro, L. L., Bøllingtoft, A., Eriksen, T. L. M., Holten, A. L., et al. (2019). Conceptualizing and measuring transformational and transactional leadership. *Administ. Soc.* 51, 3–33. doi: 10.1177/0095399716667157

Jhpiego Corporation (2020). *Gender-Transformative Leadership, a Participatory Toolkit for Health Workers*. Maryland: Jhpiego Corporation. Available online at: https://www.jhpiego.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/GTL-Full-Toolkit.pdf (accessed on October 30, 2020)

Kaushik, V., and Walsh, C. A. (2019). Pragmatism as a research paradigm and its implications for social work research. *Soc. Sci.* 8, 255. doi: 10.3390/socsci8090255

Keeling, A., Manzoor, M., Thompson, K., and Dhatt, R. (2018). *Gender Transformative Leadership: A New Vision for Leadership in Global Health*. Women in Global Health.

Kumar, A., Gonzalez, D., and Chhetri, A. (2021a). *Leading by Building Trust in the Community*. SNV Updates, December 2021. Available online at: https://snv.org/update/leading-building-trust-community (accessed on August 26, 2022).

Kumar, A., Gonzalez, D., and Phetsakhone, P. (2021b). *Leading With Courage and Confidence*. SNV Updates, September 2021. Available online at: https://snv. org/update/leading-courage-and-confidence (accessed on August 26, 2022).

MacArthur, J. (Forthcoming). A spectrum of gender equality approaches in WASH: towards gender-transformative practice. *Front. Water*.

MacArthur, J., Carrard, N., Davila, F., Grant, M., Megaw, T., Willetts, J., et al. (2022). Gender-transformative approaches in international development: a brief history and five uniting principles. *Womens Stud. Int. Forum* 95, 102635. doi: 10.1016/j.wsif.2022.102635

MacArthur, J., Carrard, N., and Willetts, J. (2020). WASH and Gender: a critical review of the literature and implications for gender-transformative WASH research. J. Water Sanit. Hygiene Dev. 10, 818–827. doi: 10.2166/washdev.2020.232

Meagher, K., Singh, N. S., and Patel, P. (2020). The role of gender inclusive leadership during the COVID-19 pandemic to support vulnerable populations in conflict settings. *BMJ Glob. Health* 5, e003760. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2020-003760

Montgomery, T., and Mazzei, M. (2021). Two paths of social innovation in the post-pandemic world. *Soc. Enterprise J.* 17, 450–458. doi: 10.1108/SEJ-03-2021-0018

Montouri, A., and Donnelly, G. (2018). "Transformative leadership" in Handbook of Personal and Organisational Transformation, ed J. Neal (Cham: Springer), 319.

Moraes, A., and Perkins, P. E. (2007). Women, equity and participatory water management in Brazil. *Int. Feminist J. Polit.* 9, 485–493. doi: 10.1080/14616740701607986

Moser, C. O. N. (1993). Gender Planning and Development: Theory, Practice and Training, London: Routledge.

Mulder, S., McDiarmid, T., and Vettori, L. (2019). *Public Perceptions of Women* as *Political Leaders: A Multi-Country Study*. Melbourne, VIC: International Women's Development Agency (IWDA).

Pereira, L., Frantzeskaki, N., Hebinck, A., Charli-Joseph, L., Drimie, S., Dyer, M., et al. (2020). Transformative spaces in the making: key lessons from nine cases in the Global South. *Sustain. Sci.* 15, 161–178. doi: 10.1007/s11625-019-00749-x

Ryan, M. K., and Haslam, S. A. (2007). The glass cliff: exploring the dynamics surrounding the appointment of women to precarious leadership positions. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 32, 549–572. doi: 10.5465/amr.2007.24351856

Sam, J. M., and Todd, S. K. (2020). Women as hand pump technicians: Empowering women and enhancing participation in rural water supply projects. *Dev. Pract.* 30, 357–368. doi: 10.1080/09614524.2019.1703904

Saseanu, A. S., Toma, S. G., and Marinescu, P. (2014). Feminine leadership and organisational culture. *Manager* 19, 144–150. Available online at: https:// www.proquest.com/docview/1619354088/abstract/AA3807CC8D7C466CPQ/1? accountid=17095s

Shields, C. M. (2020). *Transformative Leadership*. Oxford: Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Education.

Simba, H., and Ngcobo, S. (2020). Are pandemics gender neutral? women's health and COVID-19. *Front. Global Womens Health* 1, 570666. doi: 10.3389/fgwh.2020.570666

SNV and UTS-ISF (2021a). Gender Transformative Leadership in WASH During COVID-19: Voices From Asia. Available online at: https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PL1oZtXroJSPKlfTS1rfnGHhh9lmN3u8OP

SNV and UTS-ISF (2021b). Ambika Yadav for Inclusive COVID-19 and WASH Responses that Transform Lives. Available online at: https://youtu.be/rL0-AubrR3A

Soeters, S., Carrard, N., Grant, M., and Willetts, J. (2019a). Leadership and voice: more than add women and stir. Water for Women: Gender in WASH - Conversational Article 3, Institute for Sustainable Futures, University of Technology Sydney.

Soeters, S., Grant, M., Carrard, N., and Willetts, J. (2019b). *Intersectionality: ask the other question*. Water for Women: Gender in WASH - Conversational article 2, Institute for Sustainable Futures, University of Technology Sydney.

Soeters, S., Siscawati, M., Ratnasari Anggriani, S., Nailah, and Willetts, J. (2021). Gender equality in the government water, sanitation, and hygiene workforce in Indonesia: an analysis through the Gender at Work framework. *Dev. Stud. Res.* 8, 280–293. doi: 10.1080/21665095.2021.197 8300

Stewart, J. (2006). "Transformational Leadership: an evolving concept examined through the works of Burns, Bass, Avolio, and Leithwood," in *Canadian Journal of Educational Administration and Policy, Vol. 54.*

UTS-ISF and SNV (2021a). Gender transformative leadership in WASH during the COVID-19 pandemic. Research Report. The Hague: SNV.

UTS-ISF and SNV (2021b). Gender transformative leadership in WASH during the COVID-19 pandemic. Learning Brief. The Hague: SNV.

Water for Women. (2022). Shifting Social Norms for Transformative WASH: Review of Concepts, Literature and Practice. Available online at: https://www. waterforwomenfund.org/en/learning-and-resources/resources/KL/Publications/ Water-for-Women-TT-Shifting-Social-Norms-for-Transformative-WASH_ Literature-Review-web.pdf

Wenham, C., Smith, J., Morgan, R., and Gender, and COVID-19 Working Group (2020). COVID-19: the gendered impacts of the outbreak. *Lancet* 395, 846–848. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)3 0526-2 Willetts, J., Carrard, N., Crawford, J., Rowland, C., and Halcrow, G. (2013). Working from strengths to assess changes in gender equality. *Dev. Pract.* 23, 991–1006. doi: 10.1080/09614524.2013.840564

Willetts, J., Halcrow, G., Carrard, N., Rowland, C., and Crawford, J. (2010). Addressing two critical MDGs together: gender in water, sanitation and hygiene initiatives. *Pacific Econ. Bull.* 25, 162–176. Available online at: https:// openresearch-repository.anu.edu.au/bitstream/1885/30589/2/PEB25_1_Willets %20et%20al.pdf

Winterford, K. (2017). *How to Partner for Development Research: Research for Development Impact Network.* Canberra, ACT: Australian Council for International Development.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jane Wilbur, University of London, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Aviram Sharma, Nalanda University, India M. Dinesh Kumar, Institute for Resource Analysis and Policy, India

*CORRESPONDENCE Carla Liera ⊠ carla.liera@sei.org

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Water and Human Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Water

RECEIVED 26 September 2022 ACCEPTED 09 January 2023 PUBLISHED 01 February 2023

CITATION

Liera C, Dickin S, Rishworth A, Bisung E, Moreno A and Elliott SJ (2023) Human rights, COVID-19, and barriers to safe water and sanitation among people experiencing homelessness in Mexico City. *Front. Water* 5:1054182. doi: 10.3389/frwa.2023.1054182

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Liera, Dickin, Rishworth, Bisung, Moreno and Elliott. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Human rights, COVID-19, and barriers to safe water and sanitation among people experiencing homelessness in Mexico City

Carla Liera^{1*}, Sarah Dickin^{1,2}, Andrea Rishworth³, Elijah Bisung⁴, Alexia Moreno⁵ and Susan J. Elliott⁶

¹Resources, Rights and Development Division, Stockholm Environment Institute, Stockholm, Sweden, ²Department of Women's and Children's Health, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden, ³Department of Geography, Geomatics and Environment, University of Toronto, Mississauga, ON, Canada, ⁴School of Kinesiology and Health Studies, Queen's University, Kingston, ON, Canada, ⁵El Caracol A.C., Mexico City, Mexico, ⁶Department of Geography and Environmental Management, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, ON, Canada

Access to safe water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) are human rights and play a fundamental role in protecting health, which has been particularly evident during the SARS-CoV2 (COVID-19) pandemic. People experiencing homelessness face frequent violations of their human rights to water and sanitation, negatively affecting their health and dignity and ability to protect themselves from COVID-19. This research aimed to identify barriers to safe water, sanitation and hygiene access for people experiencing homelessness in Mexico City during the COVID-19 pandemic. A survey of 101 respondents experiencing homelessness was conducted using mobile data collection tools in collaboration with El Caracol A.C., an NGO that contributes to the visibility and social inclusion of homeless people in Mexico. We report findings according to the following themes: general economic impacts of COVID-19; experiences with reduced access to WASH services due to COVID-19, challenges in accessing hand washing to follow COVID-19 public health advice; and coping mechanisms used to deal with reductions in access to WASH. We discuss the broader implications of the findings in terms of realization of the human rights to water and sanitation (HRtWS), and how people experiencing homelessness are left behind by the existing approaches to ensure universal access to water and sanitation under SDG 6.

KEYWORDS

human rights to water and sanitation, WASH, COVID-19, homelessness, Mexico City, human rights-based approach, water, sanitation

1. Introduction

Water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) services are essential for a dignified and healthy life. This became even more evident with the SARS-CoV2 (COVID-19) pandemic (Howard et al., 2020), as around 2.4 billion people continue to lack access to handwashing with soap and water (Brauer et al., 2020). In 2010, the human right to water and sanitation was recognized (United Nations General Assembly, 2010), and in 2015 sanitation was recognized as a standalone human right that "entitles everyone, without discrimination, to have physical and affordable access to sanitation, in all spheres of life, that is safe, hygienic, secure, socially and culturally acceptable and that provides privacy and ensures dignity" (United Nations General Assembly, 2016). Despite adoption of the human rights to water and sanitation, people experiencing homelessness (PEH) are frequently denied access to safe water and sanitation services, and face related discrimination, violence, and criminalization. Provision of water and sanitation services for PEH is often viewed as a form of charity rather than realization of human rights, which can reinforce inequalities and lead to the provision of low-quality services (Neves-silva et al., 2018).

Although homelessness is assumed to be linked to poor access to WASH, the experiences of PEH and their specific barriers to accessing water and sanitation have been under-researched (Ballard et al., 2022). Existing studies have examined WASH and homelessness in the contexts of rural Kentucky, United States (Ballard et al., 2022) and in urban settings in Dhaka, Bangladesh (Uddin et al., 2016), Belo Horizonte, Brazil (Neves-silva et al., 2018), and Delhi and Bangalore, India (Walters, 2014). There is limited evidence collected in a systematic way on a global level that addresses WASH and homelessness, as information on access to WASH services outside the household, schools, or health care facilities is sparse. Progress on PEH's access to safe water and sanitation is not effectively tracked as part of SDG 6, despite the focus on ensuring universal access and leaving no one behind. In Mexico, there is a lack of official data on some components of the human right to sanitation such as access to safely managed sanitation, especially for vulnerable populations (García-Searcy et al., 2022). Without policy targets or adequate collection of data, it is challenging to motivate decisionmakers to act (Hugh and Fox, 2020). Further adding to these challenges is the fact that homelessness can be defined in different ways making it challenging to collect accurate and reliable data, let alone assign people to a category since people move in and out of homelessness and have heterogenous circumstances (Fowler et al., 2019). In Mexico, historical exclusion and invisibility of PEH have been exacerbated by the lack of information available and collected on this group and the criminalization of its members due to their life circumstances (Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos (CNDH)/El Caracol, 2019).

During the COVID-19 pandemic, residents in Mexico were instructed to maintain personal hygiene, stay at home and keep a safe physical distance to prevent the spread of COVID-19; a challenging task for those experiencing homelessness (Ruiz Coronel, 2021). A review of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic in several lowand middle-income countries including Mexico indicated that PEH were among the most vulnerable groups impacted by COVID-19 lockdowns (Chackalackal et al., 2021). This is because COVID-19 public health recommendations put a large focus on hand hygiene, which requires ongoing access to safe water and soap. Closures of public spaces, businesses, and self-isolation in the context of COVID-19 further restricted opportunities for PEH to access safely managed water and sanitation services, creating new health challenges (Brauer et al., 2020).

The aim of this paper is to present findings on the barriers faced by PEH in Mexico City when attempting to access water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) services during the COVID-19 pandemic, and to contribute to a broader discussion about the operationalization of the human rights framework for the fulfillment of the human rights to water and sanitation for PEH.

1.1. Challenges in addressing homelessness in Mexico City

People experiencing homelessness and precarious housing may have a range of different forms of insecure housing, ranging from living in temporary structures, temporarily with friends, housing without legal tenancy, to a complete absence of shelter, such as living in the streets (Amore et al., 2011). Piat et al. (2015) highlight the complexity of pathways into homelessness, including the interplav between structural factors such as lack of affordable housing, unsafe communities, and discrimination, and individual risk factors such as mental illness, childhood trauma and substance use. The failure to communicate the complex causes of homelessness has created a limited and biased narrative, that portrays PEH as lazy and dirty, and an individual issue disconnected from the broader societal context (Devereux, 2015). This has contributed to further discrimination toward PEH and on many occasions the criminalization of homeless individuals. For example, many cities in the US criminalize life sustaining behaviors of PEH such as public sleeping and laying or sitting down in certain areas of the city (Robinson, 2019). In Hungary in 2010 an anti-homeless campaign banned people from begging and picking up left over food from bins (Faragó et al., 2021). These anti-homeless laws have reinforced the negative perceptions of PEH among the public and authorities and lead to support for punitive policies (Turner et al., 2018).

In the case of Mexico City, there are an estimated 6,754 members of the street population, of which 4,354 live in public spaces while 2,400 live in one of the Social Assistance and Integration Centers (CAIS) (IASIS, 2017). However, due to stigmatization of this group, there is a significant undercounting (Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos (CNDH)/El Caracol, 2019). According to the "Censo de Poblaciones Callejeras 2017," 87% were men and 13% were women, with women more likely to avoid rough sleeping because they are more prone to face sexual harassment, abuse, and violence (Bretherton and Nicholas, 2018). The lack of understanding of the complexity of homelessness and the paucity of information surrounding this group has affected the way in which PEH are addressed and represented in public policies and government programs in Mexico (Moreno et al., 2017). In the last few decades, government initiatives have promoted and operated paternalistic and isolated programs that focus on serving the immediate needs of PEH instead of creating policies that address the root cause of the problem, such as secure access to essential services like housing and healthcare (Guerra and Arjona, 2019). Such is the case with the most recent government programme "Comprehensive Care for Members of the Street Populations (PAIPIPC)" which aims is to provide immediate assistance to PEH through provision of blankets, clothing and food (CDHCM, 2021). On the other hand, Guerra and Arjona (2019) highlight that government programmes framed under a crime prevention scope reinforce prejudices related to the use of public space by PEH as a means to displace this group from their conventional locations. For instance, in Mexico City the "Ley de Cultura Civica" punishes those who use public space for sleeping at night or who undertake survival activities such as cleaning windshields with up to 36h in jail and possible additional fines (CDHCM, 2021). When it comes to WASH services for PEH, the government does not guarantee access to drinking fountains, toilets, and showers although these services are essential for a life with dignity as established and protected under the Mexican Constitution (Guerra and Arjona, 2019).

1.2. Homelessness and links to WASH inequalities

Historically, access to public services such as water, sanitation and public health care among PEH has been constrained by their lower standing within social, economic, and cultural power structures (Quesada et al., 2011). In Mexico City homelessness frequently intersects with one or more characteristics like immigration status, health status, indigenous status, ethnicity, skin color, sex, age, disability, sexual preference, or gender identity to exacerbate exclusions (Guerra and Arjona, 2019). As a result, PEH have been subjected to various forms of discrimination, violence, and racism, which have constrained their choices and opportunities. For example, many PEH face numerous obstacles when trying to access medical care due to their physical appearance (Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos (CNDH)/El Caracol, 2019).

Due to these structural vulnerabilities, a deeper understanding of the complexity of homelessness and the intrinsic power relations in access to WASH services is needed by WASH researchers and practitioners. This will improve understanding of how realizing rights to safe WASH can best contribute to efforts to address drivers of homelessness and associated negative health and wellbeing outcomes across the spectrum of living situations. Addressing the WASH needs of this group is especially important as research shows that individuals who do not follow community hygiene norms, such as those related to sanitation and handwashing, are consistently stigmatized which exacerbates social and economic marginalization (Brewis et al., 2019).

On a global policy level, provision and monitoring of water and sanitation services are usually addressed at the household level, dismissing other spaces, such as public areas. For instance, the Joint Monitoring Programme that tracks WASH progress reports zero level of open defecation in urban areas in Mexico (WHO and UNICEF, 2022). However, overlooking certain underserved groups due to challenges with data collection from people living outside of typical households may lead to human rights violations that disproportionately affect PEH (Heller, 2019). A barrier to addressing WASH needs for PEH is the focus on technical solutions alone, such as the provision of drinking water and sanitation infrastructure as means to tackling inequalities. This practice fails to acknowledge the distinct reasons and constraints that drive people to undertake certain water and sanitation practices and discards cultural differences arising from gender, age, ethnicity, and socioeconomic factors (Peal et al., 2010; Coswosk et al., 2019). Additionally, access to WASH services is determined by the socio-cultural characteristics and power dynamics of a given location (Nunbogu and Elliott, 2021). Together these factors mediate people's ability to benefit from water services (Gimelli et al., 2018). For example, placement of hand-washing facilities in public places recommended by the WHO, such as in front of commercial buildings, may not be acceptable or accessible to PEH due to the power and social dynamics that control that space (Ballard and Caruso, 2021; Nunbogu and Elliott, 2021).

A handful of existing studies highlight some of the structural drivers and particular vulnerabilities of PEH in the context of WASH. Neves-Silva et al. (2019) found that in Belo Horizonte Brazil, not being able to access WASH increased discrimination and exclusion of PEH. For instance, a lack of facilities to wash menstrual materials meant that washing had to be done in public showers which contributed to a lack of privacy and dignity while also impacting health and personal security. In a study in Central Appalachian Kentucky, United States, researchers identified factors at multiple levels that created barriers to WASH access and use, such stigma, particularly among those who were drug users, as well as placebased characteristics such as long distance to businesses and facilities

with WASH services related to lack of transport (Ballard et al., 2022). This study found that these factors not only limited people's ability to perform safe WASH practices but generated a feedback loop where unmeet WASH needs further exacerbated negative health outcomes, and further limited safe WASH access. Uddin et al. (2016) examined the experiences of PEH in accessing WASH in Dhaka, Bangladesh. They identified risks related to poor water quality provided by the Dhaka Water Supply Authority's open supply taps, and risks related to accessing those sources, particularly at night, that varied with gender and age. The authors argue that PEH's lack of access to water is due to their marginal position in society, and the associated unequal distribution of power and opportunities. Uddin and colleagues propose a rights-based approach to address the structural causes of discrimination and marginalization, rather than only addressing the symptoms underlying limited access to critical resources such as WASH.

Human rights-based approaches have been applied in a number of other WASH contexts to highlight challenges faced by vulnerable and marginalized groups in the realization of their rights to water and sanitation. For example, these efforts have sought to "make rights real" at a local level, establish the criteria against which the normative criteria of this right can be monitored, and draw attention to populations in vulnerable situations (Winkler et al., 2014; Giné-Garriga et al., 2017; Carrard et al., 2020). This framing is particularly relevant in the context of homelessness due to the interdependence and indivisibility of the HRtWS with other rights such as the rights to health and adequate housing (Uddin et al., 2016; Neves-Silva et al., 2019). The rest of the manuscript contributes to this growing understanding of barriers faced by PEH in realizing their human rights to safe WASH services.

2. Methods

2.1. Case study site

This study was conducted in 3 municipalities, Cuauhtémoc, Venustiano Carranza, and Gustavo A. Madero, in Mexico City, Mexico, from February through April 2021. According to the latest street population census, these municipalities have the highest density of PEH (IASIS, 2017). Additionally, these are the areas in which El Caracol A.C. has been conducting activities for the past 10 years. El Caracol is a civil society organization that contributes to the visibility and social inclusion of homeless people in Mexico City through research, health campaigns and advocacy. El Caracol staff have a longstanding relationship with the PEH that live and work in the study area.

On March 24th, 2020, SARS-CoV2 (COVID-19) was recognized as a serious priority disease by the Mexican government. The "Jornada Nacional de Sana Distancia" (Healthy Distance Campaign) was then introduced to help mitigate the transmission of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. The Healthy Distance campaign consisted of the interruption of any face-to face activity that involved a high concentration, transit, or movement of people, and included closures of private and public venues as well as the avoidance of public and crowded places and the compliance of the basic hygiene measure such as frequent hand washing (Ruiz Coronel, 2021). This meant that public spaces and private businesses had to remain closed or operate within limited hours and people had to stay at home until further notice. These unexpected and strict guidelines had a major impact on PEH, as most were left without a safe space to quarantine or access soap, face masks, and water, making it nearly impossible to follow such guidelines. As a response, El Caracol established a health and protection campaign for PEH. This campaign consisted of weekly support to PEH with basic water and sanitation supplies, education on preventive measures, procurement of safe spaces, and mental and physical health checks.

2.2. Ethics approval

Prior to conducting research, ethical approval was obtained from the Stockholm Environment Institute Ethics Committee [2021-01-29-02]. Fact sheets describing the planned research were provided to potential participants describing the aims of the study and outlining the rights of respondents. These were handed out and read to potential participants before the start of each survey. Informed consent was obtained from participants through either a signature or a fingerprint in cases where the participant did not know how to write.

Data collection activities were guided by El Caracol's health and safety protocol to prevent the spread of COVID-19 to the target population and staff. The protocol consisted of staff limiting their activities to one visit per day to a group of PEH with a maximum stay of 45 min. One person was assigned to conduct the surveys. The surveys were conducted outside, and both the surveyor and the interviewee were required to wear a mask at all times. The interview was programmed to last between 15 and 20 min, and the surveyor could not lengthen the interaction.

2.3. Sampling approach

The collection of data took place in 3 municipalities of Mexico City: Cuauhtémoc, Venustiano Carranza, and Gustavo A. Madero. The research participants comprised adult men and women, who at the time of the study were either living on the streets or in private or public shelter with no permanent form of housing. Using convenience sampling, 101 respondents were surveyed, leading to a total of 97 responses (67 = men and 29 = women and 1 with a person that did not wish to reveal their sex) after data cleaning to remove incomplete surveys. Recruitment of participants for the study was carried out by El Caracol during their daily street work activities and the safety and health campaign, however participation was not required in any way to benefit from these activities.

Additionally, 2 workers from El Caracol were selected for oneon-one key informant interviews that addressed questions related to the survey, including their perceptions of adversities that PEH faced when accessing water and sanitation services at the height of the COVID-19 pandemic; their perceptions of how PEH dealt with these adversities; their observations of violence and discrimination toward PEH from the local authorities and public; their views surrounding their health campaign that aimed to assist PEH during the pandemic as well as their perspectives surrounding the government's (in)action to protect and assist vulnerable groups at the height of the pandemic. The interviews were carried out online by the first author and lasted between 45 and 60 min.

2.4. Data collection tools and measures

The individual survey was designed in English and translated into Spanish. The survey questionnaire comprised both closed- and openended questions divided into seven sections. The first two sections collected information on descriptive characteristics of the target population, such as sex, marital status, education level, occupation, working status, income before and during the COVID-19, health insurance, and sleeping conditions. The third section covered access and use of water, sanitation, and hygiene services before and during the pandemic.

Before implementing the survey, the questionnaire was tested among the enumerators and other workers from El Caracol allowing them to build confidence and clarify any cultural or language misinterpretations. Survey responses were collected with mobile data collection using cellphones and the survey platform Kobo Toolbox.

2.5. Data analysis

The dataset was downloaded from Kobo Toolbox in an XSL format. The first author used Microsoft Excel for data management, organization, and initial analysis. After data cleaning to remove incomplete responses, 97 respondents were included in the analysis. Descriptive statistics and exploratory factor analysis were generated using SAS University Edition software package. Interview transcripts were analyzed using deductive thematic analysis based on the main survey themes.

3. Results

3.1. Participant characteristics

Of the 97 participants, 87 (90%) had some type of formal education, with 22 (25%) having graduated from or attended high school and 33 (38%) stating that they had attended or completed junior high school.

Regarding employment, 63 (65%) of the 97 participants said that they were employed in some capacity both before and during the COVID-19 pandemic; all jobs reported were informal with some of the most common jobs reported being windshield cleaners (n = 24; 38%), street sellers (n = 15; 23%), and waste collectors (n = 15; 16%) (Table 1).

When asked about their sleeping conditions, most of the respondents (n = 70; 72%) said that they had slept in the street during the last month, while a small number of respondents indicated that they had slept at a rental space 9 (9%), family's house 5 (5%), friend's house 3 (3%) or government hostel 3 (3%).

3.2. General impact of COVID-19 on participants

Overall, the most frequently mentioned impact reported by respondents was through reduced work opportunities (n = 37; 45%) and reduction of income (n = 31; 37%), highlighting negative socio-economic impacts for many (respondents selected as many

TABLE 1 Participant characteristics.

	n	%		
Age				
18-25	15	15		
26-35	23	24		
36-45	31	32		
46-55	12	12		
56-65	12	14		
Older than 65	2	2		
Sex				
Female	29	30		
Male	67	69		
	1	1		
Prefer not to say		1		
Highest level of formal edu		10		
	10	10		
Elementary school	8	8		
Elementary school (incomplete)	21	24		
Jr. High school	15	15		
Jr. High school (incomplete)	18	19		
High school	10	10		
High school (incomplete)	11	11		
University degree	1	1		
University (incomplete)	3	3		
Current work status				
Not working	34	35		
Working	63	65		
Sleeping location in the last month				
Government hostel	3	3		
Street	70	72		
Friend's house	3	3		
Family house	5	5		
Hotel	2	2		
Rental space	9	9		
Other	4	4		
Health insurance (Seguro popular)				
I don't know	4	4		
I don't have insurance	56	58		
Only my children	3	3		
I have insurance (only me)	14	14		
My whole family has insurance	15	15		
Only me and my children	2	2		

responses as applicable). Of the 63 participants that worked before and during the pandemic, the vast majority (87%) noted that their income had been negatively affected (Figure 1). Respondents felt these changes were mainly a result of the lack of job opportunities, closure of private businesses, and the low number of people on the streets.

Further, the housing situation of respondents was negatively impacted by COVID-19. Of the 83 respondents that noted COVID-19 had negatively impacted some aspects of their life, 13 participants (16%) mentioned they had started to live in the streets, 9 participants (11%) stated they had been evicted from their place of residence and 8 participants (10%) noted that they had gone back to living in the streets during the COVID-19 pandemic.

In terms of gendered impacts, one El Caracol interviewee reported women faced disproportionately more difficulties than men during the COVID-19 pandemic:

"Women had to go out and look for food and water while still taking care of the children. Many times, they were left to educate, entertain, and feed their families without any resources."

Additionally, some women respondents reported a rise in domestic violence as a consequence of COVID-19 (n = 3; 4%).

3.3. Barriers in access to drinking water sources

Survey participants reported that their main drinking water source was purchased bottled water (n = 36; 37%) and water points in private businesses (n = 25; 26%), the latter not always being available. In terms of affordability, 32 (33%) participants reported spending no money on drinking water daily while others reported spending between 1 and 15 Mexican pesos (n = 33; 34%) and 16–30 Mexican pesos (n = 21; 22%) daily on drinking water. According to the interviewees, those who are parents must also look after the water and sanitation expenses of children, and in many cases those of elder family and friends.

Of the total respondents, 35 (36%) reported using a different drinking water source before the COVID-19 pandemic. Of these, 12 (34%) noted that the water from the new source was of worse quality, further away (n = 7; 20%), or more expensive (n = 4; 11%) (Table 2). Respondents stated that some of the coping mechanisms adopted to deal with these changes were drinking less water than needed (n = 15; 43%), drinking other liquids such as soda, juice, or milk (n = 8; 22%) and storing drinking water in barrels (n = 8; 23%).

3.4. Barriers to accessing hand washing facilities and soap

When asked about hand washing and hygiene, 48 (49%) respondents noted that their hand washing facility was the same as their drinking water source. Of these respondents, 15 (31%) respondents stated using bottled water as their main drinking water as well as hand washing source. Of the 49 (51%) respondents who used a different source for washing their hands, 18 (37%) noted that water was not always available at this source. When asked about soap availability at the hand washing facility or surrounding area,


TABLE 2 Reported changes in water sources with the pandemic (36 respondents and total number of responses = 42).

Reported change in water source	n
The water from the new source is of worse quality	12
The water from the new source taste worse	4
The new source is further away	7
The water from the new source is more expensive	4
The water from the new source is of better quality	7
I don't see any change	5
Don't know	3
Other	3

55 (57%) respondents reported having to bring soap to the hand washing facility.

In terms of hand-washing advice respondents received on how to protect themselves and others from COVID-19, most of the respondents (n = 60; 62%) had either heard protection measures on the TV (n = 31; 50%) or radio (n = 24; 39%) or had been told by family members (n = 11;18%) or civil society organizations (n = 9; 15%) that regular hand washing with soap and water was one of the best ways to prevent the transmission of COVID-19 (n = 33; 52%). All these respondents reported trying to follow this advice, despite not always having access to a reliable handwashing facility with water and soap.

3.5. Barriers to accessing sanitation facilities

Three types of sanitation facilities were found to be most commonly used among survey respondents: a toilet in a current living space (25%), a toilet in a public parking lot (23%), and a toilet in a private business or restaurant (16%). Open defection was a common practice among survey respondents with 19 respondents (20%) stating that they practiced open defecation daily. Of the respondents that reported practicing open defecation, 9 participants (9%) mentioned that they previously used a toilet either in the place that they used to live or in a private business before the COVID-19 pandemic. In terms of cost for using a sanitation facility, respondents reported spending between 1 and 5 Mexican pesos (n = 24; 25%), 6-10 Mexican pesos (n = 15; 15%), and 11-15 Mexican pesos (n = 11; 11%) per day for use of the sanitation facility, while 36 (36%) of the respondents reported not spending any money on using a sanitation facility. When asked about accessibility of sanitation facilities respondents stated that they could always (58%), almost always (12%), sometimes (12%), and almost never enter the facilities (1%). Reasons for not always being able to access the sanitation facilities included lack of money (n = 9; 36%), physical appearance of the person (n = 6; 24%) and the facility being closed (n =3; 12%).

Less than half of the survey respondents (n = 33; 34%) reported using a different sanitation facility prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. Of these, respondents (n = 23; 70%) reported that the conditions of the new sanitation facility were worse than the ones from the previous facility, stating that the new facilities are not always open (n = 7; 30%), they were dirtier (n = 6; 26%), more insecure (n = 4;17%) and more expensive (n = 3; 13%) (Table 3). Some of the coping mechanisms used by the respondents to deal with these changes were drinking or eating less to avoid having to use the sanitation facilities so often (n = 7; 21%), holding urine/feces for longer than wanted (n = 2; 6%), and practicing open defecation (n = 1; 3%). Of the 29 women surveyed, 5 participants (17%) stated that they did not have access to a private space in which to manage their menstrual health needs or wash themselves. Of these respondents, 2 practiced open defecation, 1 used the toilet in the metro station, 1 reported using the toilet in a private business and 1 used the toilet in the shelter.

One key informant interviewee noted that they had received complaints from other civil society organizations, at the height of

Reported change in sanitation facility	n
The facility is not always open	7
The facility is dirtier	6
The fee for entering the facility is higher	3
The facility is more insecure	4
The bathroom is cleaner	4
The fee is less expensive	2
Discrimination is lower	1
The facility is always open	1
The facility is more secure	2
I don't see any change	4
Other	6

TABLE 3 Reported changes in sanitation facility with the pandemic (33 respondents, total number of responses = 40).

the pandemic, about the increase of human feces around the area in which they work:

"The priest from the church was angry about the fact that every morning he would find several human feces in the surroundings of the church. He came to tell me this as a complaint, but there is nothing I can do about it."

3.6. Experiences of WASH-related violence and harassment

Previous experience of physical and verbal violence while using the toilet, practicing open defecation, or fetching water was reported by 29 (30%) of the respondents, with 16 (55%) reporting that they had suffered some type of violence while practicing open defecation. The most common forms of aggression noted among the participants were verbal violence (n = 14; 48%), intimidation (n = 8; 28%), and physical violence (n = 6; 20%). Although the survey did not ask respondents to specify whether the timing of these experiences was before or after the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, one key informant interviewee reported a perceived increase in discrimination and violence against the homeless population during the COVID-19 pandemic stating:

"The police became more aggressive towards people experiencing homelessness, it almost felt like the virus was a justification for such attitudes."

4. Discussion

This study investigated barriers to accessing safe WASH among people experiencing homelessness in Mexico City during the COVID-19 pandemic. There is no doubt that prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, PEH faced a number of challenges characterized by structural vulnerability, such as poor access to public health services, malnutrition, a lack of awareness of psychiatric disorders, substance abuse, early chronic morbidity, and shorter life spans (Ruiz Coronel, 2020). Furthermore, many respondents reported poor WASH services prior to the pandemic.

Our findings indicate that COVID-19 lock-downs exacerbated the challenges faced by PEH in accessing WASH services and securing their human rights to water and sanitation. For instance, we found an increase in open defecation, which was likely a result of the closure of public spaces and businesses as well as evictions. A lack of financial resources was one reason PEH were not always able to access a sanitation facility. Similarly, a study carried out in Bangladesh found that PEH reported using sanitation facilities less often than needed, and hence practiced more open defecation, due to the costly entry fee of the facilities (Uddin et al., 2016). This study also highlights that due to a lack of action taken by authorities, both at the local and national scale, PEH participants in this study are in general left to rely on private businesses to informally meet human rights to water and sanitation in Mexico City. Similarly, a study by Rodriguez et al. (2022) showed that closure of public spaces and restricted access to regular services such as toilets and shower rooms, hampered PEH's ability to meet their most basic needs. Other research on open defecation shows that while open defecation is often considered a public health risk, it also has safety and dignity implications and can cause long-term negative effects on the psychosocial wellbeing of individuals engaged in these practices (Saleem et al., 2019). Girls and women are particularly at risk of verbal, physical and sexual abuse when practicing open defecation or managing menstruation in public spaces (Cherian and Sahu, 2016). Viewed in this way, open defecation is not just a violation of the human right to sanitation, but also gender discrimination and an infringement on human dignity (Saleem et al., 2019).

In the case of hand washing, which has been a central pillar of COVID-19 prevention, many of the respondents in the study reported not having reliable access to a handwashing station with water and soap. This finding conflicts with public health recommendations to wash hands with soap and water as frequently as possible to prevent disease transmission. In the study of Brauer et al. (2020) undertaken in the US, some of the barriers to handwashing among PEH during the COVID-19 pandemic were a surge in prices of hygiene supplies such as soap and sanitizer, and the lack of financial means for PEH to obtain such resources. In our study we found that PEH would need to bring their own soap to the handwashing facility in order to wash their hands, which could prevent many from adhering to health and safety measures. Many reported using bottled water as their main drinking and handwashing source, which, compounded by the fact that many PEH had lost their job or normal earnings during the pandemic, created an additional economic burden on top of existing economic constraints.

Bottled water consumption is a widespread practice in Mexico, owing to a variety of factors, including lack of institutional and regulatory frameworks and poor water infrastructure that discourage people from drinking water straight from the tap (Pacheco-Vega, 2019). The findings of our study support this assertion and demonstrate that, even during non-COVID times, this practice places a significant financial burden on PEH, with the cost of purchasing bottled water daily potentially accounting for up to 15% of respondents' monthly income. In the US, a study conducted in a homeless shelter showed that people preferred drinking bottled water even if the price was significantly higher than tap water (DeMyers et al., 2017). In addition to this, some respondents in our study mentioned drinking sugar sweetened beverages (SSB) such as juice, milk, or soda instead of water as coping mechanism to deal with the difficulties in accessing their usual drinking water source. Similarly, in the US, a study on youth in a rural southwestern context showed that the preference for SSB increased for those who lacked access to safe drinking water (Hess et al., 2019). Further research is needed to fully assess the economic and health impact of purchasing water bottled and SSBs on PEH and other groups in vulnerable situations.

The coping strategies employed by respondents further underscore how authorities neglected consideration of PEH in Mexico when developing COVID-19 preventative measures, which were found to create new daily challenges for the participants in this research. Some studies on PEH found an increase in loneliness and substance abuse during the COVID-19 pandemic (Tucker et al., 2020; Bertram et al., 2021). However, there is limited evidence on how the lack of access to essential services such as toilets and water points during the COVID-19 pandemic affected PEH's physical and mental health. As Perri et al. (2020) suggest, added stress as a result of the limited access to essential resources and services could lead to a decline in the mental and physical health of PEH and increase their risk of alcohol and drug use, emphasizing an important area for further consideration. In addition, limited access to WASH facilities can pose challenges for women and all those who menstruate to take care of their menstrual needs in a private and dignified matter (Teizazu et al., 2021). In our study, some women reported not having access to a private space in which to take care of their menstrual needs. Likewise, a study in New York City, US, found that during the COVID-19 pandemic women had to pass as someone who was not homeless to gain access to a toilet inside a restaurant for managing menstruation (Sommer et al., 2020).

4.1. Addressing WASH and homelessness through the lens of human rights

Ensuring universal access for all people, as outlined in SDG 6.1 and 6.2, means it is imperative to take actions to ensure marginalized groups benefit from safe WASH. In this way the human rights framework can provide a powerful tool to highlight these needs and enable more inclusive delivery of WASH services (Carrard et al., 2020). The findings in this study show that many people experiencing homelessness in Mexico City do not have their HRtWS fulfilled, and the COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated this unjust situation. This also has implications for realizing other human rights, such as the right to health and housing. Further, the inability to easily access water and sanitation services limits the already constrained autonomy and freedom of people experiencing homelessness, and their ability to improve their living conditions (Neves-Silva et al., 2020).

A common challenge to applying a human rights perspective in the water and sanitation sector is the lack of operationalization of human rights by local governments and service providers, which is the case in Mexico City. People experiencing homelessness are often left out of public policies or state funded programmes, and this omission is often purposeful in both the planning and the implementation of programmes, which prolongs inequalities in a cycle of increasing marginalization (Busch-Geertsema et al., 2010; Ruiz Coronel, 2020). In Brazil, Neves-silva et al. (2018), found that providing access to WASH services was seen as a form of charity and not as realization of human rights, which has prevented the government from taking action to fulfill the HRtWS. In addition, the criminalization of people experiencing homelessness has on many occasions justified the lack of action from the government to provide public services such as water and sanitation (Guerra and Arjona, 2019). There are further policy barriers, such as the coexistence of the HRtWS with other laws and policies that may not favor these human rights and thus impede their fulfillment (Brown et al., 2016). Furthermore, the realization of the human right to water has been affected by the push for commodification and privatization of water, whereas pricing and affordability are elements that are deemed inseparable from the recognition of the right as means to compensate for water scarcity (Cullet, 2019). As Pacheco-Vega (2019) argues the production of bottled water represents a process of commercialization and commodification of the human right to water in Mexico.

In light of these challenges there is a need for greater accountability for WASH duty bearers when the HRtWS is not realized (Dickin et al., 2022; Hepworth et al., 2022) as well as supporting empowerment of marginalized groups to claim their rights. To address some of these challenges on a local level Carrard et al. (2020) describe a "make rights real" approach to make the human rights to water and sanitation relevant and helpful for local government. This approach seeks to achieve transformational change in local government officials in terms of greater awareness, intrinsic motivation, and operationalization of the human rights principles and standards, and has been used in 12 countries so far. Furthermore, this study highlights a need for WASH practitioners to work with actors in other sectors such as those working to ensure adequate housing. Improved understanding of how WASH insecurity varies across the full spectrum of housing exclusion and homelessness, beyond times of crisis such as the COVID-19 pandemic, requires further attention to better target interventions.

While the HRtWS is a good starting point for addressing inequalities among PEH, it does not fully encompass all the ways that people use water (Mehta, 2014; Jepson et al., 2017; Neves-Silva et al., 2019). There is often a focus on drinking water, while adequate water for personal hygiene such as for showers and laundry is neglected as part of one's human right. In addition, there is a need to better understand the different ways that people use water beyond material and domestic uses, such as water for cultural purposes and income generation. Researchers have suggested that the capabilities framing extends the HRtWS to include these other ways that people use water (Wutich et al., 2017), and could provide a valuable framework for future research to further elucidate WASH inequalities among PEH.

4.2. Limitations

First, the convenience sampling approach might have missed certain groups such as indigenous populations who experience homelessness, women who look after children and other family members, and men and women living in high-risk municipalities of Mexico City such as Iztapalapa and Coyoacan. Second, due to time constraints with COVID-19, the sample size for the study was small, and the research team was unable to collect more in-depth lived experiences through other methods such as one-on-one interviews, participatory photography, or go along interviews to describe WASH facilities. In the future the use of participatory photography could provide a better understanding of use of water beyond material and domestic uses and help identify and meaningfully address inequalities in WASH service provision (MacArthur et al., 2022).

5. Conclusions

We identified barriers to use of safe WASH services among people experiencing homelessness in Mexico City, and how the COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated these challenges. Many respondents used informal water and sanitation facilities, such as private businesses, rather than having their human rights met by rights duty bearers such as local authorities. Respondents who experienced reduced access to WASH services due to COVID-19 used a range of coping mechanisms, such as using water of poorer quality or practicing open defecation. Barriers to accessing handwashing facilities was a particular challenge due to COVID-19 public health messaging. This study contributes to a growing body of research examining WASH barriers in the context of people experiencing homelessness. We highlight the importance of greater evidence collection to understand the needs of this vulnerable group to ensure they are not overlooked by policymakers in Mexico City and in other urban areas. Finally, we describe the potential applications and limitations of the human rights framework in this context, including a need to better operationalize the WASH needs of PEH and important links to other human rights, such as health and housing, for WASH practitioners to consider.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Stockholm Environment Institute Ethics Committee

[2021-01-29-02]. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Funding

This work was funded by the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency through a Sustainable Sanitation Initiative Subgrant on COVID-19 impacts at the Stockholm Environment Institute.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge and thank the support and dedication of El Caracol A.C. as well as all the people that live and survive in the streets. May this work be a step toward a dignified life for all.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Amore, K., Baker, M., and Howden-Chapman, P. (2011). The ETHOS definition and classification of homelessness: An analysis. *Euro. J. Homelessness.* 5, 19–37. Available online at: https://www.feantsa.org/download/article-1-33278065727831823087.pdf

Ballard, A. M., and Caruso, B. A. (2021). Public handwashing for basic hygiene in people experiencing homelessness. *Lancet Planet. Health* 5, e763. doi: 10.1016/S2542-5196(21)00283-7

Ballard, A. M., Cooper, H. L. F., Young, A. M., and Caruso, B. A. (2022). You feel how you look: exploring the impacts of unmet water, sanitation, and hygiene needs among rural people experiencing homelessness and their intersection with drug use. *PLOS Water* 1, e0000019. doi: 10.1371/journal.pwat.0000019

Bertram, F., Heinrich, F., Fröb, D., Wulff, B., Ondruschka, B., Püschel, K., et al. (2021). Loneliness among homeless individuals during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18, 3035. doi: 10.3390/ijerph180 63035

Brauer, M., Zhao, J. T., Bennitt, F. B., and Stanaway, J. D. (2020). Global access to handwashing: implications for COVID-19 control in low-income countries. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 128, 057005. doi: 10.1289/EHP7200

Bretherton, J., and Nicholas, P. (2018). Women and Rough Sleeping: A Critical Review of Current Research and Methodology. Centre for Housing Policy, University of York, York, United Kingdom. p. 38. Available online at: https://www.mungos.org/app/uploads/2018/ 10/Women-and-Rough-Sleeping-Report-2018.pdf

Brewis, A., Wutich, A., du Bray, M. V., Maupin, J., Schuster, R. C., and Gervais, M. M. (2019). Community hygiene norm violators are consistently stigmatized: Evidence from four global sites and implications for sanitation interventions. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 220, 12–21. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.10.020

Brown, C., Neves-Silva, P., and Heller, L. (2016). The human right to water and sanitation: a new perspective for public policies. *Ciência Saúde Coletiva* 21, 661–670. doi: 10.1590/1413-81232015213.20142015

Busch-Geertsema, V., Edgar, W., O'Sullivan, E., and Pleace, N. (2010). *Homelessness and Homeless Policies in Europe: Lessons from Research*. European Commission. Available online at: http://noticiaspsh.org/IMG/pdf/4099_Homeless_Policies_Europe_Lessons_Research_EN.pdf

Carrard, N., Neumeyer, H., Pati, B. K., Siddique, S., Choden, T., Abraham, T., et al. (2020). Designing human rights for duty bearers: making the human rights to water

and sanitation part of everyday practice at the local government level. Water 12, 378. doi: 10.3390/w12020378

CDHCM (2021). Informe especial. Situación de los derechos humanos de las poblaciones callejeras. Comision Nacional de los Derechos Humanos de la Ciudad de Mexico. Available online at: https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/2022-03/ ComisionderechoshumanosCiudadMexico.docx

Chackalackal, D. J., Al-Aghbari, A. A., Jang, S. Y., Ramirez, T. R., Vincent, J., Joshi, A., et al. (2021). The COVID-19 pandemic in low- and middle-income countries, who carries the burden? Review of mass media and publications from six countries. *Pathog. Glob. Health* 115, 178–187. doi: 10.1080/20477724.2021.187 8446

Cherian, V., and Sahu, M. (2016). Open defecation: A menace to health and dignity. *Indian J. Public Health Develop.* 7, 85–87. doi: 10.5958/0976-5506.2016.00 195.9

Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos (CNDH)/El Caracol. (2019). Diagnóstico sobre las condiciones de vida, el ejercicio de los derechos humanos y las políticas públicas disponibles para mujeres que constituyen la población callejera. México: CNDH.

Coswosk, É. D., Neves-Silva, P., Modena, C. M., and Heller, L. (2019). Having a toilet is not enough: the limitations in fulfilling the human rights to water and sanitation in a municipal school in Bahia, Brazil. *BMC Public Health* 19, 1–10. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6469-y

Cullet, P. (2019). The Human Right to Water: A Testing Ground for Neoliberal Policies in: Human Rights in India. 1st ed. Routledge. pp. 253–271.

DeMyers, C., Warpinski, C., and Wutich, A. (2017). Urban water insecurity: a case study of homelessness in Phoenix, Arizona. *Environ. Justice* 10, 72–80. doi: 10.1089/env.2016.0043

Devereux, E. (2015). Thinking outside the charity box: Media coverage of homelessness. *Euro. J. Homelessness.* 9, 261–273. Available online at: https://www.feantsaresearch.org/download/devereuxejh2-2015article11259989678303316558.pdf

Dickin, S., Syed, A., Qowamuna, N., Njoroge, G., Liera, C., Al'Afghani, M. M., et al. (2022). Assessing mutual accountability to strengthen national WASH systems and achieve the SDG targets for water and sanitation. *H2Open J.* 5, 166–179. doi: 10.2166/h20j.2022.032

Faragó, L., Ferenczy, D., Kende, A., Kreko, P., and Gurály, Z. (2021). Criminalization as a justification for violence against the homeless in Hungary. *J. Soc. Psychol.* 162, 216–230. doi: 10.1080/00224545.2021.1874257

Fowler, P. J., Hovmand, P. S., Marcal, K. E., and Das, S. (2019). Solving homelessness from a complex systems perspective: insights for prevention responses. *Annu. Rev. Public Health* 40, 465–486. doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040617-01 3553

García-Searcy, V., Villada-Canela, M., Arredondo-García, M. C., Anglés-Hernández, M., Pelayo-Torres, M. C., and Daesslé, L. W. (2022). Sanitation in Mexico: an overview of its realization as a human right. *Sustainability* 14, 2707. doi: 10.3390/su14052707

Gimelli, F. M., Bos, J. J., and Rogers, B. C. (2018). Fostering equity and wellbeing through water: A reinterpretation of the goal of securing access. *World Develop.* 104, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.10.033

Giné-Garriga, R., Flores-Baquero, Ó., Jiménez-Fdez de Palencia, A., and Pérez-Foguet, A. (2017). Monitoring sanitation and hygiene in the 2030 agenda for sustainable development: a review through the lens of human rights. *Sci. Total Environ.* 580, 1108–1119. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.12.066

Guerra, M., and Arjona, J. C. (2019). Personas en situación de calle: excluidas de los excluidos. En Personas en situación de calle. Serie de inclusión, derechos humanos y construcción de ciudadanía. México: Instituto Electoral de la Ciudad de México. p. 41–64.

Heller, L. (2019). Human Rights to Water and Sanitation in Spheres of Life Beyond the Household With An Emphasis on Public Spaces: (Forty-Second Session). Human Rights Council. Available online at: https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/3823889

Hepworth, N. D., Brewer, T., Brown, B. D., Atela, M., Katomero, J., Kones, J., et al. (2022). Accountability and advocacy interventions in the water sector: a global evidence review. *H2Open J.* 5, 307–322. doi: 10.2166/h20j.2022.062

Hess, J. M., Lilo, E. A., Cruz, T. H., and Davis, S. M. (2019). Perceptions of water and sugar-sweetened beverage consumption habits among teens, parents and teachers in the rural Southwestern United States. *Public Health Nutr.* 22, 1376–1387. doi:10.1017/S1368980019000272

Howard, G., Bartram, J., Brocklehurst, C., Colford, J. M., Costa, F., Cunliffe, D., et al. (2020). COVID-19: urgent actions, critical reflections and future relevance of "WaSH": lessons for the current and future pandemics. *J. Water Health* 18, 613–630. doi: 10.2166/wh.2020.162

Hugh, S., and Fox, M. S. (2020). "Homelessness and open city data: addressing a global challenge, in *Open Cities* | *Open Data: Collaborative Cities in the Information Era*, eds S. Hawken, H. Han, and C. Pettit, C (Springer: Singapore), 29–55.

IASIS. (2017). Resultados preliminares del Censo de Poblaciones Callejeras 2017, iasis en colaboración con organizaciones civiles, expertos y academia. Available online at: http://189.240.34.179/Transparencia_sedeso/wp-content/uploads/2017/Preeliminares.pdf

Jepson, W., Budds, J., Eichelberger, L., Harris, L., Norman, E., O'Reilly, K., et al. (2017). Advancing human capabilities for water security: a relational approach. *Water Secur.* 1, 46–52. doi: 10.1016/j.wasec.2017.07.001 MacArthur, J., Carrard, N., Koh, S., and Willetts, J. (2022). Fostering the transformative potential of participatory photography: insights from water and sanitation assessments. *PLOS Water* 1, e0000036. doi: 10.1371/journal.pwat.0000036

Mehta, L. (2014). Water and human development. World Dev. 59, 59-69. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2013.12.018

Moreno, A., Soriano, A., and Martinez, M. (2017). Condiciones de Vida Material e Inmaterial. Mujeres integrantes de las poblaciones callejeras en la Ciudad de México. Available online at: https://revistainclusiones.org/pdf51/8%20VOL%205%20NUM%204 %202018UNAMCOLOQUIOCTUBREDICIEMBRERV%20INClu.pdf (accessed March 7, 2022).

Neves-Silva, P., Lopes, J. A. O., and Heller, L. (2020). The right to water: impact on the quality of life of rural workers in a settlement of the landless workers movement, Brazil. *PLoS ONE* 15, e0236281. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.02 36281

Neves-silva, P., Martins, G. I., and Heller, L. (2018). "We only have access as a favor, don't we?" The perception of homeless population on the human rights to water and sanitation. A gente tem acesso de favores, né?. A percepção de pessoas em situação de rua sobre os direitos humanos à água e ao esgotamento sanitário. *Cadernos de saude publica*. 34, e00024017. doi: 10.1590/0102-311X00024017

Neves-Silva, P., Martins, G. I., and Heller, L. (2019). Human rights' interdependence and indivisibility: a glance over the human rights to water and sanitation. *BMC Int. Health Hum. Rights* 19, 1–8. doi: 10.1186/s12914-019-0197-3

Nunbogu, A. M., and Elliott, S. J. (2021). Towards an integrated theoretical framework for understanding water insecurity and gender-based violence in low-and middleincome countries (LMICs). *Health Place* 71, 102651. doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2021. 102651

Pacheco-Vega, R. (2019). "Human right to water and bottled water consumption: governing at the intersection of water justice, rights, and ethics," in *Water Politics. Governance, Rights and Justice*, eds Farhana Sultana and Alex Loftus (London, Routledge), 113-128.

Peal, A., Evans, B., and Voorden, C. (2010). *Hygiene and Sanitation Software: An Overview of Approaches*. Geneva: Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council.

Perri, M., Dosani, N., and Hwang, S. W. (2020). COVID-19 and people experiencing homelessness: challenges and mitigation strategies. *CMAJ* 192, E716–E719. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.200834

Piat, M., Polvere, L., Kirst, M., Voronka, J., Zabkiewicz, D., Plante, M.-C., et al. (2015). Pathways into homelessness: understanding how both individual and structural factors contribute to and sustain homelessness in Canada. *Urban Stud.* 52, 2366–2382. doi: 10.1177/0042098014548138

Quesada, J., Hart, L. K., and Bourgois, P. (2011). Structural vulnerability and health: Latino migrant laborers in the United States. *Med. Anthropol.* 30, 339–362. doi: 10.1080/01459740.2011.576725

Robinson, T. (2019). No right to rest: police enforcement patterns and quality of life consequences of the criminalization of homelessness. *Urban Affairs Rev.* 55, 41–73. doi: 10.1177/1078087417690833

Rodriguez, N. M., Martinez, R. G., Ziolkowski, R., Tolliver, C., Young, H., and Ruiz, Y. (2022). "COVID knocked me straight into the dirt": perspectives from people experiencing homelessness on the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. *BMC Public Health* 22, 1327. doi: 10.1186/s12889-022-13748-y

Ruiz Coronel, A. (2020). En la calle no hay cuarentena. Lecciones de la pandemia que visibilizó a las personas en situación de calle. Available online at: https://www.comecso. com/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Covid-11-Ruiz.pdf (accessed October 25, 2022).

Ruiz Coronel, A. (2021). COVID-19 in a homeless family. Revista mexicana de sociología 83, 193-220.

Saleem, M., Burdett, T., and Heaslip, V. (2019). Health and social impacts of open defecation on women: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health* 19, 158. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6423-z

Sommer, M., Gruer, C., Smith, R. C., Maroko, A., and Kim, H. (2020). Menstruation and homelessness: challenges faced living in shelters and on the street in New York City. *Health Place* 66, 102431. doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2020.102431

Teizazu, H., Sommer, M., Gruer, C., Giffen, D., Davis, L., Frumin, R., et al. (2021). "Do we not bleed?" sanitation, menstrual management, and homelessness in the time of COVID. *Columbia J. Gend. Law* 41, 208–217. doi: 10.52214/cjgl.v41i1. 8838

Tucker, J. S., D'Amico, E. J., Pedersen, E. R., Garvey, R., Rodriguez, A., and Klein, D. J. (2020). Behavioral health and service usage during the COVID-19 pandemic among emerging adults currently or recently experiencing homelessness. *J. Adolesc. Health* 67, 603–605. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.07.013

Turner, M., Funge, S., and Gabbard, W. (2018). Victimization of the homeless: public perceptions, public policies, and implications for social work practice. *J. Soc. Work Global Commun.* 3, 1–12. doi: 10.5590/JSWGC.2018.03.1.01

Uddin, S. M. N., Walters, V., Gaillard, J. C., Hridi, S. M., and McSherry, A. (2016). Water, sanitation and hygiene for homeless people. *J. Water Health* 14, 47–51. doi: 10.2166/wh.2015.248

United Nations General Assembly. (2010). Human Right to Water and Sanitation. UN Document A/RES/64/292. Geneva: UNGA.

United Nations General Assembly. (2016). The Human Rights to Safe Drinking Water and Sanitation: Resolution/Adopted by the General Assembly. UN Document A/RES/70/169. UNGA.

Walters, V. (2014). Urban homelessness and the right to water and sanitation: experiences from India's cities. *Water Policy* 16, 755–772. doi: 10.2166/wp.2014.164

WHO and UNICEF (2022). Sanitation Data Mexico Household Level. WHO/UNICEF Joint Monitoring Programme for Water Supply and Sanitation. Available online at: https://washdata.org/data/household#!/ (accessed September 14, 2022).

Winkler, I. T., Satterthwaite, M. L., and De Albuquerque, C. (2014). Treasuring what we measure and measuring what we treasure: post-2015 monitoring for the promotion of equality in the water, sanitation, and hygiene sector. *Wis. Int'l L. J.* 32, 547.

Wutich, A., Budds, J., Eichelberger, L., Geere, J., Harris, L., Horney, J., et al. (2017). Advancing methods for research on household water insecurity: studying entitlements and capabilities, socio-cultural dynamics, and political processes, institutions and governance. *Water Secur.* 2, 1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.wasec.2017.09.001

EDITED BY Juliet Willetts, University of Technology Sydney, Australia

REVIEWED BY Musa Manga, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, United States Sara Marks, Swiss Federal Institute of Aquatic Science and Technology, Switzerland

*CORRESPONDENCE Bethany A. Caruso Sethany.caruso@emory.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Water Resource Management, a section of the journal Frontiers in Water

RECEIVED 09 September 2022 ACCEPTED 16 January 2023 PUBLISHED 09 February 2023

CITATION

Patrick M, Hennink M, Dasmohapatra M, Rout M, Clasen T and Caruso BA (2023) Influences on water source selection and use among women in rural Odisha, India. *Front. Water* 5:1040981. doi: 10.3389/frwa.2023.1040981

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Patrick, Hennink, Dasmohapatra, Rout, Clasen and Caruso. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY)</u>. The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Influences on water source selection and use among women in rural Odisha, India

Madeleine Patrick¹, Monique Hennink¹, Munmun Dasmohapatra², Manaswini Rout², Thomas Clasen³ and Bethany A. Caruso^{1,3*}

¹Hubert Department of Global Health, Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, United States, ²London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, University of London, London, United Kingdom, ³Gangarosa Department of Environmental Health, Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, United States

Introduction: Water is a crucial resource for many household functions, including drinking, cooking, bathing, and washing clothes. Globally, women bear the burden of water collection in households without piped water, as well as responsibility for household chores that require water. Carrying water has a number of health and safety risks, and women often rely on multiple water sources. The goal of this study is to understand how women in rural Odisha, India, an area with high coverage of improved water sources, make decisions on where to collect water.

Methods: This is a grounded-theory, secondary analysis of qualitative data collected from 69 women across life stages in eight villages in rural Odisha. Women were asked about their concerns and difficulties related to water and probed for details in a variety of contexts, including at night, during monsoon season, and during pregnancy.

Results: Women's standards for water quality vary depending on the planned use of the water. They report a willingness to travel long distances to collect better tasting water for cooking and drinking. When washing clothes, they often prefer a larger body of water. Bathing or washing menstrual cloths requires privacy. Their ability to access water varies based on individual characteristics such as: life stage, as recently married women have less freedom of movement than older women; health status, as older women report difficulties carrying water long distances; cyclical patterns such as seasonality, as certain sources are inaccessible during monsoon season; and characteristics of the water and the source itself, which encompasses distance, perceived quality, and privacy, among others.

Discussion: These findings indicate that public health interventions and surveys that monitor household water should not only consider the presence of a water source on the premises, but should also include multiple source use and consideration of individual members of households and the time of data collection, as water sources may not be equally available or acceptable to all household members at all times. In climate-sensitive areas, multiple water source use may become increasingly necessary as a response to changes in the environment, and should be considered in climate resilience interventions.

KEYWORDS

multiple water sources, water quality, life stage, menstruation, monitoring, climate change, decision-making

1. Introduction

Access to safe, accessible, acceptable, and affordable drinking water that is available when needed, is a human right and critical for health (Resolution 64/292, 2010). Research has shown that compromised water quality and access is associated with negative physical health outcomes, such as diarrheal (GBD Diarrhoeal Diseases Collaborators, 2017; Wolf et al., 2018, 2022; Pruss-Uston et al., 2019) and respiratory diseases (Hennessy et al., 2008; Ashraf et al., 2020) and

musculoskeletal injury, and negative mental health outcomes, such as anxiety (Brewis et al., 2019), psychological distress (Stevenson et al., 2012, 2016), and depression (Cooper-Vince et al., 2018; Brewis et al., 2019; Mushavi et al., 2020). Yet despite the need for and right to water, progress toward Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) target 6.1, which aims to "achieve universal and equitable access to safe and affordable drinking water for all," (UN General Assembly, 2015) is lagging. Notably, data from 2020 reveal that two billion people lacked access to safely managed drinking water services globally (JMP, 2021).

It remains unclear how many people lack access to water for nondrinking purposes, such as personal and domestic hygiene, cooking, and homestead gardens, and where that water is accessed. A World Health Organization review of water quantity needs states that an individual needs an average of 50 L of water a day for drinking, cooking, and personal and food hygiene; only 5.3 L are allocated to drinking water in this estimate (Howard et al., 2020). An emerging body of research has reported that households access multiple water sources to meet household water needs, including in areas where households have access to improved drinking water sources (Daly et al., 2021). In Pacific Island countries, Elliott et al. (2017) found that 91% of households used more than one source, frequently choosing different sources for drinking and cooking than for handwashing or bathing. In Ghana, Chew et al. (2019) found that cultural norms that prevented people from accessing sources at specific times as well as the physical burden of collection from certain sources influenced women to collect water from multiple sources. Several studies have found multiple water source use to be influenced by seasonality, which can influence the quantity and perceived quality of water at a preferred source (Shaheed et al., 2014; Elliott et al., 2017; Chew et al., 2019; Daly et al., 2021). There is a need for greater understanding of multiple water source use, including what sources are used, and for what purposes.

Understanding how women select water sources for different uses is particularly important because they are typically responsible for water fetching globally (Sorenson et al., 2011; Graham et al., 2016). Water fetching incurs safety risks (Varickanickal et al., 2019), can be physically burdensome (Sahoo et al., 2015; Varickanickal et al., 2019), and is associated with musculoskeletal problems (Geere et al., 2018), all of which may influence where water is accessed and collected. Further, women are frequently the decision-makers over household water management, including both collection and use, decisions that may be constrained by water quantity (Wutich and Ragsdale, 2008), time required for fetching (James et al., 2002; Kher et al., 2015), distance to the source (Varickanickal et al., 2019), cost (Wutich and Ragsdale, 2008), and the need for childcare (Varickanickal et al., 2019). Multiple studies in South Asia have found that decisions surrounding household chore allocation, including water collection, are governed by senior women in the household (James et al., 2002; Sultana, 2009; Jha, 2012; Clement and Karki, 2018), often to the detriment of younger women, who report their movement outside the house and ability to fetch water from preferred sources to be limited as a result of cultural traditions or restrictions (Jha, 2012; Mehta and Saxena, 2015; MacRae et al., 2019). As such, in addition to understanding which water sources are used, it is also critical to understand what factors influence women's decisions to use various sources.

While research documenting and describing multiple water source use is growing, global monitoring focuses on primary sources for drinking water only; it does not address other needs for water at the household level or sources that are non-primary except for households that report their "main" source as packaged/bottled water (JMP, 2018). There is a need for global health researchers and practitioners to understand how and why various water sources are accessed, both to mitigate water-related risks to health and wellbeing beyond those linked to drinking water and to ensure sufficient quantity and acceptable quality of water for all needs.

The aim of this study is to understand water source selection and use among women in rural Odisha, India and to explore the reasons for their decision-making. In 2016, shortly after this study was conducted, India's National Family Health Survey found that 87.5% of households in rural Odisha had an improved drinking water source (International Institute for Population Sciences, 2016); data collected from 2020 to 2021 show an increase in coverage to 90.8% (International Institute for Population Sciences, 2021). Jal Jeevan, a piped water scheme to extend access to piped water to all households in rural Odisha communities by 2024 is currently underway (Department of Drinking Water and Sanitation, and Ministry of Jalshakti). Understanding behaviors surrounding multiple water source use in Odisha, an area with high coverage of improved water sources at the time of the study, is crucial as this piped water scheme moves forward, particularly if desired outcomes related to health and wellbeing are to be achieved.

2. Methods

2.1. Study design and setting

This is a secondary analysis of qualitative data from a parent study that used a sequential mixed-methods design (Creswell and Clark, 2017) to create measures to understand and assess sanitation (Caruso et al., 2017a,b) and menstruation (MacRae et al., 2019; Caruso et al., 2020) insecurity and practices in villages that had been included in a trial evaluating the impact of a sanitation intervention on various health outcomes (Clasen et al., 2014). The qualitative data used for this secondary analysis were collected in eight rural villages in Puri district of Odisha, India. While the parent study focused on sanitation, a specific line of questioning was asked about water to initiate the interviews given the need for water in these communities for sanitation purposes, including post-defecation cleansing and flushing toilets, among other needs. The decision to carry out this secondary analysis emerged during the preliminary analyses focused on sanitation and menstruation as we found women noting the various sources of water that they use despite the widespread coverage of improved water in the area. Specifically, an estimated 94% of rural households in Puri were reported to have had access to an improved drinking water source at the time of data collection (International Institute for Population Sciences, 2016). This analysis sought to examine how women selected water sources in an area with a high coverage of improved water sources.

2.2. Study population and eligibility

Study participants were women aged 18 years or older residing in the study villages. Only one woman per household was eligible. Women were ineligible if they could not communicate verbally in Oriya or understand the purpose of the study. Participants were initially recruited via community gatekeepers who were familiar with the characteristics of local residents and could identify eligible women to participate. In addition, snowball sampling was used to find additional participants. Specifically, the study team asked participants if they knew of any other women who fit the eligibility criteria and, if so, where to find them. The study team went looking for the additional participants identified using directions offered.

2.3. Recruitment

We purposively recruited 69 women from four life stages: (1) unmarried women (UMW; n = 17) since young women living with their parents commonly fetch water for the household; (2) women who had recently married in the previous 3 years (RMW; n = 12) as these women often have limited independent freedom of movement outside the home so depend on others to provide water for them (Joshi et al., 2011; Routray et al., 2015); (3) women who have been married for longer than 3 years (MW; n = 21), since they typically have greater social status in the household and more freedom of movement outside the house than RMW (Medhi, 2002); and (4) women older than 49 years (OW; n = 19), who may experience unique water challenges related to aging, such as difficulty walking or carrying heavy loads (Singh et al., 2013), which could make them dependent on others for their water needs. Women over 49 years are also under-represented in national surveys about water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH). We recruited women at each life stage from each study village.

2.4. Data collection

Data were collected from March to April 2014 via in-depth interviews. Interviews were conducted in the local language (Oriya), by two female interviewers fluent in both Oriya and English, who were part of research team for the parent study. The interviewers were experienced in qualitative research and participated in a multiday training on qualitative data collection which included piloting the interview guide.

Prior to each interview, demographic characteristics of participants were recorded, including their level of education, age, marital status, number of children, household water sources, sanitation facilities and practices, and menstruation resources and practices. The semi-structured interview guide for the parent study included five topics: water use, urination, defecation, menstruation, and hygiene practices. This secondary analysis focuses on the data related to water use. Questions about water use were the least sensitive and were asked first to develop rapport with participants. Participants were asked to describe "concerns and difficulties you or women like you in this community face related to water use." Interviewers probed women to continue sharing concerns until nothing else came to mind. Once general concerns were shared, interviewers asked additional probing questions to identify concerns or difficulties related to water use in specific contexts: at night, during monsoon season, while caring for dependents, and during pregnancy. Interviews lasted between 30 and 90 min, were digitally recorded, and took place in a private space identified by the participant, typically the participant's home. After each day of data collection, interviewers reviewed notes from each interview, summarized them, and discussed each interview and key themes that arose with the broader research team. Data collection continued until saturation of issues was reached within each of the four life stages (Hennink et al., 2017; Hennink and Kaiser, 2021).

Data comprised 69 interview transcripts that were generated by simultaneously translating and transcribing recorded interviews from Oriya into English. To check the accuracy of the translation and transcription, 10% (i.e., 6 min of a 60-min interview) of each interview was independently transcribed in Oriya by a team member who had not conducted any interviews, and a separate team member then translated Oriya transcription into English. This was then compared with the simultaneous transcription and translation of the same segments of data to check accuracy.

2.5. Data management and analysis

All data were managed using MAXQDA 2018 (VERBI Software, 2018). We used a grounded theory approach to analyze the data which involved the following steps. First, a preliminary codebook was created a priori, from topics and questions in the interview guide. Data were then read and memos were written to capture specific concerns, behaviors, and issues raised by participants themselves. Several close readings of the data generated further inductive codes that were added to the codebook. All relevant data were then coded which allowed the analysis to focus on specific topics one at a time. Each code was reviewed in detail, and categories were developed to capture water needs, preferences, and challenges to accessing water sources. These categories of needs were then compared across life stages to identify patterns and linkages. Links between categories were explored and conceptualized into an explanatory framework (Figure 1) to show how women select water sources. All components of the framework were validated by continually returning to the data to confirm linkages, by considering negative cases and their contexts, and through discussion with analysts, wherein three researchers reviewed data to confirm results were evidence-based vs. individual interpretations.

2.6. Ethics and informed consent

The Emory University Institutional Review Board in Atlanta, Georgia, USA (IRB00072840) and the KIIT University Ethics Review Committee in Bhubaneswar, India (KIMS/KIIT/IEC/795/2014) approved study protocols. Women provided oral consent to participate in interviews and for the recording.

3. Results

Participants reported multiple reasons for domestic water use, including drinking, cooking, bathing, washing utensils, washing clothes, washing menstrual cloths, and anal cleansing. Participants acquire water from a variety of sources, including private and public wells, private and public ponds, rivers, and from water sellers. Women reported a myriad of influences that affect their selection of water sources beyond the specific use of water, including their personal characteristics, cyclical (e.g., day/night) or seasonal



influences and characteristics of the water and the source. Influences on water source selection also change over time and require concurrent consideration of multiple influences, creating a complex web of intermingling and compounding influences on decisionmaking regarding whether water at a specific source is acceptable for a specific need at a particular time. The influences on water source selection are summarized in Figure 1 and described in greater detail in the sections that follow.

3.1. Individual influences

Women reported that their selection of water sources, both for transporting home and for on-site use such as bathing or washing clothes at the water point, is influenced by their personal circumstances, such as life stage, menstruation, and health status.

3.1.1. Life stage

Unmarried women living in their parents' home (UMW) described water collection as their primary household chore. Several unmarried women claimed that water collection is their only responsibility apart from schoolwork, and they can usually complete this task without difficulty. These women reported fewer constraints on their freedom of movement before marriage than immediately after marriage. As UMW in this study reported fewer household responsibilities that require water, such as cooking, cleaning, or laundry, they have fewer water needs. However, UMW have to be mindful of their reputation in the community to secure husbands; if they are seen talking to boys during water collection, this may

negatively affect their reputation and marriageability. UMW reported more concerns over safety, such as fear of robbery or assault, when walking to water sources compared to older, married women. This perceived risk serves as a barrier to water collection, especially at night or from distant sources, affecting their decisions on where to get water.

Due to cultural tradition, recently married women (RMW) typically move into the home of their husband's family where they are expected to stay indoors and not be seen, meaning they rely on others in the household to access water for them. Even women in families with private water sources, for example, a well outside the house but within their household compound, reported needing other women in the family to fetch water for them. If the primary water collector, such as the mother-in-law or sister-in-law, is not at home, women reported having no water or insufficient water when needed. RMW who do fetch water themselves often have dependents, like small children or elderly in-laws to care for, and described either having to rush to fetch water or having to find someone in the family willing to provide dependent-care. Social support within the household, whether for water provision or dependent-care, is therefore necessary for RMW to meet their water needs.

RMW expressed differing levels of satisfaction regarding their reliance on others to meet their water needs. Some RMW are content to depend on their mothers- and sisters-in-law to fetch water as they feel shy in public. Others reported frustration that they must depend on others to meet their water needs. Women without sisters-in-law or a reliable social network of women in the household shared concerns about not having sufficient water to drink or bathe. One RMW who is not a full-time resident of the study area refused to adhere to constraints on movement that prevent water collection, causing friction with her husband's family. She and her husband moved to a city where she has more freedom of movement, and her parents-inlaw in the area disapprove when she refuses to remain at the family home when visiting them.

Women who have been married for several years (MW) and are in their thirties or forties, are often the primary water collectors for their household as they have the fewest constraints on their freedom of movement. They have fewer cultural norms restricting their movement outside the house than RMW, and they reported fewer physical infirmities preventing them from accessing water sources than OW. As more senior members of the family, especially if they have borne children, they have fewer restrictions on their mobility and are likely to be assigned the task of water collection by their mothers-in-law who may not have the health or the desire to fetch water themselves. This life stage group reports the highest burden of work, as they do not have sufficient authority in the family to delegate chores to other women.

Older women (OW) often have more physical limitations that affect water collection. They reported tiring easily, difficulty pumping water, and having sore hands, preventing them from carrying heavy loads of water. However, OW have more power in the household than women in other life stages, and they use that authority to delegate water collection to their daughters and daughters-in-law living in the house, particularly if they are unable to fetch water without help. Women without daughters-in-law reported a concern that their sons would not find wives to help them with household chores like water collection. Some OW who are physically able to carry water serve as the primary water collector, as they have more freedom of movement to leave the household and are less likely to report fear of assault or robbery during water collection.

3.1.2. Menstruation status

Women's menstrual status affects the amount of water needed to meet their needs. During menstruation women need more water to wash their bodies, and soiled menstrual cloths, clothes, and bedsheets. Washing sheets requires carrying so much water that women reported sleeping out of their beds when expecting to begin menstruation to avoid the additional work of washing soiled sheets.

Cultural norms around menstruation, such as the perception that menstruation is polluting, limit women's access to water, which may require them to seek help from others to meet their needs. When menstruating, women are not permitted to go inside temples, participate in festivals, or worship at their household shrines. In one village, the water source is located inside the temple, which prevents menstruating women from accessing the water. Women therefore have to rely on others who are not menstruating to fetch water from that source. Even women with private water sources in accessible locations face restrictions during menstruation and require help. Cultural norms require women to have a ritual bath as soon as menstruation begins. Prior to the bath, women have prohibitions on what they may touch, including food, beds, and household shrines. Some women discussed how they are unable to touch their household tube well until they have had their ritual bath. Women rely on support from female family members to collect water for the ritual bath. Unmarried women rely on their mother, sisters, or sistersin-law to accompany them to the tube well to dispense water for the ritual bath and to carry and hold their clean clothes while they bathe; while married women rely on their mothers- or sisters-inlaw. This dependence on family support begins at menarche and continues through to menopause with no change due to age, marital, or motherhood status. Women described visiting some water sources without support during menstruation, such as ponds or rivers, demonstrating that some water sources are considered acceptable for their use during menstruation.

In addition to an increased need for social support, menstruation also requires the need for privacy when accessing water as women are embarrassed to have others witness them washing their menstrual cloths or bathing. Women who travel to rivers and ponds for cleaning cloths need to wait for men to leave those areas before they will wash bloodied materials. Even women with tube wells within their family compound reported additional privacy needs and embarrassment if seen. One participant reported that her father-in-law passed all of his time in the courtyard where the tube well was located, which presents challenges when she needs to take her ritual baths. She feels embarrassed when her father-in-law asks why she is bathing at an odd time and lies, saying she stepped in dog excrement for example, to avoid disclosing her menstrual status.

3.1.3. Health status

Changes in health status as women age or transition through different life stages can temporarily or permanently affect a woman's ability to fetch water. Pregnant women reported greater difficulties carrying water long distances. Women reported that water collection can exacerbate their menstrual symptoms, like stomach ache or weakness, particularly if they have to walk long distances in hot weather. Women with injuries and women with chronic or permanent conditions such as arthritis, incontinence, or physical limitations related to age also struggle to carry water or use the mechanical handpumps. These physical ailments or health conditions, whether temporary, chronic, or permanent, limit the water sources they can access, how often they can make the journey, how far they can go to fetch water, and how much water they can carry.

3.2. Cyclical patterns

Cyclical patterns also influence water source selection, including changes in time of day and season that may render certain water sources inaccessible or unusable for certain times of the day or year.

3.2.1. Time of day

The majority of participants indicated that water collection times are limited to daylight hours. Women do most of the domestic tasks requiring water during the day and are able to store water during daylight hours to accommodate nighttime drinking water needs, thus reducing the need for nighttime water collection. Because women avoid the task of collecting water at night, most did not identify safety issues related to nighttime water collection. The exceptional cases who did report collecting water at night largely did so due to unplanned events regarding water, and reported fearing snakes, dogs, vehicles, and people.

The most frequently reported unplanned event requiring water at night was the unexpected onset of menses. The onset of menstruation requires water for ritual bathing, which is already a struggle for many women during the day and is exacerbated at night. Social support for getting water can be harder to obtain at night, when the family is asleep, and can vary by life stage. Young women living in their parents' home are more willing to wake their mothers and sisters for help than women newly living in their husband's home, who are hesitant to wake mothers- or sisters-in-law.

3.2.2. Season

Women reported that the water quantity, accessibility, and quality at a source change seasonally, impacting which sources they use. In the dry season ponds, rivers, wells, and boreholes produce less water. Reduced quantity of water and decreased water currents in river mean that women need to visit multiple locations to gather sufficient water, which can make water collection take longer. Participants described even greater difficulty for water uses that demand larger quantities of water, like bathing. Women who usually bathe in ponds or rivers could find water sources dried up or too muddy for use.

The rainy season similarly can affect the accessibility and quality of water at different sources. Accessing water sources becomes more difficult in the rainy season. Women are unable to carry water while holding an umbrella, so they reported getting wet or waiting until the rains stopped. Fetching water in inclement weather presents additional safety concerns, such as slipping and falling because the paths were slippery from rain and "siuli" (an algae-like growth). Mosquitoes that breed in standing water or leeches that live in muddy areas may bite women as they collect water. One participant reported compounding physical and social barriers to water access noting that the rain creates a swamp that prevents her from taking her usual path, and her uncle will not allow her to detour across his land, which would be the quickest and safest alternate route.

Women reported that heavy rains can change the water quality. Rains increase the insect population, which can get into the well water, resulting in some participants having to change water sources. Other participants reported greater satisfaction with water during the monsoon season. The water level in ponds, rivers, and wells is higher, which makes it easier to use or collect a sufficient quantity of water for bathing, washing, and rainwater harvesting for water collection, storage, and use. One participant reported additional water needs during monsoon season, as her duties caring for livestock require her to bathe more frequently, but those needs are mitigated by the more easily available and plentiful water supply.

3.3. Characteristics of water and source

Women's choice and preferences of water sources are also influenced by the characteristics of both the water itself and the source it comes from. The characteristics of the water from different sources affect women's perception of water quality for different household needs, which in turn drives their choice of water source. Participants require the highest water quality for drinking and cooking, meaning water that has no color or smell and is not perceived as dirty, chemically contaminated, or hard, but they still have to make choices on which quality standards they most prioritize. Water that is ironrich or saline does not taste good for drinking, and it can affect the taste and smell of rice boiled in the water, leading participants to use alternate sources. One participant reported feeling forced to use pond water to cook even though she perceived the water as dirty, because she said the tube well produced hard water that turns pakhala, a traditional rice and water dish, to "live saliva." A participant from the same village likes the water in her tube well for drinking, and described the taste as "sweet" but still uses the pond water to cook, despite having to filter and boil it, because she claims the tube well water spoils the food and makes it smell. In another village, a participant used a well at a nearby school until the water became yellow and saline. At this point, she began using a tube well from another village that she has to walk to, even though she suffers verbal abuse from the local villagers who do not want women from outside the area using their water point.

Different water quality concerns were reported for water used for washing clothes or bathing. Several participants prefer to draw water from sources other than conveniently located tube wells because their tube wells produce water that is iron-rich and red in color, which then stains clothing if used for washing. Participants reported that ponds contain large amounts of trash, and rivers may have cows being bathed or dead animals and feces in the water, so disgust at the water quality and the smell prevents them from bathing there if there are other options available. If the water from sources such as rivers is sufficiently clean, participants prefer these sources for bathing or washing clothing, as the flow or current of the water facilitates these activities.

In addition to the characteristics of the water, the characteristics of the water source itself can influence which water source to use. Distance, access, and privacy are all considerations for water source selection, depending on the specific water use. If large quantities of water need to be collected and carried, some participants reported going to sources within a shorter distance from their home, as walking long distances with large quantities of water is physically tiring and time-consuming. However, distance may not be as prohibitive a factor if smaller quantities of water are being collected for drinking from a source perceived to be high-quality.

Privacy is an important influence when finding a source for bathing or tending to menstrual needs so participants can maintain dignity. Participants do not want to be seen by men when bathing, so they may choose to use ponds in their back yards, even if those ponds are dirty. Several women discussed the importance of not being seen when washing cloths used for menstruation. This can result in using dirty ponds to clean menstrual cloths, and several women complained of infections that they believe happen as a result. Some participants reported waiting at rivers until others are done using them in order to have the privacy necessary for bathing or washing menstrual cloths.

Some water sources may be selected or avoided due to the ability to access them comfortably or easily. Pathways to the water source may shift as a result of floods, or become unusable at night due to safety concerns. Participants also reported experiencing social barriers to accessing some water sources. Participants can be harassed or blocked from using certain sources by other users, as experienced by one woman who tried to use the water point of a neighboring village. Another young girl reported that despite the presence of a private tube well near her house, she was not comfortable using it because boys would congregate there, drinking and spitting.

4. Discussion

Women in rural Odisha reported a variety of household needs that require water and noted that decisions on source selection

are based on numerous influences including, but not limited to, the intended use of the water they are fetching. Other influences include individual characteristics that may affect their ability to access sources, such as physical limitations as noted by women who were elderly, physically disabled, or pregnant; or cultural norms, such as menstrual restrictions or constraints to movement among women who were newly married. This research is consistent with findings in a recent systematic review, which found that using multiple water sources is common, and water source selection is governed by water quality and a series of concurrent assessments of resource efficiency that consider cost, distance, and time, and shift between wet and dry season (Daly et al., 2021). Findings illuminate the importance of considering multiple water sources when designing water access systems and monitoring water access, as households may not have a clearly defined primary source of water, and source selection can vary throughout the year based on seasonality (Box 1).

Our findings are particularly important in the context of Jal Jeevan, the local government's expansion of piped drinking water schemes toward rural households in Odisha. We found multiple water source use to be common despite high coverage of tube wells at the household level. It will remain critical to assess multiple water source use as the piped water scheme goes into effect to understand if and how use of multiple sources has changed, including what influences women's decisions about water sources selected. These piped schemes may not achieve the expected uptake if they do not produce water perceived to be acceptable by women (Kulinkina et al., 2016). As the focus of the scheme is limited to drinking water, women may continue to collect water from multiple sources for other household uses, particularly if they are not consulted on placement of the tap. Past research in Puri district has shown that women have not been consulted on placement of latrines, resulting in latrines that were not used because they did not sufficiently meet women's needs (Routray et al., 2017). Restrictions that prevent women from touching water sources before they have had their ritual bath at menstrual onset will likely remain, meaning that new water sources may not alleviate the need to seek social support or alternative water sources. As demonstrated in these results, women are the primary decisionmakers and collectors of water, so it is crucial for them to be consulted as this scheme moves forward. Further, the piped water scheme should be evaluated not only to assess if it provides clean water, but if gender-specific impacts-which are often ignored (Caruso and Sinharoy, 2019)-are realized, including improved safety, time savings, and reduced harm, injury, and labor (Box 1).

These findings are consistent with existing qualitative research that has demonstrated a variety of cultural influences on women's ability to use certain sources, particularly in multi-generational households. Daughters-in-law in rural Bangladesh have been found to collect water from arsenic-contaminated sources near houses, instead of traveling outside the house and therefore exposing the family to disgrace (Sultana, 2009). Older women may have fewer restrictions on their movement, but as senior women in the household, they are able to delegate chores such as water collection to daughters-in-law (Sultana, 2009). Similarly, our results show that recently married women who were not able to leave the house due to cultural traditions also had limited access to water sources, resulting in stress over their reliance on other family members to meet basic needs. Additional cultural constraints in this population, which are described more thoroughly by MacRae et al. (2019) prevent menstruating women from accessing water as needed, despite increased water requirements during menstruation. This research demonstrates that not all women within a household have equal access to water, thus monitoring efforts that presume the presence of a household water source is sufficient to result in equitable water access for *all household* members may be over-estimating access, even if the source is located on the household premises. Monitoring water access at the individual level for uses beyond drinking water alone could provide more accurate assessments of equity than current assessments at the household level, and would be consistent with a recent call for greater consideration of gender in WASH-related monitoring (Caruso et al., 2021) (Box 1).

This study supports the importance of user acceptability of water, finding that participants prioritize perceived quality of water, which includes odor, taste, and appearance (World Health Organization, 2022). The Joint Monitoring Programme for Water Supply, Sanitation, and Hygiene (JMP) collects and reports on water sources to track progress toward the SDG target of "universal and equitable access to safe and affordable drinking water for all" (UN General Assembly, 2015). The gold standard, "safely managed drinking water sources," or improved sources that are "accessible on premises, available when needed, and free from fecal and priority chemical contamination" (JMP), not only ignores other household water priorities, but only judges water quality according to microbiological, chemical, and radiological standards which ignore users' priorities for acceptability (World Health Organization, 2022). In Ghana, qualitative research found that people avoided piped water systems that produced salty water not only because of taste, but also because soap wouldn't lather when doing laundry (Kulinkina et al., 2016). In several communities in rural Vanuatu, households chose rainwater over groundwater for drinking and cooking, despite microbiological testing showing that rainwater had higher levels of Escherichia coli contamination (Foster and Willetts, 2018). This research supports those results, finding that iron-rich or saline water is not perceived as acceptable for drinking or cooking, leading participants to avoid using water from improved sources nearby. The JMP core questions for household surveys assume one primary drinking water source; monitoring efforts should, whenever possible, use the expanded questions in order to capture information on multiple water sources for drinking.

This research further demonstrates the importance of seasonality in water source selection, and understanding multiple water source use may become increasingly important as the climate continues to change and seasons grow more unpredictable or extreme. Water sources may change between wet and dry season, as a result of changes in quality and availability in sufficient quantities (Elliott et al., 2017; Daly et al., 2021). Communities that rely on rainwater during the wet season may require different or supplementary sources in the dry season and may resort to purchasing water for vendors, spending long wait times at shared water points, and using less water (Kulinkina et al., 2016; Daly et al., 2021). Rainy seasons have their own risks, as heavy rains can contribute to contamination of surface waters and increases in water-borne diseases (Ahmed et al., 2020). In their exploration of multiple water source use in developing countries, Elliott et al. (2019) suggest that the use of multiple water sources diversifies risk and builds resilience, which can therefore help lead to water security in an unpredictable climate. Given the shifts in water source use based on seasons, surveys should consider the

BOX 1 Implications for policy and practice.

- Monitor the use of multiple water sources for a more comprehensive understanding of needs and practices. Current national and global monitoring efforts only query the "primary" or "main" water source used for drinking, which dismisses both the possibility that multiple water sources may be used and that water needs extend beyond drinking. Further, those with improved water source access may still use other sources for drinking and other needs. The source used as the primary or main source for drinking also may change depending on a variety of influences, including seasonality, perceived water quality, and specific need. The narrow approach of monitoring just the primary drinking water source type may over-estimate access and use of optimal sources. Thus, monitoring efforts should assess the use of multiple water sources are assessed more accurately.
- Monitor individual-level water access and use, not just access and use at the household level. Current monitoring efforts focus on assessing water access at the household-level, which assumes water is equally accessible to all household members. However, household-level data collection is gender-blind, obscures differential access to water within a household, including women and girls, individuals with physical limitations, and other groups who may experience physical barriers or socially-mandated restrictions to their access, and ignores those who are unhoused. Current progress toward the SDG 6.1 goal of safe and accessible water for *all* may be over-estimated based on these assumptions. Individual-level monitoring data on water access, use, and experiences could illuminate differences that are currently hidden.
- Ensure equitable access to water sources. Those involved in the delivery
 of water systems (e.g., piping) or other forms of water infrastructure (e.g.,
 community bore-holes) should ensure equitable access to women, girls,
 and vulnerable populations. Water delivery efforts should not contribute
 to inequity by not providing services to all or by placing infrastructure
 in areas that may be inaccessible to some, whether due to physical or
 social barriers.
- Design interventions for household water for domestic uses beyond drinking and cooking. While improving the quality of water for consumption is important for reducing risk of pathogen exposure, initiatives that seek to improve water access should consider water needed for bathing, washing clothes, and other uses. Focusing on improving drinking and cooking water alone misses the opportunity to positively impact the lives of women who largely are responsible for all water needes. Improving water access for all needs could also result in reducing time burden, physical labor, and safety risks of water collection and water-related tasks that women shoulder.

season of data collection. Further, future research should also assess if and how climate change impacts water sources used and why, with particular attention to women's decision making and experiences given the likelihood that they will be particularly impacted (Sinharoy and Caruso, 2019).

4.1. Strengths and limitations

A major strength of this study is that participants were asked an open-ended question about concerns related to water use, which enabled them to share behaviors such as multiple uses of water, including drinking, cooking, bathing, anal cleansing, and washing utensils, clothes, and menstrual cloths. Asking about the full range of water use beyond drinking water enables a more complete and nuanced description about water needs, experiences, and challenges than studies that are limited to drinking water or household-level assessments of access alone. Despite evidence of the importance of water for productive uses (Hall et al., 2014), the open-ended questioning did not prompt participants in this context to indicate concerns about water for productive purposes (e.g., gardening, caring for livestock, or income-generating activities). Probes could be added to future work about water uses and water-related concerns related to productive use as confirmation. Additionally, because this research focuses exclusively on women, men's decision-making regarding water selection and use and gendered household dynamics were not explored. Future research can investigate perceptions from men and women.

This study engaged rural women in Odisha and its findings are limited to that population. While the study population included women from various castes and tribes, there were no questions asked about water source decision-making related to caste. Other studies have found that caste may limit women's ability to access certain sources for water collection (Singh, 2006; Narain, 2014; Leder et al., 2017) or bathing (Sahoo et al., 2015), and so additional study is warranted. However, because of purposive sampling among women of different ages and marital statuses, from different villages, and with different water and latrine access, there is diversity in experience and variability in the data. Girls under age 18 were excluded from data collection, so their voices are only represented through adult participants' sharing of their past experiences or the experiences of other, younger women they know. The deliberate inclusion of women over 49 years of age is an important contribution. Research tends to focus on girls and women of reproductive age, but increases in age are associated with higher rates of disability, which result in poorer WASH access (Mactaggart et al., 2018).

5. Conclusion

A growing body of work has explored the prevalence and importance of understanding multiple water source use. The interweaving influences on water source selection are important to understand from a monitoring perspective, where calls have been made for a greater consideration of gender in data collection, and also from the perspective of those designing and implementing public health interventions. Consideration only of water quality and quantity and location of water source may result in underperforming interventions. Extending water sources to homes or communities should take into consideration cultural norms that may limit access to water and community perspectives on what makes a water source acceptable.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because: ethical restrictions prevent these data from being publicly shared. Participants did not consent for their data to be shared with anyone outside the research team. While this analysis focuses on water, the full data include more sensitive information on menstruation, urination, and defecation practices, and how these practices result in shame and embarrassment to individuals and families. Participants were assured of their privacy and the confidentiality of the data. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to: bethany.caruso@emory.edu.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Emory University Institutional Review Board in Atlanta, Georgia, USA (IRB00072840) and the KIIT University Ethics Review Committee in (KIMS/KIIT/IEC/795/2014). Bhubaneswar. India Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

MP conducted the formal analysis, contributed to interpretation of results, created the conceptual model, and wrote the original manuscript. MH contributed to the supervision of the analysis, interpretation and validation of the results, and review and revision of the conceptual model. MD and MR contributed to the investigation, data curation, and validation of the results. TC acquired funding and resources and administered and supervised the project. BC conceptualized the interview guide and methodology, contributed to the investigation, data curation, administration of the project, contributed to the supervision of the analysis, interpretation and validation of the results, and review and revision of the conceptual model. All authors reviewed, edited, and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This work was supported, in whole or in part, by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation [OPP1125067]. Under the grant conditions of the Foundation, a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 Generic License has already been assigned to the Author Accepted Manuscript version that might arise from this submission.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Ahmed, T., Zounemat-Kermani, M., and Scholz, M. (2020). Climate change, water quality and water-related challenges: a review with focus on Pakistan. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17, 8518. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17228518

Ashraf, S., Islam, M., Unicomb, L., Rahman, M., Winch, P. J., Arnold, B. F., et al. (2020). Effect of improved water quality, sanitation, hygiene and nutrition interventions on respiratory illness in young children in rural bangladesh: a multi-arm cluster-randomized controlled trial. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 102, 1124–1130. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.19-0769

Brewis, A., Choudhary, N., and Wutich, A. (2019). Household water insecurity may influence common mental disorders directly and indirectly through multiple pathways: evidence from Haiti. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 238, 112520. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112520

Caruso, B. A., Clasen, T., Yount, K. M., Cooper, H. L. F., Hadley, C., Haardörfer, R., et al. (2017a). Assessing women's negative sanitation experiences and concerns: the development of a novel sanitation insecurity measure. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 14, 755. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14070755

Caruso, B. A., Clasen, T. F., Hadley, C., Yount, K. M., Haardörfer, R., Rout, M., et al. (2017b). Understanding and defining sanitation insecurity: women's gendered experiences of urination, defecation and menstruation in rural Odisha, India. *BMJ Glob. Health* 2, e000414. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2017-000414

Caruso, B. A., Conrad, A., Salinger, A., Patrick, M., Youm, A., Sinharoy, S. A., et al. (2021). A Conceptual Framework to Inform National and Global Monitoring of Gender Equality in WASH. WHO/UNICEF Joint Monitoring Programme for Water Supply, Sanitation, and Hygiene. Available online at: https://vc.bridgew.edu/jiws/vol4/iss1/8

Caruso, B. A., Portela, G., McManus, S., and Clasen, T. (2020). Assessing women's menstruation concerns and experiences in rural india: development and validation of a menstrual insecurity measure. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17, 3468. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17103468

Caruso, B. A., and Sinharoy, S. S. (2019). Gender data gaps represent missed opportunities in WASH. *Lancet Glob. Health* 7, e1617. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(19)30449-8

Chew, J. F., Corlin, L., Ona, F., Pinto, S., Fenyi-Baah, E., Osei, B. G., et al. (2019). Water source preferences and water quality perceptions among women in the eastern region, Ghana: a grounded theory study. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 16, 3835. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16203835

Clasen, T., Boisson, S., Routray, P., Torondel, B., Bell, M., Cumming, O., et al. (2014). Effectiveness of a rural sanitation programme on diarrhoea, soil-transmitted helminth

infection, and child malnutrition in Odisha, India: a cluster-randomised trial. *Lancet Glob. Health* 2, e645–e653. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70307-9

Clement, F., and Karki, E. (2018). "When water security programmes seek to empower women-a case study from Western Nepal," in *Water Security Across the Gender Divide*, eds C. Fröhlich, G. Gioli, R. Cremades, and H. Myrttinen (New York, NY: Springer), 151–169. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-64046-4_8

Cooper-Vince, C. E., Arachy, H., Kakuhikire, B., Vorechovsk,á, D., Mushavi, R. C., Baguma, C., et al. (2018). Water insecurity and gendered risk for depression in rural Uganda: a hotspot analysis. *BMC Public Health* 18, 1143. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-6043-z

Creswell, J. W., and Clark, V. L. P. (2017). Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research. London: Sage publications.

Daly, S. W., Lowe, J., Hornsby, G. M., and Harris, A. R. (2021). Multiple water source use in low-and middle-income countries: a systematic review. *J. Water Health* 19, 370–392. doi: 10.2166/wh.2021.205

Department of Drinking Water and Sanitation, and Ministry of Jalshakti. *Jal Jeevan Mission New Delhi: Government of India.* Available online at: https://jaljeevanmission.gov. in/ (accessed November 15, 2022).

Elliott, M., Foster, T., MacDonald, M. C., Harris, A. R., Schwab, K. J., Hadwen, W. L., et al. (2019). Addressing how multiple household water sources and uses build water resilience and support sustainable development. *NPJ Clean Water* 2, 1–5. doi: 10.1038/s41545-019-0031-4

Elliott, M., MacDonald, M. C., Chan, T., Kearton, A., Shields, K. F., Bartram, J. K., et al. (2017). Multiple household water sources and their use in remote communities with evidence from Pacific Island countries. *Water Resour. Res.* 53, 9106–9117. doi: 10.1002/2017WR021047

Foster, T., and Willetts, J. (2018). Multiple water source use in rural Vanuatu: are households choosing the safest option for drinking? *Int. J. Environ. Health Res.* 28, 579–589. doi: 10.1080/09603123.2018.1491953

GBD Diarrhoeal Diseases Collaborators (2017). Estimates of global, regional, and national morbidity, mortality, and aetiologies of diarrhoeal diseases: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 17, 909–948. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30276-1

Geere, J., Bartram, J., Bates, L., Danquah, L., Evans, B., Fisher, M. B., et al. (2018). Carrying water may be a major contributor to disability from musculoskeletal disorders in low income countries: a cross-sectional survey in South Africa, Ghana and Vietnam. J. Glob. Health 8, 010406. doi: 10.7189/jogh.08.010406

Graham, J. P., Hirai, M., and Kim, S. (2016). An analysis of water collection labor among women and children in 24 sub-Saharan African countries. *PLoS ONE* 11, e0155981. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155981

Hall, R. P., Van Koppen, B., and Van Houweling, E. (2014). The human right to water: the importance of domestic and productive water rights. *Sci. Eng. Ethics* 20, 849–868. doi: 10.1007/s11948-013-9499-3

Hennessy, T. W., Ritter, T., Holman, R. C., Bruden, D. L., Yorita, K. L., Bulkow, L., et al. (2008). The relationship between in-home water service and the risk of respiratory tract, skin, and gastrointestinal tract infections among rural Alaska natives. *Am. J. Public Health* 98, 2072–2078. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2007.115618

Hennink, M., and Kaiser, B. N. (2021). Sample sizes for saturation in qualitative research: a systematic review of empirical tests. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 292, 114523. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114523

Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., and Marconi, V. C. (2017). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: how many interviews are enough? *Qual. Health Res.* 27, 591–608. doi: 10.1177/1049732316665344

Howard, G., Bartram, J., Williams, A., Overbo, A., Fuente, D., Geere, J., et al. (2020). *Domestic Water Quantity, Service Level and Health*, 2nd ed. Geneva: World Health Organization.

International Institute for Population Sciences (2016). *National Family Health Survey (NFHS-4) 2015-2016*. Mumbai: Ministry of Health and Family Welfare.

International Institute for Population Sciences (2021). *National Family Health Survey* (*NFHS-5*) 2019-2021. Mumbai: Ministry of Health and Family Welfare.

James, A. J., Verhagen, J., Van Wijk, C., Nanavaty, R., Parikh, M., and Bhatt, M. (eds.) (2002). Transforming time into money using water: a participatory study of economics and gender in rural India. *Nat. Resour. Forum* 26, 205–217. doi: 10.1111/0165-0203.00022

Jha, N. (2012). "Reducing a community's water and sanitation burden: insights from Maharashtra," in *Diverting the Flow: Gender Equity and Water in South Asia*, eds M. Zwarteveen, and S. Ahmed (New Delhi: Zubaan), 203–239.

JMP (2018). Core Questions on Drinking Water and Sanitation for Household Surveys. Geneva: World Health Organization and UNICEF.

JMP (2021). Progress on Household Drinking Water, Sanitation and Hygiene 2000-2020: Five years into the SDGs. washdata.org: WHO/UNICEF Joint Monitoring Programme for Water Supply, Sanitation, and Hygiene. Report No.: 9240030840.

JMP. Drinking Water. Geneva: World Health Organization and UNICEF. Available online at: https://washdata.org/monitoring/drinking-water (accessed December 13, 2022).

Joshi, D., Fawcett, B., and Mannan, F. (2011). Health, hygiene and appropriate sanitation: experiences and perceptions of the urban poor. *Environ. Urban.* 23, 91–111. doi: 10.1177/0956247811398602

Kher, J., Aggarwal, S., and Punhani, G. (2015). Vulnerability of poor urban women to climate-linked water insecurities at the household level: a case study of slums in Delhi. *Indian J. Gend. Stud.* 22, 15–40. doi: 10.1177/0971521514556943

Kulinkina, A. V., Kosinski, K. C., Liss, A., Adjei, M. N., Ayamgah, G. A., Webb, P., et al. (2016). Piped water consumption in Ghana: a case study of temporal and spatial patterns of clean water demand relative to alternative water sources in rural small towns. *Sci. Total Environ.* 559, 291–301. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016. 03.148

Leder, S., Clement, F., and Karki, E. (2017). Reframing women's empowerment in water security programmes in Western Nepal. *Gend. Dev.* 25, 235–251. doi: 10.1080/13552074.2017.1335452

MacRae, E. R., Clasen, T., Dasmohapatra, M., and Caruso, B. A. (2019). 'It's like a burden on the head': redefining adequate menstrual hygiene management throughout women's varied life stages in Odisha, India. *PLoS ONE* 14, e0220114. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.02 20114

Mactaggart, I., Schmidt, W.-. P., Bostoen, K., Chunga, J., Danquah, L., Halder, A. K., et al. (2018). Access to water and sanitation among people with disabilities: results from cross-sectional surveys in Bangladesh, Cameroon, India and Malawi. *BMJ Open 8*, e020077. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020077

Medhi, D. K. (2002). In Her Husband's family: a newly Wed Woman's expectations and Her New Family's attitudes in rural Assam, India. *J. Int. Womens. Stud.* 4, 107–116.

Mehta, P. K., and Saxena, N. (2015). "Unleashing the gender differentials in water management: the rural milieu," in *Gender Issues in Water and Sanitation Programmes: Lessons from India*, eds A. A. Cronin, P. K. Mehta, and A. Prakash (London: SAGE Publications Pvt. Ltd), 139-154.

Mushavi, R. C., Burns, B. F. O., Kakuhikire, B., Owembabazi, M., Vorechovsk,á, D., McDonough, A. Q., et al. (2020). "When you have no water, it means you have no peace": a mixed-methods, whole-population study of water insecurity and depression in rural Uganda. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 245, 112561. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2019. 112561

Narain, V. (2014). Shifting the focus from women to gender relations: assessing the impacts of water supply interventions in the Morni–Shiwalik hills of northwest India. *Mt. Res. Dev.* 34, 208–213. doi: 10.1659/MRD-JOURNAL-D-13-00104.1

Pruss-Uston, A. J., Wolf, J., Bartram, J., Clasen, T., Cumming, O., Freeman, M. C., et al. (2019). Burden of disease from inadequate water, sanitation and hygiene for selected adverse health outcomes: an updated analysis with a focus on low- and middle-income countries. *Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health* 222, 765–777. doi: 10.1016/j.ijheh.2019.05.004

Resolution 64/292 (2010). Resolution 64/292: The Human Right to Water and Sanitation.

Routray, P., Schmidt, W., Boisson, S., Clasen, T., and Jenkins, M. W. (2015). Socio-cultural and behavioural factors constraining latrine adoption in rural coastal Odisha: an exploratory qualitative study. *BMC Public Health* 15, 880. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2206-3

Routray, P., Torondel, B., Clasen, T., and Schmidt, W. (2017). Women's role in sanitation decision making in rural coastal Odisha, India. *PLoS ONE* 12, e0178042. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0178042

Sahoo, K. C., Hulland, K. R. S., Caruso, B. A., Swain, R., Freeman, M. C., Panigrahi, P., et al. (2015). Sanitation-related psychosocial stress: a grounded theory study of women across the life-course in Odisha, India. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 139, 80–89. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.06.031

Shaheed, A., Orgill, J., Ratana, C., Montgomery, M. A., Jeuland, M. A., Brown, J., et al. (2014). Water quality risks of 'improved'water sources: evidence from *C ambodia. Trop. Med. Int. Health.* 19, 186–194. doi: 10.1111/tmi.12229

Singh, N. (2006). Women's participation in local water governance: understanding institutional contradictions. *Gend. Technol. Dev.* 10, 61–76. doi: 10.1177/097185240501000104

Singh, U., Agarwal, P., Verma, M. L., Dalela, D., Singh, N., Shankhwar, P., et al. (2013). Prevalence and risk factors of urinary incontinence in Indian women: a hospital-based survey. *Indian J. Urol.* 29, 31. doi: 10.4103/0970-1591.109981

Sinharoy, S. S., and Caruso, B. A. (2019). On World Water Day, gender and equality and empowerment require attention. *Lancet Planet Health* 3, e202-e203. doi: 10.1016/S2542-5196(19)30021-X

Sorenson, S. B., Morssink, C., and Campos, P. A. (2011). Safe access to safe water in low income countries: water fetching in current times. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 72, 1522–1526. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.03.010

Stevenson, E. G. J., Ambelu, A., Caruso, B. A., Tesfaye, Y., and Freeman, M. C. (2016). Community water improvement, household water insecurity, and women's psychological distress: an intervention and control study in Ethiopia. *PLoS ONE* 11, e0153432. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0153432

Stevenson, E. G. J., Greene, L. E., Maes, K. C., Ambelu, A., Tesfaye, Y. A., Rheingans, R., et al. (2012). Water insecurity in 3 dimensions: an anthropological perspective on water and women's psychosocial distress in Ethiopia. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 75, 392–400. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.03.022

Sultana, F. (2009). Fluid lives: subjectivities, gender and water in rural Bangladesh. Gend. Place Cult. 16, 427-444. doi: 10.1080/09663690903003942

UN General Assembly (2015). Transforming our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.

Varickanickal, J., Bisung, E., and Elliott, S. J. (2019). Water risk perceptions across the life-course of women in Kenya. *Health Prom Int.* 35, 639–648. doi: 10.1093/heapro/daz055

VERBI Software (2018). MAXQDA, 12th ed. Berlin, Germany.

Wolf, J., Hubbard, S., Brauer, M., Ambelu, A., Arnold, B. F., Bain, R., et al. (2022). Effectiveness of interventions to improve drinking water, sanitation, and handwashing with soap on risk of diarrhoeal disease in children in low-income and middle-income settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet* 400, 48–59. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00937-0

Wolf, J., Hunter, P. R., Freeman, M. C., Cumming, O., Clasen, T., Bartram, J., et al. (2018). Impact of drinking water, sanitation and handwashing with soap on childhood diarrhoeal disease: updated meta-analysis and meta-regression. *Trop. Med. Int. Health.* 23, 508–525. doi: 10.1111/tmi.13051

World Health Organization (2022). *Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality: Incorporating the First and Second Addenda.* Geneva: WHO.

Wutich, A., and Ragsdale, K. (2008). Water insecurity and emotional distress: coping with supply, access, and seasonal variability of water in a Bolivian squatter settlement. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 67, 2116–2125. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.09.042

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jane Wilbur, University of London, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Hamed Ketabchi, Tarbiat Modares University, Iran Sue Cavill, Berkshire, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Melita Louise Grant Melita.grant@uts.edu.au

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Water Resource Management, a section of the journal Frontiers in Water

RECEIVED 19 September 2022 ACCEPTED 16 February 2023 PUBLISHED 16 March 2023

CITATION

Grant ML, Nguyen TT, Vieira A, Niner SL and Roche C (2023) Working together: A study of civil society partnerships between WASH (water, sanitation, and hygiene) and GESI (gender equality and social inclusion) organisations in Timor-Leste. *Front. Water* 5:1047955. doi: 10.3389/frwa.2023.1047955

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Grant, Nguyen, Vieira, Niner and Roche. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Working together: A study of civil society partnerships between WASH (water, sanitation, and hygiene) and GESI (gender equality and social inclusion) organisations in Timor-Leste

Melita Louise Grant^{1*}, Therese Tam Nguyen², Ajerino Vieira², Sara Louise Niner³ and Chris Roche⁴

¹Institute for Sustainable Futures, University of Technology Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ²Department of Community Development, Faculty of Social Science, University of Timor-Leste (UNTL), Dili, Timor-Leste, ³School of Social Sciences, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ⁴Institute for Human Security, La Trobe University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

This article reports on an empirical study conducted in Timor-Leste that explored the drivers, benefits, and challenges of partnerships and collaborations between water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) and gender equality and social inclusion (GESI) organisations as integral parts of the WASH system. The research design was primarily qualitative and included a data-collection workshop with 30 representatives from 16 civil society organisations (CSOs) in Dili, longitudinal research involving two rounds of semi-structured interviews over 2.5 years with five organisations, and semi-structured interviews with an additional 18 CSOs. We applied a framework of post-development theory, including critical localism and working contingently. Key drivers to form partnerships were found to be the identification of community WASH service gaps and the alignment of advocacy agendas. Key benefits reported were increased inclusion and empowerment outcomes and strengthened organisational knowledge and capacity. Challenges emerge when organisations' key staff change, strategies misalign, and financial and administrative capabilities differ. The study contributes practical insights into how civil society organisations (CSOs) partner to strengthen mutual WASH and GESI strategies and programmes and their outcomes. We recommend strengthening the partnerships between WASH and GESI organisations in ways that are cognisant of power dynamics, local priorities, and capacity needs and promote longevity and continuity through ownership of decisions at the local level. Our findings suggest that meaningful, reciprocal, and respectful engagement with WASH and GESI organisations enables WASH programmes to be in a better position to address the harmful norms that drive inequitable behaviours, thus strengthening localism, and the WASH governance system overall.

KEYWORDS

partnerships, gender, localism, civil society, inclusion, post-development, water, WASH

1. Introduction

The turbulent history of Timor-Leste, encompassing colonisation, military occupation, and domestic political challenges, has hampered development in the water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) sector. The Republica Democratica de Timor Leste (RDTL), or the Democratic Republic of Timor-Leste, achieved independence on 20 May 2002 after 24 years of military occupation by neighbouring Indonesia (1975-1999) and 2 years under the administration of the United Nations (UN). The Indonesian occupation was fiercely resisted by an independence movement, resulting in a high death toll. Today Timor-Leste is considered a successful, resilient democracy but one that faces post-conflict and economic challenges (Croissant and Lorenz, 2018). One of these challenges is the provision of clean water and sanitation, with 43% of its people not having access to basic sanitation, 15% not having access to basic water supplies, and 72% not having access to basic hygiene (World Health Organization (WHO) and the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), 2021). The lack of access to water, sanitation and hygiene affects the poorest and most marginalised people, primarily in rural contexts (Troeger et al., 2015; Neely and Walters, 2016; Clarke et al., 2021).

Safely managed WASH services are commonly sought after and requested by those responsible for reproductive and domestic labour, predominantly women and girls (in all their diversity). WASH is an area of life that women and girls are often keen to participate in because of the pressing WASH needs they experience and their knowledge of community needs. Better access to WASH facilities would do much to improve the lives and status of the poorest women in Timorese society (Grant et al., 2019a). In 2021, Timor-Leste had a female Human Development Index (HDI) score of 0.580, in contrast with 0.633 for males, placing it among the lowest gender-parity ranked countries (United Nations Development Program (UNDP), 2022, p. 288). Women also have significant knowledge about WASH needs and systems that can be drawn on to design and implement effective and sustainable WASH. For these reasons, WASH and Gender Equality and Social Inclusion (GESI) advocacy and service are natural allies with civil society organisations (CSOs) in Timor-Leste, and their partnerships and collaborations are the focus of this study. We aim to provide insights for Timor-Leste CSOs collaborating to advance gender equality and build WASH systems led by Timorese people and supported by international donors and agencies. This article reports on an empirical study conducted in Timor-Leste (from 2018 to 2021) about selected partnerships developed across WASH and gender equality CSOs, with an in-depth focus on partnerships developed as part of a WaterAid-facilitated project to strengthen the WASH system in Timor-Leste.

2. Theoretical framing of the study

Focusing on locally led WASH and GESI CSO partnerships and collaborations, this study draws on and contributes to the literature and discourse about post-development theory, including critical localism and working contingently. We have integrated feminist, empowerment, and development theories related to conceptions of power and empowerment into the study design and analysis process and offer five foundational theoretical framings for this study: (i) post-development; (ii) critical localism; (iii) contingency theory; (iv) empowerment; and (v) CSO partnerships. Each provides a basis and rationale for an empirical study on CSO partnerships in Timor-Leste and is explained below with reference to partnerships and collaborations for development outcomes.

2.1. Post-development

Post-development theorists have long critiqued the notion of development as a Northern discourse that obscures local knowledge, systems, and practises (Escobar, 1995a,b). Escobar called for the development agenda to create intellectual space for a local agency to assert itself and for the recognition of the importance of grassroots movements (Escobar, 1992). Practical post-development theorists place significant weight on community-based initiatives and social movements. As Schoneberg offers: "Post-development demands the questioning of dominant discourses, representations, and power/knowledge nexus, and argues that this can only be achieved by local, i.e. Southern, movements and organisations themselves" (Schoneberg, 2017, p. 605).

In a study on aid and development trends in Timor-Leste in McGregor (2007) drew on the practical post-development approach adopted by Latouche (1993), Escobar (1995a,b), and Gibson-Graham (2005). McGregor found that post-development theories had 'successfully challenged many of the ways in which we think about development but have yet to substantially influence development practice' in Timor-Leste (2007, p. 155). While postdevelopment theory questions the very desirability and centrality of the notion of "development," the urgent humanitarian and sustainability challenges facing the world are undeniable. So, what are the alternatives to conventional and Northern-led development? In his study of development paradigms in Timor-Leste in 2007, McGregor found that "The international and individualised partnerships between institutions and communities would seem to hold the biggest potential for cross-cultural support and understanding" (2007, p. 167). Our study sought to explore one of the dimensions of the post-development social change agenda, which sees "local, pluralist and solidaristic initiatives [as] central, and where connexions to place, local knowledge and the nonhuman are highly valued" (Roche et al., 2020). A "localism," to which we now turn.

2.2. Critical localism/localisation

Externally led development interventions are often poorly informed by local knowledge in terms of language, culture, history, and politics. The international humanitarian and development sector has long been criticised for ignoring local knowledge, being top-down and Northern-driven (Escobar, 1992). Local preferences and ways of working are often different from Western or "Northern" ideas and the practise of development agencies and may be overlooked by larger, better-resourced International Non-Governmental Organisations (INGOs) (Crewe and Harrison, 1998; Guttenbeil-Likiliki, 2020; Roche et al., 2020). Weak "local ownership" and gaps between local and international priorities are major factors explaining the failure of many externally imposed state building interventions, such as that implemented by the UN in Timor-Leste after the violence and destruction of the Indonesian withdrawal in 1999 (Chopra, 2002).

In response to the critique of top-down approaches to development, "localisation" (or "locally led") has emerged as a contemporary reform in the development sector. Drawing on the work of McCulloch and Piron (2019) and Booth and Unsworth (2014), Roche et al. define locally led development as "driven by a group of local actors who are committed to a reform agenda and would pursue it regardless of external support" and "who are local in the sense of not being mere implementers of a donor agenda" (2020, p. 137).

Although local participation has been a long-held guiding principle for development since the 1970's, it is elusive (Eversole, 2003). Despite progress in visions of and commitments to localisation, implementation is "patchy at best" (Roche and Denney, 2021, p. 23). Local partners are often utilised in a way that reinforces existing paradigms of donor power and North over South rather than transforming development practise (Roche and Denney, 2021, p. 23; Guttenbeil-Likiliki, 2020). Critics of topdown development call for critical engagement with the concept of "local" in terms of how power is shared but also warn against romanticising and over-validating the local level (Mac Ginty, 2015). In this vein, the localism agenda has been criticised for proliferating partnerships with "local" actors that remain entirely transactional in nature but provide a nod to wider donor trends' (Smith, 2017, in Roche and Denney, 2021, p. 25). Critical localism, in comparison, challenges weak attempts to engage or empower at the local level, in some cases over-validating local norms at the expense of more flexible and activity-oriented (rather than place only) interpretations of the local (Mac Ginty, 2015). Broader conceptualisations of the local include systems of beliefs and practises that "loose communities and networks may adopt that change over time and with circumstances" (Mac Ginty, 2015, p. 851). By adopting a critical lens to local engagement, the present study investigates whether or not collaborative, genuine, and effective partnerships with local Timorese CSOs improve and strengthen outcomes for WASH and GESI programmes and organisations. It focuses on power, knowledge diversification, local beliefs, and norms and practises.

2.3. Contingency theory and CSO partnerships

Contingency theory looks at how contextual factors shape organisational outcomes and asserts that organisational effectiveness depends on the organisation's ability to adapt to its environment. Turbulent environments require organic organisational approaches in the development sector to achieve their aims (Sauser et al., 2009). While contingency theory has evolved since the 1950's, more recent applications, such as that developed by Honig and Gulrajani (2018), offer three principles of contingency theory. Development actors must (i) focus on better understanding the local contexts in which they operate; (ii) adapt or tailor development initiatives to local contexts during project design; and (iii) change projects and programmes in line with how contexts change (Honig and Gulrajani, 2018, p. 69–70). To be effective, working contingently must be done in association with the autonomy,¹ motivation, and trust of people working directly with communities and change agents. Together, these factors provide a pathway to advancing contingent ways of working with a focus on the individuals themselves within a context they uniquely understand (Honig and Gulrajani, 2018, p. 74).

Honig and Gulrajani (2018) emphasise the importance of trust, especially of field-level staff, in order to adapt to changing local circumstances. Trust is an essential component of working contingently, and "contingent ways of working need to be coaxed, not commanded" (Honig and Gulrajani, 2018, p. 71). In the WASH sector in Cambodia, localisation has been found to enhance the effectiveness of leaders through building on existing institutional arrangements and adapting to a variety of participants' needs (Nhim and Mcloughlin, 2022). However, increased autonomy alone is not a panacea. It needs to be supported carefully by tailored feedback loops that leverage positive change (Meadows, 1999). Honig and Gulrajani (2018) call for a fundamental rethink of where decision-making needs to take place to achieve the changes that development agencies aspire to, in line with the critical localism and post-development views of development outlined above.

2.4. Gender, empowerment, and movement building: "Power with"

CSO partnerships and social movement building are essential for advancing gender equality and inclusion in all societies (Htun and Weldon, 2018; MacArthur et al., 2022; Siscawati et al., 2022). Seeking renewed possibilities for social change in gender equality and associated issues, such as ending violence against women, international women's advocates have pursued partnerships with national women's movements (Batliwala, 2012; Horn, 2013; Guttenbeil-Likiliki, 2020). A stronger focus on supporting local or national women's organisations and movements follows several decades of feminist principles being overlooked in favour of "women in development" programmes and the "NGO-isation of feminist movements," which have failed to bring about the hopedfor changes (Batliwala, 2012, p. 17-18). The Asia Pacific Forum on Women, Law and Development, for example, emphasised that local women's movements grounded in local struggles and experience are central to transforming current approaches to development. Pressure and action by local women's movements have the capacity to bring about improvements on substantive issues of concern to women within their own communities (Rajbhandari, 2014; Grant et al., 2019b; Niner and Loney, 2019).

Empowerment theorists also see that engaging local women's organisations and movements is a key form of power and an important domain of change. VeneKlasen and Miller (2002),

¹ Autonomy is explained by Honig and Gulrajani (2018, p. 71) as being greater freedom from external control and influence for both organisations themselves and individual agents.

10.3389/frwa.2023.1047955

Eyben et al. (2008), and Taylor and Pereznieto (2014) included "power with" in their frameworks as one of four key aspects of empowerment. "Power with" highlights the importance of the process of movement building and partnerships to agitate for rights and change social norms and conditions. As explained by VeneKlasen and Miller in 2002 (p. 55):

"Power with" involves finding common ground among different interests and building collective strength. Based on mutual support, solidarity and collaboration, "power with" multiplies individual talents and knowledge. "Power with" is a key tenet of empowerment, by building voice and increasing power through acting together around mutual interests. Advocacy groups seek allies and build coalitions drawing on the notion of "power with."

The consideration of "power with" as a central tenet in empowerment theory invites us to look more deeply at the literature on coalitions and partnerships within feminist and women's movements, and how it might be useful for advancing not only WASH outcomes but also gender equality outcomes through WASH programming. We now present the relevant literature related to partnerships as another foundational body of work that informed the design of our present study.

2.5. CSO partnerships and the WASH system

Partnerships, coalitions, and networks are understood to be essential to the collective action required to address global challenges (Roche and Kelly, 2014; Doerfel and Taylor, 2017). Partnerships, such as those between North–South CSOs, can be understood to be: "... a response to complex problems in which partners can build on each other's comparative advantages through a rational division of labour. Through their complementary roles, partners can achieve goals they could never reach by themselves" (Elbers and Schulpen, 2013, p. 50).

Well-managed civil society partnerships can yield a range of benefits, including access to the political process, organisational legitimacy, and tangible and intangible resources (O'Brien and Evans, 2016). However, these benefits can only be realised if the power dynamics between the partners are addressed and considered meaningfully. A study on power dynamics between Northern and Southern women's movements and organisations found that Global North organisations often lacked contextual and cultural understanding of the focus country and communities and tended to follow their own agendas with little input from local organisations (Guttenbeil-Likiliki, 2020). It found that "elite feminism" tended to favour well-established organisations. Global South organisations faced uncertain financial and other sustainability factors when accountability and transparency were viewed as one way, and dependency and donor-and-beneficiary dynamics were perpetuated (Guttenbeil-Likiliki, 2020, p. 13). Similarly, a study of Northern and Southern NGO partnerships in Ghana, India, and Nicaragua found that Northern NGOs unilaterally set the rules of the partnerships even though informal rules allowed for more flexibility (Elbers and Schulpen, 2013, p. 48). These studies reveal the pitfalls of many North–South partnerships that reinforce existing power dynamics and the importance of evolving flexible partnerships and a broadening of the types of partnerships to include supporting local networks and coalitions. Until now, research has not been conducted on the bilateral partnerships formed between WASH and gender-focused organisations (North–South or local partnerships), which this study seeks to redress.

The growing complexity of the development landscape calls for "multiple perspectives and collective action" to address wicked problems such as human rights violations and climate change (Roche and Kelly, 2014, p. 60). "Traditional" aid relationships and projects need to shift towards critical localism agendas by engaging local CSOs to encourage policy agendas that focus on empowerment and voice, support domestic policy processes that reduce inequality, and build broader support for inclusive policy interventions (Roche and Kelly, 2014, p. 61). Networks and coalitions are considered a potentially effective means to support a localisation agenda: "NGOs will need to move beyond unique partnerships as bilateral relationships with a single "partner" or counterpart, but rather become simultaneously engaged with multiple actors through networks, coalitions and alliances" (Roche and Kelly, 2014, p. 61). Smith et al. (2016) also recognise that NGOs have catalysed progress in global health governance due in part to their relative independence, links to populations most affected, and a range of functions that they undertake, including building diverse coalitions and advocacy roles.

A number of studies have explored the emergence and success, or otherwise, of civil society coalitions related to driving social justice issues (Mizrahi and Rosenthal, 2001). Coalitions are more likely to change gender norms when formed in response to local events and critical junctures; are locally driven and owned; share a common purpose and values; and have adaptive and regularly renegotiated distributed leadership (Fletcher et al., 2016; Spark and Lee, 2018). In her review of how leaders collectively influence institutions, Nazneen (2019) found that the way in which coalitions can bring about positive change is influenced by their sources of material wealth, their collective strength, and their ideational collective power (i.e., ability to shape ideas and build legitimacy).

2.5.1. Rights-holder organisations: Part of the WASH system

WASH system strengthening is increasingly a focus for international civil society organisations and local WASH actors, as opposed to working purely at a project and infrastructure level in many contexts. Valcourt et al. (2020, p. 2) define a WASH system as "a collection of all the factors and their interactions which influence WASH service delivery within a given contextual, institutional or geopolitical boundary." A focus on the system, and its interrelated parts, stems from evidence pointing to a high level of WASH project failure when human behaviours and system sustainability, as well as the complex relationships and varied actors that make up the WASH sector, are not adequately considered (Moriarty et al., 2013; Neely, 2019; Grant et al., 2020; Hollander et al., 2020; Valcourt et al., 2020; Huggett et al., 2022, p. 17–28).



Partnering with diverse rights-holder organisations (RHOs) has become part of a broader trend within the rural water sector in low- and middle-income countries in an attempt to move away from infrastructure-focused models towards more integrated service delivery models. Service delivery models are conscious of the combined effect of a range of factors and how a range of governance and behavioural factors affect WASH delivery and success, including gender equality and social inclusion (GEDSI) (Huggett et al., 2022; Water for Women, 2022). WASH system strengthening is understood to involve working with, supporting, and strengthening the institutions and actors that are part of the broader WASH system, as well as the relationships between them (Jenkins et al., 2019; Nhim and Mcloughlin, 2022, p. 1-12). While the WASH system includes water utilities, government agencies, and CSOs, other actors are increasingly recognised as integral to the system, such as RHOs, including women's organisations, organisations for people with disabilities, and sexual and gender minorities organisations (Figure 1). As these actors work together in a range of ways, various support systems, or "building blocks,"² are needed to facilitate their optimal functioning and interrelationships (Huston and Moriarty, 2018). Systems approaches are considered ways to not only tackle the complexity of WASH systems and address systemic failures but also to promote inclusion. Kimbugwea et al. (2022, p. 69) argue that adopting a system approach underpinned by human rights principles can advance progress towards inclusive and sustainable WASH for all. A range of tools and approaches has been developed within the WASH sector to guide practitioners and policymakers in how to consider and influence the many interconnected factors that make up the WASH system (Casey and Crichton-Smith, 2020; Valcourt et al., 2020). However, guidance to support partnerships between RHOs and WASH actors is nascent.

3. The Timor-Leste context: WASH and GESI CSOs

3.1. The WASH system in Timor-Leste

WASH services are delivered by a range of actors in Timor-Leste, including government agencies, water utilities, CSOs, and small-scale private sector actors (Willetts and Murta, 2015). Efforts to strengthen the WASH system in Timor-Leste have been undertaken by CSOs (such as the INGO WaterAid) looking to work with, influence, and engage the WASH system as a whole, including several levels of government (from the national to the *suco* or village level), utilities, businesses and local CSOs. Efforts have also been made by a range of WASH actors to improve gender-equality outcomes, shift gender norms, and empower women and girls in the development and delivery of water and sanitation programmes (Grant et al., 2019a; Huggett et al., 2022).

While governments are regarded as "rights duty bearers" globally (Carrard et al., 2020), they often fail to ensure delivery of effective WASH services, especially in challenging contexts such as those with disparate communities, mountainous terrains, and populations who do not have a high degree of disposable income. The local government bodies across 14 municipalities³ in Timor-Leste are highly diverse and home to different ethnolinguistic groups. These municipalities are further divided into 67 *posto* (administrative posts, formally sub-districts) and 442 localities or *suku* led by local councils headed by a *xefe* (chief). Local governance is a "hybrid" and complex form, embracing both newly introduced democratic processes and customary and ritual *lisan* practises (Cummins, 2010).

Local demand and donor focus on improved WASH services have resulted in CSOs and governments focusing more on inclusive programming, with the aim of achieving health and wellbeing outcomes for all members of the community. CSOs support and amplify women's and diverse perspectives, and their advocacy and engagement with government helps to hold to account those responsible for providing safely managed WASH and sanitation services. For these reasons, international and local CSOs, such as WaterAid in Timor-Leste, along with community and women's organisations, have become a key part of the ecosystem to deliver and work with governments to provide WASH services in Timor-Leste. Increasingly, CSOs see the benefits of collaboration between themselves and other organisations working on social justice issues for the intertwined and mutually beneficial goals of strengthened WASH and GESI (Water for Women, 2022).

² Building blocks may include policy and legislation, regulation and accountability, finance, monitoring, planning, infrastructure, water resource management, and learning and adaptation (Huston and Moriarty, 2018).

³ Including 12 municipalities and the *Special Administrative* Region of *Oecusse* Ambeno (RAEOA). As of January 2022, there were 14 municipalities.

3.2. GESI and civil society movements in Timor-Leste

The 2002 Constitution of Timor-Leste formalised equality between women and men in law. At the time, there was broad general support for gender equality, but in everyday reality, there are significant differences between the status of men, women, and non-binary gender expressions (Niner, 2018b; Niner and Nguyen, 2022). While many East Timorese in contemporary society believe women's and men's roles are balanced, from a political-economy or feminist-analysis perspective, gender relations remain inequitable (Niner, 2018a). Disparities in economic indicators are reflected in women's low substantive political participation in the labour force, the high rates of violence against women, and unequal education outcomes at higher levels for women and girls (Wild et al., 2022).

In documenting three key phases of civil society development in Timor-Leste, Wigglesworth (2013) explained that the political crisis of 2006–08 precipitated an analysis of Western development models and gave rise to activists promoting traditional practises and culture through development models that engaged better with local communities (p. 70). However, the way in which gender issues has been incorporated into these new approaches is still emerging.

Timor-Leste has an active women's movement comprising a coalition of local women's CSOs and key female leaders and parliamentarians, many of whom played significant roles in the independence movement. The kernel of an East Timorese women's movement was created in the early 1970's with the establishment of the Popular Organisation of Timorese Women (OPMT) as part of FRETILIN, the Revolutionary Front for an Independent East Timor, which was opposed to colonial rule. Women are proud of the roles they played in the struggle for self-determination. As their role is yet to be fully recognised, the women's movement continues to advocate for this recognition (Niner and Nguyen, 2022).

After the end of the Indonesian occupation, East Timorese women continued to provide the bulk of care for their families and communities under the most difficult of conditions while also building up a strong movement for women's rights that drew upon the networks and alliances established during the occupation period (Wigglesworth, 2013). The first National Congress of the Women of Timor-Leste, held in June 2000, established *Rede Feto*, the mainstream umbrella organisation for the women's movement, and developed a Platform of Action for East Timorese Women. Held every four years, the Congress has provided a road map for action (Rede Feto, 2007). An admirable list of achievements includes gender mainstreaming policies, a gender quota resulting in 39% of women in the national parliament, a progressive domestic violence law, and the *bolsa da mae* social protection programme for mothers.

However, in Timor-Leste, strict binary gender roles undermine human development and equality goals. There is much anecdotal evidence of violent discrimination against LGBTQI+ people, who do not conform to these expected roles (Niner, 2022). Solidarity extended by *Rede Feto* in publishing a report documenting such abuses was a watershed moment for the LGBTQI+ movement in contesting conservative gender relations and values of the wider society. The movement advocated for the acceptance of and respect for the human rights of LGBTQI+ peoples through successful alliance building with other progressive social forces in society. In support of Gay Pride celebrations, the Prime Minister and President urged Timorese to create an inclusive nation and accept people with all sexual orientations, gender identities, and expressions (SOGIE); other senior politicians declared similar support (Niner, 2022). This illustrates the importance and role of CSO partnerships and coalitions in support of mutual agendas such as WASH and GESI.

As presented above, literature is available on the importance and role of CSO bilateral partnerships and coalitions in support of localist and contingent ways of working and the dynamics of the women's and LGBTIQ+ movements in Timor-Leste. Yet, little has been written on the WASH sector in Timor-Leste academically and nothing, until now, on the burgeoning relationships between the WASH sector and the women's and LGBTIQ+ movements.

4. Materials and methods

Our research design was primarily qualitative. It included three key data collection components: (i) a data collection workshop with 30 CSO representatives from 16 organisations in Dili to inform the research design and participants as well as collect data on drivers, benefits and challenges of CSO partnerships, (ii) a longitudinal research component using semi-structured interview guides over 2.5 years with two rounds of primarily in-person interviews with WaterAid Timor-Leste and four of their local GESI partners (iii) semi-structured interviews with another 18 civil society organisations. Participating organisations included local WASH organisations (n = 2), international WASH organisations (n = 3), local GESI organisations (n = 17), and international GESI organisations (n = 1). International organisations were defined as those that had offices and headquarters in another country, while local organisations were defined as born or based in Timor-Leste. Combining all participant types, 23 organisations were interviewed for the predominantly qualitative study. Our sample size was informed by Hagaman and Wutich (2017, p. 36), who found that \sim 20-40 interviews were needed to reach data saturation for all metathemes across data sets.

The organisations WaterAid Timor-Leste partnered with and that were involved in the longitudinal component of the study included three local organisations and one INGO:

- A. **Dili-based CSO** focusing on supporting women and girls in engineering (local organisation).
- B. **Community development and WASH CSO** based in Manufahi with eight staff (local organisation).
- C. **International CSO** with a focus on gender equality (international CSO).
- D. **Women's organisation** established since the Indonesian occupation and comprising five staff. Women in the organisation were part of the Independence movement (local organisation).

Participating organisations were purposefully sampled, drawing on the knowledge of the Timorese research team, WASH, and gender equality CSOs. Inclusion criteria included local and international organisations working on (a) GESI issues or (b) WASH issues. We used a single semi-quantitative interview template for the longitudinal study to capture changes in the partnership dynamics over time. Questions were asked about the purpose, nature, and development of the partnership between the organisations. Drawing from the literature (as outlined above), our questions related to power dynamics, decision-making processes, values, and typologies of partnerships. A major change occurred in 2020 with the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, which led to significant adjustments in programmes, less travel, and changes in some staff members in a number of organisations. However, despite these challenges, we conducted interviews in person in Dili, Liquisa, and Manufahi Timor-Leste, with a small number by phone when meeting in person was not possible. We conducted online joint analytical processes and joint development of recommendations for policy and practise with primary research partners (described below).

Notes during interviews were taken in Tetum and transcribed in summary into English, potentially losing some of the details and nuances of the conversations between researchers and interviewees. The English notes were then used as the basis for the analysis, though Timorese researchers were involved in coding and sensemaking processes to ensure the reliability of interpretations. The quality of the transcriptions of notes taken in Tetum which were transcribed and summarised in English was assured through timely reviews of notes, feedback, and regular phone conversations with Timorese researchers, so that any gaps were picked up early and transcripts could be improved. Given telecommunications issues in Timor-Leste, Whattsapp phone calls were most useful for these regular check ins and discussions about transcripts.

The analysis of the types of partnerships drew on a framework we adapted from Winterford (2017), who drew from Moore and Skinner (2010). It described a spectrum of collaborations from "independent," where organisations operate separately with minimal interaction, to "collaborative," where organisations are highly committed in a longer-term and formalised partnership, as described below:

- Independent: Organisations operate independently.
- **Cooperative:** Organisations remain independent but network and share information; low commitment; informal arrangements (no memorandum of understanding or contracts in place, for example).
- **Coordinated:** Some joint planning is conducted between organisations; project-based coordination; memorandums of understanding (MOUs) or contracts may be in place.
- **Collaborative:** Organisations share culture, visions, values, and resources; joint planning is undertaken; a high level of commitment by both parties is demonstrated; the partnership is formalised through agreements, contracts and the like.

Analysis was also informed by an inductive and deductive thematic coding undertaken in Dedoose and coding was conducted primarily by the Timorese research team members with quality assurance and contributions from the lead research team members to ensure reliability and trustworthiness. A codebook was developed by four data analysts, and was inductive and deductive, based on the research questions. Researchers also conducted thematic analysis (by hand) with the translated transcripts, in order to validate findings emerging from the Dedoose coding process. While COVID-19 travel restrictions limited the Australian research lead's ability to engage in person with the Timorese research team, we managed this through a series of online workshops and coanalysis processes with 10 members of the broader research team in Timor-Leste.

Deductive coding and thematic analysis was conducted with the transcripts to and informed by the research questions:

- (RQ 1) What are the drivers, benefits, and challenges of engagement between WASH sector CSOs and gender equality and women's rights organisations?
- (RQ 2) How can CSOs partner more effectively to maximise WASH, gender equality and inclusion outcomes in the context of a localisation agenda?

We provided all interviewees with information sheets outlining the purpose of the research and how the information they shared would be used and ensuring confidentiality. Interviewees were provided with this information sheet in hard copy and it was emailed to them prior to the interview. A consent form was read out by the interviewer at the start of the interview and participants were given the option to stop at any point without providing a reason, as well as withdrawing from the research process at any time. Consent was provided by way of interviewees signing the consent form provided. Ethics approval for this research was obtained (approval number UTS HREC REF NO. 2015000270).

5. Results

The following results stem from interviews with women's and WASH organisations that were both local and international and from all the interviews conducted across the study (n = 23). Interviewees provided insights into the types of collaborations underway between WASH and GESI organisations and the drivers, benefits, and challenges of collaboration between organisations of different sizes and types pursuing interrelated but different objectives.

5.1. Types of collaborations between WASH and GESI organisations

Collaborations took various forms, including programme implementation, contractual relationships, knowledge and information sharing, and informal networking. Partnerships between WASH and GESI CSOs were found to be driven by organisations wishing to strengthen the WASH system overall in Timor-Leste and achieve tangible gender equality outcomes, especially for women and girls. Of those interviewed for the project (n = 23), 14 were in some type of WASH–GESI partnership or engagement, and 9 others expressed an interest in collaborating in the future, though to varying degrees; 8 organisations reported having a formal partnership agreement in place (MOUs, funding arrangements, or contracts).

Two organisations described national-level forums in which WASH and GESI organisations shared information and discussed ideas together, such as the Forum Be'e Mos (Clean Water Forum), led by the National Directorate of Water and Sanitation Services



(DNSAS), and the WASH and gender discussion forum led by the women's CSO, Fokupers.

Most organisations (5 out of 9) who were already partnering or connecting across WASH and GESI organisations described their current partnership as "cooperative," and the others (4 out of 9) described it as "coordinated," according to the spectrum used in this research (Figure 2). Most of the organisations interviewed for the longitudinal component of the study (3 out of 5) described their partnership as collaborative or between coordinated and collaborative, as shown in Figure 2.

The research did not point to any model being more successful than the others. However, interviewees did express an interest in moving towards more "collaborative" types of partnerships characterised by a shared organisational culture, visions, values, and resources; joint planning and delivery of some services; and a high level of commitment from partners.

5.2. Drivers for partnerships

Partnerships between WASH and GESI organisations were shown to have been driven by a range of factors, including mutual agendas, observed community WASH needs, and commitments to inclusive practises. The most notable driver was "complementary agendas" due to the understood intersection between WASH and GESI objectives. Six GESI organisations that worked closely with communities were motivated to cooperate with WASH organisations as a result of the urgent and unfulfilled WASHrelated needs that they saw and heard about in communities, particularly for women and girls. Responding to gaps in services was a key driver for collaboration, with organisations reporting they had undertaken partnerships to address gaps in government services, including combining resources and funds to meet community needs in remote villages.

The perceived mutual benefits reported by WASH and GESI interviewees were: increased economic empowerment through WASH both directly for women's business opportunities (e.g., water to produce coconut oil and vegetables) and indirectly by improving people's health and hence their productivity; less violence towards women and LGBTIQ+ people, who face bullying while trying to meet their daily WASH needs; improved family harmony by reducing tension around WASH-related work and roles, including decreasing gender-based violence through a better understanding of gender equality concepts at the community level and safer WASH access.

Mutual advocacy agendas were also expressed as key drivers for collaborations between organisations and across the sectors. For example, interviewees reported that they wished to utilise connected advocacy agendas to share WASH information at the community level (through and by local leaders) and to lobby the government at the national level to improve WASH services. Interviewees also saw that partnerships helped to improve the sustainability of WASH project outcomes through empowering women, shifting harmful gender norms, and improving the responsiveness of WASH services to people's real needs.

5.3. Benefits of partnerships

Regarding the drivers for collaboration, interviewees identified at least 14 distinct benefits of WASH and GESI partnerships, relating to three main areas: (1) increasing participation and inclusion of women in WASH programmes and related decisions, (2) mutual learning and capacity building, advocacy opportunities and connexions with government, and (3) shifts in gender norms (changing perceptions of roles and responsibilities related to WASH) (Table 1). Organisations within existing WASH and GESI partnerships reported positive power dynamics between CSOs, positive working relationships (including good communication styles and organisational policies), and the supportive nature of networks and bilateral partnerships in Timor-Leste.

One national GESI organisation described the tangible benefits its members gained from the collaboration with a WASH organisation thus: "Some of our members in seven districts have already accessed clean water. For example, in one community, the water arrived at their house. That is the result of working together between [WASH organisation and GESI organisation]." *Two* GESI organisations described their positive working relationships with a larger WASH CSO: "We have a good working relationship because if there are some issues or a problem occurs, we try to resolve it [together]." The interviewee explained that this relationship began on a relatively equal footing: "they [the WASH CSO] did not

TABLE 1	Benefits reported by CSO interviewees ($n = 23$) of partnerships	
between WASH and GESI organisations.		

Increased participation and inclusion			
Increased participation of marginalised groups	An increase in participation of women and people with disabilities in the decision-making and delivery of WASH services.		
Increased access	Securing WASH rights for people with disabilities by elevating their needs to relevant parties (e.g., Government and WASH organisations).		
Increased knowledge and services	Increased information about and access to WASH services for women and people with disabilities.		
Mutual learning and capaci	ty building		
Increased equality within partner organisations	An increased value of equality within the partner organisations and programme communities.		
Mutual learning	Positive outcomes for mutual learning and developing capacity (for both WASH and GESI organisations about each other's areas of expertise), including new methods and approaches to apply locally.		
Government collaboration	Opportunities for collaboration on advocacy activities, particularly to influence national actors and government agencies who oversee and influence WASH systems.		
Partnership scope increased	Increased scope of areas of work for the partnership organisations–for example, new WASH skills or deeper gender equality knowledge to apply in WASH programming.		
Capacity development	Capacity development for women's organisations enabling them to represent and discuss WASH issues with other WASH system actors (e.g., government actors and agencies).		
Strengthened response to Gender Based Violence (GBV)	Strengthened WASH sub-national and local system responses to GBV through a referral network.		
Shifts in gender norms, per	ceptions and responses		
Norms change around WASH roles	Partnership activities led to a positive change in the community's perspective of WASH tasks and work, which it now sees as both women's and men's work.		
Enhanced capacity to achieve strategic plan	Making important contributions to achieving each organisation's strategic plan.		
Increased data collection capabilities	Partnerships support organisations to obtain data on the effectiveness of activities focused on gender equality and changing gender norms around WASH services.		
Increased networks	Increased professional networks and new organisational connexions were developed leading to more effective programmes and improved sustainability of services.		
Contribution to a stronger and more resilient WASH system	A contribution to promoting equality and democratic decision-making processes in partnerships in Timor-Leste.		

come and dictate what they wanted. Instead, they came here to present to us about their project related to disabled people and that they wanted to work with us ... we made a plan together with them and they support us with money, and we implemented our plan."

A benefit of one partnership was the increased connexion between WASH partners and government actors at several levels. These CSO-government relations were facilitated by capacitybuilding initiatives for women's organisations so that they could confidently represent WASH issues themselves, thereby increasing their capacity to talk with government agencies and representatives. As one interviewee reported: "their activities have influence at the national level. They did different types of advocacies about decision-making with consideration of women's suffering regarding sanitation and hygiene." In this case, the disproportionate challenges women face to use toilets instead of openly defecating, including increased risk of rape and violence, as well as to manage menstruation, were explained to political leaders and decision-makers. Advocacy benefits from the collaboration in one case resulted in GESI partners providing their suggestions on the state budget related to sanitation and hygiene, as noted by one interviewee: "Women's groups speak out about WASH problems in the communities. I think the big change is that this community aspiration reached the Parliament. They also had a meeting with the women's parliament group [GMPTL]."

5.4. Challenges of partnerships

Establishing and maintaining partnerships between distinct organisations (and between individuals) requires continuous attention and improvement, facilitated through good communication and trust. This study looked closely at bilateral partnerships rather than coalitions; consequently, the lessons learned focus on partnerships between WASH and GESI organisations, though they could be considered beyond these particular types of relationships. Interviewees reported 14 distinct challenges (Table 2), broadly related to three main factors: (1) organisational barriers that prevented realisation of outcomes; (2) weak links in the WASH system; (3) power dynamics and relationships. These are elaborated below.

Organisational barriers included a misalignment of organisational strategy, priorities, and geographical focus; limited human resources practises, organisational capacity, and facilities, particularly within smaller CSOs; and changes in staff, which broke continuity and caused delays in the partnership and project activities.

Weak links in the WASH system were reported to be related to misperceptions of who was responsible for WASH and therefore a reticence to get involved if it was perceived to be outside the domain of the CSO; transactional relationships and insecure funding leading to short-term projects rather than longer-term movement building; some functional barriers around providing funds into partner bank accounts; and power imbalances related to organisational capacity and size, leaving some smaller CSOs feeling vulnerable.

There were reports of a lack of openness to collaborate due to hidden agendas and personal or political interests. Others identified the challenge of partnering or collaborating outside what is perceived to be an organisation's specific area of focus. Interviewees mentioned a tendency to collaborate with others in the same sector and where there were shared values and visions

TABLE 2 Challenges reported by CSO interviewees (n = 23) of partnerships between WASH and GESI organisations.

Organisational barriers		
Misaligned strategy	Misalignment of organisational strategy, priorities, and geographical focus.	
Human resources limitations	Limited human resources (in one or both organisations), different organisational capacity, financial base and facilities.	
Staff changes	Changes in staff break continuity and cause delays in the partnership and project activities.	
Confidence and technical knowledge	Lack of confidence about "WASH literacy," including a fear of the technical aspects of WASH (grounded in engineering and plumbing thinking and practice).	
Practicalities of sharing resources	Practical challenges related to making payments to staff and getting funds into organisations' bank accounts.	
Weak links in the WASH sy	vstem	
Misperceptions	Misperceptions of who is responsible for WASH in a given area —for example government, community, or CSO.	
Transactional approaches	Transactional relationships, "projectisation," and insecure funding can lead to one-off projects rather than development of a broader and longer-term movement.	
Power dynamics and relation	onship aspects	
Short-term funding models	Unequal power dynamics related to the donor/recipient dynamic, how the financial arrangements are structured, and funding insecurity, leaving some smaller CSOs vulnerable.	
Staying in one's lane	The challenge of partnering or collaborating outside of an organisation's specific area of focus was particularly noted by GESI organisations. They suggested there is a tendency to collaborate with others in the same sector where there are existing shared topics, values, and visions.	
Time	The challenge of finding time to collaborate, particularly with a new partner and a new sector.	
Concerns about sustainability	Financial viability of WASH services and the role of government in ongoing delivery of services.	
Communication issues	Irregular meetings and infrequent communication. Different opinions about whose role it is to initiate contact and communications.	
COVID-19 challenges	Reduced budgets and communication challenges due to COVID-19 pandemic and restricted travel.	
Hidden agendas	A lack of openness to collaboration due to hidden agendas and personal or political interests.	

and difficulty finding the time to collaborate, particularly with a new partner or sector. Communication challenges also arose due to irregular meetings and infrequent contact, and sometimes there was confusion about who needed to initiate the communication.

Funding dynamics, financial sustainability, and operational issues (related to accessing bank accounts) were identified as challenges in some WASH–GESI partnerships. For example, One GESI CSO reported that it faced considerable funding insecurity: "We don't have a permanent donor." A WASH organisation felt that CSOs needed support to become more financially sustainable: "... if all are based on projects, they cannot sustain themselves. We need to think about this so that CSOs can be self-sustaining and developed." Another funding-related challenge was noted in terms of how proficient organisations are at writing proposals. One GESI organisation explained that funding often goes to those who can prepare the required proposals rather than those who are best placed to do the work. This disadvantaged smaller, local-level organisations in Timor-Leste: "There are a lot of requirements from the funding agency, and people do not have good skills to prepare the proposal."

Recommendations for supporting more effective collaboration included:

- Strengthening joint planning processes.
- WASH and GESI training.
- Ensuring both partners understood and could use data available on access to and quality of WASH.
- Ensuring both partners understood gender-norms issues.

Other suggestions included targeting funding at the existing priorities of gender equality CSOs and for organisations to focus on their internal capacity. Regular, open communication between partners was emphasised as vital, including partnership check-in processes, addressing staff changes (which may involve rebuilding relationships), and emphasising the importance of individuals for partnership continuity and growth.

6. Discussion

We now reflect on the research findings with reference to the theoretical perspectives presented above, including a focus on women's empowerment through collective action, localism, postdevelopment thinking, and contingency theory. We make two key points in relation to the results and the literature presented. Firstly, bilateral partnerships between international and local organisations yield mutual benefits and strengthen local-level civil society. Such partnerships support contingent ways of working in terms of building trust and autonomy at the local level. We also found evidence that partnerships between rights-holder and WASH organisations strengthened the WASH system, thereby contributing to a transition to post-development WASH services (beyond WASH projects/programmes run by INGOs). Secondly, uneven power dynamics exist in some cases and must be navigated carefully for working contingently and realising localism agendas. Each of these two key findings is discussed in turn below.

6.1. Mutual benefits of working contingently to strengthen the WASH system

The benefits of development partnerships are well-documented and have become common and expected modalities for aid donors and practitioners (Roche and Kelly, 2014). CSO partnerships literature is validated by the present study on WASH and GESI partnerships in Timor-Leste, especially in terms of O'Brien's observations that genuine and mutually beneficial partnerships can yield a range of benefits, including identity reinforcement, access to the political process, organisational legitimacy, and access to tangible and intangible resources (O'Brien and Evans, 2016). The three main themes of benefits (Table 1) that WASH and GESI organisations identified in their partnerships related to (i) increasing participation and inclusion, mutual learning, and capacity building, (ii) advocacy opportunities and connexions with government, and (iii) shift in gender norms, perceptions, and responses. The collective action, partnership arrangements, and focus on system strengthening driven by WaterAid and their direct partners can also be seen as an example of "power with" (VeneKlasen and Miller, 2002, p. 55) in that they found common ground among different interests and built collective strength. The benefits reported by CSOs in partnerships (particularly the longitudinal component) were found to be related to strengthening collective action, local-level pluralist governance, networks, and partnerships with heightened advocacy power and influence.

Larger international CSOs, such as WaterAid, tend to support Honig and Gulrajani's (2018) call for more contingent ways of working grounded in a deeper understanding of the local context, greater trust and autonomy of local actors, and adaptive ways of working. Yet, working contingently can only happen if the local partners are empowered (and supported in ways that are meaningful to them) and power dynamics are addressed at the start of and during the partnership. In our study, organisations reported that their partnership was founded on positive and flexible working relationships, communication styles, and organisational policies. This seems to indicate some of the characteristics that Honig and Gulrajani (2018) discuss in terms of increased autonomy and trust at the field level as essential components of contingent ways of working.

The partnerships in Timor-Leste at the centre of this study provide another example of working and changing aspects of the WASH system and supports Huggett et al. (2022, p. 38) finding that "integrating GEDSI within system-strengthening programming provides useful opportunities and leverage points for addressing systemic barriers to inclusion and empowerment." Our study also supports the finding of Kimbugwea et al. (2022) that system approaches (when underpinned by human rights principles) can advance inclusion outcomes in WASH programmes. The authors' SWOT analysis (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats) regarding how a WASH programme in Cambodia and Uganda engaged with WASH system building blocks (2022, p. 75) found weaknesses in consultation and participation with women and marginalised groups, as well as limited understanding and space to discuss human rights to water and sanitation. Partnerships with RHOs are one way to help address these weaknesses and thereby increase the confidence and involvement of women and CSOs representing marginalised groups. Similarly, the benefits reported by the CSOs interviewed for our study included: increased participation of women and people with disabilities in the decisionmaking and delivery of WASH services; secured WASH rights for people with disabilities by elevating their needs to relevant parties (government and WASH organisations); increased information about and access to WASH services for women and people with disabilities (Table 1).

As pointed out by O'Brien and Evans (2016) and Guttenbeil-Likiliki (2020), the power dynamics between partners must be addressed and considered meaningfully before the benefits of partnerships can be realised. Our study supported this finding, concluding that power dynamics must be openly understood, discussed, and navigated in WASH and GESI partnerships. In addition to power dynamics being challenging for local and international CSOs to manage between themselves, organisational barriers (related to communications, staff continuity, and administrative coordination) and weak links in the WASH system (contested views of who is responsible for WASH and therefore reticence to get involved) were also identified as considerable challenges to well-functioning partnerships. As found in previous studies on North-South CSO partnerships, we observed challenging dynamics related to smaller local organisations' dependency on larger international ones. These dynamics indicate that the nature of development funding and associated power relations makes attempts to promote more locally led development difficult in practise. Yet, through the partnership models employed amongst organisations in this study, local-level organisations' capacity and independence were enhanced, indicating that, in future, these partnerships may contribute to notions of plurality and solidarity. This trajectory is supported by McGregor's study, which concluded that "Although some parts of the development architecture reviewed are flawed from a post-development perspective, particularly programmes that are broad in scale or have pre-determined project outputs and timelines, other initiatives, such as community or institutional partnerships and small grants programmes, have much to contribute to post-development futures. They are potentially flexible, community-focused, supportive of alternative sociopolitical spaces" (2007, p. 168).

6.2. Navigating uneven power dynamics

Our study offers insights into the extent to which a postdevelopment and localist agenda is being pursued through CSO partnerships in the WASH and GESI sectors. We drew on the work of scholars who identified the shortcomings of topdown and Northern-driven development agendas (Crewe and Harrison, 1998; Guttenbeil-Likiliki, 2020; Roche et al., 2020) but also those who call for a nuanced perspective when it comes to championing the "local" (Mac Ginty, 2015). While emphasising the centrality of Southern movements and organisations (Schoneberg, 2017, p. 605), Schoneberg's description of post-development theory questions dominant discourses related to the power and knowledge nexus. The design of our study supported Escobar's call for the development agenda to create intellectual space for local agencies to assert themselves (also a central tenet of contingency theory), and for the recognition of the importance of grassroots movements (Escobar, 1992). Nonetheless, we found that the relationship between most WASH and GEDSI CSOs largely reinforced dominant partnership models (i.e., larger donor organisations partnering with smaller local organisations). These models were characterised by larger CSOs (primarily consisting of Timorese staff and backed internationally) engaged with smaller more grassroots organisations that, in turn, depended on the larger CSOs for funding and support. The concerns raised by some smaller local CSOs about their own sustainability and that

of their partnership (as a result of shorter-term project-oriented engagement) point to the dependence of these partnerships on funding from one of the partners. The question that begs an answer is the degree to which a genuinely locally led agenda is being pursued, given McCulloch and Piron's (2019) claim that localism requires a commitment to reform regardless of the existence of external support.

The challenges experienced within the CSO partnerships in this study point to the challenges of working contingently. Power dynamics are often hard to shift, especially when there are financial and North-South organisational power and financial differences. To this end, several organisations reported having some unequal power dynamics related to funding insecurity, which left some smaller CSOs vulnerable. These challenges in terms of partner organisations' size and capacity were also reflected in the Siscawati et al. (2022) study that looked at partnerships between similar actors in Indonesia. The Indonesian study revealed similar issues related to organisations having different sizes and structures, which may or may not align with those of their partners, as well as mismatched or limited financial resources and sustainability (Siscawati et al., 2022, p. 14). The challenges related to power dynamics shared by CSOs in our study had similarities with those found by Guttenbeil-Likiliki (2020) in terms of some elements of the dependency mentioned above (donor-beneficiary dynamics) and uncertain financial and other sustainability factors. However, our study did not find that the WASH and gender organisations connected to Global North organisations lacked contextual and cultural understanding of the focus country and communities, largely because the staff carrying out programmes in Timor-Leste for these organisations were predominantly Timorese. Our study also did not find that the partnerships pursued by WASH organisations favoured those from elite feminist organisations. Rather, the partnerships WaterAid developed with GESI organisations were largely nascent or grassroots organisations, which were the focus of this study.

Despite the challenges in partnerships and the power dynamics that sometimes underpin them, our study found that having strong and diverse partnerships with not only WASH organisations but also RHOs, such as women's organisations, organisations for people with disabilities, and sexual and gender minorities organisations, supports working contingently and contributes to a localist agenda. This is done by and through local-level organisations bringing their understanding of the local contexts in which they operate, helping to adapt or tailor development initiatives to their contexts, building social movements in support of gender equality ("power with"), and strengthening the multifaceted WASH system overall.

7. Conclusion

Forming genuine and mutually advantageous partnerships with local civil society organisations within the WASH sector and beyond is a key aspect of strengthening the WASH system and furthers critical localism, decolonising, and post-development agendas. The findings of this study support and validate the approach taken by international organisations such as WaterAid to build strategic partnerships and collaborations with diverse local rights-holder organisations, including those championing gender equality and inclusion. The interest shown by participants in this study to foster partnerships that are "collaborative" in nature requires a high level of commitment from partners and is in line with key tenets of localism and working contingently. Collaborative partnerships, in this sense, are conscious of where power is situated, whose agendas are being pursued, where trust is being fostered, and locally informed ways of working and communicating together.

Rights-holder organisations are important parts of the overall WASH System-a system made up of a range of organisations and actors, complex relationships, and the people who depend on and use water and sanitation services. The roles of rights-holder organisations assessed in this study with WASH organisations could be considered beyond bilateral CSO partnerships, and with other WASH providers (such as utilities and private sector actors) to advance GEDSI and pro-poor outcomes and strengthen the interrelated WASH system. There is also a need to look beyond bilateral partnerships and towards coalitional relationships and their potential to advance mutually beneficial outcomes with consideration of the transactional costs. Further, diversity of partnerships with other parts of civil society (e.g., youth, climate, ethnic minorities), as well as other types of actors (government and private sector), could support deeper and more transformational approaches to WASH programming.

Given the practical and advocacy benefits identified by interviewees in this study resulting from WASH and GESI partnerships, it is recommended that further research delves into what particularly enabled them to advocate for improved WASH services with government agencies, and which strategies were most successful. A case study approach *via* longitudinal monitoring and evaluation processes, process tracing or contribution analysis could be particularly useful for examining these reported benefits and impact pathways.

This research revealed a range of nuanced drivers, benefits, and challenges within the partnerships studied and found mutual benefits concerning advocacy efforts and aligned agendas for WASH and GESI capacity development. It also revealed that WASH-gender equality CSO partnerships in Timor-Leste are providing opportunities to hear more directly from community members and reach the most marginalised.

8. Limitations

COVID-19 hindered the research process by limiting our movement and access to interviewees. Some interviews and coanalysis workshops had to be conducted online, which was not ideal given the internet and phone challenges in Timor-Leste.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institute for Sustainable Futures, University of Technology Sydney. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Ethics approval for this research was obtained (approval number UTS HREC REF NO. 2015000270).

Author contributions

TN and AV co-developed the scope of the research project, conducted and transcribed interviews in Timor-Leste, led coding analysis in Dedoose, participated in co-analysis processes with the research team, contributed to, and reviewed the article. MG responsible for the conceptual and theoretical framing of the research, led research design and tools development, designed and co-conducted inception and in-country data collection processes and pilots, and led team authorship of the article. SN led gender and LGBTIQ+ movements history framing and content, wrote sections of the article, conducted reviews, and contributed to conceptual framing of the paper. CR contributed to conceptual framing of the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The Australian Government's Water for Women Fund under the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT) funded this research (Grant Number WRA-034).

Acknowledgments

The research team would like to thank all interviewees and CSO partners, including CSOs who were part of the inception workshop in Dili in 2018 and participated in interviews. We would also like to thank core research participants from WaterAid Timor-Leste and WaterAid Australia; Feto Engineering Timor-Leste, GFFTL, CARE Timor-Leste, Feto asaun ba sustentabilidade (FAS), and International Women's Development Agency (IWDA). Thank you also to Caitlin Leahy and Isobel Davis for support with data analysis and Professor Juliet Willetts for her review of the article. Thank you to Jess MacArthur for support with drawing Figure 2.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Batliwala, S. (2012). Changing their World: Concepts and Practices of Women's Movements, 2nd Edn. Toronto, ON: Association for Women's Rights in Development (AWID).

Booth, D., and Unsworth, S. (2014). *Politically Smart, Locally Led Development (Discussion Paper)*. London: Overseas Development Institute.

Carrard, N., Neumeyer, H., Pati, B. K., Siddique, S., Choden, T., Abraham, T., et al. (2020). Designing human rights for duty bearers: making the human rights to water and sanitation part of everyday practice at the local government level. *Water* 12, 378. doi: 10.3390/w12020378

Casey, V., and Crichton-Smith, H. (2020). System Strengthening for Inclusive, Lasting WASH that Transforms People's Lives: Practical Experiences from the SusWASH Programme. London: WaterAid. Available online at: https://washmatters. wateraid.org/sites/gfiles/jkxoof256/files/informe-de-aprendizaje-global-de-suswash. pdf (accessed September 19, 2022).

Chopra, J. (2002). Building state failure in east timor. Dev. Change 33, 979-1000. doi: 10.1111/1467-7660.t01-1-00257

Clarke, N. E., Dyer, C. E. F., Amaral, S., Tan, G., and Vaz Nery, S. (2021). Improving uptake and sustainability of sanitation interventions in timor-leste: a case study. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18, 1013. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18031013

Crewe, E., and Harrison, E. (1998). "Development aid: success and failures," in Whose Development? An Ethnography of Aid, *eds E. Crewe and E. Harrison (London: Zed Books)* 1–24.

Croissant, A., and Lorenz, P. (2018). "Timor-leste: challenges of creating a democratic and effective state," in *Comparative Politics of Southeast Asia*, eds. A. Croissant and P. Lorenz (Cham: Springer).

Cummins, D. (2010). Democracy or democrazy? Local experiences of democratization in Timor-Leste. *Democratization* 17, 899–919. doi: 10.1080/13510347.2010.501177

Doerfel, M. L., and Taylor, M. (2017). The story of collective action: the emergence of ideological leaders, collective action network leaders, and cross-sector network partners in civil society. *J. Commun.* 67, 920–943. doi: 10.1111/jcom.12340

Elbers, W., and Schulpen, L. (2013). Corridors of power: the institutional design of North-South NGO partnerships. *Voluntas* 24, 48-67. doi: 10.1007/s11266-012-9332-7

Escobar, A. (1992). Imagining a post-development era? critical thought, development and social movements. *Social Text* 31/32, 20–56. doi: 10.2307/466217

Escobar, A. (1995a). Encountering Development: The Making and Unmaking of the Third World. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Escobar, A. (1995b). "Imagining a post-development era," in *Power of Development*, ed. J. Crush (London: Routledge), 211–227.

Eversole, R. (2003). Managing the pitfalls of participatory development: some insight from Australia. *World Dev.* 31, 781–795. doi: 10.1016/S0305-750X(03) 00018-4

Eyben, R., Kabeer, N., and Cornwall, A. (2008). *Conceptualising Empowerment and The Implications for Pro-Poor Growth: A Paper for the DAC Poverty Network*. Brighton: Institute for Development Studies.

Fletcher, G., Brimacombe, T., and Roche, C. (2016). *Power, Politics and Coalitions in the Pacific: Lessons from Collective Action on Gender and Power (Research Paper).* Suva/Birmingham: Pacific Women/Developmental Leadership Program, University of Birmingham.

Gibson-Graham, J. K. (2005). Surplus possibilities: post-development and community economies. *Singap. J. Trop. Geogr.* 26, 4–26. doi: 10.1111/j.0129-7619.2005.00198.x

Grant, M., Foster, T., Willetts, J., Van Dinh, D., and Davis, G. (2020). Life-cycle costs approach (LCCA) for piped water service delivery: a study in rural Viet Nam. J. Water Sanit. Hyg. 10, 659–669. doi: 10.2166/washdev.2020.037

Grant, M., Megaw, T., Da Costa, L., Weking, E., and Huggett, C. (2019a). *Review* of the Implementation of WaterAid's Gender Manual and Facilitated Sessions. Sydney, Australia: Institute for Sustainable Futures, University of Technology Sydney. Available online at: https://washmatters.wateraid.org/sites/g/files/jkxoof256/files/review-of-the-implementation-of-wateraids-gender-manual-and-facilitated-sessions-in-timor-leste_0.pdf (accessed September 16, 2022).

Grant, M., Soeters, S., Bunthoeun, I. V., and Willetts, J. (2019b). Rural pipedwater enterprises in cambodia: a pathway to women's empowerment? *Water* 11, 2541. doi: 10.3390/w11122541

Guttenbeil-Likiliki, O. (2020). Creating Equitable South-North Partnerships: Nurturing the Vā and Voyaging the Audacious Ocean Together. Melbourne, VIC: International Women's Development Agency (IDWA).

Hagaman, A. K., and Wutich, A. (2017). How many interviews are enough to identify metathemes in multisited and cross-cultural research? another perspective on Guest, Bunce, and Johnson's (2006) landmark study. *Field Methods* 29, 23–41. doi: 10.1177/1525822X16640447

Hollander, D., Ajroud, B., Thomas, E., Peabody, S., Jordan, E., Javernick-Will, A., et al. (2020). Monitoring methods for systems-strengthening activities toward sustainable water and sanitation services in low-income settings. *Sustainability* 12, 7044. doi: 10.3390/su12177044

Honig, D., and Gulrajani, N. (2018). Making good on donors' desire to do development differently. *Third World Q.* 39, 68–84. doi: 10.1080/01436597.2017.1369030

Horn, J. (2013). *Gender and Social Movements Overview Report*. Brighton, UK: Institute of Development Studies. Available online at: https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk (accessed September 17, 2022).

Htun, M., and Weldon, S. (2018). The Logics of Gender Justice: State Action on Women's Rights Around the World (Cambridge Studies in Gender and Politics). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Huggett, C., Da Costa Cruz, L., Geoff, F., Pheng, P., and Ton, D. (2022). Beyond inclusion: practical lessons on striving for gender and disability transformational changes in WASH systems in Cambodia and Timor-Leste. *H2Open J.* 5, 26–42. doi: 10.2166/h20j.2022.039

Huston, A., and Moriarty, P. (2018). *Building Strong WASH Systems for the SDGs Understanding the WASH System and Its Building Blocks: Working Paper.* The Hague: IRC. Available online at: https://www.ircwash.org/sites/default/files/084-201813wp_buildingblocksdef_newweb.pdf (accessed September 19, 2022).

Jenkins, M. W., McLennan, L., Revell, G., and Salinger, A. (2019). Strengthening the Sanitation Market System: WaterSHED's Hands-Off Experience. The Hague: IRC. Available online at: https://watershedasia.org/hands-off-where-taking-a-step-backis-severalsteps-forward/strengthening-the-sanitation-market-system_watershedshands-off-experience/ (accessed September 19, 2022).

Kimbugwea, C., Sou, S., Crichton-Smith, H., and Goff, F. (2022). Practical system approaches to realise the human rights to water and sanitation: results and lessons from Uganda and Cambodia. *H2Open J.* 5, 69. doi: 10.2166/h20j.2022.040

Latouche, S. (1993). In the Wake of Affluent Society: An Exploration of Post-Development. London: Zed Books.

Mac Ginty, R. (2015). Where is the local? Critical localism and peacebuilding. *Third* World Q. 36, 840–856. doi: 10.1080/01436597.2015.1045482

MacArthur, J., Carrard, N., Davila, F., Grant, M., Megaw, T., Willetts, J., et al. (2022). Gender-transformative approaches in international development: a brief history and five uniting principles. *Women's Stud. Int. Forum* 95, 102635. doi: 10.1016/j.wsif.2022.102635

McCulloch, N., and Piron, L.-H. (2019). Thinking and working politically: learning from practice. Overview to special issue. *Develop. Policy Rev.* 37, O1–O15. doi: 10.1111/dpr.12439

McGregor, A. (2007). Development, foreign aid and post-development in timorleste. *Third World Q.* 28, 155–170. doi: 10.1080/01436590601081955

Meadows, D. (1999). Leverage Points – Places to Intervene in a System. The Sustainability Institute. Hartland VT. Available online at: https://donellameadows.org/archives/leverage-points-places-to-intervene-in-a-system/ (accessed October 10, 2022).

Mizrahi, T., and Rosenthal, B. B. (2001). Complexities of coalition building: leaders' successes, strategies, struggles, and solutions. *Soc. Work* 46, 63–78. doi: 10.1093/sw/46.1.63

Moore, T., and Skinner, A. (2010). *In How to Partner for Development Research*, ed K. Winterford (Canberra, Australia: Research for Development Impact Network, RDI), 10. Available online at: https://rdinetwork.org.au/wpcontent/uploads/2020/08/How-to-Partner-for-DevelopmentResearch_fv_Web.pdf (accessed September 10, 2022).

Moriarty, P., Smits, S., Butterworth, J., and Franceys, R. (2013). Trends in rural water supply: towards a service delivery approach. *Water Alt.* 6, 329–349. Available online at: https://www.ircwash.org/sites/default/files/trends_in_rural_water_supply_-towards_a_service_delivery.pdf

Nazneen, S. (2019). *How Do Leaders Collectively Change Institutions*? Birmingham: Developmental Leadership Program (DLP). Available online at: https://www.dlprog.org/publications/foundational-papers/how-do-leaders-collectively-change-institutions (accessed September 19, 2022).

Neely, K. (2019). "Systems thinking and trans-disciplinarity in WASH," in: Systems Thinking and WASH Tools and Case Studies for A Sustainable Water Supply. Rugby: Practical Action Publishing. Neely, K., and Walters, J. P. (2016). Using causal loop diagramming to explore the drivers of the sustained functionality of rural water services in timor-leste. *Sustainability* 8, 57. doi: 10.3390/su8010057

Nhim, T., and Mcloughlin, C. (2022). Local leadership development and WASH system strengthening insights from Cambodia. *H2Open J.* 5, 469. doi: 10.2166/h20j.2022.129

Niner, S. L. (2018a). It's Time for Women to Lead in Timor-Leste: Heroes of Timor-Leste Independence Struggle Should Make Way for the Younger Generation. Montrouge: LaCroix International. Available online at: https://international.la-croix.com/news/ culture/its-time-for-women-to-lead-in-timor-leste/7603 (accessed September 19, 2022).

Niner, S. L. (2018b). LGBTI lives and rights in Timor-Leste. *Diálogos* 3, 157–207. doi: 10.53930/27892182.dialogos.3.87

Niner, S. L. (2022). Gender relations and the establishment of the LGBT movement in Timor-Leste. *Women's Stud. Int. Forum* 93, 102613. doi: 10.1016/j.wsif.2022.102613

Niner, S. L., and Loney, H. (2019). The women's movement in timor-leste and potential for social change. *Polit. Gend.* 16, 874–902. doi: 10.1017/S1743923X19000230

Niner, S. L., and Nguyen, T. T. P. T. (2022). "Timor-leste: substantive representation of women parliamentarians and gender equality," in *Substantive Representation of Women in Asian Parliaments*, eds. D. K. Joshi and C. Echle (London: Routledge), 159–182.

O'Brien, N. F., and Evans, S. K. (2016). Civil society partnerships: power imbalance and mutual dependence in NGO partnerships. *Voluntas* 28, 1399-1421. doi: 10.1007/s11266-016-9721-4

Rajbhandari, R. (2014). Women and Girls Rising Together. Asia Pacific Forum on Women Law and Development (APWLD). Available online at: https://apwld.org/ women-and-girls-rising-together/ (accessed September 17, 2022).

Rede Feto (2007). Hau Fo Midar, Hau Simu Moruk [I Give Sweetness, I Receive Bitterness]. Dili, Timor-Leste: Rede Feto.

Roche, C., Cox, J., Rokotuibau, M., Tawake, P., and Smith, Y. (2020). The characteristics of locally led development in the Pacific. *Polit. Govern.* 8, 136–146. doi: 10.17645/pag.v8i4.3551

Roche, C., and Denney, L. (2021). "COVID-19: an opportunity to localise and reimagine development in the Pacific?," in *Reimagining Development: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Doing Development in an Era of Uncertainty*, ed G. Varughese (Sydney, NSW: UNSW Institute of Global Development). Available online at: https://www.igd.unsw.edu.au/practice-papers-reimagining-development-how-do-practice-based-approaches-shape-localisation-development (accessed August 2, 2022).

Roche, C., and Kelly, L. (2014). "A changing landscape for partnerships: the Australian NGO experience," in *Rethinking Partnerships in a Post-2015 World: Towards Equitable, Inclusive and Sustainable Development*, eds. L. M. Suarez and J. Malonzo (Philippines: IBON International), 60–68. Available online at: http://www.realityofaid.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/1.A-changing-Landscape-for-partnerships.pdf (accessed July 5, 2022).

Sauser, B. J., Reilly, R. R., and Shenhar, A. J. (2009). Why projects fail? How contingency theory can provide new insights – a comparative analysis of NASA's mars climate orbiter loss. *Int. J. Project Manag.* 27, 665–679. doi: 10.1016/j.ijproman.2009.01.004

Schoneberg, J. M. (2017). NGO partnerships in Haiti: clashes of discourse and reality. *Third World Q.* 38, 604–620. doi: 10.1080/01436597.2016.1199946

Siscawati, M., Ratnasari, N., Soegito, A., Ila, N., Grant, M., Davis, I., et al. (2022). "We Cannot Work Alone": A Study of WASH and Gender Equality Civil Society Partnerships in Indonesia: Summary Brief. Sydney, Australia: Institute for Sustainable Futures, University of Technology Sydney. Available online at: https://multisitestaticcontent.uts.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/sites/57/2022/02/22080928/ UTS-ISF-CSO-Partnerships-Indonesia-Summary.pdf (accessed September 19, 2022).

Smith, J., Buse, K., and Gordon, C. (2016). Civil society: the catalyst for ensuring health in the age of sustainable development. *Global. Health.* 12:40. doi: 10.1186/s12992-016-0178-4

Smith, Y. (2017). Partnerships: Handle with Care. Australian Council for International Development Blog. Available online at: https://acfid.asn.au/blog-post/ partnerships-handle-care

Spark, C., and Lee, J. C. H. (2018). Successful Women's Coalitions in Papua New Guinea and Malaysia: Feminism, Friendships and Social Change. Birmingham, UK: Developmental Leadership Program (DLP). Available online at: https://www.dlprog.org/publications/research-papers/successful-women-s-coalitions-in-papua-new-

guinea-and-malaysia-feminism-friendships-and-social-change (accessed September 19, 2022).

Taylor, G., and Pereznieto, P. (2014). *Review of Evaluation Approaches and Methods Used by Interventions on Women and Girls' Economic Empowerment*. London: Overseas Development Institute. Available online at: https://cdn.odi.org/media/documents/8843.pdf (accessed September 17, 2022).

Troeger, C., Pham, T., and Van Arsdale, P. (2015). Community-level perceptions and outcomes of water source development projects in timor-leste: a cross-sectional study. *Hum. Org.* 74, 164–173. doi: 10.17730/0018-7259-74.2.164 United Nations Development Program (UNDP) (2022) *The 2021/2022 Human Development Report United Nations Development Programme*. Available online at: https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/2022-09/hdr2021-22pdf_1_1.pdf (accessed November 8, 2022).

Valcourt, N., Javernick-Will, A., Walters, J. P., and Linden, K. (2020). System approaches to water, sanitation, and hygiene: a systematic literature review. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17, 702. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17030702

VeneKlasen, L., and Miller, V. (2002). Power and empowerment. *PLA Notes.* 43, 39–41.

Water for Women (2022). Partnerships for Transformation: Guidance for WASH and Rights Holder Organisations. Available online at: https://www.waterforwomenfund. org/en/news/partnerships-for-transformation-guidance-for-wash-and-rightsholderorganisations.aspx (accessed September 19, 2022).

Wigglesworth, A. (2013). The Growth of Civil Society in Timor-Leste: Three Moments of Activism. J. Contemp. Asia 43: 51-74. doi: 10.1080/00472336.2012. 735545

Wild, K., Young, F., de Araujo, G., Fernandes, A., Gomes, L., Kelly, L., et al. (2022). Healthcare responses to gender-based violence in Timor-Leste: Women want empathy, information and safety from an integrated support system. J. Interpers. Violence. 37, NP22175–NP22198. doi: 10.1177/08862605211072156

Willetts, J., and Murta, J. (2015). Motivations, Barriers and Opportunities for Water and Sanitation Enterprises in Timor-Leste, Enterprise in WASH - Research Report 6. Sydney, NSW: Institute for Sustainable Futures, University of Technology Sydney. Available online at: http://enterpriseinwash.info/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/ISF-UTS_2015_Summary-Report-6_Timor_Motivators-and-Barriers.pdf (accessed September 10, 2022).

Winterford, K. (2017). *How to Partner for Development Research*. Canberra, ACT: Research for Development Impact Network (RDI). Available online at: https://rdinetwork.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/ 08/How-to-Partner-for-Development-Research_fv_Web.pdf (accessed July 5, 2022).

World Health Organization (WHO) and the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) (2021). Progress on Household Drinking Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (2000–2020) Five Years into the SDGs. Geneva: World Health Organization (WHO) and the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). Available online at: https://washdata.org/sites/default/files/2021-07/jmp-2021-wash-households.pdf (accessed September 19, 2022).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jane Wilbur, University of London, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Naomi Carrard, University of Technology Sydney, Australia Sue Cavill, Berkshire, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Bethany A. Caruso ⊠ bcaruso@emory.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Water and Human Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Water

RECEIVED 20 September 2022 ACCEPTED 06 March 2023 PUBLISHED 28 March 2023

CITATION

Doma R, Patrick M, Conrad A, Ramanarayanan V, Arun S, Sinharoy SS and Caruso BA (2023) An exploration of sanitation-related decision-making, leadership, collective action, and freedom of movement among women in urban Tiruchirappalli, India. *Front. Water* 5:1048772.

doi: 10.3389/frwa.2023.1048772

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Doma, Patrick, Conrad, Ramanarayanan, Arun, Sinharoy and Caruso. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

An exploration of sanitation-related decision-making, leadership, collective action, and freedom of movement among women in urban Tiruchirappalli, India

Rinchen Doma¹, Madeleine Patrick², Amelia Conrad², Vinod Ramanarayanan³, Srishty Arun³, Sheela S. Sinharoy^{1,2} and Bethany A. Caruso^{1,2}*

¹Hubert Department of Global Health, Rollins School of Public Health, Atlanta, GA, United States, ²Gangarosa Department of Environmental Health, Rollins School of Public Health, Atlanta, GA, United States, ³Civic Fulcrum, Chennai, India

Introduction: Sanitation research in India has emphasized the disproportionate burden that unsafe and inadequate WASH can have on women and girls. However, there is a gap in research exploring women's agency in relation to their sanitation experiences, and agency is an integral domain of their empowerment.

Methods: Cognitive interviews related to sanitation and empowerment were conducted with women in three life stages in India to validate survey tools that measure urban sanitation and women's empowerment; this paper is a secondary thematic analysis of qualitative data generated from 11 cognitive interviews in Tiruchirappalli, India, that focus on agency, specifically the sub-domains of decision-making, leadership, collective action, and freedom of movement. Women had the freedom to move to and from sanitation facilities and initiatives, with no restrictions from household members.

Results: We observed differences at the household and community levels with women voicing more confidence, as well as the responsibility, to make sanitation-related decisions in the household than at the community level. Women mentioned strong trust and belief in women's sanitation-related leadership capabilities and support for women-led sanitation initiatives. However, many did not hold leadership positions themselves due to various limitations, from gendered responsibilities to women's lack of self-confidence. Women also discussed anecdotes of collectively working with other women toward improving the local sanitation environment.

Discussion: This analysis highlights the value of strong trust and confidence among women in their ability to make important sanitation-related decisions at all levels of society. Maintaining and strengthening trust in female community members and highlighting women-led groups' achievements in the sanitation space should be prioritized. Community spaces must incorporate provisions that encourage women to share sanitation-related opinions in an environment that respects their engagement. WASH programming must engage with authority figures, leaders, and officials when seeking to increase women's agency and involvement with sanitation-related issues.

KEYWORDS

sanitation and hygiene (WASH), gender, agency, India, Tiruchirappalli, agency-structure

1. Introduction

In 2015, the United Nations General Assembly established Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 6 to "ensure availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all" by 2030 (UN, 2015). Access to safe sanitation and clean water is integral for human health and wellbeing (WHO, 2022) yet an estimated 3.6 billion people lack access to safely managed sanitation services, including 494 million who practice open defecation (WHO and UNICEF, 2021). Within SDG 6, Target 6.2 emphasizes the need to pay "special attention" to the sanitation and hygiene needs of women, girls, and vulnerable populations (UN, 2015). Studies have highlighted how the division of water- or sanitation-related tasks and the challenges in accessing safely managed sanitation facilities disproportionately impact women and girls (Sorenson et al., 2011; Graham et al., 2016; Fisher et al., 2017). Specifically, social norms, power hierarchies, and inadequate water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) infrastructure result in gender inequities in workloads and access to WASH services (Caruso et al., 2017, 2022a,b; Routray et al., 2017; Ashraf et al., 2022; Carrard et al., 2022).

In India, despite expanding coverage of sanitation facilities throughout the country, sanitation challenges persist for women in particular, related to their sanitation access and sanitation-related experiences, responsibilities, and decision-making (IIPS and ICF, 2021). Specifically, research in both rural and urban areas has found there to be a lack of safe, private, physically, and financially accessible toilets that adequately meet the needs of women and girls (Hirve et al., 2015; Hulland et al., 2015; Sahoo et al., 2015; Khanna and Das, 2016; Caruso et al., 2017, 2018; Saleem et al., 2019; Ashraf et al., 2022). Women's sanitation experiences in India have been found to be linked to psychosocial impacts, including anxiety, depression, and distress, even among those with access to a household sanitation facility (Hirve et al., 2015; Sahoo et al., 2015; Caruso et al., 2018). Further, a study in Rajasthan, India found that responsibilities and tasks surrounding the maintenance of household sanitation predominantly fall on women (O'Reilly, 2010). Finally, in Odisha, India women were not actively engagedand in some cases bypassed-in decision-making for household sanitation infrastructure design initiatives (Routray et al., 2017).

Prevailing gendered sanitation experiences and outcomes underscore the need for exploring how sanitation conditions and policies can influence women's empowerment, particularly their agency. This study adopts the conceptualization of agency from the women's empowerment framework by van Eerdewijk et al. (2017), which defines agency as "the ability to pursue goals, express voice, and influence and make decisions free from violence and retribution" (van Eerdewijk et al., 2017). It aligns with Kabeer's (1999) presentation of agency as "the ability to define one's goals and act upon them". Existing literature on agency as a domain of women's empowerment presents it as the ability to define individual and collective goals while being able to freely act on them. This translates to agency being more than an observable action, but also as grounded in maintaining internalized motivation, meaning, and purpose toward this action (Kabeer, 1999, p. 438; Gammage et al., 2016). The present study further explores agency with a focus on the sub-domains presented in van Eerdewijk et al.'s (2017) framework: decision-making, leadership, and collective action. A recent systematic review exploring water, sanitation, and empowerment identified "freedom of movement" as an additional subdomain of agency relevant to water and sanitation, which is also included in this study (Caruso et al., 2022a). The adapted figure from the systematic review illustrates the relationship between these domains and subdomains (Figure 1) (Caruso et al., 2022a). Of the three empowerment domains explored in the review, including agency, resources, and institutional structures, the agency domain was the least explored; only one paper covered all four subdomains of agency (Caruso et al., 2022a). As a result, the review identified a need for more comprehensive research on agency and sanitation (Caruso et al., 2022a).

This qualitative study aimed to understand women's agency related to sanitation in urban Tiruchirappalli, India. The paper is structured to cover the study methodology, followed by results in the order of agency sub-domains, and finally a discussion on key themes, findings, and implications. Organizations and policymakers working on sanitation can utilize findings to inform sanitation-related interventions that empower women and girls, with specific relevance to urban India and potentially other urban contexts.

2. Methods

2.1. Study design

This study is a secondary analysis of textual data collected as part of cognitive interviews (CI) carried out in August 2019 as part of the Measuring Urban Sanitation and Empowerment (MUSE) project. The goal of MUSE is to develop and validate scales to measure sanitation-related women's empowerment in urban areas (Sinharoy et al., 2022). The primary goal of the CIs was to confirm the face validity of survey items and ensure they were culturally relevant and understood as intended (Beatty and Willis, 2007). CIs serve to strengthen the survey tools before large-scale deployment (Beatty and Willis, 2007). The resulting tool, called ARISE (Agency, Resources, and Institutional Structures for Sanitation-related Empowerment), measures subdomains of women's empowerment based on the model developed by van Eerdewijk et al. (2017), Sinharoy et al. (2022, 2023). As the CI data included rich responses and went beyond cognitive debriefing, there was scope for further analysis. This secondary analysis leverages the rich data collected during the agency-specific cognitive interviews, with an exploration of the subdomains i.e., leadership, decision-making, collective action, and, the newly identified subdomain, freedom of movement (Table 1) (van Eerdewijk et al., 2017; Caruso et al., 2022a). Sinharoy et al.'s sanitation-specific definitions of the agency sub-domains (Table 1), alongside Figure 1, informed this analysis (Caruso et al., 2022a; Sinharoy et al., 2022).

2.2. Study area

In Tiruchirappalli, which is in the state of Tamil Nadu in South India, 78.1% of households have access to a toilet facility (IIPS and ICF, 2021). A greater proportion of urban households



TABLE 1 Sanitation-specific definitions of the subdomains of agency (Sinharoy et al., 2022).

Sub-domain	Definition
Decision-making	Women influence and make decisions about sanitation inside and outside the home.
Leadership	Women assume leadership positions, effectively participate and support women's leadership in informal and formal sanitation initiatives and organizations.
Collective action	Women gain solidarity and take action collectively on sanitation-related issues.
Freedom of movement	Women have the autonomy to move freely to access sanitation facilities, collect water for sanitation-related needs and/or attend forums on sanitation issues, and women have freedom of movement despite sanitation circumstances.

in Tiruchirappalli (89.2%) have access to a toilet facility, compared to rural households (67.8%) (IIPS and ICF, 2021). 67.1% of the households in the district have improved sanitation facilities (IIPS and ICF, 2021). As of 2021, 3,483 Individual Household Latrines and 13 community toilets were built in Tiruchirappalli through the Swacch Bharat Mission (SBM), which aimed to eliminate open defecation in India and improve solid waste management (SBM, 2021). The specific neighborhood in this study was selected in partnership with the local organization IIHS (Indian Institute of Human Settlements), mainly due to its economic diversity.

2.3. Study eligibility

Women aged 18 and above who spoke either Tamil or English and lived in Tiruchirappalli, Tamil Nadu, India were eligible to participate. CIs targeted specific sub-populations of women from three life course stages (unmarried women 18–25, married women aged 25–40 years, and women aged 40 and above) as studies in India have found that women of varying life stages have different sanitation experiences, levels of agency, and decision-making power within their families (Caruso et al., 2017; Routray et al., 2017).

2.4. Recruitment strategy

Participants were recruited through convenience and snowball sampling. Trained interviewers knocked on doors in one selected neighborhood to identify eligible women across different life stages. When it was difficult to recruit enough women from a certain life stage, interviewers utilized the snowball sampling approach whereby they asked participating women or community members to recommend other potential participants who could take part in this study. Once an adequate number of women were recruited in each sub-group, interviewers stopped recruitment. A total of 11 participants from all three life stages and occupations were recruited.

2.5. Data collection

All interviewers were female, college-educated, and fluent in Tamil. Each data collection team had two members: one interviewer and one notetaker. All data collection team members underwent a 5-day training and an ethical orientation workshop. During training sessions, interviewers provided feedback to the research team about the tool to ensure that questions were both culturally sensitive and relevant to the local sanitation context. The CI guide was translated into Tamil from English.

With each eligible participant, a trained interviewer administered a short screening and demographic survey in the preferred language and then proceeded to ask the CI questions. As interviews for the larger MUSE project were domain-specific, the 11 recruited participants only answered the agency domainspecific questions. Interviewers read each survey question that was to be assessed and asked the participant to select one of the potential response options. Participants were then asked to describe what they were thinking while responding and were encouraged to describe their thought process by "thinking aloud." This process ensured the participants' thought processes reflected the correct comprehension of the survey question. For example, if the participant answered "strongly agree" to "In this community, women have a voice in making decisions about community sanitation" in the decision-making section, she was further probed, "What does this mean to you? How would you put it in your own words?". Interviewers also probed if participants appeared to be confused or hesitant about the wording or meaning of specific questions. This process was repeated for each question. At the end of the interview, there were open-ended questions for participants to express any further thoughts on the topics covered. Interviews lasted between 60 and 120 mins.

2.6. Data management and analysis

All interviews were audio-recorded, transcribed, and then translated into English by trained research assistants for analysis. The transcripts were deidentified and uploaded to a folder available only to the research team to maintain participant confidentiality. After every few interviews, data collection teams debriefed with the onsite Emory MUSE team who maintained a debriefing workbook.

An initial codebook with deductive codes based on both the subdomains of agency (decision-making, leadership, collective action, and freedom of movement) and the CI guide (Supplementary material A) was developed. Each transcript was then uploaded into MAXQDA, a qualitative and mixed-method analysis computer software (version 22.1.0) (VERBI Software, 2021). The first author (RD) utilized analytic memos for the inductive code development process, noting themes and ideas generated from the data. After the inductive codes were added and the codebook (Supplementary material B) was finalized, the textual data was fully coded by author (RD) and the transcripts were organized according to these codes. The codebook development and coding process included regular meetings and communication with author (BC), and discussions with members of the Emory MUSE team, including authors AC, MP, and SS. Summary code reports were generated to begin a deeper exploration of coded data and review patterns and themes specific to each code. Applied thematic analysis explored properties and key dimensions of decision-making, leadership, collective action, and freedom of movement (Guest et al., 2012).

Salient themes alongside supporting quotes are presented in the results section and have been further validated by review of authors directly involved in data collection (SA and VR). The findings have intentionally not been quantified or represented with numbers to prevent generalization and overinterpretation of findings (Maxwell, 2010, p. 470–480; Neale et al., 2014; Hennink et al., 2020). Additionally, the data included spontaneous reporting from participants, so it is recommended to limit enumeration when not all participants had an opportunity to speak about a certain concept (Neale et al., 2014).

2.7. Ethics and consent

The MUSE study was approved by the Emory University Institutional Review Board (USA; IRB 00110271) in the United States and by the Azim Premji University Institutional Review Board (India; Ref. No. 2019/SOD/Faculty/5.1) in India. Verbal consent to participate and be recorded was obtained immediately before each interview.

3. Results

Women who were interviewed represented various life stages, educational backgrounds, and occupational statuses (Table 2). The age range of the women interviewed was 19–57 years and comprised women at three life stages: unmarried (n = 3), married (n = 5), and over 40 (n = 3). More than half of the women (n = 7) had sanitation facilities in their dwellings. All the women indicated caring for dependents and that sanitation is an issue in their community.

The results are organized by subdomains of agency-freedom of movement, decision-making, leadership, and collective actionstarting with the individual level, to the household level, and thereafter, the community level. Our findings showed participants had the freedom and autonomy to move to and from sanitation facilities and initiatives, with no restrictions from household members. With decision-making, we observed differences at the household and community levels with participants voicing more confidence, as well as the responsibility, to make sanitation-related decisions in the household than at the community level. When discussing leadership, they mentioned strong trust and belief in women's sanitation-related leadership capabilities and support for women-led sanitation initiatives. However, participants did not hold leadership positions themselves due to various limitations, from gendered responsibilities to women's lack of self-confidence. Finally, for collective action, they discussed personal anecdotes of women collectively working toward improving local sanitation infrastructure and providing sanitation/hygiene education. The challenges women faced with collective action were otherwise the same as those that limited leadership. Key themes and patterns that explore women's sanitation-related experiences within each subdomain of agency were identified and are further discussed in the following sections. Of note, when discussing community-level sanitation efforts or challenges, participants sometimes referred to garbage and sewage (which remains consistent with Swachh Bharat Mission's scope for national sanitation), instead of solely toilet use which frames the definition of sanitation for this research.

TABLE 2 Participant characteristics for agency cognitive interviews (n = 11).

	Mean	Range	
Age	33.3	(19–57)	
	Total number (N)	Total percentage (%)	
Life stage			
Unmarried (18-25)	3	27.2	
Married (25-40)	5	45.5	
Over 40	3	27.2	
Type of home ^a			
Single family home	9	81.8	
Apartment	1	9.1	
Compound with shared living spaces	1	9.1	
Marital status			
Single/never married	2	18.2	
Married	7	63.6	
Unmarried, living with partner	0	0.00	
Separated/divorced	0	0.00	
Widowed	2	18.2	
Education			
Completed primary or less	6	54.5	
Completed secondary to tertiary	1	9.1	
Completed bachelor's or more	4	36.3	
Occupation			
Unemployed	7	63.6	
Employed ^b	3	27.3	
Student	1	9.1	
Religion			
Hindu	10	90.9	
Catholic	1	9.1	
Location of wat	er source		
Own dwelling	6	54.5	
Own yard/plot	4	36.3	
Elsewhere	1	9.1	
Sanitation location			
Own dwelling	7	63.6	
Own yard/plot	3	27.3	
Elsewhere	1	9.1	

^aMissing data for one interview.

^bTwo participants were self-employed and one participant was both self-employed and employed.

3.1. Freedom of movement

Participants reported having the autonomy to move freely to access sanitation facilities and attend sanitation-focused meetings and events most of the time. When barriers to women's sanitationrelated freedom of movement were discussed, they were often at the societal and community level, rather than at the household level. In urgent situations, participants expressed the freedom to use toilets in other known households: "Now there is a latrine, there's one at uncle's house. In that emergency, we can go there" (CI01, Married).

While participants could freely access sanitation facilities and attend sanitation-related meetings, there was overall agreement that women should inform their family members when leaving the house to ensure safety and awareness of their whereabouts: "If I am going to a program, in the house you should let them know, right?... The people in the house must know that I'm going here, to let them know, definitely I inform and then go" (CI07, Unmarried). Most participants did not seek permission for any sanitationrelated movement and had a common belief that women, regardless of whether married or unmarried should not have to ask for permission to leave the house for sanitation purposes: "I: Do you have to ask a lot, or can you go without asking? P: Without saying we can go. We can go and come [back]." (CI02, Married). In contrast, two married participants believed that those who are newly married may have restrictions on leaving the house for sanitation-related purposes or initiatives. Only a few participants required accompaniment if they wished to attend sanitationfocused meetings or programs: "Alone if I go, they won't let me. If 4 people go together, then they'll ask me to go and come back." (CI08, Married). In situations where only one person was accompanying the woman, family members felt comfortable only if the person accompanying was a relative or a close friend.

3.2. Decision-making

3.2.1. Household decision-making

Most participants believed that women should make decisions about sanitation and water issues in the household and that the men in the household should seek women's views if they make decisions. Many participants described how women would influence their family's decisions, while others noted that women's influence was limited. One participant said, "*If women tell, men will listen*" (CI-08, Married) about all household-related decisions. Joint decision-making with their husband, when possible, was considered best for their household's sanitation infrastructure and environment. However, if mutual decision-making was not possible, many believed that women should be the deciding authority for sanitation-related issues.

Participants generally voiced confidence in women's ability to participate in household decision-making. They said that family members, including husbands, were typically receptive and supportive of women's sanitation-related decisions and choices. Participants also agreed that in the family, women have the right to decide where toilets or latrines should be located. A key theme was the perception that women know what is best for the children and
family members, and so husbands will listen to women's opinions: "Only when a woman is involved, can a man do." (CI11, Over 40). All the participants described having a decision-making influence in determining how a sanitation facility environment is cleaned and maintained. However, some participants expressed limited decision-making influence regarding their household's sanitation construction and believed it was acceptable for husbands to make the final decision without seeking their views. This idea will be further expanded in the section below that discusses women's perceptions of men's decision-making roles at the household level.

An overarching belief was that women had primary responsibility for the care of the household's sanitation needs and environment, so their role in making decisions about cleaning and maintenance of the household sanitation facility was a foregone conclusion rather than an active expression of their agency. The sentiment of "not having a choice" with maintaining and caring for the household's sanitation needs was common. One participant said that she would decide to divide tasks among her family "Only if I'm not able to do the work." (CI05, Over 40) and when asked about water-related decision-making noted that "There is no need for decision-making" because she must do all the work in the family anyway. Another participant supported this sentiment, saying that while she could theoretically request her husband to purchase items like soap or cleaning liquid for the sanitation facility, she does not do so because maintaining the sanitation environment is her responsibility.

Participants reported having decision-making power over small expenses but noted that larger expenditures required more household discussion. Some women had been involved in decisions related to large expenses (e.g., construction or repairs of a sanitation facility), while all women were involved in decisions related to smaller expenses (e.g., buying cleaning agents and soap). Many believed financial management to be better handled by women. One participant believed this because more women are getting educated, and "[women] look after their family budget at home, about how to spend. So, because of that they can look after" (CI04, Unmarried). There was variation in women's experiences with major sanitation-related investments and purchases. Some participants believed that larger financial decisions should be made jointly. One participant stated, "I can [be involved with decisions about big sanitation-related purchases] with the help of my husband only. All decisions should take place with men around" (CI05, Over 40). Another participant agreed, saying "We decide such things [high budget decisions] together" (CI10, Married)

Men were either described as the final decision-maker in the family or as a supporter of women's household sanitation decisions. Some women believed that the male head of the family should seek women's views when making these decisions, but ultimately, they found it acceptable for male heads to make the final decisions for the household. One participant believed it would be "good" if her husband made important sanitation decisions without asking her as they normally align with her decisions. Another specifically described that her husband could make the correct sanitation decisions and mentioned "when I can myself make those decisions, they can too" (CI09, Married). While many participants generally believed that male partners making important sanitation-related decisions without asking their wives is completely unacceptable:

"Only they [women] know everything, about where the waste is thrown, water need[ed]" (CI11, Over 40), an alternative idea was that few participants appreciated their male partners taking care of the household's sanitation needs on their own accord. An overarching idea was that men must consider women's views when making household sanitation decisions as participants believed women are more aware of household sanitation needs and the environment.

3.2.2. Community decision-making

Despite their comfort with many household-level decisions, participants voiced more challenges with feeling comfortable openly sharing their opinions or having their decisions accepted at the community level. Several participants noted that, while women have opportunities to voice their opinions, community members and organizations may not accept or act upon them— *"But they [men] don't agree with our opinions. They tell and ask us to accept that only. If we tell, they don't accept it... they say that they [men] have spoken and they [men] have done it." (CI01, Married). There was, however, consensus that women must be involved in the community's sanitation and water decisions. Participants were more aware of community-level sanitation matters but felt it would be beneficial to have mutual decision-making between women and men (with whoever is more capable of having the final say).*

Despite participants believing that women are more aware and proactive about sanitation issues in the community, they believed that their role in decision-making remains limited. Participants mentioned that women do more sanitation work for their community and primarily take care of their family's sanitation needs, especially because men do not have time to stay involved due to their work responsibilities. Another participant noted, "Women take part more than men. Because when it comes to sanitation, women only open their mouths." (CI11, Over 40). Overall, many believed that women know more about community sanitation, and it is their duty to be involved in sanitation but noted that they have fewer opportunities than men to influence their community's sanitation-related decisions, limiting their role in community decision-making. All participants completely agreed that women should be more involved in making these decisions and that their community leaders and organizations must seek women's opinions to fully understand the local sanitation environment.

Participants were very comfortable being involved in decisionmaking at community sanitation meetings that comprised only women. Generally, participants indicated feeling completely comfortable expressing their sanitation-related opinions when among other women, even if there were women who disagreed with their views during discussions. Participants' community-level decision-making was observed in the construction of sanitationrelated infrastructure or addressing other community issues such as garbage disposal, clogged drains, or street maintenance. The overall perception was that "women-only" groups provided a space where women could listen and share their opinions with no restrictions on topics that were covered.

In contrast, there were accounts that men's presence in these community meetings created an environment that stifled some women's open expression about sanitation, especially during disagreements or when contrasting viewpoints were presented. As one participant described, "P: If men were not present then women would be able to participate. I: Why is that? P: Men ask why the women are interfering when they are talking" (CI05, Over 40). She noted, "I won't talk at all," when asked if she would be able to express her opinions in a meeting where men and women are present. It was more challenging when men led these forums or meetings, especially when topics related to constructing sanitation facilities or personal hygiene were discussed. It was much easier to have conversations surrounding "simpler" topics such as maintaining the drainage, garbage, or local streets. One participant noted, "I don't think men will appreciate women talking. So, it is better to gauge the group and then talk. Whereas, if the meeting is conducted exclusively by women, then she can freely discuss her issues" (CI10, Married). In voicing her opinion, one participant asked "How can we talk about such [general sanitation] issues in the presence of a man? It is little difficult to speak but more convenient when men and women are present" (CI11, Over 40). A minority of participants agreed that men should be making sanitation-related decisions for their community, and one participant mentioned that while men can solely make decisions for the community, joint decision-making is more prevalent in the household. In contrast, another participant mentioned that men in her community encouraged women to share their sanitationrelated opinions: "Be it menstrual problems or sanitation, anything, be it ladies or girls, they ask us to openly tell them. Even if only men are present, they encourage us to speak, so we can tell. It's not wrong. We can tell all this because a lot of diseases are spreading because of improper sanitation" (CI04, Unmarried).

3.3. Leadership

Few participants reported holding formal or informal leadership positions for sanitation initiatives in their community. Projects led by women included advocating for toilet construction, petitioning for sanitation-related changes in their community, and organizing sanitation education workshops. One participant, who identified herself as an informal leader, mentioned that a lack of response from the local sanitation office resulted in her leading a group of women organizing a community cleaning initiative. Participants also reported that community members listened to their opinions and that they informally led meetings about keeping toilets clean, maintaining sanitation facilities, and discussing hygiene concerns among small groups of 10 people or fewer. Many participants, however, said that they were not leaders of any community-based sanitation organizations and/or that they did not wish to hold leadership positions. Reasons for this sentiment included: no time due to major responsibilities at home, perceptions of the education level or knowledge required of a leader, lack of connection with the local community, lack of acceptance of women as leaders in the community, the perception that others were more capable, and a simple lack of interest.

All participants believed in women's capacity as leaders for sanitation initiatives. They expressed that they, alongside other women in the community, would support female sanitation organization leaders completely. Some participants noted that women's overall expertise in household sanitation and hygiene made them more suitable leaders. Participants mentioned that women can effectively lead, confidently make decisions, and efficiently address the community's needs, particularly women's sanitation and hygiene concerns. One participant noted "*If women are there, I'll completely trust*" (CI06, Married).

Participants expressed a range of opinions about family and local community members' support for women's leadership. Most participants reported that both male and female family members would support them completely if they took on a leadership position. Only one participant mentioned that she did not know if female family members would offer her support to lead a sanitation initiative and that her husband would not encourage her to take up a leading role. Some women also felt that the community was completely accepting and encouraging of women's leadership for sanitation initiatives, as long as the woman was competent. A participant explained, "They [community members] accept them completely. If a leader stands, they take them. If they think she's right." (CI11, Over 40). This participant emphasized that it was most important to have someone effective, regardless of gender "if they're doing something good for us, it doesn't matter if it is a man or a woman" (CI11, Over 40).

At the same time, some participants indicated that community members, particularly men, do not fully accept women's leadership. One participant attempted to lead a sanitation group through her church to clean the community and spread sanitation education. However, the community undermined the participant's decisionmaking power and did not accept her leadership. She explained "We were a small group who tried to clean and create awareness through our church. We were about 6-7 people, but people frowned upon our work so we stopped." (CI05, Over 40). Other participants described how men were particularly unsupportive and desired to be "the first" leaders. Additionally, some participants explained that men believe only their opinions to be true and felt they could not share issues with women. One participant noted, "[men] can't accept my being in authority. I'll say something they'll say another thing, which will lead to disagreements. "Who is she to tell us off?" is the type of mentality they have." (CI05, Over 40).

There was variation in participants' perceptions of whether local leaders and authority figures would support women's leadership in sanitation organizations. While some noted that leaders are completely accepting, others believed they would only be partially accepting or not at all. A prevalent sentiment was that if local leaders knew the woman's background and qualifications for the leadership position, they completely accepted her leadership. As one participant reported, "*If they don't know who it is, what they'll do, getting their support is difficult. So, similarly for this also, complete support won't be there, they will partially support*". Similarly, a participant mentioned that local leaders would not accept her as a leader because she is new in the area and has not spoken to anyone in the community.

Many participants indicated that they did not believe that men alone should lead sanitation initiatives, explaining that men cannot take care of the house better than women, do not care about sanitation or hygiene, do not have time to lead such initiatives due to their work, and that woman cannot talk openly to male leaders about certain issues. One participant shared her personal experience of continuously speaking with male councilors but never feeling heard by them. Participants also supported the idea of both women and men being leaders together. They expressed that both women and men are equal, and that men's and women's opinions can be heard if both are leaders. A participant added "... when there is a situation with just male leaders, they don't care, we [women] won't feel comfortable.. I say this out of personal experience. But when there are male as well as female leaders, work definitely gets done...." (CI05, Over 40).

3.4. Collective action

Participants agreed that collective action by the community is the best way to address a sanitation problem. Many mentioned experiences where women successfully collaborated to improve their communities' existing sanitation environment and organized sanitation and hygiene education initiatives. Some participants perceived strong solidarity among women in their community; others, however, doubted whether women in their community would work together if a common sanitation issue presented itself and persisted.

Participants were described as more proactive in voicing their sanitation-related opinions and acting on sanitation improvement in the community compared to men. An example of women's sanitation-related collective action was a women's group that advocated for free public toilets and bathing facilities for women. The group was inspired by observing how women coming from other towns, especially for funerals, faced difficulty locating toilets. Participants in the community who previously practiced open defecation also worked together to advocate for household toilets: "We used to go in the open. After that slowly everyone started building it [a toilet]. For those who don't have [a toilet], we spoke with them and formed a group of 5.5 of us joined... and told them [the local sanitation office] that we don't have a toilet. Sanitation should be clean we told, and we asked we need one for the house." (CI03, Over 40). Another women-led initiative was redeveloping existing public toilets in the neighborhood. When asked about collective sanitation efforts, women reported having acted collectively to address other issues, including drainage, garbage disposal, and water shortages around the community.

Participants described similar barriers to engaging in collective action as they did to engaging in leadership roles. Participants voiced a lack of time, being new in the community, work responsibilities, household responsibilities, and lack of acceptance as reasons for not being personally involved in sanitation-related community groups. Time was one of the most common limitations: "I don't know about others, I work from morning to evening outside, so I don't know about the situation now. Plus, I've been on leave for the past one month." (CI05, Over 40). Another participant added that her role as the sole earner and caretaker in the household left no time for joining sanitation groups. A younger female student mentioned, "The reason is for all these years, I was studying and then working at a job, so I have no time and I didn't think about it also." (CI04, Unmarried). Another participant, who was newly married and recently moved to the neighborhood, lacked familiarity with local sanitation-related community groups and community members: "*I don't know... how to get membership ... I just came here. So, I don't have that much familiarity with the area or know that many people too*" (CI06, Unmarried).

While a rare perception, some participants believed that women may find it difficult to work together; resolving a sanitation issue together would be challenging because "whenever ladies get together, they end up arguing" (CI10, Married). When discussing whether participants were open to providing resources such as money and energy for helping develop sanitation facilities, distrust in the motivation of those who collect these funds was expressed by some. "Depends on the people…some people work just for the cause, but some others might launder money" (CI05, Over 40). Uncertainty on whether women would be willing to give their time and money for sanitation-related projects was expressed at times while others stated that those who cannot afford to contribute money would invest their time in these initiatives instead.

Some participants described facing resistance when interacting with authority figures, government officials, and the local sanitation office to address sanitation problems, but reported having success working with men in the community. For example, the local sanitation office did not take any steps when women expressed concerns about the "messy" community environment. Additionally, another participant expressed that "Male leaders don't care much about hygiene and sanitation. We tried talking to the male councilors a lot; they never listened to us" (CI05, Over 40). After the local government failed to organize cleaning efforts, women collectively paid for cleaning common areas in the neighborhood. On the other hand, most participants expressed feeling comfortable working with male community members for sanitation initiatives. While women's groups often collaborated to address sanitation-related issues, men and women in the community also jointly worked together for sanitation improvement. Collectively, men and women have worked together to solve common sanitation issues-such as building a toilet for the community, collecting funds for sanitation infrastructure, acquiring land/location for related issues, and sanitation education.

4. Discussion

This qualitative analysis aimed to explore the subdomains of women's sanitation-related agency-decision-making, leadership, collective action, and freedom of movement-in urban areas of Tiruchirappalli, India. Our results demonstrated how trust in women's competency, belief in their ability to work together, and expectations of women's duties influenced their leadership, collective action, and aspects of their household and communitylevel decision-making. While participants showed strong support for women's leadership and decision-making abilities for local sanitation initiatives, there were many day-to-day barriers to exercising their agency in their lived experiences. Participants expressed a lack of confidence, interest, or time for involvement in sanitation-related initiatives. Support from male partners and family members to pursue leadership roles and attend sanitation meetings was common among those interviewed. However, some women expressed discomfort with communitylevel decision-making amongst other male community members.

Furthermore, our findings emphasized the value of supportive leadership and sanitation governance for women's involvement in sanitation initiatives or discussions; we found women expressing how challenges faced with local governance and community norms affected their collective action, leadership, and freedom of movement.

The results of our study provide insight into potential entry points for sanitation programming to bring about gender transformative change. MacArthur et al. (2022) describe how gender transformative approaches need to address deeply rooted systemic inequalities within the relevant sector sector. According to MacArthur et al. (2022) gender transformative approaches "aim to reshape gender dynamics by redistributing resources, expectations and responsibilities between women, men, and nonbinary gender identities, often focusing on norms, power, and collective action." The results from this study introduce different areas of focus for gender transformative change in sanitation among the study population. The interaction between women's individual and community-level agency with the systems within local sanitation governing bodies emphasizes an entry point for higher-level structural change. Overseeing and restricting the bodies that process community requests and oversee community engagement can ultimately feed into better support among women to collectively act or pursue sanitation leadership roles. Our results and interpreted themes in the discussion align with MacArthur et al.'s (2022) third principle i.e., "Grounded in strategic gender interests" as they unpack causes related to challenges to women's sanitation-related agency. These can be utilized to strengthen sanitation interventions at the individual, household, community, and organizational levels, or prevent sanitation interventions from contributing to the existing challenges women face with agency. Similarly, across the WASH sector, it is important to explore agency in relation to water and hygiene and integrate gender transformative approaches in their respective programming.

4.1. Trust and belief in women's competency

Participants deemed women's sanitation-related leadership completely trustworthy, which is consistent with existing research. Specifically, research in rural Sri Lanka found that community members place strong trust in women leaders for water and sanitation projects in their villages (Aladuwaka and Momsen, 2010). In our findings, trust in women's leadership facilitated some participants' engagement in sanitation initiatives and positively influenced collective action. Similarly, research in rural Kenya with household heads found that high trust in community leaders influenced collective engagement and participation in WASH initiatives (Abu et al., 2019). A study in Indonesia among women who engage in WASH-related economic activities, including as business owners, mobilizers, and public sector employees, highlighted how having a trusted network of supportive women in one's local area could contribute to women's empowerment (Indarti et al., 2019).

Participants expressed more trust and faith in women's financial management for sanitation organizations than in men's, supported

by their trust in women managing finances and working together to make decisions for the community's sanitation environment, which is a sentiment noted in research elsewhere as well. Research in northern Kenya that explored women's role in water management and conflict resolution, demonstrated how not only women but the larger community placed more trust in financial decisions and resource utilization when women were involved (Yerian et al., 2014). In our research, participants who had been leaders of formal and informal sanitation groups described successful initiatives that brought forth sanitation improvement in their community. Recognizing women's competency in addressing sanitation issues could increase the community's trust in women's capabilities and provide successful examples of women-led sanitation initiatives. Therefore, maintaining and strengthening trust in female community members, and highlighting women-led groups' achievements in the sanitation space should be prioritized in WASH programming.

4.2. Expectations of women's duties

This study, consistent with many others, found that women are often responsible for sanitation-related maintenance and cleanliness in the household. Because women do the majority of sanitation upkeep in the household, they feel that they are more capable of making decisions on household sanitation-related issues than community-related issues. However, the gendered roles and responsibilities that provide women with this expertise also serve as barriers, with many women having neither the time nor the energy to participate in community-level decision-making or sanitation initiatives, or to pursue leadership roles. Some women may prefer not to have sole responsibility for these household sanitation decisions but feel restricted due to these gendered responsibilities. Similarly, a study in Odisha, India demonstrated that prevailing socio-cultural practices and a lack of exposure to the community outside the household limited women's sanitation-related decisionmaking power (Routray et al., 2017). Our findings showed freedom of movement for sanitation-related purposes was restricted, most commonly among the newly married, a finding consistent with a study in Odisha, India where family members did not give recently married women permission to attend sanitation-related focus group discussions (Caruso et al., 2017).

Despite many participants supporting women's ability to make sanitation-related decisions, as found in other studies, some participants in this research lacked the self-confidence to contribute to sanitation-related discussions in their community, and organizations also failed to recognize women's expertise. Research has highlighted the impact of gendered social norms on women's perceptions of their abilities to lead sanitation initiatives (Young, 2005; Jalali, 2021). While women's expertise in sanitation was recognized by this study's participants and other research, our findings showed participants sought joint decision-making for large sanitation decisions and financial decisions, whereas they were more comfortable making smaller decisions alone, such as fixing the tiles/lights or buying cleaning agents. Existing research also has found women have less access to financial resources and are often financially dependent on their husbands or male family members to make larger decisions (Routray et al., 2017; Jalali, 2021). In addition, Routray et al. call attention to NGOs that rarely seek female household members' participation or opinions for latrine construction projects and instead directly approach male household members (Routray et al., 2017). Equitable approaches are required to ensure that women's opinions on effective methods to increase female sanitation-related involvement are considered while ensuring that interventions neither further marginalize women nor add burden to their existing responsibilities.

4.3. Men's support and role in gender-sensitive WASH

In contrast to other studies, our findings show that male family members were supportive of women's involvement in sanitation groups and did not limit women's sanitation-related freedom of movement. Research in urban north-Indian cities found male family members restrict women's sanitation-related freedom of movement and decision-making (Singh, 2013; Kulkarni et al., 2017). Despite male family members' support, participants in our study found it difficult to express their opinions comfortably in public settings where male community members were present, especially when discussing personal hygiene and sanitationrelated experiences; some of this difficulty was attributed to past experiences where women's concerns were not respectfully received in community spaces. Research in central Vietnam among men and women recognized a gap in "solidarity within and between women and men" and "the extent to which women"s perspectives were listened to at the community level' for WASH decisions (Leahy et al., 2017). Leahy et al. (2017) emphasized a need to shift men's views regarding the value of women's communitylevel participation. There is a need for gender-sensitive WASH programming to focus not only on women but also to work with men to transform the power dynamics and social norms that determine women's sanitation experiences. Our findings are especially supportive of Leahy et al.'s (2017) push for interventions that allow men and women in the community to discuss their opinions both separately and together, which could help reduce discomfort without completely segregating men and women during sanitation discussions.

4.4. Leadership's support and sanitation-related governance

Our findings align with existing research, which shows that local leadership, sanitation programming, and the community's sanitation expectations limited women's agency. In Indonesia, research found that local leaders and community members criticized or were confused by women's engagement in sanitationrelated initiatives (Indarti et al., 2019). Our results indicated that local leaders were more likely to support women's leadership when the women were well-known and had clear qualifications, suggesting that a woman's social capital may influence the support or acceptance she receives as a sanitation leader. We also found that women were discouraged by previous negative experiences they faced with local leadership or organizations; some expressed frustration with government bodies that failed to address issues surrounding dirty streets or spoke about how high government officials only adequately address women's complaints if the women have high positions in organizations. Similarly, in their research in northern India, Scott et al. (2017) showed how "fragmented and opaque administrative accountability" created barriers for women to gain access to those leadership positions. The present study supports calls to engage authority figures, leaders, and officials when seeking to increase women's agency and involvement with sanitation-related issues (Leahy et al., 2017; Scott et al., 2017). Women's roles are integral in encouraging equity in sanitation initiatives and leadership internally recognizing women's vital role in sanitation-related decision-making (Leahy et al., 2017).

4.5. Strengths and limitations

The cognitive interviews allowed women to share their perspectives and experiences in response to the agency-related survey questions. As the cognitive interviews were primarily aimed to validate the MUSE survey tool, the structure, and purpose of the cognitive interview limited probing opportunities for specific responses. Open-ended questions might have elicited more detail. Still, the cognitive interviews elicited details about women's perceptions and experiences related to women's sanitation-related agency, including factors affecting leadership, decision-making, freedom of movement, and collective action at the individual, household, and community levels. While men's perspectives were not included in this analysis, the women participants provided their perceptions on whether men were supportive of women's sanitation-related agency and at times, spoke about men's role in community and household-level WASH. Future research could explore men's perspectives and support for women's agency with sanitation. Additionally, there is scope for future research to explore the sub-domains of agency in a rural setting as factors such as access to resources, land terrain, cultural norms and social structure could lead to different results. There was also variability in some participants' perception of sanitation with references made to garbage and sewage, instead of solely toilet use (i.e., the definition of sanitation used for this research). However, participants were not directed to speak only about toilet use to prevent bias in the interviews and clearly capture their honest perspectives. This was noted in the results section to ensure transparent reporting of the participants' sanitation experiences.

5. Conclusion

Women's agency is central to women's empowerment. This qualitative analysis highlights the value of strong trust among women and confidence in their ability to make important sanitation-related decisions at all levels of society in urban Tiruchirappalli. Programs must recognize women's expertise in large or small sanitation-related issues. Highlighting successes among both formal and informal women-led sanitation initiatives may encourage women to participate in similar initiatives. Communities should have physical and social environments where women's sanitation-related opinions can be comfortably shared and governance that respects and encourages women's engagement in addressing sanitation issues. There is a need to engage men when addressing gender-based sanitationrelated restrictions. Future efforts in WASH programs and research should address and explore women's agency in conjunction with other empowerment domains, (i.e., resources and institutional structures).

Data availability statement

The datasets analyzed in this article will be posted to a public data repository upon publication of the research. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to BC, bcaruso@emory.edu.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Emory University Institutional Review Board (USA; IRB 00110271) and Azim Premji University Institutional Review Board (India; Ref. No. 2019/SOD/Faculty/5.1). The participants provided verbal consent to participate and be recorded in this study.

Author contributions

RD: formal analysis, interpretation, data curation, validation, writing—original edit, writing—review and editing, and final approval. MP and AC: investigation, methodology, data curation, project administration, validation, writing—review and editing, and final approval. VR: investigation, data curation, project administration, validation, writing—review and editing, and final approval. SA: validation, writing—review and editing, and final approval. SS: conceptualization, methodology, funding acquisition, writing—review and editing, and final approval. SS: conceptualization, resources, supervision, validation, writing—review and editing, and final approval. BC: conceptualization, formal analysis, interpretation, methodology, funding acquisition, project administration, resources, software, supervision, validation, writing—review and editing, and final

approval. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported, in whole or in part, by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation OPP1191625. Under the grant conditions of the Foundation, a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 Generic License has already been assigned to the Author Accepted Manuscript version that might arise from this submission.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful for the engagement and cooperation of the 11 women from Tiruchirappalli, India who participated in the cognitive interviews. We also appreciate the work and efforts of the local data collection team.

Conflict of interest

VR and SA were employed by Civic Fulcrum.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/frwa.2023. 1048772/full#supplementary-material

References

Abu, T. Z., Bisung, E., and Elliott, S. J. (2019). What if your husband doesn't feel the pressure? An exploration of women's involvement in WaSH decision making in Nyanchwa, Kenya. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 16, 1763. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16101763

Aladuwaka, S., and Momsen, J. (2010). Sustainable development, water resources management and women's empowerment: the Wanaraniya Water Project in Sri Lanka. *Gender Develop.* 18:1, 43–58. doi: 10.1080/13552071003600026

Ashraf, S., Kuang, J., Das, U., Shpenev, A., Thulin, E., Bicchieri, C., et al. (2022). Social beliefs and women's role in sanitation decision making in Bihar, India: an exploratory mixed method study. *PLoS ONE* 17, e0262643. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0262643

Beatty, P. C., and Willis, G. B. (2007). Research synthesis: the practice of cognitive interviewing. *Public Opin. Q.* 71, 287–311. doi: 10.1093/poq/n fm006

Carrard, N., MacArthur, J., Leahy, C., Soeters, S., and Willetts, J. (2022). The water, sanitation and hygiene gender equality measure (WASH-GEM): conceptual foundations and domains of change. *Women's Stud. Int. Forum.* 91. doi: 10.1016/j.wsif.2022.102563

Caruso, B. A., Clasen, T., Yount, K. M., Cooper, H., Hadley, C., Haardörfer, R., et al. (2017). Assessing women's negative sanitation experiences and concerns: the development of a novel sanitation insecurity measure. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health.* 14, 755. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14070755

Caruso, B. A., Conrad, A., Patrick, M., Owens, A., Kviten, K., Zarella, O., et al. (2022a). Water, sanitation, and women's empowerment: a systematic review and qualitative metasynthesis. *PLOS Water* 1, e0000026. doi: 10.1371/journal.pwat.0000026

Caruso, B. A., Cooper, H. L. F., Haardörfer, R., Yount, K. M., Routray, P., Torondel, B., et al. (2018). The association between women's sanitation experiences and mental health: a cross-sectional study in Rural, Odisha India. *SSM Popul Health.* 5, 257–266. doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2018.06.005

Caruso, B. A., Sclar, G. D., Routray, P., Nagel, C. L., Majorin, F., Sola, S., et al. (2022b). Effect of a low-cost, behaviour-change intervention on latrine use and safe disposal of child faeces in rural Odisha, India: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Planetary Health.* 6, e110–e121. doi: 10.1016/S2542-5196(21)0 0324-7

Fisher, N., Cavill, S., and Reed, B. (2017). Mainstreaming gender in the WASH sector: dilution or distillation? *Gender Develop.* 25.2, 185–204. doi: 10.1080/13552074.2017.1331541

Gammage, S., Kabeer, N., and van der Meulen Rodgers, Y. (2016). Voice and Agency: Where Are We Now?. *Fem. Econ.* 22, 1–29. doi: 10.1080/13545701.2015.1101308

Graham, J., Hirai, M., and Kim, S. (2016). An analysis of water collection labor among women and children in 24 Sub-Saharan African countries. *PLoS ONE* 11, e0155981. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155981

Guest, G., MacQueen, K. M., and Namey, E. E. (2012). Applied Thematic Analysis. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc. doi: 10.4135/9781483384436

Hennink, M., Hutter, I., and Bailey, A. (2020) *Qualitative Research Methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications Limited.

Hirve, S., Lele, P., Sundaram, N., Chavan, U., Weiss, M., Steinmann, P., et al. (2015). Psychosocial stress associated with sanitation practices: experiences of women in a rural community in India. *J. Water Sanitation Hygiene Develop.* 5, 115–126. doi: 10.2166/washdev.2014.110

Hulland, K. R., Chase, R. P., Caruso, B. A., Swain, R., Biswal, B., Sahoo, K. C., et al. (2015). Sanitation, stress, and life stage: a systematic data collection study among women in Odisha, India. *PLoS ONE* 10, e0141883. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0 141883

Indarti, N., Rostiani, R., Megaw, T., and Willetts, J. (2019). Women's involvement in economic opportunities in water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) in Indonesia: examining personal experiences and potential for empowerment. *Develop. Stud. Res.* 6, 76–91. doi: 10.1080/21665095.2019.1604149

Jalali, R. (2021). The role of water, sanitation, hygiene, and gender norms on women's health: a conceptual framework. *Gendered Perspect. Int. Develop.* 1, 21–44. doi: 10.1353/gpi.2021.0001

Kabeer, N. (1999). Resources, agency, achievements: reflections on the measurement of women's empowerment. *Dev. Change* 30, 435–464.

Khanna, T., and Das, M. (2016). Why gender matters in the solution towards safe sanitation? Reflections from rural India. *Glob. Public Health.* 11, 1185–1201. doi: 10.1080/17441692.2015.1062905

Kulkarni, S., O'Reilly, K., and Bhat, S. (2017). No relief: lived experiences of inadequate sanitation access of poor urban women in India. *Gender Develop.* 25, 167–183. doi: 10.1080/13552074.2017.1331531

Leahy, C., Winterford, K., Nghiem, T., Kelleher, J., Leong, L., Willetts, W., et al. (2017). Transforming gender relations through water, sanitation, and hygiene programming and monitoring in Vietnam. *Gender Develop.* 25, 283–301. doi: 10.1080/13552074.2017.1331530

MacArthur, J., Carrard, N., Davila, F., Grant, M., Megaw, T., Willetts, J., et al. (2022). Gender-transformative approaches in international development: a brief history and five uniting principles. *Womens Stud. Int. Forum.* 95, 102635. doi: 10.1016/j.wsif.2022.102635

Maxwell, J. A. (2010). Using numbers in qualitative research. *Qualitat. Inquiry.* 16, 475–82. doi: 10.1177/1077800410364740

Neale, J., Miller, P., and West, R. (2014). Reporting quantitative information in qualitative research: guidance for authors and reviewers. *Addiction* 109, 175–176. doi: 10.1111/add.12408

International Institute for Population Sciences (IIPS) and ICF. (2021). National Family Health Survey (NFHS-5), 2019-21: India, Volume I. Mumbai: IIPS.

O'Reilly, K. (2010). Combining sanitation and women's participation in water supply: an example from Rajasthan. *Dev. Pract.* 20, 45–56. doi: 10.1080/09614520903436976

Routray, P., Torondel, B., Clasen, T., and Schmidt, W. P. (2017). Women's role in sanitation decision making in rural coastal Odisha, India. *PLoS ONE* 12, e0178042. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0178042

Sahoo, K. C., Hulland, K. R., Caruso, B. A., Swain, R., Freeman, M. C., Panigrahi, P., et al. (2015). Sanitation-related psychosocial stress: a grounded theory study of women across the life-course in Odisha, India. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 139, 80–89. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.06.031

Saleem, M., Burdett, T., and Heaslip, V. (2019). Health and social impacts of open defecation on women: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health.* 19, 158. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6423-z

SBM (2021). About Us|Swachh Bharat Mission—Gramin, Ministry of Drinking Water and Sanitation. Available online at: https://swachhbharatmission.gov.in/SBMCMS/ about-us.htm (accessed April 17, 2022).

Scott, K., George, A. S., Harvey, S. A., Mondal, S., Patel, G., Ved, R., et al. (2017). Beyond form and functioning: understanding how contextual factors influence village health committees in northern India. *PLoS ONE* 12, e0182982. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0182982

Singh, N. (2013). Translating human right to water and sanitation into reality: a practical framework for analysis. *Water Policy* 15, 943–960. doi: 10.2166/wp.2013.020

Sinharoy, S. S., Conrad, A., Patrick, M., McManus, S., and Caruso, B. A. (2022). Protocol for development and validation of instruments to measure women's empowerment in urban sanitation across countries in South Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa: the Agency, Resources and Institutional Structures for Sanitation-related Empowerment (ARISE) scales. *BMJ Open* 12, e053104. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-053104

Sinharoy, S. S., McManus, S., Conrad, A., Patrick, M., and Caruso, B. A. (2023). The agency, resources, and institutional structures for sanitation-related empowerment (ARISE) scales: development and validation of measures of women's empowerment in urban sanitation for low- and middle-income countries. *World Develop.* 164, 106183. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2023.106183

Sorenson, S. B., Morssink, C., and Abril Campos, P. (2011). Safe access to safe water in low income countries: water fetching in current times. Available online at: https:// repository.upenn.edu/spp_papers/166

UN (2015). Transforming our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Available online at: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/post2015/ transformingourworld/publication

van Eerdewijk, A., Wong, F., Vaast, C., Newton, J., Tyszler, M., Pennington, A., et al. (2017). A Conceptual Model of Women and Girls' Empowerment. Available online at: https://www.gatesgenderequalitytoolbox.org/wp-content/uploads/ Conceptual-Model-~of-Empowerment-Final.pdf

VERBI Software. (2021). MAXQDA 2022 [computer software]. Berlin: VERBI Software. Available online at: maxqda.com

WHO and UNICEF (2021). Progress on household drinking water, sanitation and hygiene 2000–2020: five years into the SDGs. Licence: CC BY NC-SA 3, 0. IGO.

WHO (2022). Factsheet: Drinking-Water. Geneva: World Health Organization.

Yerian, S., Hennink, M., Greene, L. E., Kiptugen, D., Buri, J., Freeman, M. C., et al. (2014). The role of women in water management and conflict resolution in Marsabit, Kenya. *Environ. Manage.* 54, 1320–1330. doi: 10.1007/s00267-014-0356-1

Young, I. M. (2005). On Female Body Experience:" Throwing Like a Girl" and Other Essays. Oxford: Oxford University Press. doi: 10.1093/0195161920.001.0001

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Julie A. Winkler, Michigan State University, United States

REVIEWED BY Bethany Caruso, Emory University, United States Akina Shrestha, Kathmandu University, Nepal

*CORRESPONDENCE Jess MacArthur ⊠ jessica.macarthur@uts.edu.au

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Water and Human Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Water

RECEIVED 04 November 2022 ACCEPTED 16 March 2023 PUBLISHED 06 April 2023

CITATION

MacArthur J, Carrard N, Mott J, Raetz S, Siscawati M and Willetts J (2023) Gender equality approaches in water, sanitation, and hygiene programs: Towards gender-transformative practice. *Front. Water* 5:1090002. doi: 10.3389/frwa.2023.1090002

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 MacArthur, Carrard, Mott, Raetz, Siscawati and Willetts. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Gender equality approaches in water, sanitation, and hygiene programs: Towards gender-transformative practice

Jess MacArthur^{1*}, Naomi Carrard¹, Jose Mott², Stuart Raetz², Mia Siscawati³ and Juliet Willetts¹

¹Institute for Sustainable Futures, University of Technology Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ²Water for Women Fund Coordination Team, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ³School of Strategic and Global Studies, Gender Studies Graduate Program, Universitas Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia

The recent (re-)emergence of gender-transformative approaches in the development sector has focused on transforming the gender norms, dynamics, and structures which perpetuate inequalities. Yet, the application of gender-transformative approaches within water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) programing remains nascent as compared with other sectors. Adopting a feminist sensemaking approach drawing on literature and practice, this inquiry sought to document and critically reflect on the conceptualization and innovation of gender-transformative thinking in the Australian Government's Water for Women Fund. Through three sensemaking workshops and associated analysis, participants developed a conceptual framework and set of illustrative case examples to support WASH practitioners to integrate strengthened gender-transformative practice. The multi-layered framework contains varied entry points to support multidisciplinary WASH teams integrating gender equality, as skills and resources permit. Initiatives can be categorized as insensitive, sensitive, responsive or transformative, and prompted by five common motivators (welfare, efficiency, equity, empowerment, and transformative requality). The framework has at its foundation two diverging tendencies: toward instrumental gender potential and toward transformative gender potential. The article draws on historical and recent WASH literature to illustrate the conceptual framework in relation to: (i) community mobilization, (ii) governance, service provision, and oversight, and (iii) enterprise development. The illustrative examples provide practical guidance for WASH practitioners integrating gendered thinking into programs, projects, and policies. We offer a working definition for gender-transformative WASH and reflect on how the acknowledgment, consideration, and transformation of gender inequalities can lead to simultaneously strengthened WASH outcomes and improved gender equality.

KEYWORDS

gender-transformative, gender-transformation, WASH (water, sanitation, and hygiene), social transformations, gender equality, feminism, gender-transformative WASH, gender-transformative approach

Introduction

Gendered thinking in the water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) sector was initially prompted in the 1970's during an overlap of the International Decade for Women and the International Decade for Water and Sanitation (1975 to 1981). Yet four decades on, transformative models of gender equality for WASH policies, programs, and projects are only recently emerging (Sinharoy and Caruso, 2019; MacArthur et al., 2022a). Notably, the sector's historical focus on infrastructure, has been less concerned with social gender issues (Fisher et al., 2017; Sweetman and Medland, 2017). Additionally, WASH has been associated with historically male dominated disciplines such as public health, engineering, and management (Udas and Zwarteveen, 2010; Willetts et al., 2010; Zwarteveen, 2010; Alda-Vidal et al., 2017; World Bank, 2019) and hence the sector has been slow to adopt concepts such as equality and diversity (Cavill et al., 2020; Worsham et al., 2021).

The perspective that gender equality can contribute to a range of development outcomes and be an outcome of development interventions itself is articulated as a gendertransformative approach (Kabeer, 1994). In other terms, gendertransformative initiatives aim to transform relational, collective, and structural gender inequalities alongside and through other development interventions (MacArthur et al., 2020, 2022a). A gender-transformative approach is characterized by: (1) starting from a purposefully transformative agenda (why); (2) engaging with structural systems and not the symptoms of inequality (where); (3) maintaining a focus on strategic gender interests (what); (4) recognizing and valuing diverse identities (who); and (5) adopting transformative methodological approaches (how) (MacArthur et al., 2022a). However, in contrast to development sectors such as health and food systems, gender-transformative thinking is nascent and unclarified in the WASH sector (MacArthur et al., 2022a).

As seen in the "pioneering" emergence of gendertransformative approaches in food systems initiatives (AAS, 2012; McDougall et al., 2021), the uptake of transformative thinking required a concerted effort by practitioners to address the lack of sectoral progress on gender equality. The process involved building coalitions between practitioners, academics, and donors for the "conceptualization and innovation" of gendertransformative approaches (McDougall et al., 2021, p. 3). The gender-transformative food systems coalitions intentionally sought to adapt learnings from reproductive health programming, defining tailored frameworks, language, and areas of focus (McDougall et al., 2021). Like food systems, the WASH sector has seen slow progress in addressing gender inequalities (Sinharoy and Caruso, 2019). As such, a concerted effort to adapt and adopt a gender-transformative approach to WASH was promoted in the Water for Women Fund (2018-2022). Funded by the Australian Government, the Water for Women Fund sought to promote the development of coalitions and innovations in gender-transformative approaches through socially inclusive and sustainable WASH projects and research in 15 countries in Asia and the Pacific. Notably, the Water for Women Fund actively looked beyond a gender-binary and adopted concepts of intersectionality to more holistically address gender and social inequalities (Water for Women, 2019b).

Drawing on existing published experiences and three summative sensemaking workshops with six academics and leaders from the Water for Women Fund, this inquiry had two objectives. Firstly, to document and critically reflect on the conceptualization and innovation of gender-transformative thinking in the Water for Women Fund. Secondly, to identify a conceptual framework and set of illustrative case examples to support future WASH practitioners in adopting a more gender-transformative approach. A third emergent outcome was the critical interrogation of the common frameworks used in other gender-transformative initiatives—gender-integration continuums.

The article begins by introducing several connection points between gender equality and WASH, providing definitions related to gender and development, and clarifying two conceptual models which have been used to classify and describe different forms of gender-integration in development programming. Following this, we describe the inquiry's approach, which comprised of three sensemaking workshops drawing on existing published cases and the experiences of the Australian government's Water for Women Fund. The results section begins with the introduction of a framework of gender-integration suitable for the WASH sector. Next, the study illustrates the framework's application in three types of WASH activities: (1) community mobilization, (2) governance, service provision and oversight, and (3) enterprise development. In the discussion, framed by six characteristics of a gender-transformative approach (MacArthur et al., 2022a), the paper provides key considerations for WASH programs interested in adopting gender-transformative perspectives. Finally, the article reflects on future research needs before offering concluding remarks.

Background

Reasons for integrating gender equality in WASH initiatives

Existing literature has identified several philosophical, cultural, biological, and programmatic reasons to integrate WASH and gender equality. First, WASH is important to the full enjoyment of life for all; including women, girls and those who have been historically marginalized. Global mandates including the Sustainable Development Goals (SGDs) and the recognition of the human right to water and sanitation highlight the importance of WASH for the full enjoyment of life (Singh et al., 2008; JMP, 2021). Second, WASH activities in the home and community are strongly gendered. In many cultures, women and girls are traditionally responsible for household WASH, yet men are responsible for water management in the public arena (White et al., 1972; Elmendorf and Isely, 1981; van Wijk-Sijbesma, 1985). Third, improvements in WASH are often not equitable. Women, girls, and the socially marginalized have been the least likely to benefit from improvements in WASH (van Wijk-Sijbesma, 1998; Fisher et al., 2017). Fourth, not everyone has the same WASHrelated biological needs. For example, women and girls face unique WASH challenges during pregnancy, lactation, menstruation, and menopause (Hulland et al., 2015; Sahoo et al., 2015; Baker et al.,

2017). Sexual and gender minorities also have specific needs, though these are often overlooked (Boyce et al., 2018). Fifth, the integration of gender equality into WASH policies and programs can lead to improved WASH outcomes (Taukobong et al., 2016). The active engagement of women and the socially marginalized, has been shown to lead to improved efficiency, sustainability, and effectiveness of WASH systems (Van Wijk-Sijbesma, 1987; Mommen et al., 2017). This said, some authors have noted that these interventions must be careful to avoid exploitative approaches which do not foster agency (Cornwall, 2001; Cavill and Huggett, 2020). Lastly, and often overlooked in the WASH sector, improvements in WASH can (but are not guaranteed to) foster improved gender equality and social inclusion outcomes (Ivens, 2008; Willetts et al., 2010; Gender and Development Network, 2016)-this perspective is key to gender-transformative modalities of WASH.

Gender equality terms and definitions

A gender-transformative perspective of WASH necessitates a clear foundational articulation of gendered concepts grounded in feminist development (Kabeer, 1994; Cornwall and Rivas, 2015). Firstly, the term gender. This paper defines gender as the socially constructed structures and dynamics which govern a society's perspectives of masculinity and femininity (Butler, 1999). Gender is one category of intersectional historical oppression (Crenshaw, 1989), other categories include: "race, class...sexuality, gender identity, ethnicity, nation, ability, and age" (Collins, 2015, p. 2). An intersectional approach therefore considers how categories of historical oppression intersect. As such, while this paper focuses specifically on gender equality, many scholars and practitioners have considered aspects of social inclusion and gender equality jointly. Secondly, this paper conceptualizes gender equality as the state of "equal rights, responsibilities and opportunities of women and men and girls and boys [and individuals of diverse genders]" (Hannan, 2001, p. 1). Notably, we add the clause related to the inclusion of other genders, recognizing a shift in thinking from binary to diverse genders. Drawing from the Beijing Platform for Action (United Nations, 1995), gender equality is distinct, yet closely linked with women's empowerment and gender equity. We define gender equity as "fairness of treatment..." [for individuals of all genders] "... according to their respective needs" (UNESCO, 2000, p. 5) and empowerment as "the processes by which those who have been denied the ability to make choices acquire such an ability" (Kabeer, 1999, p. 437). Therefore, the paper conceptualizes gender equality as a transformed status of society, with empowerment and equity as important precursors.

Foundational conceptual models

Although gender-transformative approaches within international development have seen significant resurgence in recent years (MacArthur et al., 2022a), the concepts and perspectives can be traced to the 1990s in the lead up toward the Beijing Platform for Action (United Nations, 1995). At this TABLE 1 Differing policy approaches to women and development (adapted from Moser, 1993; Coates, 1999).

Approach	Purpose
Welfare (1950s)	Focused on practical gender needs to "bring women into development as mothers" as passive beneficiaries (Coates, 1999, p. 6). "Purely welfare projects are those to deliver information, education and sometimes free handouts (money, food, technology) to poor women in their roles as homemakers, reproducers, and child rearers. Examples are projects in maternal and child health, hygiene, nutrition, home economics, and home-based appropriate technologies." (Buvinić, 1986, p. 653)
Equity (1960s)	To equitable meet the strategic gender interests of both women and men. Women are seen as active participants in the development process and the approaches challenged women's subordination. Other scholars saw this approach as more instrumental than transformative in practice (Kabeer, 1994)
Anti-poverty (1970s)	To increase women's productivity and income-generation, to meet women's practical needs. <u>Coates</u> (1999) noted that in this approach, poor women were often instrumentally only recognized for their productive roles
Efficiency (1980s)	To promote efficient and effective development programs, to meet women's practical needs. Coates (1999) describes that women are often seen in their capacity to strengthen economic efficacy ("smart economics").
Empowerment (1990s+)	To empower women in greater self-reliance reaching strategic gender interests. This more radical approach aimed to support bottom-up initiatives to overcome oppression.

time, two main conceptual models emerged to help classify and clarify different types of gendered programming (March et al., 1999). Both conceptual models were premised on the idea that gender-transformative programming is best classified in contrast to other less or non-transformative modalities.

The first model, articulated by Moser (1993), identified a loose evolution of gender-integrated programs focused on welfare, equity, anti-poverty, efficiency and finally empowerment (Moser, 1993). Table 1 introduces the key definitions of the five program types drawing on Moser (1993, p. 56-57) and Coates (1999, p. 6). Moser's model drew on foundational work by feminist development practitioner Buvinić (1986); who described the "misbehavior" of women-focused development policies which she argued had slipped from opportunities to empower women toward purely practical gender outcomes. While such practical gender outcomes are important for overall health and wellbeing, they are not able to address gender inequalities as strategic gender interests (Buvinić, 1986; Moser, 1993). The framework articulates a series of program motivations and was first adopted in the WASH sector in 1999 by WaterAid (Coates, 1999). Moser herself argues that many approaches were used in parallel and that even in the 1990s, welfare-based approaches were common (Moser, 1993).

The second model, articulated by Kabeer (1994) and Kabeer and Subramanian (1996), identified four types of development programs: gender-blind, gender-neutral, gender-specific and gender-transformative; the latter three types classified as gender-aware (1996) or gender-sensitive (1994). Figure 1 illustrates the framework and provides key definitions for the four classification types.

Gender Blind	Gender Sensitive/Aware			
not considered any gender dynamics	Gender-neutral Initiatives intended to leave distribution of resources and responsibilities intact	Gender-specific Initiatives intended to meet targeted needs of one gender within existing distribution of resources and responsibilities	Gender- redistributive (transformative) Initiatives intended to transform existing distributions in a more egalitarian direction	

In the 20 years which have followed, the second framework has appeared as a continuum in many forms and in three streams of practice focused on relational health, institutional structures, and sectoral change (MacArthur et al., 2022a). Most notably the continuum has been adapted for relational and reproductive health programming (Gupta, 2001; ICRW and Promundo, 2007; Rottach et al., 2009; WHO, 2011; Pederson et al., 2015), with a few emergent examples in climate programming (Harvey et al., 2019) and WASH (Grant, 2017; Grant et al., 2017; WaterAid, 2017; Water for Women, 2019b). A visual summary of these diverse continuums is provided in Supplementary material. It should be noted that most these examples are found in gray literature and that little has been written to critique and interrogate the conceptualization of the continuum in practice.

Approach

The inquiry utilized a process of feminist sensemaking, building on insights from both literature and practice. The feminist sensemaking approach was selected to solidify and document the lessons and insights of gender-transformative thinking within the Water for Women Fund (2018-2022). Rooted in the constructivist paradigm, feminist sensemaking is a collaborative approach in which targeted discussions are focused on (1) creating sense of a complex topic and (2) constructing "cognitive bridges" through which to communicate and influence policy (Rutledge Shields and Dervin, 1993). Feminist sensemaking can involve structured interviews, focus groups, or workshops, with specific discussion topics and a goal of greater "sense" of the topic. We adopted a workshop format of feminist sensemaking in which the six workshop participants were also the co-authors of this paper and aimed to extend the team's experiences in the Water for Women Fund. The participants included researchers with specialist expertise in the gender-WASH nexus and in the Water for Women Fund (MacArthur, Carrard, Siscawati and Willetts), and Water for Women Fund specialists in gender equality and social inclusion (Mott), and monitoring and evaluation (Raetz). Participants were selected to best maximize the learnings of the fund, while keeping workshop discussions manageable in a short time-period.

As illustrated in Figure 2, the inquiry built on existing literature and practice in the WASH sector through three sensemaking workshops with an overall goal of identifying and interrogating tools and examples to best support WASH practitioners. The 1.5-hour workshops were conducted using Zoom between July and September 2022. Agendas of the three workshops were emergent, yet each workshop had a specific goal as indicated in Figure 2. The lead author prepared brainstorming topics, collaborative templates, and input materials before each workshop. Email discussions continued between the participants between workshops to help clarify ideas and insights. The workshop inputs included gender-integration experiences from other sectors (see Supplementary material), gender-WASH literature (van Wijk-Sijbesma, 1985, 1998; Dery et al., 2019; MacArthur et al., 2020; Caruso et al., 2022; Macura et al., 2023), and Water for Women Fund experiences in the "Toward Transformation" strategy (Water for Women, 2019b). Relevant case examples were documented in an online database (stored in Airtable) and referred to throughout the workshops. The workshop outputs included critical reflections, a conceptual framework, and relevant case examples.

The collaborative approach sought to bring each team members' knowledge and experience to bear in pursuit of both scholarly rigor and practical relevance. Each workshop is briefly described below.

The first workshop focused on defining the purpose and value of gender-integration tools and frameworks, critically considering their different forms, applications and limitations based on literature and practice. The discussion relied on examples and frameworks from other sectors (McDougall et al., 2021; MacArthur et al., 2022a) alongside the lessons and insights from the Water for Women Fund. This discussion confirmed our collective perspective that such frameworks offer value in translating concepts into practice, despite limitations associated with their linear presentation and inherently problematic approach to discrete categorization of complex activities. The first workshop produced a set of critical reflections on the common gender-integration frameworks and on the challenges and opportunities of gendertransformative approaches in WASH programming.

The second workshop aimed to codify an appropriate framework for supporting WASH practitioners in integrating a gendered approach. The workshop relied on examples of



gender-integrated WASH programming within to identify framework terminology and design. Notably, this workshop included detailed discussions on the *motivators* that implicitly shape WASH programs and how these *motivators* are closely aligned with typical gender-integration categories. The second workshop produced a working conceptual framework that was then used and refined in the third workshop.

In the third workshop, the team reviewed a pre-developed database of literature case studies and discussed examples from our own experiences to illustrate and refine the proposed genderintegration framework. We sought geographically diverse examples relevant to three WASH program focus areas based on Water for Women Fund initiatives: community mobilization; governance, service delivery, and oversight; and enterprise development. Where examples were lacking in literature, we developed hypothetical scenarios about the ways in which such programs could align with gender integration categories, based on our experiences in the WASH sector. For example, as no published literature case was found on gender-sensitive WASH enterprise development, we discussed and created a hypothetical example supporting women latrine sales agents. Our focus on diversity was intentionally aimed at redressing the dominance of Kenya, India, and Bangladesh in published WASH-gender literature (MacArthur et al., 2020).

This inquiry and its outcomes must be interpreted through its limitations related to the study team, minimal external validation, and complexity in identifying relevant case studies. Firstly, while the study team came from diverse disciplinary backgrounds, the members were all associated with the Water for Women Fund. Additionally, five of the six members were based at Australian institutions. This positionality reduced opportunities to engage with perspectives more broadly and to draw on diverse insights. To mitigate this, the team actively engaged with documented experiences from partner organizations across the Water for Women Fund which covers some 15 countries in Asia and the Pacific, however future research could bring more diverse voices into the study team. Secondly, although this study validated the framework conceptually and through the practical lens of Water for Women Fund experiences, there was not an opportunity to engage external voices in the validation and critique of the framing. The inquiry's team sees the framework as a starting place and welcomes further reflection, critique, and experiences to support future evolution of gender-transformative initiatives in the WASH sector. Lastly, there are few academically published case studies describing WASH program initiatives and outcomes in relation to gender equality. Therefore, the team was required to rely heavily on historical examples (van Wijk-Sijbesma, 1985, 1998), gray literature cases known to the team, and recent gender-WASH literature reviews (van Wijk-Sijbesma, 1985, 1998; Dery et al., 2019; MacArthur et al., 2020; Caruso et al., 2022; Macura et al., 2023). Future work could benefit from a systematic case study review of gender-WASH programming examples from both gray and published literature. Despite these limitations, the goal of this work has been to provide an initial translation of gendertransformative concepts, language, and approaches for a sector slow to address inequalities.

Results

Conceptual framework of gender-integration

The adaptation of existing gender-integration thinking to the WASH-sector led to the development of a three-layered framework



(Figure 3) which includes: four gender-integration *categories*, five *motivators*, and *tendencies* toward instrumental and transformative potential. While the framework was reviewed and interrogated for WASH initiatives, the insights and outputs from the process may have relevance in other sectors. We begin by introducing the framework and its *categories*, then describing the *motivators* and *tendencies*.

The design of the three-layered framework was selected to best support varied entry points for practitioners. Building on previous multi-layered frameworks (Kabeer, 1994; Rottach et al., 2009; Pederson et al., 2015), the sensemaking process clarified the importance of multi-purpose tools that are appropriate for different types of program staff. Where gender specialists are more likely to resonate with the four gender-integration categories due to their alignment with gender theory, program managers and evaluators may more easily make sense of the five motivators (drivers or mechanisms) which distinguish key influences likely to shape program design. The orientation can also help to quickly identify the direction of the program toward either instrumental or transformative objectives.

We acknowledge that a program or policy may not be easily classified into a single category or motivator, since any program or policy may employ more than one strategy, and also because interventions are inherently shaped by implementing staff (including their relative gender-related critical consciousness) and the way in which staff facilitate interventions (Cavill et al., 2020). As such, an intervention that on paper might be classified as one category, might in practice be implemented based on characteristics of another.

Categories of gender-integration in WASH programs

The four categories of gender-integration in WASH programs align with and refine previously developed frameworks of genderintegration for development programming more broadly. They include insensitive, sensitive, responsive, and transformative categories and follow a progression from left-to-right toward higher engagement with gender theory and practice. The categories in the framework were carefully defined and named by reviewing and problematizing existing frameworks and approaches in the first sensemaking workshop. Notably, we drew language from the Canadian International Development Research Centre, which used the terms gender-blind, -sensitive, -responsive, and -transformative (Harvey et al., 2019).

Gender-insensitive approaches do not consider any gender dimensions and are sometimes referred to as gender blind, harmful or unaware by other scholars and practitioners (Kabeer, 1994; Rottach et al., 2009; WHO, 2011; Khanna et al., 2016). We purposefully avoid the common term "blind" to be sensitive to individuals with vision impairment. Additionally, we do not label this approach as "harmful" or "exploitative" as these phrases are less approachable as entry points for program teams. This said, we recognize that gender-insensitive approaches often have harmful effects and instrumental tendencies. A gender-insensitive approach is likely to maintain the status quo and perpetuate, if not exacerbate, existing social inequalities (Mott et al., 2021) and they often "foster damaging stereotypes" (Gupta, 2001, p. 10). In WASH, a genderinsensitive approach is often associated with technology transfer programs such as handpump or latrine installations which do not consider gender dynamics (van Wijk-Sijbesma, 1985).

Gender-sensitive approaches acknowledge gender dynamics in the development of interventions; however, work within the traditional or existing dynamics and structures of a context. The approach is also referred to as neutral (Kabeer, 1994), aware (Mott et al., 2021), or inclusive (WaterAid, 2017). We adopt a similar framing to Gupta (2001), who defines a gender-sensitive approach with reference to HIV/AIDS interventions as "programming that recognizes and responds to the differential needs and constraints of individuals based on their gender." (p. 9). Similar in content, but with a different label, Kabeer and Subramanian (1996) describe this type of approach as "gender neutral" which seeks "to target the appropriate development actors in order to realize certain predetermined goals and objectives, but...leave the existing divisions of resources, responsibilities and capabilities intact." (p. 10). As such, gender-sensitive approaches often adopt gender-specific modalities, targeting a single gender for program interventions. For example, in WASH this could include conducting gender analysis,

but focusing more on meeting women's practical needs rather than addressing their strategic gender interests.

Gender-responsive approaches consider gender dynamics with an intention to empower individuals, but do not aim to remove or address wider structural barriers (Mott et al., 2021). This approach is also known as gender-accommodating or empowering. This concept aligns most closely with Gupta's (2001) final spectrum level "approaches that empower" and WaterAid's "empowering" step toward transformation. This category is often focused on the individual empowerment of a single-gender group of participants. In WASH programs, this includes a focus on meaningful participation, decision-making, and leadership of marginalized groups (Dery et al., 2019).

Lastly, gender-transformative approaches actively seek to transform the gender norms, structures, and dynamics which perpetuate inequalities within households, communities, and institutions (MacArthur et al., 2022a). Kabeer and Subramanian (1996) describe this form of programming as gender-redistributive seeking to "transform the existing gender relations in a more egalitarian direction through the redistribution of resources and responsibilities" (p. 10). Often transformative approaches adopt gender-synchronous strategies-purposefully engaging individuals of different genders both separately and together to address individual, collective, and structural gender interests (Greene and Levack, 2010). Additionally, the transformative approach includes the attention to or even integration of intersecting aspects to accommodate diversities and at the same time addressing plural forms of marginality and marginalization (not only gender-based but also based on class, caste, ethnicity, age, ability, etc.). In WASH, this has included examples such as using water and sanitation monitoring opportunities to transform gender relations (Leahy et al., 2017) or the purposeful engagement of men and boys in menstrual hygiene management (Mahon et al., 2015).

Gender-integration motivators for WASH programs

Building on the four categories of gender-integration to address the workshops revealed difficulties in articulating the differences between the categories, leading to the inclusion of the five motivators (Table 2).

The five proposed motivators (welfare, efficiency, equity, empowerment, and transformative equality) broadly align with Moser's (1993) categories of the evolution of gender programming introduced this article's background in section (welfare, equity, anti-poverty, efficiency, and empowerment). However, we have made four changes to Moser's initial conceptualization.

First, we disconnected the spectrum from an evolutionary timeline (from the 1940s to today). Although, Moser conceptualized that programs have loosely evolved from focusing on welfare (1940s) toward empowerment (1990s), later theorists (see for example Kabeer 1994) have argued that modern programs can also adopt welfare (or efficiency or equity) based approaches. However, we maintain that the motivators build on one another—in that a program motivated by efficiency is also inherently providing welfare, and that a program motivated by equality would also embody aspects of welfare, efficiency, equity, and empowerment.

Second, we merged the anti-poverty motivator from Moser's initial conceptualization with the efficiency and equity motivators. Emerging as a "toned-down version of equity" in the 1970s, the anti-poverty approach focused on ensuring that poor women increased their productivity. In practice today, the anti-poverty approach has been very similar to the efficiency "smart economics" discourse (Cornwall and Brock, 2005; Chant, 2012).

Third, we swapped the locations of equity and efficiency in the spectrum to better align with continuum from practical gender needs (left) toward strategic gender interests (right). Both Moser (1993) and Coates (1999) have argued that an equity based approached was aligned with strategic gender interests, while an efficiency approach has more instrumental tendencies.

Fourth, we added a fifth motivator highlighting the (re)emerging discourse around gender-transformative development (MacArthur et al., 2022a) The addition of transformative equality adopts the feminist perspective that empowerment has lost its initial potency, focusing exclusively on individual women, and placing the burden of change on women (Batliwala, 2007; MacArthur et al., 2021). Hence the final motivator of transformative equality goes beyond individual empowerment to reflect a transformed society more broadly.

The motivators operate as a parallel spectrum and within our sensemaking workshops, motivators were often identified by the types of outcomes that programs monitored or evaluated. Notably, drawing on the case study examples, the team identified that the motivator of "equity" can have both instrumental and transformative tendencies, while the other motivators were more clearly aligned with one or the other tendency.

Potential tendencies in integrating gender in WASH programs

The two tendencies reflect the inclination or propensity of programs integrating gender-considerations (instrumental and transformative). Programs with instrumental tendencies integrate gender considerations primarily to improve other practical outcomes such as WASH coverage, functionality, use, and sustainability-focused more on practical gender needs. As such, programs with instrumental tendencies are more likely to inadvertently "exploit" women or require women's involvement without clarifying if and how women would like to be involved or will benefit from their involvement (Cornwall, 2001). This may also include inadvertently adding to women's triple burden and being unresponsive to backlash they may experience. Alternatively, transformative WASH programs recognize that improvements in practical WASH outcomes can contribute to improvements in strategic gender interests related to agency, societal norms, and structural changes. Gender-transformative WASH programs also recognize the need to focus on power and norms change more broadly to achieve gender and social equality, often with a focus on intersectionality and do-no-harm.

This dichotomy of instrumental and transformative potential aligns with the distinction between practical gender needs and strategic gender interests (Moser, 1993). However, we adopt the

Tendency	Motivator	Description
Instrumental potential	Welfare	Welfare motivated approaches focus primarily on physical health outcomes. For example, welfare focused programs incorporate gendered aspects by measuring gender-disaggregated changes in disease burden.
	Efficiency	Efficiency motivated approaches arise from economic and engineering disciplines and seek ways to create more efficient, functional, and sustainable systems. For example, efficiency focused programs incorporate gendered aspects by engaging women as sales agents or technicians because they are more effective at this role than men.
Transformative potential	Equity	Equity motivated approaches focus on ensuring access to and use of improved facilities and services. For example, equity focused programs incorporate gendered aspects by ensuring equal access and use of improved facilities or gender parity on water user committees.
	Empowerment	Empowerment motivated approaches focus on the individual empowerment of a subset of participants. For example, empowerment focused programs mainstream gender by supporting and encouraging women-entrepreneurs to run water or sanitation businesses.
	Transformative equality	Transformative motivated approaches focus on reshaping the norms, systems and structures which perpetuate inequalities. For example, gender-transformative programs may conduct sessions with households to explore opportunities to rebalance decision-making, roles and responsibilities in the household related to WASH.

TABLE 2 Program design motivators and potential (adapted from Moser, 1993; Coates, 1999).

word "*potential*" responding to critiques that many outcomes do not neatly align with either practical or strategic interests and ideally should span both as both are interconnected (Kabeer, 1994; Wieringa, 1994). As such, we highlight the potential of programs rather than their specific alignment with practical or strategic interests. For example, handwashing campaigns often adopt "good mums" strategies which have an instrumental tendency in contrast to a gender-transformative tendency which would see hand hygiene as an "*entry point to challenging norms and promoting more equitable sharing of household responsibilities among men and boys*" (Cavill and Huggett, 2020, p. 34).

Illustrative gender-integration case examples

In this section we present the selected intervention examples from literature to illustrate the nuanced differences between gender-insensitive and gender-transformative approaches in WASH. The selected examples represent a small subset of potential examples from literature and practice, noting that many potential examples displayed significant similarities despite being from different decades, countries, and perspectives of gender-integration. We purposely draw heavily on examples from the 1980s and 1990s (van Wijk-Sijbesma, 1985, 1998), to avoid negatively identifying current programs or organizations engaged in WASH sector activities. This use of historical examples additionally highlights that these challenges are not new, but have existed for the last 40 years in the sector. Each section presents examples of the four categories of gender-integration alongside an illustrative discussion of potential activities to guide future practitioners. The three case study topics aim to reflect the breadth of practice within the WASH sector including aspects of: community mobilization, governance, and enterprise development.

Community mobilization

A common tenet of WASH implementation, community mobilization includes activities such as Community Led Total Sanitation (CLTS), Participatory Hygiene and Sanitation Transformation (PHAST), as well as activities to set the foundation for community involvement in water system development. Mobilization or promotion activities involve collaborative processes of critical reflection leading to action. Promoters are often community-leaders and volunteers who advocate for improved water, sanitation, and hygiene within their communities. Such activities are closely linked to processes of action research such as Participatory Rapid Appraisal (PRA) and community health initiatives.

Table 3 summarizes how WASH programs focused on community mobilization can align with the four categories of the gender-integration framework. Illustrative examples are drawn from the Pacific, sub-Saharan Africa, and Southeast Asia with a focus on historical case studies.

Gender-transformative community mobilization in WASH contends that diverse community members are best placed to drive, lead, and sustain change in WASH services. Change is catalyzed in community mobilization through facilitation that aims to transform social norms, stimulating and trigging demand for services. Provision of information leads to greater awareness of health risks and benefits from WASH among community members who interpret and act on information based on gendered norms within their social and cultural context. Community-led total sanitation (CLTS) for instance seeks to change behavior by triggering disgust or shame among community members through a facilitated process and sometimes emphasizes the importance of handwashing after critical times (Kar and Chambers, 2008). Community mobilization can reinforce or challenge social norms to trigger and motivate change, which inherently can reinforce or contest existing gender roles. Intersectional attention to gender and social dimensions (such as gender, class, caste, ethnicity, religion and age) in relation to the diversity of the mobilizers and how and with whom the mobilization process is conducted in the community both affect the extent to which a community mobilization activity in WASH is likely to have transformative potential and achieve transformative outcomes.

WASH governance, service provision, and oversight

Governance of water and sanitation services includes interventions that provide support for different service provision

TABLE 3	Gender-integrated	WASH community	mobilization approaches.
---------	-------------------	----------------	--------------------------

Category (motivators)	Description	Illustrative example(s)
Gender-insensitive (welfare)	Gender-insensitive mobilization initiatives are not cognizant of gender or social dynamics within communities often leading to stifled outcomes.	Tonga—Community WASH planning. "Local women boycotted a sanitation project when they were excluded wilfully from the discussion of the community survey results and the planning of a village action programme by the men's committee." (Fanamanu and Vaipulu, 1966 as cited in van Wijk-Sijbesma, 1985, p. 61)
Gender-sensitive (efficiency and equity)	Gender-sensitive mobilization approaches focus on the inclusion of women as mobilizers, yet do not aim to address strategic gender interests such as women's mobility. Such programs may leverage women's traditional advocacy roles as community teachers, health workers and healers.	Cameroon—Community development workers. "In Cameroon, men and women community development workers work on separate programmes. While the women work on community self-improvements, the extension work in connection with piped water supplies is carried out by men promoters only, and not in cooperation with the women's programme." (Franklin, 1979 as cited in van Wijk-Sijbesma, 1985, p. 113)
Gender-responsive (empowerment)	Gender-responsive mobilization approaches purposefully aim to empower women and other marginalized individuals to become community advocates.	Guinea Bissau—WASH promoters. "The male promoters were taking up their tasks more easily and the female promoters made little progress. Once the female promoters, after many discussions, became more secure in taking up their tasks the male and female promoters became equally effective", while the women promoters "were effective in working with women, they needed special training to communicate with village authorities." (Visscher, 1982 as cited in van Wijk-Sijbesma, 1985, p. 77)
Gender-transformative (transformative equality)	Gender-transformative forms of community mobilization and seek to transform social norms and structures around the roles and responsibilities of women and men in the fabric of the relevant society.	Vietnam—Community gender-WASH monitoring. In this project, a regular monitoring activity was designed for the active exploration of gendered relations through a facilitated community dialogue process to raise community awareness about WASH-related gender roles and relationships and provide opportunities for women and men to <i>"discuss gender relations, and to set their own agendas for change"</i> (Leahy et al., 2017)

modalities, including water and sanitation committees, water user associations and direct local government service provision, or may also focus on local government planning, monitoring and oversight as a service authority. Programs supporting these types of initiatives address gender in relation to concepts of leadership, decision-making, participation, and oversight-moving from tokenistic forms of engagement governed by "patriarchal culture, scepticism and negative stereotypical assumptions", (Mandara et al., 2017, p. 116) toward active and informed participation by diverse community members. As most of the informal management and governance engagement in WASH is unpaid, this can potentially lead to women's "triple burden" (Moser, 1993). More formal governance roles that are paid are more likely to have more positive outcomes for women, but can also lead to backlash and resistance if perceived as threatening to existing traditions and hierarchy, highlighting the importance of do-no-harm within gender-integrated WASH interventions.

Table 4 provides examples of how WASH programs focused on WASH governance, service provision and oversight can align with the four categories of WASH gender-integration. Once again, illustrative examples are drawn from around the globe including South America, sub-Saharan Africa, South Asia, and the Pacific. The examples include aspects of community handpump oversight, water and sanitation committees, and community management groups.

Gender-transformative governance, service provision, and oversight holds that increased substantive participation of women and marginalized groups in WASH institutions leads to better, more appropriate services for diverse user groups. Substantive participation goes beyond nominal or passive participation towards sustained and active engagement (Das, 2014). Governance involves working within existing institutional structures to create more civic space for women and marginalized groups to engage in decision making on matters that affect their interests (Fauconnier et al., 2018; Imburgia, 2019; Sehring et al., 2022). Support may be provided to address the informal and formal barriers to participation within civic spaces such as committees, forums, platforms or within organizations (Das, 2014). This also requires supporting more diverse governance and leadership at institutional levels to strengthen the linkages between household, community, and institutions (Grant et al., 2021; Worsham et al., 2021; Gonzalez et al., 2022b). For instance, practical strategies such as making meetings more convenient (time and place) may enable women and diverse groups to participate and have a voice in WASH governance processes (Carrard et al., 2013). Civic engagement in WASH governance by diverse user groups can also be a means for advancing strategic gender interests by addressing underlying causes of disadvantage. Ongoing monitoring by users can then in turn reinforce positive feedback loops by emphasizing the accountability of duty bearers for service delivery. By embedding gender relations and interests within institutional structures a gender-transformative governance program assumes that change and the potential for transformation will be enduring.

WASH-related enterprise development

Enterprise development includes a variety of income generation roles in the private sector for women and men within WASH such as technicians, mechanics, sales agents, and entrepreneurs. Sometimes these types of roles overlap with work in WASH committees. In some cases, paid roles have aimed to leverage traditional gendered roles of women and men such as men as mechanics and women as community health workers, however more transformative examples have aimed to

Category (motivators)	Description	Illustrative example(s)
Gender-insensitive Gender-insensitive governance approaches are not cognizant of gender or social dynamics and often only engage with men as traditional leaders.		Peru—Handpump oversight . Women were appointed as hand pump overseers without training or orientation. <i>"The pump was then padlocked, with a third housewife holding the key. This resulted in much intravillage conflict and finally to the breakage and removal of the pump."</i> (Wellin, 1966 as cited in van Wijk-Sijbesma, 1985, p. 68)
Gender-sensitive (efficiency and equity)	Gender-sensitive governance approaches focus on increasing the participation of women in leadership and committees, often through gender quotas and gender parity. These approaches rely on evidence that the involvement of women can increase the sustainability and performance of water systems (Mommen et al., 2017)	 India—Water Committees. "Often these women did not know they were elected [to water user committees]" (Stanbury, 1984) as cited in van Wijk-Sijbesma, 1985, p. 58) Kenya—Water Committees. Although women were less likely to be in governance leadership or contribute time outside of meetings, committee members believed that "women solve issues and have a cooling effect – they help lead to a consensus among the committee." (Hannah et al., 2021)
Gender-responsive (empowerment)	Gender-responsive governance approaches purposefully aim to strengthen the empowering participation of women in leadership, technical and decision-making roles. This often requires specialized training in <i>"leadership skills, confidence building and communication with those they represent"</i> (van Wijk-Sijbesma, 1985, p. 60)	Ghana—Handpump Committees. Specialized women's technical training within committees led to women being " <i>enlightened and confident that they could</i> <i>detect fraudulent claims by pump mechanics.</i> " (Sam and Todd, 2020, p. 364) India—Community Water and Sanitation Committees. Committees were required to be made up of one-third women, which led to changes in women's leadership and social solidarity, yet was restricted by social norms around mobility and gender roles, and led to cases of increased intra-household conflict. (Das, 2014)
Gender-transformative (transformative equality)	Gender-transformative governance approaches aim to transform gender dynamics related to traditional gendered societal roles. Transformative governance support focuses on both women and men and actively confronts norms that are supportive of violence against women.	Fiji—Community Group. "There has been more collaboration amongst people, men and women talk properly together and listen. Men are able to listen to the women more compared to the past The norm is in a village meeting the men/leaders would speak and tell people what to do – it was one-way communication and decision- making. The [project] helped us to listen together and we started to value the discussion and sharing of ideas before arriving at a decision." (Willetts et al., 2009, 2013; as cited in Carrard et al., 2013, p. 325)

TABLE 4 Gender-integrated WASH governance, service provision and oversight approaches.

transform notions of masculine and feminine work, such as men in care work and women in technical roles. Once again, the four types of gender-integration are not mutually exclusive and may be overlapping.

Table 5 provides examples of how programs focused on enterprise development in WASH can align with the four categories of the WASH gender-integration framework. The bulk of potential examples emerge from South America, South Asia and Southeast Asia highlighting the lack of examples of genderintegrated enterprise development in sub-Saharan Africa. The gender-sensitive example is hypothetical and drawn on author's experiences as to not negatively identify any one organization or program. Additionally, these examples are more recent and there is less historical literature to draw on in WASH enterprise development (Gero et al., 2014).

Gender-transformative enterprise development seeks to realize opportunities for women's empowerment by addressing barriers to participation in overall market systems. Women's ability to participate in the economy and public sphere is shaped at multiple levels by domestic, household, community, and institutional norms (Carrard et al., 2013). By addressing these norms systematically women can benefit from participation in WASH enterprises as an entry point for broader change (Grant et al., 2019; Indarti et al., 2019; Soeters et al., 2020). Adopting parallel strategies to engage men and women in WASH enterprise development can support women's participation; for instance, by initiating dialogue on paid and unpaid labor and gender roles (Soeters et al., 2020). Like other strategies the potential for unintended consequences such as backlash must be managed carefully by embedding dono-harm approaches into enterprise development and working closely and intentionally with women's rightsholder organizations (Water for Women, 2022a). Women's entrepreneurship can also be motivated through financial benefits from business development thus reinforcing the value and transformative potential of WASH enterprises.

Discussion

This paper has documented the results of three sensemaking workshops in the development of a conceptual model and identification of a set of illustrative case studies. The examples of gender-transformative WASH programming noted above and in emerging literature confirm that WASH can provide an entry point for wider gender-transformative change with synergistic benefits to both WASH and societal transformations. Such a gender-transformative approach to WASH provides a framework for leaving no one behind, increasing diversity amongst those overseeing, providing, and benefiting from WASH services whilst concurrently supporting greater gender equality. These examples also offer insight into the complexity of achieving multiple and demanding objectives, particularly in confined program timeframes.

Drawing on the purposed framework and illustrative cases, this article proposes the following working definition: A gendertransformative approach to WASH aims to transform gender norms, structures, and dynamics both within and beyond WASH-related behaviors, activities and services in households, communities, and institutions. As such, gender-transformative

Category (motivators)	Description	Illustrative example(s)
Gender-insensitive (welfare)	Gender-insensitive enterprises projects either: (1) engage only with men, because men are the traditional caretakers of technological systems; or (2) uncritically engage with individuals without being cognizant of the gender or social dynamics of paid work in many cultural contexts.	Nepal—Sanitation and drinking water. In this project, women were trained on non-technical aspects, while men received technical training. A female participant reflected: <i>"This is why we have been demotivated to hold any meetings for the last couple of months and to take any initiatives yet to resolve the problem of malfunctioning tube-wells which is increasing over the years"</i> (Moore et al., 2015)
Gender-sensitive (efficiency and equity)	Gender-sensitive enterprise projects primarily engage only with women with the goal of increasing the effectiveness and equity of enterprise reach.	South Asia—Last mile service delivery. This project purposefully recruited women latrine sales agents as they were deemed more effective at delivering sales pitches to rural communities.
Gender-responsive (empowerment)	Gender-responsive enterprises also primarily focus on women, but explicitly aim to address strategic gender interests and empower women. Aspects such as leadership, negotiation, access to finance and business skills are common training foci (Indarti et al., 2019). Other examples include latrine construction masons (Rautanen and Baaniya, 2008), piped water or sanitation entrepreneurs (Gero et al., 2014; Grant et al., 2019), and sales agents (MacArthur, 2018; iDE, 2019).	Brazil—Cistern builders. In this project, "women cistern (rainwater tank) builders benefit[ed] not only from having access to water, but from better sources of income, improved status in the community and inclusion in new networks" (de Moraes and Rocha, 2013, p. 168).
Gender-transformative (transformative equality)	Gender-transformative enterprises aim to transform gender dynamics related to gender roles and leadership. This approach often adapts parallel strategies to support women and men both separately and together.	Cambodia—Sanitation marketing. In this project, husband and wife couples were trained together on business management skills related to running their sanitation enterprises. The team actively avoided the phrase <i>"entrepreneur's wife"</i> , instead aiming to see partnership arrangements and recognize overlooked women's work in businesses (iDE, 2020).

TABLE 5 Gender-integrated WASH-related enterprise development approaches.

WASH pursues gender equality and WASH outcomes simultaneously, in mutually reinforcing ways.

We now discuss key considerations for organizations seeking a gender-transformative approach as critical reflections from the first sensemaking workshop. The considerations align with five framing questions for practitioner teams interested in integrating gender-transformative approaches (MacArthur et al., 2022a): *why, who, what, where* and *how.*

Increasingly research and practical experience points to the importance of self-awareness and organizational culture when grappling with questions for gendered norms and power structures (Cavill et al., 2020). That is, an individual and collective sense of, and commitment to "why" a gender-transformative approach is important. Such reflexivity acknowledges that transformation must begin within individuals and adopts a purposeful objective of social and gender-transformations (Heijnen and van Wijk-Sijbesma, 1993; Cavill et al., 2020; MacArthur et al., 2022a). This requires a collective agreement that WASH programming can and should influence gender norms, dynamics, and structures. As such, a foundational step for WASH professionals and organizations is to critically reflect on our own perspectives and practices. Tools such as Water for Women's Gender Equality and Social Inclusion Toward Transformation Self-Assessment Tool (Mott et al., 2021) can support awareness and identify priorities for action in programming and organizational systems. Importantly, transformative programming is difficult to realize without a transformative culture within the organization (Cavill et al., 2020; Water for Women, 2022a). Collaboration with rights holders' organizations can support this kind of transformation, ensuring WASH efforts are informed by lived experience and capacity building on appropriate pathways for change.

Second, a gender-transformative approach requires actively partnering with diverse genders and integrating intersectional perspectives, involving attention to "*who*" is involved. Additionally, a transformative approach actively aims to engage men and boys rather than solely focusing on women (Cavill et al., 2018; MacArthur et al., 2020). The active engagement of gendered or marginalized groups separately and together, is the practice of gender-synchronization (Greene and Levack, 2010). This synchronizing strategy can also be adapted to addressing plural forms of marginality and marginalization from intersecting forms of oppression (Collins, 2015; Soeters et al., 2019).

Next, the focus of gender-transformative WASH-"what" to address-must span practical and strategic interests rather than assuming that meeting practical needs is a precursor for engaging with strategic interests. One example is that of gender-based violence. A gender-transformative approach recognizes the social acceptance of gender-based violence as a barrier to societal transformation, and pro-actively plays a role in addressing this while ensuring a do no harm approach. While the WASH sector has historically explored themes of gender-based violence from an infrastructure perspective-ensuring safety and privacy in designthere has been a more recent shift to focusing on shifting attitudes and norms that support gender-based violence (Sommer et al., 2015; Pommells et al., 2018). For example, within the Water for Women Fund, some projects have supported the development and socialization of violence referral pathways in collaboration with rights holder groups through their community WASH activities.

Fourth, it is important to recognize that gender-sensitive, responsive, and transformative approaches are all valuable in the movement toward more equal futures for all. The question of *"where"* an intervention focuses, whether at specific or systemic

10.3389/frwa.2023.1090002

level needs to be taken into account. Program teams and designers should be realistic and even cautious in considering the ability for small-scale (or short-term) interventions with limited resources to address systemic changes. Systems change requires approaches that scale up, outm and deep (Water for Women, 2022b). As such different interventions will inherently have different objectives and addressing WASH needs varies in terms of required timeframes and scales. Scaling up aims to impact laws and policies, scaling out aims to replicate and disseminate best practice, and scaling deep aims to impact societal and cultural norms (Moore et al., 2015). In some cases, programs with limited resources and support may be better suited to adopt gender-sensitive solutions avoiding potential backlash and harm. As such, all gender-integrated interventions should articulate and implement a robust do-no-harm approach, which acknowledges that resistance and backlash is inevitable when prevailing power structures are challenged, and works to intentionally mitigate these risks (Water for Women, 2019a).

Finally, gender-transformative approaches require more nuanced and additional funding, planning, and assessment modalities which promote reflective and iterative approaches (MacArthur et al., 2022a), and thus significant attention to the "how". This is required for instance, for the intentional, meaningful, and reciprocal engagement with rightsholder organizations to improve WASH and gender equality outcomes as well as ensuring that intersecting marginalizations such as disability, are integrated into gender-transformative approaches. An increased focus on norms changes and addressing power and privilege furthers the importance of iterative and flexible approaches such as action research. Program structures must encourage practitioners to question the status quo and reveal and interrogate unintended negative effects (Water for Women, 2022b).

As a minimum, all programs, no matter whether they aim to be sensitive, responsive, or transformative, require methods to monitor and reflect on the resultant gender and social outcomes, both intended and unintended. Without this, it is not possible to know whether the envisaged outcomes have been achieved or whether adverse outcomes have also occurred. There is an emerging body of literature and tools to support both quantitative and qualitative measurement of gender outcomes associated with WASH programs (Carrard et al., 2013, 2022; Gonzalez et al., 2022a; MacArthur et al., 2022b,c).

Future research priorities

While this article has aimed to introduce gender-transformative WASH into global scholarship and practice, there is still much to be done to refine, expand and clarify the concept and its use by practitioners.

For example, this article has limited its application of the gender-integration framework to three particular program types. Future research could expand the spectrum's applicability to other integral WASH interventions related to menstrual hygiene management and handwashing, which both offer significant entry points to address gender norms (Cavill et al., 2018; Cavill and Huggett, 2020). These areas were included within our initial database, yet we found a lack of documented evidence. As such, these types of WASH activities are underrepresented in

our illustrative examples. Further work could beneficially explore how the spectrum can be applied to support menstrual hygiene programs that go beyond gender specific to also being gendertransformative (Mahon et al., 2015; Cavill et al., 2018), and drive handwashing interventions that achieve critical hygiene outcomes while also addressing social norms (Cavill and Huggett, 2020).

Additionally, the reflected framework could be applied and refined in further contexts and sectors with diverse actors and a range of program types. In particular, future work could explore how the framework could be further developed to (1) assess and drive transformative programming, (2) clarify ways to communicate the underlying concepts, (3) promote critical engagement, and (4) identify opportunities to create meaningful translations and visual formats to promote its uptake.

While the framework and examples were focused on highlighting the experience of the Water for Women Fund's adoption of gender-transformative thinking, the critical reflections from the inquiry have relevance and value in other sectors. For example, our problematization of the term "gender-blind" or the recognition that gender neutral interventions have a useful do-no-harm value could be adopted by other practitioners in food security and reproductive health.

Lastly, future work could explore how practitioners engage with and use the framework to strengthen gender-WASH programming and to support potential gender-transformative initiatives. In particular, the research team is curious to understand how the multi-level framing resonates with practitioners from a variety of disciplinary backgrounds and how the motivators and potentials clarify complex gender-terminology for less familiar audiences.

Conclusions

A gender-transformative approach to WASH aims to transform harmful gender dynamics and norms (interpersonal connections and relationships) and structures (societal rules and systems) within, through and alongside WASH interventions. Gendertransformative WASH aims to synergistically both address gender and social inequalities and improve WASH outcomes.

The paper proposed a multi-level gender-integration framework applied to WASH programming -contexts to support practitioners in the thoughtful application of more transformative policies, programs, and projects. The conceptual model defined a gender spectrum in relation to gender-insensitive, gendersensitive, gender-responsive and gender-transformative types, with relevant motivators and potentials. Using the framework, the paper synthesized experiences from gender-WASH literature and the Water for Women fund through the lens of gendertransformative approaches in international development. Future practice can benefit from applying this framework in the design, implementation, monitoring, and assessment of WASH with a goal of fostering transformative potential.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

JMa, NC, and JW: conceptualization. JMa and NC: methodology and writing—original draft preparation. JMa, NC, JMo, SR, MS, and JW: collaborative sensemaking, data curation, and writing—review and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by the DFAT Water for Women Fund (grant number WRA-034).

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to acknowledge the contributions of the Water for Women fund research and implementation partners within the toward transformation agenda. This paper silently draws on a breadth of experiences from across Asia and the Pacific through fund experiences and interventions.

References

AAS (2012). Building Coalitions, Creating Change: An Agenda for Gender Transformative Research in Development. CGIAR Research Program on Aquatic Agricultural Systems. Available online at: https://hdl.handle.net/20.500.12348/938 (accessed March 22, 2023).

Alda-Vidal, C., Rusca, M., Zwarteveen, M., Schwartz, K., and Pouw, N. (2017). Occupational genders and gendered occupations: the case of water provisioning in Maputo, Mozambique. *Gender Place Cult.* 24, 974–990. doi: 10.1080/0966369X.2017.1339019

Baker, K. K., Padhi, B., Torondel, B., Das, P., Dutta, A., Sahoo, K. C., et al. (2017). From menarche to menopause: a population-based assessment of water, sanitation, and hygiene risk factors for reproductive tract infection symptoms over life stages in rural girls and women in India. *PLoS ONE* 12, e0188234. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0188234

Batliwala, S. (2007). Taking the power out of empowerment - An experiential account. Dev. Pract. 17, 557–565. doi: 10.1080/09614520701469559

Boyce, P., Brown, S., Cavill, S., Chaukekar, S., Chisenga, B., Dash, M., et al. (2018). Transgender-inclusive sanitation: insights from South Asia. *Waterlines* 37, 102–117. doi: 10.3362/1756-3488.18-00004

Butler, J. (1999). Gender Trouble: Feminism and the Subversion of Identity. 10th Edn. New York, NY: Routledge.

Buvinić, M. (1986). Projects for women in the third world: explaining their misbehavior. World Dev. 14, 653–664. doi: 10.1016/0305-750X(86)90130-0

Carrard, N., Crawford, J., Halcrow, G., Rowland, C., and Willetts, J. (2013). A framework for exploring gender equality outcomes from WASH programmes. *Waterlines* 32, 315–333. doi: 10.3362/1756-3488.2013.033

Carrard, N., MacArthur, J., Leahy, C., Soeters, S., and Willetts, J. (2022). The water, sanitation and hygiene gender equality measure (WASH-GEM): Conceptual foundations and domains of change. *Womens Stud. Int. Forum* 91, 102563. doi: 10.1016/j.wsif.2022.102563

Caruso, B. A., Conrad, A., Patrick, M., Owens, A., Kviten, K., Zarella, O., et al. (2022). Water, sanitation, and women's empowerment: a systematic review and qualitative metasynthesis. *PLoS Water* 1, e0000026. doi: 10.1371/journal.pwat.0000026

Cavill, S., Francis, N., Grant, M., Huggett, C., Leahy, C., Leong, L., et al. (2020). A call to action: organizational, professional, and personal change for gender transformative WASH programming. *Waterlines* 39, 219–237. doi: 10.3362/1756-3488.20-00004

Cavill, S., and Huggett, C. (2020). Good mums: A gender equality perspective on the constructions of the mother in handwashing campaigns. *wH2O: J. Gender Water.* 7, 26–36. Available online at: https://repository.upenn.edu/wh2ojournal/vol7/iss1/4 (accessed March 22, 2023).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/frwa.2023. 1090002/full#supplementary-material

Cavill, S., Mott, J., Tyndale-biscoe, P., Bond, M., Huggett, C., and Wamera, E. (2018). *Engaging Men and Boys in Sanitation and Hygiene Programmes*. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies, CLTS Knowledge Hub. Available online at: https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/handle/20.500.12413/14002 (accessed March 22, 2023).

Chant, S. (2012). The disappearing of "smart economics"? The World Development Report 2012 on Gender Equality: Some concerns about the preparatory process and the prospects for paradigm change. *Glob. Soc. Policy* 12, 198–218. doi: 10.1177/1468018112443674

Coates, S. (1999). A Poverty-Reduction Approach to Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Programmes. Available online at: https://washmatters.wateraid.org/publications/apoverty-reduction-approach-to-water-sanitation-and-hygiene-programmes-1999 (accessed March 22, 2023).

Collins, P. H. (2015). Intersectionality's definitional dilemmas. Annu. Rev. Sociol. 41, 1–20. doi: 10.1146/annurev-soc-073014-112142

Cornwall, A. (2001). Making a Difference? Gender and Participatory Development. Institute of Development Studies. Available online at: https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/ opendocs/handle/20.500.12413/13853 (accessed March 22, 2023).

Cornwall, A., and Brock, K. (2005). What do buzzwords do for development policy? A critical look at "participation", "empowerment" and "poverty reduction." *Third World Q.* 26, 1043–1060. doi: 10.1080/01436590500235603

Cornwall, A., and Rivas, A. M. (2015). From 'gender equality and 'women's empowerment' to global justice: Reclaiming a transformative agenda for gender and development. *Third World Q.* 36, 396–415. doi: 10.1080/01436597.2015. 1013341

Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: a black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory, and antiracist politics. *Univ. Chicago Legal Forum* 1989, 139–167.

Das, P. (2014). Women's participation in community-level water governance in urban india: the gap between motivation and ability. *World Dev.* 64, 206–218. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2014.05.025

de Moraes, A. F. J., and Rocha, C. (2013). Gendered waters: the participation of women in the "One Million Cisterns" rainwater harvesting program in the Brazilian Semi-Arid region. J. Clean. Prod. 60, 163–169. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.03.015

Dery, F., Bisung, E., Dickin, S., and Dyer, M. (2019). Understanding empowerment in water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH): a scoping review. *J. Water Sanit. Hyg. Dev.* 10, 5–15. doi: 10.2166/washdev.2019.077

Elmendorf, M., and Isely, R. (1981). *The Role of Women as Participants and Beneficiaries in Water Supply and Sanitation Programs*. Available online at: https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PNAAL379.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

Fanamanu, J., and Vaipulu, T. (1966). Working through the community leaders: an experience in Tonga. J. Health Educ. 9, 130–137.

Fauconnier, I., Jenniskens, A., Perry, P., Fanaian, S., Sen, S., Sinha, V., et al. (2018). Women as Change-Makers in the Governance of Shared Waters. Gland: IUCN.

Fisher, J., Cavill, S., and Reed, B. (2017). Mainstreaming gender in the WASH sector: Dilution or distillation? *Gend. Dev.* 25, 185–204. doi: 10.1080/13552074.2017.1331541

Franklin, T. (1979). Cameroon: Rural Water Sector: A Preliminary Study. Yaounde: USAID.

Gender and Development Network (2016). Achieving Gender Equality Through WASH. London. Available online at: www.gadnetwork.org (accessed March 11, 2019).

Gero, A., Carrard, N., Murta, J., and Willetts, J. (2014). Private and social enterprise roles in water, sanitation and hygiene for the poor: a systematic review. *J. Water Sanit. Hyg. Dev.* 4, 331–345. doi: 10.2166/washdev.2014.003

Gonzalez, D., Abdel Sattar, R., Budhathoki, R., Carrard, N., Chase, R. P., Crawford, J., et al. (2022a). A partnership approach to the design and use of a quantitative measure: co-producing and piloting the WASH gender equality measure in Cambodia and Nepal. *Dev. Stud. Res.* 9, 142–158. doi: 10.1080/21665095.2022. 2073248

Gonzalez, D., Carrard, N., Chhetri, A., Somphongbouthakanh, P., Choden, T., Halcrow, G., et al. (2022b). Qualities of transformative leaders in WASH: a study of gender-transformative leadership during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front. Water* 4, 1050103. doi: 10.3389/frwa.2022.1050103

Grant, M. (2017). Gender Equality and Inclusion in Water Resources Management. Global Water Partnership Action Piece, 24. Available online at: http://www.gwp.org/ globalassets/global/about-gwp/publications/gender/gender-action-piece.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

Grant, M., Hor, K., Bunthoeun, I., Soeters, S., and Willetts, J. (2021). Women Who Have a WASH Job Like Me Are Proud and Honoured: A Summary Brief on How Women Can Participate in and Benefit From Being Part of the Government WASH Workforce in Cambodia. Sydney, NSW. Available online at: waterforwomen.uts.edu.au (accessed March 22, 2023).

Grant, M., Huggett, C., Willets, J., and Wilbur, J. (2017). *Gender Equality* and Goal 6: The Critical Connection. Canberra, ACT. Available online at: https:// waterpartnership.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/Gender-Goal6-Critical-Connection.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

Grant, M., Soeters, S., Bunthoeun, I. V. V., and Willetts, J. (2019). Rural pipedwater enterprises in Cambodia: a pathway to women's empowerment? *Water* 11, 1–18. doi: 10.3390/w11122541

Greene, M. E., and Levack, A. (2010). Synchronizing Gender Strategies: A Cooperative Model for Improving Reproductive Health and Transforming Gender Relations. Available online at: https://www.igwg.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/ synchronizing-gender-strategies.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

Gupta, G. R. (2001). Gender, sexuality, and HIV/AIDS: the what, the why, and the how. *SIECUS Rep.* 29, 6–12.

Hannah, C., Giroux, S., Krell, N., Lopus, S. E., McCann, L. E., Zimmer, A., et al. (2021). Has the vision of a gender quota rule been realized for community-based water management committees in Kenya? *World Dev.* 137, 105154. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105154

Hannan, C. (2001). *Gender Mainstreaming: Strategy for Promoting Gender Equality*. Available online at: https://www.un.org/womenwatch/osagi/pdf/factsheet1. pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

Harvey, B., Cochrance, L., Czunyi, S., and Huang, Y. S. (2019). *Learning, Landscape, and Opportunities for IDRC Climate Programming.* Available online at: http://hdl. handle.net/10625/57623 (accessed March 22, 2023).

Heijnen, E., and van Wijk-Sijbesma, C. (1993). *Women, Water and Sanitation*. Available online at: https://www.ircwash.org/sites/default/files/202.1-93WO-12256. pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

Hulland, K. R. S., Chase, R. P., Caruso, B. A., Swain, R., Biswal, B., Sahoo, K. C., et al. (2015). Sanitation, stress, and life stage: a systematic data collection study among women in Odisha, India. *PLoS ONE* 10, e0141883. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0141883

ICRW and Promundo (2007). Engaging Men and Boys to Achieve Gender Equality: How Can We Build on what We Have Learned? Available online at: https://www.icrw. org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Engaging-Men-and-Boys-to-Achieve-Gender-Equality-How-Can-We-Build-on-What-We-Have-Learned.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

iDE (2019). Understanding How Sanitation Sales Agent Gender Affects Key Sanitation Behaviors in Nepal. Available online at: https://s3.amazonaws.com/www.ideglobal.org/files/public/iDE-NP_WASHPaLS_AUG2019.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

iDE (2020). Success Story: An Equitable Business Is a Sustainable Business. Available online at: https://www.waterforwomenfund.org/en/news/cambodia-an-equitable-business-is-a-sustainable-business.aspx (accessed March 22, 2023).

Imburgia, L. (2019). Irrigation and equality: An integrative gender-analytical approach to water governance with examples from Ethiopia and Argentina. Water

Alternat. 12, 571–584. Available online at: https://www.water-alternatives.org/index.php/alldoc/articles/vol12/v12issue3/543-a12-2-26/file (accessed March 22, 2023).

Indarti, N., Rostiani, R., Megaw, T., and Willetts, J. (2019). Women's involvement in economic opportunities in water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) in Indonesia: examining personal experiences and potential for empowerment. *Dev. Stud. Res.* 6, 76–91. doi: 10.1080/21665095.2019.1604149

Ivens, S. (2008). Does increased water access empower women? *Development* 51, 63–67. doi: 10.1057/palgrave.development.1100458

JMP (2021). Progress on Household Drinking Water, Sanitation and Hygiene 2000-2020: Five Years Into the SDGs. Available online at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/345081 (accessed March 22, 2023).

Kabeer, N. (1994). Reversed Realities: Gender Hierarchies in Development Thought. London: Verso.

Kabeer, N. (1999). Resources, agency, achievements: reflections on the measurement of women's empowerment. *Dev. Change* 30, 435–464. doi: 10.1111/1467-7660.00125

Kabeer, N., and Subramanian, R. (1996). *Institutions, Relations and Outcomes: Framework and Tools for Gender-Aware Planning*. Institute of Development Studies. Available online at: http://www.ids.ac.uk/files/Dp357.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

Kar, K., and Chambers, R. (2008). *Handbook on Community Lead Total Sanitation*. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies; Plan UK. Available online at: https:// opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/handle/20.500.12413/872 (accessed March 22, 2023).

Khanna, R., Murthy, R., and Zaveri, S. (2016). "Gender transformative evaluations: principles and frameworks engendering evaluation," in *A Resource Pack on Gender Transformative Evaluations*, eds S. Chigateri, and S. Saha (New Delhi Institute of Social Studies Trust), 16–37. Available online at: http://www.isstindia.org/publications/ 1465391379_pub_ISST_Resource_Pack_2016.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

Leahy, C., Winterford, K., Nghiem, T., Kelleher, J., Leong, L., and Willetts, J. (2017). Transforming gender relations through water, sanitation, and hygiene programming and monitoring in Vietnam. *Gend. Dev.* 25, 283–301. doi: 10.1080/13552074.2017.1331530

MacArthur, J. (2018). Reaching the Last Mile: Lessons and Learnings in the Sanitation Market In Rural Bangladesh. Available online at: https://s3.amazonaws.com/www. ideglobal.org/files/public/iDE-BAN-Tactic-Report-Last-Mile.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

MacArthur, J., Carrard, N., Davila, F., Grant, M., Megaw, T., Willetts, J., et al. (2022a). Gender-transformative approaches in international development: a brief history and five uniting principles. *Womens. Stud. Int. Forum* 95, 102635. doi: 10.1016/j.wsif.2022.102635

MacArthur, J., Carrard, N., Koh, S., and Willetts, J. (2022b). Fostering the transformative potential of participatory photography: Insights from water and sanitation assessments. *PLoS Water* 1, e0000036. doi: 10.1371/journal.pwat.0000036

MacArthur, J., Carrard, N., Kozole, T., and Willetts, J. (2022c). Eliciting stories of gender- transformative change: investigating the effectiveness of question prompt formulations in qualitative gender assessments. *Evaluation* 28, 308–329. doi: 10.1177/13563890221105537

MacArthur, J., Carrard, N., and Willetts, J. (2020). WASH and Gender: a critical review of the literature and implications for gender-transformative WASH research. J. Water Sanit. Hyg. Dev. 10, 818–827. doi: 10.2166/washdev.2020.232

MacArthur, J., Carrard, N., and Willetts, J. (2021). Exploring gendered change: concepts and trends in gender equality assessments. *Third World Q.* 42, 2189–2208. doi: 10.1080/01436597.2021.1911636

Macura, B., Foggitt, E., Liera, C., Soto, A., Orlando, A., Del Duca, L., et al. (2023). Systematic mapping of gender equality and social inclusion in WASH interventions: knowledge clusters and gaps. *BMJ Glob. Health* 8, e010850. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2022-010850

Mahon, T., Tripathy, A., and Singh, N. (2015). Putting the men into menstruation: the role of men and boys in community menstrual hygiene management. *Waterlines* 34, 7–14. doi: 10.3362/1756-3488.2015.002

Mandara, C. G., Niehof, A., and van der Horst, H. (2017). Women and rural water management: token representatives or paving the way to power? *Water Alternat.* 10, 116–133. Available online at: https://www.water-alternatives.org/index.php/alldoc/articles/vol10/v10issue1/345-a10-1-7/file (accessed March 22, 2023).

March, C., Smyth, I., and Mukhopadhyay, M. (1999). A Guide to Gender-Analysis Frameworks. Oxfam. Available online at: https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/handle/10546/115397 (accessed March 22, 2023).

McDougall, C., Elias, M., and Mulema, A. A. (2021). *The Potential and Unknowns of Gender Transformative Approaches*. CGIAR: Gender Platform - Evidence Explainer, 1–3. Available online at: https://hdl.handle.net/10568/114804 (accessed March 22, 2023).

Mommen, B., Humphries-Waa, K., and Gwavuya, S. (2017). Does women's participation in water committees affect management and water system performance in rural Vanuatu? *Waterlines* 36, 216–232. doi: 10.3362/1756-3488.16-00026

Moore, M. L., Riddell, D., and Vocisano, D. (2015). Scaling out, scaling up and scaling deep: Strategies of non-profits in advancing systemic social innovation. *J. Corp. Citizensh.* 58, 67–84. Available online at: https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A428874128/

AONE?u=anon~77672f30&sid=googleScholar&xid=f6e0f606 (accessed March 22, 2023).

Moser, C. O. N. (1993). Gender Planning and Development: Theory, Practice and Training. London; New York, NY: Routledge.

Mott, J., Brown, H., Kilsby, D., Eller, E., and Choden, T. (2021). Gender Equality and Social Inclusion Self-Assessment Tool, Water for Women Fund and Sanitation Learning Hub. doi: 10.19088/SLH.2021.016

Pederson, A., Greaves, L., and Poole, N. (2015). Gender-transformative health promotion for women: a framework for action. *Health Promot. Int.* 30, 140–150. doi: 10.1093/heapro/dau083

Pommells, M., Schuster-Wallace, C., Watt, S., and Mulawa, Z. (2018). Gender violence as a water, sanitation, and hygiene risk: uncovering violence against women and girls as it pertains to poor WaSH access. *Violence Against Women* 24, 1851–1862. doi: 10.1177/1077801218754410

Rautanen, S.-L., and Baaniya, U. (2008). Technical work of women in Nepal's rural water supply and sanitation. *Water Int*. 33, 202–213. doi: 10.1080/02508060802027687

Rottach, E., Schuler, S. R., and Hardee, K. (2009). *Gender Perspectives Improve Reproductive Health Outcomes: New Evidence*. Available online at: https://www.prb. org/resources/gender-perspectives-improve-reproductive-health-outcomes-new-evidence (accessed March 22, 2023).

Rutledge Shields, V., and Dervin, B. (1993). Sense-making in feminist social science research: a call to enlarge the methodological options of feminist studies. *Womens. Stud. Int. Forum* 16, 65–81. doi: 10.1016/0277-5395(93)90081-J

Sahoo, K. C., Hulland, K. R. S., Caruso, B. A., Swain, R., Freeman, M. C., Panigrahi, P., et al. (2015). Sanitation-related psychosocial stress: a grounded theory study of women across the life-course in Odisha, India. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 139, 80–89. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.06.031

Sam, J.-M., and Todd, S. K. (2020). Women as hand pump technicians: empowering women and enhancing participation in rural water supply projects. *Dev. Pract.* 30, 357–368. doi: 10.1080/09614524.2019.1703904

Sehring, J., ter Horst, R., and Zwarteveen, M. (eds). (2022). Gender Dynamics in Transboundary Water Governance Feminist Perspectives on Water Conflict and Cooperation. London: Routledge.

Singh, N., Åström, K., Hydén, H., and Wickenberg, P. (2008). Gender and water from a human rights perspective: The role of context in translating international norms into local action. *Rural Soc.* 18, 185–193. doi: 10.5172/rsj.351.18.3.185

Sinharoy, S. S., and Caruso, B. A. (2019). On World Water Day, gender equality and empowerment require attention. *Lancet Planet Health* 3, e202–e203. doi: 10.1016/S2542-5196(19)30021-X

Soeters, S., Grant, M., Carrard, N., and Willetts, J. (2019). *Intersectionality: Ask the Other Question*. Available online at: waterforwomen.uts.edu.au (accessed March 22, 2023).

Soeters, S., Grant, M., Salinger, A., and Willetts, J. (2020). Gender Equality and Women in Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) Enterprises in Cambodia: Synthesis of Recent Studies. Sydney. Available online at: https://www.waterforwomenfund.org/ en/learning-and-resources/resources/KL/2007-Cambodia-Enterprise-Synthesis.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

Sommer, M., Ferron, S., Cavill, S., and House, S. (2015). Violence, gender and WASH: spurring action on a complex, under-documented and sensitive topic. *Environ*. *Urban*. 27, 105–116. doi: 10.1177/0956247814564528

Stanbury, P. (1984). Women's Role in Irrigated Agriculture: Report of the 1984 Diagnostic Workshop, Dahod Tank Irrigation Project, Madhya Pradesh, India. Fort Collins, CO: Colorado State University, Water Management Synthesis Project.

Sweetman, C., and Medland, L. (2017). Introduction: gender and water, sanitation and hygiene. Gend. Dev. 25, 153–166. doi: 10.1080/13552074.2017.1349867

Taukobong, H. F. G., Kincaid, M. M., Levy, J. K., Bloom, S. S., Platt, J. L., Henry, S. K., et al. (2016). Does addressing gender inequalities and empowering women and girls improve health and development programme outcomes? *Health Policy Plan.* 31, 1492–1514. doi: 10.1093/heapol/czw074

Udas, P. B., and Zwarteveen, M. Z. (2010). Can water professionals meet gender goals? A case study of the Department of Irrigation in Nepal. *Gend. Dev.* 18, 87–97. doi: 10.1080/13552071003600075

UNESCO (2000). Gender Equality and Equity: A Summary Review of UNESCO's Accomplishments Since the Fourth World Conference on Women (Beijing 1995). Available online at: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000121145 (accessed March 22, 2023).

United Nations (1995). *Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action*. Available online at: https://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/beijing/pdf/BDPfA~E.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

van Wijk-Sijbesma, C. (1985). Participation of Women in Water Supply and Sanitation: Roles And realities. Hague: IRC; UNDP. Available online at: https://www.ircwash.org/sites/default/files/202.1-85PA-2977.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

Van Wijk-Sijbesma, C. (1987). Drinking-water and sanitation: women can do much. *World Health Forum* 8, 28–33.

van Wijk-Sijbesma, C. (1998). Gender in Water Resources Management, Water Supply and Sanitation: Roles and Realities Revisited. Delft: IRC International Water and Sanitation Center. Available online at: https://www.ircwash.org/sites/default/files/ Wijk-1998-GenderTP33-text.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

Visscher, J. T. (1982). Rural Water Supply Development: The Buba Tombali Water *Project 1978–1981*. Guinea-Bissau: IRC.

Water for Women (2019a). Do No Harm for Women's Empowerment in WASH Pilot. Available online at: https://www.waterforwomenfund.org/en/learning-and-resources/ resources/GSI/WfW-DNH-learning-brief-final.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

Water for Women (2019b). Towards Transformation: Water for Women Fund Strategy. Available online at: https://www.waterforwomenfund.org/en/learningand-resources/resources/GSI/TT-Strategy-summary---Rev-1.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

Water for Women (2022a). Partnerships for Transformation: Guidance for WASH and Rights Holder Organisations. Available online at: https://www.waterforwomenfund. org/en/news/partnerships-for-transformation-guidance-for-wash-and-rightsholder-organisations.aspx (accessed March 22, 2023).

Water for Women (2022b). Shifting Social Norms for Transformative1 WASH: Guidance for WASH Actors. Available online at: https://www.waterforwomenfund.org/ en/news/towards-transformation-shifting-social-norms-for-transformative-wash. aspx(accessed March 22, 2023).

WaterAid (2017). Practical Guidance to Address Gender Equality While Strengthening Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Systems. Available online at: https:// washmatters.wateraid.org/publications/practical-guidance-gender-equalitystrengthening-water-sanitation-hygiene-systems (accessed March 22, 2023).

Wellin, E. (1966). Directed cultural change and health programmes in Latin America. *Millbank Mem. Fund Q.* 44, 111–128. doi: 10.2307/3348982

White, A. U., Bradley, D. J., and White, G. F. (1972). Drawers of Water: Domestic Water Use in East Africa. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

WHO (2011). WHO Gender Responsive Assessment Scale: Criteria for Assessing Programmes and Policies. Available online at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/ 9789241501057 (accessed March 22, 2023).

Wieringa, S. (1994). Women's interests and empowerment: gender planning reconsidered. *Dev. Change* 25, 829–848. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7660.1994.tb00 537.x

Willetts, J., Carrard, N., Crawford, J., Rowland, C., and Halcrow, G. (2013). Working from strengths to assess changes in gender equality. *Dev. Pract.* 23, 991–1006. doi: 10.1080/09614524.2013.840564

Willetts, J., Carrard, N., Halcrow, G., Rowland, C., and Crawford, J. (2009). *How Do We Better Address Gender in Pacific Water and Sanitation Initiatives: Fiji Case Study*. Gender and Pacific WASH, IWDA and UTS-ISF. Available online at: https://www.gen derinpacificwash.info/system/resources/BAhbBlsHOgZmIjkyMDExLzAxLZExLzIxLz MyLzE2MC9pc2ZfaXdkYV9maWppX2Nhc2Vfc3R1ZHkucGRm/isf_iwda_fiji-case-study.pdf (accessed March 22, 2023).

Willetts, J., Halcrow, G., Carrard, N., Rowland, C., and Crawford, J. (2010). Addressing two critical MDGs together: gender in water, sanitation and hygiene initiatives. *Pac. Econ. Bull.* 25, 211–221. Available online at: https://devpolicy.org/PEB/ 2019/06/19/addressing-two-critical-mdgs-together-gender-in-water-sanitation-andhygiene-initiatives/ (accessed March 22, 2023).

World Bank (2019). *Women in Water Utilities: Breaking Barriers*. Available online at: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/32319 (accessed March 22, 2023). doi: 10.1596/32319

Worsham, K., Sylvester, R., Hales, G., McWilliams, K., and Luseka, E. (2021). Leadership for SDG 6.2: Is diversity missing? *Environ. Health Insights* 15. doi: 10.1177/11786302211031846

Zwarteveen, M. (2010). "A masculine water world: The politics of gender and identity in irrigation expert thinking," in *Out of the Mainstream: Water Rights, Politics and Identity* (Earthscan), 75–96. doi: 10.4324/9781849774796

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Juliet Willetts, University of Technology Sydney, Australia

REVIEWED BY

Nuhu Amin, University of Technology Sydney, Australia Farhana Haque, University of London, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Ortrun Merkle Merkle@merit.unu.edu

RECEIVED 19 September 2022 ACCEPTED 11 April 2023 PUBLISHED 12 May 2023

CITATION

Merkle O, Allakulov U, Gonzalez D, Sánchez AH, Rabbi SE and Hasan Z (2023) When vulnerabilities are exploited—The role of sextortion in the WASH sector in Bangladesh. *Front. Water* 5:1048594. doi: 10.3389/frwa.2023.1048594

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Merkle, Allakulov, Gonzalez, Sánchez, Rabbi and Hasan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

When vulnerabilities are exploited—The role of sextortion in the WASH sector in Bangladesh

Ortrun Merkle^{1*}, Umrbek Allakulov², Debora Gonzalez², Alfredo Hernández Sánchez³, Sifat E. Rabbi⁴ and Zobair Hasan⁵

¹The United Nations University – Maastricht Economic and Social Research Institute on Innovation and Technology (UNU-MERIT) and Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands, ²Water Integrity Network, Berlin, Germany, ³Institut Barcelona d'Estudis Internacionals, Barcelona, Spain, ⁴Change Initiative, Dhaka, Bangladesh, ⁵Development Organization of the Rural Poor (DORP), Dhaka, Bangladesh

It has long been acknowledged that many aspects of Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene (WASH) are highly gendered and that women face an increased risk of violence when access to WASH services is not adequate. However, not enough studies explore where these incidents of violence occur or document the different forms of violence. This research paper will add to the newly emerging research on sextortion as a form of violence that women and girls encounter disproportionately in accessing WASH. This form of violence that takes place at the intersection of corruption and sexual violence has dire social, economic and health consequences, yet little is known as of what increases vulnerability to sextortion. Analyzing original data from a standardized survey with adult women (n = 1,200), interviews (n = 21) and focus group discussions (n = 5), this paper examines the factors that make women vulnerable to sextortion in accessing WASH services. The study was conducted in 2 rural and 2 urban areas in Bangladesh between September and December 2021. The analysis shows that those women living in poverty, in water insecure households and in rural areas are especially vulnerable to experiencing sextortion. The research also shows that the vulnerability factors, while overlapping are not the same as those making women vulnerable to experiencing sexual and gender-based violence, highlighting the importance of studying sextortion separately. The findings contribute to an emerging evidencebase around sextortion, which remains an understudied phenomenon posing an obstacle to the achievement of safe access to water and sanitation for all.

KEYWORDS

sextortion, wash, sexual and gender-based violence, Bangladesh, corruption

1. Introduction

Gender plays an important role in understanding violence in the Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) sector. Women have been shown to face an increased risk of violence when access to WASH services is not adequate (Hirve et al., 2014; Gonsalves et al., 2015; Jadhav et al., 2016; Kulkarni et al., 2017; Pommells et al., 2018), however more research is still needed to understand where these incidents of violence occur and what forms of violence women face (Sommer et al., 2015). This paper is exploring a form of violence that has only recently been receiving more attention, sexual extortion, or sextortion. Sextortion is a form of corruption, where the body, rather than money or goods are the payment of the bribe (Merkle, 2020) and takes place at the intersection of corruption and sexual violence.¹

¹ World Health Organization (n.d.) defines: "Sexual violence is any sexual act, attempt to obtain a sexual act, or other act directed against a person's sexuality using coercion, by any person regardless of their relationship to the victim, in any setting. It includes rape, defined as the physically forced or otherwise coerced penetration of the vulva or anus with a penis, other body part or object."

10.3389/frwa.2023.1048594

Only few studies have addressed how and where individuals are vulnerable to sextortion (Merkle et al., 2017; Eldén et al., 2020; Feigenblatt, 2020; Caarten et al., 2022), however, they all highlight that, while sextortion can happen to anyone, women are disproportionally affected by this form of corruption. Yet, much more research is still needed to identify which factors increase women's vulnerability to sextortion, particularly in sectors of public life, where women are especially at risk of facing violence.

Corruption research has long highlighted that women and men experience corruption differently in accessing different services, where "[s]ystematic discrimination against women produces social dynamics that generate power imbalances and facilitate corruption, including gendered forms of corruption, while also making it harder for women victims of corruption to seek justice for corrupt abuses of power" (Transparency International and Equal Rights Trust, 2021, p. 22). Yet, surprisingly little work has looked in more detail at providing case studies discussing vulnerabilities in specific sectors. A sector that is not only often plagued by corruption but is also highly gendered is the WASH sector (Zinnbauer and Dobson, 2008; Stålgren, 2015; Pommells et al., 2018). Therefore, this paper will take a closer look at the vulnerability of women to a highly gendered form of corruption, sextortion, in the WASH sector in selected areas of Bangladesh. Previous studies in Kenya, South Africa, and Columbia highlight that women and girls face high risks of encountering sextortion (UNDP-SIWI Water Governance Facility, 2017; KEWASNET and ANEW, 2020), hence the data collected for this paper, exclusively focused on the experience of women.

Sextortion is defined as "the abuse of power to obtain a sexual favor" (IAWJ, 2012, p. 9). In addition to the sexual component, there are three distinct features that need to be present for the corruption component in sextortion: "abuse of authority; a quid pro quo exchange; and psychological coercion rather than physical force" (IAWJ, 2012, p. 9). On the latter, the sexual component in sextortion does not have to involve sexual intercourse but can also comprise acts such as exposing private body parts or posing for sexual photographs (IAWJ, 2012). It is differentiated from rape or sexual assault in that it involves a "quid pro quo" exchange in which the victim gives a sexual favor to obtain some benefit that the person in authority can provide or withhold. Importantly, sextortion happens in a context of psychological coercion, that is, the perpetrator exerts coercive pressure, rather than consent being given freely. Just as power over someone is a crucial element of all sexual and gender-based violence, it is also a condition of corruption, and in particular, sextortion (IAWJ, 2012). "Much of the gendered experience of corruption in the water supply sector is tainted by the feeling of being powerless in relation to an authority upon which one relies for the fulfillment of a basic need." (UNDP-SIWI Water Governance Facility, 2017, p. 5).

Sextortion, includes both instances, where the sexual activity was demanded by an individual in a position of power and where sex or sexual activity are initiated by a person dependent on an access to a service which they fear not to otherwise be able to obtain. However, the latter should not be misinterpreted as acts that women gave consent to. Rather, the power imbalances in these exchanges lead to "coerced consent" (Eldén et al., 2020). Since water is a life-sustaining resource, those in power know that the person in need of access is in a desperate situation and may be willing to go to extreme lengths to secure access. This is particularly important to remember also when discussing the policy responses to sextortion cases.

Previous studies found that sextortion in access to WASH services is a part of the lived reality of women in many places. A study in Bogotá, Colombia, and Johannesburg, South Africa, found frequent cases of sextortion. Women were demanded or offered sexual favors when they needed to access resources or services, for example to get water delivered, in return for intentionally misreading the water meter or not turning off the water supply (UNDP-SIWI Water Governance Facility, 2017). Similarly, a study in Kibera Project, Kenya found that sextortion was fairly entrenched in the study area with about 2 respondents in 10 reporting having heard about it (KEWASNET and ANEW, 2020, p. 24). Pommells et al. (2018), looking at case studies in East Africa, document cases of sextortion, such as skipping ahead in water queues and offering sex for water when users cannot pay the fees.

This study will add to this emerging literature by analyzing factors that make women vulnerable to experiencing sextortion when accessing WASH services in selected regions of Bangladesh. To get a better understanding of what makes women vulnerable to violence it is important to understand that such an analysis needs to go beyond simply looking at the sex of an individual and recognize that gender is a "complex, multilevel cultural construct that determines the meanings of being female or male in a particular situational context" (Russo and Pirlott, 2006, p. 180). Therefore, this paper assesses which factors, such as physical ability, and class intersect with gender and how they might play a role in determining which women do or do not experience sextortion when accessing WASH services. It has been well-established that inequalities in accessing WASH services for women and girls lead to negative health consequences (Pouramin et al., 2020) and sextortion likely exacerbates these inequalities even further. In addition, it has been shown that sextortion, similar to sexual and gender-based violence, has detrimental effects on women's economic, psychological and physical wellbeing (Feigenblatt, 2020; Caarten et al., 2022). Therefore, understanding and preventing sextortion in WASH can be expected to lead to an improvement in the wellbeing of women and girls accessing those facilities.

Bangladesh was chosen as a case study for this research for several reasons. As the country experiences both high levels of corruption and sexual and gender-based violence, it can be hypothesized that sextortion, which lies at the intersection of the two also occurs. The country is faring poorly on Transparency Internationals' (TI) Corruption Perception Index (ranked 147 out of 180 countries in 2021) and Transparency International Bangladesh (2020) considers corruption as "one of the main impediments to establish women's rights" (para. 1). The Global Corruption Barometer 2020 reported that 24% of public service users and 22% of those using utilities paid a bribe in the previous 12 months (Transparency International, 2020). Bangladesh also experiences challenges with regards to access to WASH services, with only 59% of the country having safely managed access to drinking water, 39% safely managed access to sanitation, and 58% basic access to hygiene (WHO and UNICEF, 2021). In a regional

10.3389/frwa.2023.1048594

comparison, Bangladesh is faring worse than most of its regional neighbors in both sanitation and hygiene, and scores in the middle field for water (WHO and UNICEF, 2021). Further, the decision making on WASH is dominated by men (Livani et al., 2021). A 2017 study, for example, shows that in the south-west of the country, only 20 percent of representatives in water management organizations are women and typically they are not present in high level positions (Buisson et al., 2017). In addition, only 6 percent of the workforce in water and sanitation utilities are women (World Bank, 2019). Sexual and gender-based violence (GBV) is also a serious concern in the country (UNDP Bangladesh and PTIB, 2022). The organization ODHIKAR has been compiling data on different forms of GBV, however, the resulting numbers are likely only a small fraction of the actual cases. The organization's data on average identifies over 800 rapes annually in the twentyyear period between 2001 and 2021. For the past 10 years (2011-2021), they also collected information on over 3,000 girls reporting to have been sexually harassed and stalked (Odhikar | Statistics on Violence against Women²). Young, unmarried women are especially exposed to sexual harassment (Camellia et al., 2012; Nahar et al., 2013). The World Bank in 2013 estimated that more than 50% of women in rural Bangladesh experience domestic violence regularly, and this number is likely an underestimation (World Bank, 2013). A recent study also shows that open defecation is significantly associated with experiencing sexual violence by partners in the home (Murshid, 2022).

Male violence against women is also closely linked to existing gender and social norms. Fattah and Camellia (2020, p. 784) found that the "majority of both men and women in the rural areas of Bangladesh adhere to hegemonic gender norms and attitudes that justify, promote, and perpetuate violence against women. These norms, beliefs, and attitudes are routinely and systematically translated into practice by men and are justified by them to exert control over women's body through the use of violence and simultaneous victim blaming". The authors find that women also share similar beliefs, norms and attitudes. When researching sextortion, it is essential to understand how these norms play a role in allowing sextortion to persist and at the same time prevent victims from reporting. In addition, significant issues of shame and stigma still prevent women from reporting violence both inside and outside the home (Kishor and Johnson, 2005; World Health Organization, 2005). A report by Humans Rights Watch (2020) for example, shows how survivors of abuse by husbands or in-laws rarely report the abuse as it is considered a private matter, and highlights how the country is lacking robust services and reporting mechanisms for survivors of GBV.

This paper goes beyond the existing studies of sextortion in WASH by not only mapping where and how frequently women are exposed to sextortion, but also by analyzing which factors make women more vulnerable to experiencing sextortion. Therefore, the results of the analysis could provide important insights for potential policy changes.

The paper is organized as follows. The next section will present the data collected and the method of analysis. The paper will then move to discussing the different factors of vulnerability and end with concluding remarks.

2. Materials and methods

The data presented in this paper has been collected by the Water Integrity Network in collaboration with local civil society organizations. The analysis is based on a mixed methods approach. A standardized survey was conducted with 1,200 respondents. A stratified purposeful sampling (Sandelowski, 2000) approach was applied to select respondents, which involved a prior identification of water stressed areas and then selection of respondents using the random walk method in those areas. To enable regional comparisons on sextortion prevalence, 300 responses were obtained in each study area. The sample size was determined taking into account available financial resources for data collection and in the absence of a baseline incidence for the outcome of interest, i.e., sextortion in access to WASH services. In addition, 5 focus group discussions were conducted with women. For the focus group discussions, convenience sampling was utilized by recruiting volunteers among the respondents of the standard survey. Moreover, key informant interviews were conducted with 21 respondents who were selected through purposeful sampling. A set of criteria was applied to select participants for the key informant interviews, which included professional affiliation with various water and sanitation sector stakeholder groups in the study areas and willingness to provide insights from the service provision perspective.

The data was collected between September and December, 2021. All phases of primary data collection, including enumerator training, supervision, random sampling, were conducted by two local organizations, the Development Organization of the Rural Poor (DORP) and Change Initiative (CI). Data was collected in four areas of Bangladesh spread across the three administrative districts: Satkhira (south west), Bandarban (south-east), and Dhaka (a central district, which is sub-divided into Dhaka North City Corporation and Dhaka South City Corporation; Figure 1). Bandarban and Satkhira are rural areas that are both waterstressed. Bandarban is a hilly region with a low groundwater table, whereas Satkhira is a coastal area where saline water is predominantly available (Ahmed et al., 2018; Chakma et al., 2021). In the two urban district of Dhaka, the survey was conducted in two slum areas: Korail, located in the Dhaka North City Corporation, and Rasulpur, located in the Dhaka South City Corporation. In the context of urbanization, these slums have been growing in population size over the last three decades, whilst the provision of services such as access to safe drinking water and basic toilet facilities has not kept up. Korail covers approximately 100 acres and is home to more than 50,000 residents, most of whom live under the poverty line (BRAC, 2014). A major eviction drive around Dhaka in 2007-2008 saw many slum dwellers relocate to Korail, further deteriorating the living conditions and service access there. Rasulpur is located within the Kamrangirchar, peninsula area hosting one of the biggest slum areas in Dhaka South (Banglapedia, 2021). WASH facilities in

² Available online at: http://odhikar.org/statistics/statistics-on-violenceagainst-women/ (Retrieved May 1, 2022).



the area are poor and provide only limited access to safe water and sanitation.

As previous studies have shown that women are disproportionately affected by sextortion, both in the water and sanitation sector, and in other contexts (UNDP-SIWI Water Governance Facility, 2017; Feigenblatt, 2020), only women were interviewed.³ Given the sensitive nature of the topic of study, only women over 18 were included in the data collection. The focus groups had between 4 and 13 participants. Data collection using the standardized survey was carried out using both mobile devices and paper questionnaires, which were then manually entered into a central database. The standardized survey comprised both general questions about the profile and experience of the respondent and their household members, as well as specific question about the respondent's experience with corruption sexual and gender-based violence, and sextortion, if any.

In order to understand where sextortion occurs, one also needs to understand where and when sexual and gender-based violence occurs. Therefore, the survey included question about different forms of SGBV, four of which were identified to constitute acts of sextortion (Table 1).

The interviews and focus groups were not recorded but the interviewers took detailed notes and wrote summary reports for each interview and focus group. These summary reports where then analyzed using Atlas.ti. The decision to not record was made $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 1}}$ Forms of sextortion and sexual and gender-based violence included in the survey.

Four forms of sextortion	Other forms of SGBV
 Someone demanded sex or sexual activity* in exchange for (access to) water/toilet/bathing facilities Someone demanded sex or sexual activity as payment for debt owed for water/toilet/bathing facilities The respondent offered sex or sexual activity in exchange for water/toilet/bathing facilities The respondent offered sex or sexual activity as payment for debt owed for water/toilet/bathing facilities 	 Someone forced the respondent into sexual intercourse by holding them down or hurting them in some way Someone attempted to force the respondent into sexual intercourse by holding them down or hurting them in some way Someone groped, fondled, or kissed the respondent Someone touched the respondent's private parts
 * e.g. kissing, fondling/groping, touching private parts 	 Someone made suggestive remarks, gestures, jokes or
	written words of sexual nature

in consultation with the local organizations who were worried that respondents would refuse to answer when recorded given the sensitive and criminal nature of the topic.

When interpreting the data collected in the survey it is important to remember that sextortion is a form of corruption that is very difficult to research "due to the social taboo frequently associated with sex crimes and the stigmatization of victims who speak up" (UNODC, 2020, p. 13) In addition, as sextortion is transactional in nature, survivors often are wrongly portrayed as willing participants, leading to further stigmatization and underreporting. Therefore, the number of sextortion incidents represented in this research paper does likely not cover the full extent of the phenomena.

³ This paper focuses solely on the experiences of women, as previous research has shown that they are disproportionally affected by it (Merkle et al., 2017; Eldén et al., 2020; Feigenblatt, 2020), however, this does not mean that men and non-binary individuals are not experiencing sextortion. This should be taken into consideration for future studies.

Though water-sector specific data on sextortion is not widely available, based on similar studies on the phenomenon in the Middle East and North Africa, incidences of sextortion when accessing government services have been found to range from 23% (Lebanon) to 13% (Jordan). These rates are similar in Latin America and the Caribbean, where sextortion experiences have ranged between 30% of people in Barbados and 14% in Panama (Eldén et al., 2020). In 2020, 9% of respondents for Transparency International's Global Corruption Barometer Survey in Bangladesh had either experienced sextortion or knew someone who did (Vrushi, 2020).

While the WASH sector is a small part of government services and benefits offered to citizens across the world, it is a crucial one. We therefore expect that rates of sextortion in this sector would be within a similar range in the populations of developing countries. A *post-hoc* power calculation for the one-sample study where the response variable is dichotomous, where the estimated population incidence is 20%, the study group incidence is 4.4%, type I error tolerance is 0.05, and sample n = 1,200 yields a statistical power of 100%. Given the exploratory nature of the study, along with the sensitive nature of the topic, we collected a sample of convenience while maintaining a rural-urban balance (approx. 50% of respondents for each) in the sample. Table 2 displays the descriptive statistics for the key variables considered in the study comparing respondents that experienced sextortion and those that did not.

To understand which factors, play a role in making women more vulnerable to experiencing sextortion in the WASH sector, we identify the respondent characteristics which increase the likelihood of experiencing a sextortion event. To this effect, we run a probit model where the response variable is binary taking the value of 1 when the respondent has suffered one of the sextortion instances outlined in Table 1, and 0 otherwise. We run a multivariate probit model in order to control for various demographic characteristics, such as age, and isolate the effects that three forms of vulnerability have on the likelihood of sextortion in the WASH sector in Bangladesh. We consider the following equation:

 $\hat{y} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 poverty.score + \beta_2 hwise.score + \beta_3 literacy$ $+ \beta_3 impairment + \beta_{5:n} x_{5:n} + \epsilon$

Where:

- poverty.score is a continuous variable [0:100] constructed using a variation of the Lived Poverty Index and serves as a proxy for income,
- hwise.score is a continuous variable [0:36] which is an indicator of water insecurity measured using the Household Water Insecurity Experiences (ter) Scale,
- literacy is a binary variable which is 1 if the respondent can read and 0 otherwise,
- impairment is a binary variable which is 1 if the respondent reported having a visual, hearing, mobility/physical, mental, speech, or other impairment and 0 otherwise.

Other demographic control variables $(x_{5:n})$ include age, marital status, and urban region.

Water insecurity in the 4 weeks prior to the survey date was measured using the Household Water Insecurity Experiences (HWISE) Scale (Young et al., 2019). The HWISE Scale is measured through 12 questions on experiences of water availability, accessibility, use, acceptability, and reliability. Each question contains four response options (never = 0, rarely = 1, sometimes = 2, often/always = 3) that are summed together at the household level. The scores can range between 0 and 36. The households of respondents with a HWISE Scale score of 12 or higher are considered water insecure.

The model was then used to test the following hypothesis

- H1: Respondents from high poverty score households are more likely to endure sextortion events.
- H2: Respondents from households with higher water vulnerability are more likely to endure sextortion events.
- H3: Respondents who are not literate are more likely to endure sextortion events.
- H4: Respondents who have any form of impairment are more likely to endure sextortion events.

The study is exploratory in nature and has some clear limitations in the methodological approach and the validity of the findings. The stratified purposeful sampling is statistically nonrepresentative, which means that the findings of this study are not generalizable. However, our data still provides evidence for the existence of the problem and a clear indication which factors play a role in creating vulnerabilities to sextortion. The interviews and focus groups could not be recorded which limited the how the data could be used for analysis. As only summary reports were available, no direct quotes are used to support the findings of the quantitative analysis and the summaries likely do not reflect the same nuance as recordings. Given the sensitivity of the topic and the vulnerability of the victims it is important that future studies do include the voices of those that experience sextortion.

3. Results and discussion

Most of the households covered were male-headed, with three quarters of respondents (74.8%) reporting to be spouses of the head of household. The average household size was 5 and respondents came from a variety of ethnicities (Bengali, Chakma, Marma, Mru, Tanchangya, and Tripura). The majority (60.6%) of respondents rely on public taps/standpipes as their primary source of water, followed by boreholes (17.2%). Only 1% of respondents has direct access to water piped into their compound, yard, plot or dwelling. Some access water primarily through protected springs and wells (5.6%) or water piped to a neighbor's house (2%). The remainder of respondents (13.6%) indicated relying on unprotected sources, which include unprotected wells and springs, rainwater collection and surface water. Nevertheless, more than half of respondents (56.6%) indicate having access to water close to their homes, reporting it takes less than 5 min to walk to and from the water source (excluding queuing times). Queuing times were reported to be below 5 min by two thirds of respondents (68.6%).

The survey also shows that women regularly face violence when accessing WASH services. Roughly one third (29.4%) of

Sextortion	Variable	Level	n	Perc	Mean
0			1,147	95.6	NA
1			53	4.4	NA
0	Age	18-25 years old	266	22.2	NA
0	Age	26-35 years old	842	70.2	NA
0	Age	51 or above	39	3.2	NA
1	Age	18–25 years old	4	0.3	NA
1	Age	26-35 years old	49	4.1	NA
0	Urban	Rural	576	48	NA
0	Urban	Urban	571	47.6	NA
1	Urban	Rural	24	2	NA
1	Urban	Urban	29	2.4	NA
0	Impaired	Impaired	190	15.8	NA
0	Impaired	Not impaired	957	79.8	NA
1	Impaired	Impaired	6	0.5	NA
1	Impaired	Not impaired	47	3.9	NA
0	Married	Married	980	81.7	NA
0	Married	Not married	167	13.9	NA
1	Married	Married	46	3.8	NA
1	Married	Not married	7	0.6	NA
0	pov_score		NA	NA	24.1
1	pov_score		NA	NA	31.5
0	Hwise		NA	NA	5.7
1	Hwise		NA	NA	10.7

TABLE 2 Descriptive statistics of key variables.

the reported cases of SGBV involved sextortion, meaning the respondents were either demanded or offered sexual favors in return for water or sanitation services. 4.4% of respondents (53 individuals) reported experiencing at least one of the four forms of sextortion when accessing water, bathing facilities or toilet facilities. Of these, 10 respondents had experienced sextortion in multiple service areas.

As has been well-documented, social stigma, fear and shame prevent women from reporting sexual violence, including sextortion to the authorities. The transactional nature of sextortion renders it a particularly sensitive topic, as those experiencing it are often framed as complicit, despite the clear power imbalances at play (World Health Organization, 2005; UNODC, 2020). This may have influenced responses to this survey as well. Therefore, it is important to also consider how many respondents have heard about or witnessed sextortion. Whilst 4.4% of respondents reported a direct experience of sextortion, 8.4% indicate that they had heard of someone experiencing it or had witnessed an incident. These findings are also in line with the results of the Global Corruption barometer where 9% or respondents experienced or heard about sextortion in any sector in Bangladesh (Vrushi, 2020).

The following sections will present the findings of the survey in more detail. These will be supplemented with findings

from the summary reports of the interviews and focus groups where possible.

3.1. Where does sextortion take place

Among the 53 respondents who reported having experienced sextortion, 42 respondents (79.2%) reported experiencing sextortion whilst accessing water. Sextortion incidents when accessing bathing facilities accounted for about one-third (32.1%) of reported sextortion cases, with one indicating having experienced two forms of sextortion. Five respondents (9.4% of all sextortion incidents) reported experiencing sextortion whilst accessing toilet facilities, with no respondents indicating having experienced multiple forms.

The respondents reported having heard about or witnessed sextortion incidents at much higher rate than having directly experienced sextortion themselves. Given the shame and stigma around this form of corruption, it is not surprising that people are more hesitant to share their own experiences than those of others. Access to water is again the area with the highest number of sextortion incidents: 7.6% of respondent had heard about or witnessed someone experiencing sextortion when accessing water vs. 3.5% direct experiences. Respondents also were aware of incidents that happened when others were accessing bathing facilities (2.1 vs. 1.4% direct experiences) and toilets (1.6 vs. 0.4% direct experiences).

Overall, the most common location of sextortion incidents was the WASH facilities themselves, accounting for 44.3% of all reported locations. About every fifth location where sextortion incidents occur is located between the affected respondent's house and the facility (20.3% of reported locations). Other locations were elsewhere indoors (13.9%), elsewhere outdoors (11.4%) and in the house (10.1%). It stood out that none of the few respondents with direct access to toilet facilities (in the form of flush to piped sewer systems or hanging toilets/latrines) reported having experienced sextortion. Direct access to toilet facilities in one's home was also highlighted by participants in focus group discussions as a key measure to reduce risks faced by women and girls. This is in line with research on sexual and gender-based violence that shows that open defecation increases women's risk to violence (e.g., Saleem et al., 2019). Notably, those who reported relying primarily on unprotected water sources were disproportionately affected by sextortion incidents. Whilst 13.6% of respondents relied on unprotected sources comprising surface water, rain water, unprotected wells and unprotected springs as their main source of water, these respondents accounted for a quarter (26.4%) of incidents reported.⁴ At the same time, none of the respondents with direct access to water in their homes and compounds reported being exposed to sextortion.

In the focus groups, there was general agreement that key solutions and mitigating mechanisms include the provision of better water supply installations, such as deep tub wells, in proximity to houses. Affordability of the service is key, including safety nets for those who lack financial security. The installation of adequate toilet and sanitation facilities, if possible, at the household level, was also identified as an opportunity to mitigate risks. If toilet and washing facilities are shared, participants emphasized the importance of lockable doors and sufficient privacy. FGD participants in Rasulpur and Korail described a substantial improvement compared to the situation 10 years ago, linked to more adequate services at an affordable rate, and to landlords dealing with the utility providers.

3.2. Which factors make women more vulnerable to experiencing sextortion?

Arguably being female is not the only factor that potentially makes a person vulnerable to sextortion, yet little has been researched about who is more likely to experience sextortion and why. While sextortion occurs at all levels of society and all sectors (IAWJ, 2012; Carnegie, 2019; Feigenblatt, 2020), not all women experience it. Hence, there are intersecting factors that make women more vulnerable to sextortion. This study finds several factors that seem to increase a women's vulnerability to sextortion.

The regression analysis (see Table 3) finds support for hypotheses 1, 2, and 3. Respectively, respondents from highpoverty households, from water insecure households and with low literacy levels are more likely to suffer sextortion. Table 3 reports the Average Marginal Effect (AME) coefficients for four probit models, three models testing each of the predictors mentioned previously separately with the control variables, and one with all three main independent variables tested in conjunction (model 5). In addition, model 1 tests the significance of the control variables with the main predictors absent. As shown in model 5, we find only limited support for impairment (H4) increasing the likelihood of sextortion, ceteris paribus. Across all other models, the magnitude and significance of all of the main independent variables (literacy, poverty, and water insecurity) remain relatively constant. All models were run using the R statistical programming software, AME coefficients were determined using the margins package. In addition, we find little evidence of multicollinearity among the predictors in the models (VIF < 5).

Figure 2 plots the Marginal Effects for a Representative (MER) across various levels of our main independent variables, this was calculated using the *ggeffects* package. For example, a respondent with a poverty score of 39.7, without literacy skills, in a rural area and with an HWISE score of 32 would have a predicted probability of experiencing sextortion of 43%.^[1] This compares to a 2% predicted probability of sextortion for a hypothetical respondent with an HWISE score of 9.1. On average, a 10-point increase in HWISE scores increases the probability of experiencing a sextortion event by 4% *ceteris paribus*. Similarly, a 10-point increase in Poverty Scores increases the probability of sextortion by 1% on average while being literate reduces this probability by 2.7%.

The 95% confidence interval for this hypothetical respondent would be a predicted probability of sextortion between 23 and 66%

We thus find ample support for hypotheses 1, 2, and 3, where poverty, the lack of literacy and water insecurity are statistically significant predictors of an increased probability of sextortion when holding relevant demographic indicators constant.

Impairment of any kind (i.e., mobility, visual, mental, or hearing) don't predict a higher likelihood of enduring sextortion to a statistically significant level in neither the bivariate nor the multivariate models. However, this result should be interpreted carefully as only very few individuals with an impairment were included in the sample. In the following sections, we explore the vulnerabilities identified in the analysis in greater detail.

3.2.1. The role of poverty

Previous studies show that women living in poverty are particularly vulnerable to sextortion, as they lack the means to pay with money and/or goods and therefore have to rely on their body as the only remaining currency (Merkle et al., 2017). The survey results also clearly show that poverty is a risk factor. In this study a variation of the Lived Poverty Index (Mattes, 2008) was used, which is a measure of deprivation of basic necessities, as a proxy for poverty at the household level. The results show that respondents who reported having experienced sextortion in accessing WASH

⁴ The incident itself may have occurred at a different water source, since the question captures the respondent's main water source, not the source frequented at the time the sextortion incident happened.

TABLE 3 Predictors of sextortion in WASH in Bangladesh.

	Dependent variable: sextortion					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	
Literate		-0.036**			-0.027*	
		(0.014)			(0.014)	
pov_score			0.002***		0.001**	
			(0.0005)		(0.001)	
hwise				0.005***	0.004***	
				(0.001)	(0.001)	
Age	0.013	0.004	0.011	0.013*	0.005	
	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)	
Married	0.002	0.001	0.001	0.011	0.010	
	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.017)	
Impaired	-0.023*	-0.024	-0.033*	-0.007	-0.015	
	(0.018)	(0.018)	(0.018)	(0.018)	(0.019)	
Urban	0.012	0.005	-0.013	-0.004	-0.022	
	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.014)	(0.013)	(0.014)	
Constant	-2.065***	-1.640	-2.381	-2.533	-2.371	
Observations	1,200	1,200	1,200	1,198	1,198	
Log likelihood	-214.842	-211.321	-207.722	-200.950	-195.856	
Akaike inf. crit.	439.685	434.643	427.443	413.901	407.712	

 $p^* < 0.1; p^* < 0.05; p^* < 0.01.$

services tend to come from households with a higher level of LPI, where a higher score indicates a more acute level of poverty.

The results clearly show that poverty exacerbates the risk of women to be exposed to sextortion (Figure 3). To an extent, this is not surprising. Previous research shows the majority of those without access to safe WASH services live in low-income countries. In addition poor households often do not have sufficient access to water to sustain livelihoods, e.g., through irrigated agriculture (Crow and Sultana, 2002). Women and girls are disproportionally affected as they are typically responsible for "water collection and household and community sanitation" (Adams et al., 2021, p. 85). Importantly, as Crow and Sultana (2002) argue, "gender relations interact with material inequalities to influence access to water" (p. 712) in three ways. For one, the already mentioned division of labor that typically puts the burden of domestic labor and childcare on women, who then have to decide which tasks need to be prioritized or potentially given to younger girls (e.g., the collection of water). Secondly, most productive assets are controlled or owned by men, which not only limits productive access to water for women but also means that most decision making related to access to water are still dominated by men. Lastly, the focus on the domestic role of women gives men more social and economic power which also influences where public investments are made, leaving those areas that are crucial or particularly dangerous for women at the margins (Crow and Sultana, 2002). Poverty also plays a crucial role in understanding corruption. The poor are disproportionally affected by corruption as it takes up a larger share of their income (Hunt and Laszlo, 2012; Justesen and Bjørnskov, 2014) and a larger number of women than men live in (extreme) poverty (UNWomen, 2022). In addition, those living in poverty often are more dependent on public services, where women are often considered to be more vulnerable to corruption as they have less recourse and agency than men (UNODC, 2020, p. xiv). Gender also determines what roles men or women typically take on. As women often have more unpaid housework and care responsibilities they are more likely to interact with certain services providers (e.g., social services, health care, education, water; Chêne et al., 2010; Gerasymenko, 2020). Importantly, which roles and responsibilities are considered to be male of female is highly context specific. Women living in poverty are therefore not only more exposed to corruption in certain sectors, but also often lack the funds to pay for corruption. As a stakeholder highlighted in previous research: "Women's experiences [of corruption] are shaped by the fact that, if they have nothing, they still have female bodies" (Merkle et al., 2017).

3.2.2. The role of water insecurity

Water insecurity has been shown to be linked to physical, emotional and intimate partner violence (House et al., 2014; Choudhary et al., 2020). Therefore, it can be expected that it also plays a role in explaining experiences of sextortion. Overall, 23% of respondents live in water insecure households according to the HWISE scale. Among the four regions in the dataset, Korail has the highest concentration of water insecure households (52.3%), followed by Bandarban (29.2%), DSCC (6.7%), and Satkhira (3.6%).



The severity of water insecurity also tends to be higher in the study areas with higher concentration of water insecure households. The median of the HWISE Scale scores in Korail and Bandarban are 12 and 7, respectively, these are also the two areas with the highest number of sextortion incidents. This contrasts with Rasulpur and Satkhira, where the median scores are 0 (Figure 4).





Assessing water insecurity in the past 4 weeks illustrates that water stress is very acute for some. Nearly a third (29.3%) reported that they or someone in their household worried about sufficient access to water to cover all household needs three times or more within the last 4 weeks. Furthermore, 10% of the respondents reported that they or a member of their household had to pay a bribe, give a gift, or do a personal favor for an official working for the government or Water Service Provider in order to get the needed services in the past 12 months. The water insecure households were also those who paid for bribes to receive WASH services more often in the past year, accounting for 57% of such experiences. This indicates that users from water insecure households often find themselves subject to the discretion of service provider officials, who may choose to extort bribes or sexual favors from these users in exchange for service.

Merkle et al.

Interestingly, the findings above stand in stark contrast to other SGBV incidents (excluding sextortion), which affect water secure and water insecure households proportionally to their representation in the sample. This shows that it is important to look at sextortion cases separately and not only as a form of SGBV, in order to understand vulnerabilities better.

3.2.3. The role of literacy and disability

The analysis highlights that the level of literacy impacts who is or is not vulnerable to sextortion. This is in line with previous research that finds that a "person's access to resources, opportunities and choices, and power and voice directly impacts the vulnerability in relation to persons with entrusted authority on which the person depends" (Eldén et al., 2020, p. 51). The vast majority of sextortion incidents (72%, 38 cases out of 53) affect those who are not literate (cannot read and write). In comparison, those who are literate make up nearly half of the sample (48.9%) but account only for 28.3% of the reported sextortion incidents.

Previous research shows that "socially marginalized groups, such as people with disabilities who may have problems accessing latrines, or those from lower castes where entrenched discrimination may prohibit the use of common sanitation sources, may experience increased difficulties in safely meeting their daily water and sanitation needs" (Sommer et al., 2015, p. 106). At the same time persons with disabilities are more exposed to corruption than those without (Jenkins and McDonald, 2022). Yet, the survey for this study does not find a significant effect of disability on the likelihood of experiencing sextortion. However, this result should be interpreted with a lot of caution as the number of those survey respondents reporting that they suffer from at least one impairment (was very small and the survey only captured seven respondents who reported both an impairment and a sextortion experience. A more comprehensive analysis with a larger number of respondents with impairments might yield different results and help to shed light on the question if women with (multiple) impairments are more affected, and with regards to the relative prevalence of sextortion incidents.

3.3. (Gender) norms and power

By definition, corruption is about power, and especially in the case of sextortion, this involves a party that (systematically) has power over the other (Merkle, 2018). Especially in sextortion, "the power dynamic always represented a structural power asymmetry in favor of the public official receiving them" (UNODC, 2020, p. 44). Yet, the survey highlighted that the public often judges the women rather than the public official. On the question of how respondents view sexual relationships with providers of water or sanitation services, 39.7% indicated that it is not good that it happens, but placed the responsibility with the users, i.e., the women, rather than the powerful party, i.e., the public official. Only a third (33.4%) described people having sexual relationships with service providers as victims who need support. A minority (7.3%) described such relationships as normal and acceptable, whilst 6.5%

described them as beneficial for users because they get better services (no queuing, affordable water, free toilet/bathrooms, etc.).

The understanding that the occurrence of corruption is closely linked to gender norms is getting increasing attention in the literature (e.g., Echazu, 2010; Esarey and Chirillo, 2013; Merkle, 2018; Kubbe and Merkle, 2022). The discussion around gender norms in WASH is also not new, as the structural responsibilities around WASH are typically related to the traditional roles of women and girls, such as child care, cooking, cleaning and water collection (White et al., 2002; Fisher et al., 2017). Thus, "WASH access, use, and control are embedded in a complex web of sociocultural and political networks that impose social relations at different scales" (Nunbogu and Elliott, 2022, p. 7). Sextortion, like sexual and gender-based violence, is particularly influenced by the gender norms that shape how society expects women and men to behave. This also impacts how being a survivor of sextortion is stigmatized and therefore how likely women are to report experiencing sextortion.

When asked in which circumstances the respondent thinks it is acceptable for a woman to build a sexual relationship with a water operator/vendor, the vast majority (92.2%) indicated that women should never form such a relationship in any circumstances. In light of this, stigma may prevent some women from reporting experiences of sextortion, and the real number of women affected may be higher than is reflected in surveys such as the one conducted here. While no research has been done estimating how sextortion is underreported in surveys, research on SGBV shows that a multitude of factors, such as stigma and shame (Kishor and Johnson, 2005; World Health Organization, 2005), the expected impunity of perpetrators (e.g. Hynes et al., 2004), or the normalization of such violence (Fugate et al., 2005) prevent women from reporting (Palermo et al., 2014).

Nevertheless, some respondents conceded certain scenarios within which they think it acceptable for a woman to build a sexual relationship with the water operator/vendor, in particular when this is the only means to get water. A few also mentioned that factors such as care responsibilities for sick or elderly people, a lack of enough water for cooking or household chores, or long queuing times could justify entering into such relationships. This is once again in line with gendered expectations that women should put their care responsibilities above all else. Studies on Bangladesh also show that women do not only face a risk of violence outside the home but also inside the home, for example when they cannot fulfill their roles in the household due to water insecurity (Pommells et al., 2018; Collins et al., 2019). This additional burden likely forces women to expose themselves to dangerous situations when accessing water and can be expected to also make them less likely to report abuse experienced when fetching water.

The questions of how individuals and communities respond to sextortion and whether perpetrators are held accountable are strongly impacted by social norms, where gender norms that see women in subordinate positions and accept the dominant position of men sustain gender-based violence (Massey, 2013; Banarjee, 2020; Dery, 2021). The survey clearly shows the social stigma for survivors of sextortion, where 39.6% of respondents who experienced sextortion state that it damages the family honor (Figure 5).



A large number or respondents indicated that survivors should report to their family members (35.3%), but only few thought survivors should report to the police (11.7%).

This is likely linked to the fear of damaging the family honor, but also an expectation that the police will not be helpful. In Bangladesh, corruption plays an important role in determining who has access to the judicial system, and "[t]he demand for money for government-provided legal representation puts those without power or financial means at an even further disadvantage" (Humans Rights Watch, 2020, p. 47). As additional obstacles, "when women or girls do go to the police after an assault, they frequently face obstruction from police officers. This can range from disbelief, refusal to file reports, and corruption, to negligence toward investigations. Women rarely trust that the police will offer them protection or that they will uphold the rule of law" (Humans Rights Watch, 2020, p. 38). At the same time, women face severe pressure from their communities to not report sextortion, which was highlighted in the focus groups.

In line with this, of the respondents that had experienced sextortion, several did confront their perpetrator but very few reported the incident to the authorities. Of those who experienced sextortion when accessing water, 45% confronted their perpetrator, compared to 20% for toilets and 41% for bathing. In the case of sextortion incidents related to water, 40% asked for help from family, compared to only 20% (1 individual) in the case of toilets, and 35% in the case of bathing. Help from a friend was also solicited by 17% of respondents in the case of water and 6% in the case of bathing. Only 5% reported the incident to the police in the case of water, and none of those who had experienced sextortion when accessing toilets or bathing made use of police or a helpline to report. For reporting cases, the focus group highlighted that affected individuals in some areas (Rasulpur and Korail) prefer using local structures and councilors, rather than reporting to the police, due to concerns about corruption within the police force.

In the focus groups, victim-blaming was mentioned as a key factor contributing to the deteriorating physical and mental health of affected individuals, some of whom commit suicide. Additionally, the strain on relationships and marriages was frequently mentioned as an adverse consequence and a reason why some affected individuals may opt to not report incidents. This would then also explain why the survey recorded 41 instances where respondents opted not to share their experience with family. The main reasons cited were that the family/partner would react excessively and become worried, fear that the victim's freedom of movement would be restricted, fear that the family would hold them responsible for the incident, and that sextortion incidents should be solved by the victim herself. The experiences of those that did share their sextortion experience shows that these fears are not unfounded. Nearly half of those who did decide to disclose to their family an experience of sextortion when accessing water (7 out of 15) indicated that their family reacted by restricting their movement. The share was even higher among those who had experienced sextortion when accessing a bathing facility, with 7 out of 8 indicating that their movement was subsequently restricted. But respondents also had an opportunity to discuss how to deal with the situation (11 out of 15 for water, 3 out of 8 for bathing). One respondent indicated that their family took them for professional counseling. Where actions were taken after discussing incidents with members of the household, these included taking the case to the area chief (11 cases), discussing between families (8) and taking the case to a religious leader (2 cases).

4. Conclusion

Access to water is a life-sustaining requirement and a human right. Everyone should be able to obtain access without needing to fear exploitation and/or abuse. This study clearly shows the importance of including sextortion into discussions around gender and access to WASH. The data highlights that sextortion occurs in all assessed areas of Bangladesh. The study also provides important information about which factors make women more vulnerable to experiencing sextortion. The quantitative analysis finds that women who live in poverty, are members of water insecure households or are illiterate face a higher risk of being sexually extorted when accessing WASH services. The survey also clearly indicates that among the three WASH services examined, the risk of sextortion is the highest in accessing water, which accounts for four out of every five reported incidents. The regression results do not point to a statistically significant relation between the examined impairments of respondents and the prevalence sextortion in accessing WASH services, though in light of other literature suggesting a relevant link and the low respondent numbers with reported impairments, this finding warrants further investigation.

There is considerable stigma attached to the topic of sextortion, therefore the reported prevalence in this study is likely to underestimate the true extent of the problem. The study has shown that a lack of trust in authorities and their ability or preparedness to prosecute perpetrators leads to only a small proportion of incidents being reported to the police. Whilst public opinion largely considers sexual relations with water providers to be bad, more respondents placed the responsibility with users, rather than regarding them as victims.

Several key recommendations can be identified from the findings. Important for both academic research and policy makers is the finding that sextortion disproportionally affects water insecure households while other SGBV incidents (excluding sextortion) affect water secure and water insecure households proportionally to their representation in the sample. This demonstrate how important is to include the corruption element in the analysis and consider sextortion separately and not simply as a form of SGBV. For researchers, this implies that more research is needed specifically on sextortion and which factors make individuals more vulnerable to this form of corruption. For policy maker, the message is clearly that sextortion needs to be addressed with separate policy tools and that it is not sufficient to consider it covered under general SGBV policies.

Advocacy with governments and service providers is key. Adequate mitigation mechanisms can only be designed and implemented by keeping the issue of sextortion on the radar of decision-makers and operators. In the focus groups, respondents emphasized the provision of better water supply installations in proximity to houses as a principal solution. Where resources are lacking to implement such solutions, other monitoring and accountability mechanisms become even more crucial to protect users from the possibility of exploitative practices, such as paying bribes or sextortion. Besides better access to water and sanitation, investment in human capital and capabilities is also necessary to reduce risks, especially in light of the heightened vulnerability to sextortion identified among those who are not (fully) literate. Just as key is awareness raising on the topic at the community level, jointly with the establishment of safe and adequate reporting channels. Where authorities are not trusted, other actors, including NGOs, faith-based organizations and CSOs, may be able to offer support to survivors and continue to raise attention to the issue with authorities and service providers.

Addressing gender norms that exacerbate vulnerabilities to sextortion as well as prevent victims from reporting also need to be addressed. Here it is advisable to focus on joined efforts of women's empowerment and anti-corruption initiatives.

Further research on this topic in other countries, and in particularly in contexts with water insecure households, including slums, informal settlements, refugee camps, is crucial to raise attention to sextortion and to hold service providers accountable. In particular, large-scale surveys using purposeful sampling methods could help delineate the prevalence of sextortion across minority groups, such as ethnic minorities or sexual minorities. Further research could also expand the focus by including men, boys and non-binary persons in the sampling.

To meet the goals set under SDG6 of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, it is crucial to identify the various risks and challenges that continue to prevent billions from accessing safe and affordable water and sanitation. This paper has sought to contribute evidence and insights into one such risk, sextortion, which continues to obstruct universal access to water and sanitation.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the Water Integrity Network (info@win-s.org), without undue reservations.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their oral informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

Data collection was designed and overseen by UA and conducted by SR and ZH. Data was cleaned and analyzed by UA, DG, AS, and OM. The article was written by OM, with support of the other authors. All authors were involved in multiple rounds of revisions and rewriting to get to the final version of the paper. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the Change Initiative (CI) and Development Organization of the Rural Poor (DORP)-partner organizations for their support of all aspects of the research project, including for their expertise and successfully conducting primary data collection despite the enormous difficulties posed by the global pandemic. We especially extend our gratitude to M. Zakir Hossain Khan (CI), SR (CI), ZH (DORP), Jesmin Moly (DORP), Wokeya Yeasmin Farha (CI), Mohaimenul Islam (CI), Rumana Ali (Independent Gender Expert), and as well as all the enumerators who collected data on the ground. We are also thankful to all the reviewers who reviewed the first analysis of this paper for their timely reviews and insightful feedback: Dr. Liza Debevec (GWP), Dr. Doris Aja-Eke (Dublin City University), Dr. Robert Gillanders (Dublin City University), Sareen Adilla (ANEW), Barbara Schreiner (WIN), Tasneem Balasinorwala (WIN), Rebecca Sands (WIN), and Binayak Das (WIN).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships

References

Adams, E. A., Adams, Y. J., and Koki, C. (2021). Water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) insecurity will exacerbate the toll of COVID-19 on women and girls in low-income countries. *Sustainabil. Sci. Pract. Policy* 17, 85–89. doi: 10.1080/15487733.2021.1875682

Ahmed, M. U., Majumder, A. K., Hossain, M. S., and Nayeem, A. A. (2018). Assessment of the microbiological quality of rain water: a case study of selected water scarce area in Bangladesh. *Stamford J. Microbiol.* 8, 24–26. doi: 10.3329/sjm.v8i1.42434

Banarjee, S. (2020). Identifying factors of sexual violence against women and protection of their rights in Bangladesh. *Aggress. Violent Behav.* 52, 101384. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2020.101384

Banglapedia (2021). Kamrangirchar Thana. Available online at: https://en.banglapedia.org/index.php?title=Kamrangirchar_Thana

BRAC (2014). Korail Fact Sheet. Available online at: https://www.brac.net/sites/default/files/factsheet/new/Korail.pdf

Buisson, M.-C., Curnow, J., and Naz, F. (2017). The gender gap between water management and water users: evidence from Southwest Bangladesh. *South Asian Water Stud.* 5, 28–41.

Caarten, A. B., Heugten, L., and van Merkle, O. (2022). The intersection of corruption and gender-based violence: examining the gendered experiences of sextortion during migration to South Africa. *Afr. J. Reproduct. Health* 26, 45–54. doi: 10.29063/ajrh2022/v26i6.6

Camellia, S., Khan, N., and Naved, R. (2012). Violence Against Unmarried Adolescent Girls. Growing up Safe and Healthy (SAFE): Baseline Report on Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights and Violence against Women and Girls in Dhaka Slums.

Carnegie, S. (2019). Sextortion: A Crime of Corruption and Sexual Exploitation. International Bar Association. Available online at: https://www.ibanet.org/ MediaHandler?id=E5E451C2-A883-4518-B0ED-5AAAEBCDD5AA

Chakma, B., Dewan, J., and Bikash Chakma, S. (2021). Water Scarcity Worsens Hill People's Woes. Prothomalo Alo. Available online at: https://en.prothomalo.com

Chêne, M., Clench, B., and Fagan, C. (2010). "Corruption and gender in service delivery: the unequal impacts," in *Transparency International Working Paper* (Berlin).

Choudhary, N., Brewis, A., Wutich, A., and Udas, P. B. (2020). Sub-optimal household water access is associated with greater risk of intimate partner violence against women: evidence from Nepal. *J. Water Health* 18, 579–594. doi: 10.2166/wh.2020.024

Collins, S. M., Mbullo Owuor, P., Miller, J. D., Boateng, G. O., Wekesa, P., Onono, M., et al. (2019). 'I know how stressful it is to lack water!' Exploring the lived experiences of household water insecurity among pregnant and postpartum women in western Kenva. *Global Public Health* 14, 649–662. doi: 10.1080/17441692.2018.1521861

Crow, B., and Sultana, F. (2002). Gender, class, and access to water: three cases in a poor and crowded delta. *Soc. Nat. Resour.* 15, 709–724. doi: 10.1080/08941920290069308

Dery, I. (2021). "Give her a slap or two... She might change": negotiating masculinities through intimate partner violence among rural Ghanaian men. J. Interpers. Violence 36, 9670–9690. doi: 10.1177/0886260519869066

Echazu, L. (2010). Corruption and the balance of gender power. *Rev. Law Econ.* 6, 59–74. doi: 10.2202/1555-5879.1397

Eldén, A., Calvo, D., Bjarnegård, E., Lundgren, S., and Jonsson, S. (2020). Sextortion: Corruption and Gender-Based Violence (EBA Report 2020:06). The Expert Group for Aid Studies (EBA). that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Esarey, J., and Chirillo, G. (2013). "Fairer sex" or purity myth? corruption, gender, and institutional context. *Polit. Gender* 9, 361–389. doi: 10.1017/S1743923X13000378

Fattah, K. N., and Camellia, S. (2020). Gender norms and beliefs, and men's violence against women in rural Bangladesh. *J. Interpers. Violence* 35, 771–793. doi: 10.1177/0886260517690875

Feigenblatt, H. (2020). Breaking the Silence Around Sextortion: The Links Between Power, Sex and Corruption. Transparency International. Available online at: https://www.transparency.org/en/publications/breaking-the-silence-around-sextortion

Fisher, J., Cavill, S., and Reed, B. (2017). Mainstreaming gender in the WASH sector: dilution or distillation? *Gender Dev.* 25, 185–204. doi: 10.1080/13552074.2017.1331541

Fugate, M., Landis, L., Riordan, K., Naureckas, S., and Engel, B. (2005). Barriers to domestic violence help seeking: implications for intervention. *Violence Against Women* 11, 290–310. doi: 10.1177/1077801204271959

Gerasymenko, G. (2020). Gender analysis of ant-corruption policy: case study of Ukraine. *Int. J. Civil Serv. Reform Pract.* 5

Gonsalves, G. S., Kaplan, E. H., and Paltiel, A. D. (2015). Reducing sexual violence by increasing the supply of toilets in Khayelitsha, South Africa: a mathematical model. *PLoS ONE* 10, e0122244. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0122244

Hirve, S., Lele, P., Sundaram, N., Chavan, U., Weiss, M., Steinmann, P., et al. (2014). Psychosocial stress associated with sanitation practices: experiences of women in a rural community in India. *J. Water Sanit. Hyg. Dev.* 5, 115–126. doi: 10.2166/washdev.2014.110

House, S., Ferron, S., Sommer, M., and Cavill, S. (2014). Violence, Gender and WASH: A Practitioner's Toolkit-Making Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Safer Through Improved Programming and Services. London: WaterAid/SHARE.

Humans Rights Watch (2020). "I Sleep in My Own Deathbed": Violence Against Women and Girls in Bangladesh: Barriers to Legal Recourse and Support. Human Rights Watch. Available online at: https://www.hrw.org/report/2020/10/29/i-sleep-my-owndeathbed/violence-against-women-and-girls-bangladesh-barriers

Hunt, J., and Laszlo, S. (2012). Is Bribery really regressive? Bribery's costs, benefits, and mechanisms. *World Dev.* 40, 355-372. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2011.06.001

Hynes, M., Ward, J., Robertson, K., and Crouse, C. (2004). A determination of the prevalence of gender-based violence among conflict-affected populations in east timor. *Disasters* 28, 294–321. doi: 10.1111/j.0361-3666.2004.00260.x

IAWJ (2012). Stopping the Abuse of Power Though Sexual Exploitation: Naming, Shaming and Ending Sextortion. International Association of Woman Judges. Retrieved from: http://www.iawj.org/iawj_international_toolkit_final.pdf

Jadhav, A., Weitzman, A., and Smith-Greenaway, E. (2016). Household sanitation facilities and women's risk of non-partner sexual violence in India. *BMC Public Health* 16, 1–10. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3797-z

Jenkins, M., and McDonald, E. (2022). Corruption and the Equal Enjoyment of Rights for Persons with Disabilities [U4Helpdesk Answer]. U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Center. Available online at: https://www.u4.no/publications/corruption-andthe-equal-enjoyment-of-rights-for-persons-with-disabilities

Justesen, M. K., and Bjørnskov, C. (2014). Exploiting the poor: bureaucratic corruption and poverty in Africa. *World Dev.* 58, 106–115. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2014.01.002

KEWASNET and ANEW (2020). Sex for Water Project: Promoting Safe Space for Girls and Young Women in Kibera Project-Final Baseline Survey Report. Kenya Water and Sanitation Civil Society Network and African Civil Society Network on Water and Sanitation. Available online at: https://kewasnet.co.ke/download/sex-for-water-project-promoting-safe-space-for-girls-and-young-women-in-kibera-final-report-2020/?wpdmdl=1669andrefresh=624eb03129fbc1649324081

Kishor, S., and Johnson, K. (2005). Profiling domestic violence: a multi-country study. *Stud. Family Plann.* 36, 259–261. doi: 10.1111/j.1728-4465.2005.00068.x

Kubbe, I., and Merkle, O. (eds.). (2022). Norms, Gender and Corruption: Understanding the Nexus. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing.

Kulkarni, S., O'Reilly, K., and Bhat, S. (2017). No relief: lived experiences of inadequate sanitation access of poor urban women in India. *Gender Dev.* 25, 167–183. doi: 10.1080/13552074.2017.1331531

Livani, T., Ahmed, R., and Ahmed, S. O. (2021). Enhancing Women's Access to Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene in Bangladesh. World Bank Blogs. Available online at: https://blogs.worldbank.org/endpovertyinsouthasia/enhancingwomens-access-water-sanitation-and-hygiene-bangladesh

Massey, D. (2013). Space, Place and Gender. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons.

Mattes, R. (2008). "The material and political bases of lived poverty in Africa: insights from the afrobarometer," in *Barometers of Quality of Life Around the Globe: How Are We Doing?* eds V. Møller, D. Huschka, and A. C. Michalos (Dordrecht: Springer), 161–185. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4020-8686-1_7

Merkle, O. (2018). The Myth of Gender-Neutral Power: Corruption and Gender Norms. Maastricht: Boekenplan.

Merkle, O. (2020). "Gender and corruption: what we know and ways forward," in *A Research Agenda for Studies of Corruption*, eds A. Mungiu-Pippidi and P. M. Heywood (Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited), 75-89. doi: 10.4337/9781789905007.00013

Merkle, O., Reinold, J., and Siegel, M. (2017). A Gender Perspective on Corruption Encountered During Forced and Irregular Migration. GIZ Anti-Corruption and Integrity Programme. Available online at: https://i.unu.edu/media/migration.unu. edu/attachment/4665/A-Gender-Perspective-on-Corruption-Encountered-during-Forced-and-Irregular-Migration.pdf

Murshid, N. S. (2022). Structural and relational oppression of women: the association between open defecation and partner violence in Bangladesh. J. Gender Based Violence 1, 1–19. doi: 10.1332/239868022X16558143159507

Nahar, P., Van Reeuwijk, M., and Reis, R. (2013). Contextualising sexual harassment of adolescent girls in Bangladesh. *Reprod. Health Matters* 21, 78–86. doi: 10.1016/S0968-8080(13)41696-8

Nunbogu, A. M., and Elliott, S. J. (2022). Characterizing gender-based violence in the context of water, sanitation, and hygiene: a scoping review of evidence in low- and middle-income countries. *Water Security* 15, 100113. doi: 10.1016/j.wasec.2022.100113

Palermo, T., Bleck, J., and Peterman, A. (2014). Tip of the iceberg: reporting and gender-based violence in developing countries. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 179, 602–612. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwt295

Pommells, M., Schuster-Wallace, C., Watt, S., and Mulawa, Z. (2018). Gender violence as a water, sanitation, and hygiene risk: uncovering violence against women and girls as it pertains to poor WaSH access. *Violence Against Women* 24, 1851–1862. doi: 10.1177/1077801218754410

Pouramin, P., Nagabhatla, N., and Miletto, M. (2020). A systematic review of water and gender interlinkages: assessing the intersection with health. *Front. Water* 2, 6. doi: 10.3389/frwa.2020.00006

Russo, N. F., and Pirlott, A. (2006). Gender-based violence. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1087, 178–205. doi: 10.1196/annals.1385.024

Saleem, M., Burdett, T., and Heaslip, V. (2019). Health and social impacts of open defecation on women: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health* 19, 158. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6423-z

Sandelowski, M. (2000). Combining qualitative and quantitative sampling, data collection, and analysis techniques in mixed-method studies. *Res. Nurs.*

Health 23, 246–255. doi: 10.1002/1098-240X(200006)23:3<246::AID-NUR9>3.0. CO;2-H

Sommer, M., Ferron, S., Cavill, S., and House, S. (2015). Violence, gender and WASH: spurring action on a complex, under-documented and sensitive topic. *Environ. Urban.* 27, 105–116. doi: 10.1177/09562478145 64528

Stålgren, P. (2015). Corruption in the Water Sector: Causes, Consequences and Potential Reform (Swedish Water House Policy Brief No. 4). SIWI. Available online at: https://siwi.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/20060906171639corruptionpb_low-3.pdf

Transparency International (2020). *Global Corruption Barometer Asia-Bangladesh*. Available online at: https://www.transparency.org/en/gcb/asia/asia-2020/results

Transparency International Bangladesh (2020). Mainstream Integrity and Corruption Prevention to Ensure Gender Equality and Women's Rights. Available online at: https://www.ti-bangladesh.org/beta3/index.php/en/activities/6032-mainstreamintegrity-and-preventing-corruption-to-ensure-gender-equality-and-women-srights-tib-on-int-l-women-s-day

Transparency International and Equal Rights Trust (2021). *Defying Exclusion: Stories and Insights on the Links between*.... Available online at: https://www. transparency.org/en/publications/defying-exclusion-corruption-discrimination,

UNDP Bangladesh and PTIB (2022). Gender-Based Violence: Taking Stock of Bangladesh's Shadow Pandemic. UNDP. Available online at: https://www.undp.org/bangladesh/blog/gender-based-violence-taking-stock-bangladesh%E2%80%99s-shadow-pandemic,

UNDP-SIWI Water Governance Facility (2017). Women and Corruption in the Water Sector: Theories and Experiences from Johannesburg and Bogotá. (WGF Report No. 8). SIWI.

UNODC (2020). The Time Is Now- Addressing the Gender Dimension of Corruption. Available online at: https://www.unodc.org/documents/corruption/Publications/2020/ THE_TIME_IS_NOW_2020_12_08.pdf

UNWomen (2022). Poverty Deepens for Women and Girls, According to Latest Projections. UN Women Data Hub. Available online at: https://data.unwomen.org/features/poverty-deepens-women-and-girls-according-latest-projections

Vrushi, J. (2020). *Global Corruption Barometer Asia 2020*. Transparency International. Available online at: https://files.transparencycdn.org/images/GCB_ Asia_2020_Report_Web_final.pdf

White, G. F., Bradley, D. J., and White, A. U. (2002). Drawers of water: domestic water use in East Africa. *Bull. World Health Organ.* 80, 63–73.

WHO and UNICEF (2021). Progress on Household Drinking Water, Sanitation and Hygiene 2000-2020: Five Years into the SDGs. WHO and UNICEF. Available online at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240030848

World Bank (2013). World Development Report 2014: Risk and Opportunity-Managing Risk for Development. The World Bank.

World Bank (2019). Women in Water Utilities: Breaking Barriers. World Bank.

World Health Organization (2005). WHO Multi-Country Study on Women's Health and Domestic Violence Against Women: Initial Results on Prevalence, Health Outcomes and Women's Responses. World Health Organization.

World Health Organization (n.d.). *Violence Info - Sexual violence*. Available online at: http://apps.who.int/violence-info/sexual-violence (Retrieved May 1, 2022).

Young, S. L., Boateng, G. O., Jamaluddine, Z., Miller, J. D., Frongillo, E. A., Neilands, T. B., et al. (2019). The Household Water InSecurity Experiences (HWISE) Scale: development and validation of a household water insecurity measure for low-income and middle-income countries. *BMJ Global Health* 4, e001750. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2019-001750

Zinnbauer, D., and Dobson, R. (eds.). (2008). *Global Corruption Report 2008: Corruption in the Water Sector*. Transparency International.

Frontiers in Water

Transforming our approach to water research and its applications

A journal dedicated to exploring challenges facing freshwater systems, including demand and supply of water resources, extreme weather events and

Discover the latest Research Topics



Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00



